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DATO’ ABDUL HAMID MOHD ALI
Chief Operating Officer, MAHB

Dato’ Abdul Hamid Mohd Ali is the Chief Operating Officer of 
MAHB. Aged 54, Dato’ Abdul Hamid holds a Degree in Civil 
Engineering from  University of Glasgow and a Masters of Science 
Degree in Airport Planning and Management from Loughborough 
University of Technology, United Kingdom. 

He has extensive years of working experience through direct 
involvement in airport planning, development, operations and 
maintenance throughout his 29 years of service in Aviation, which 
include a vast experience in setting up many MAHB joint ventures 
both local and abroad. He was also involved in the consultancy 
and management services of other airports in Middle East and 
Central Asia. He was formerly  the Chairman of Operations and 
Development Committee for Sabiha Gokcen Airport, Turkey when 
the airport was constructed in 2009. As a civil engineer, he has 
acquired extensive experience in fast track projects, with the latest 
being the construction of  the New Permanent LCCT. 

He has held several senior posts at DCA, KLIAB and MAHB, and his 
previous position before attaining the current position was Senior 
General Manager of Technical Services, MAHB. 

TAN SRI BASHIR AHMAD ABDUL MAJID
Managing Director, MAHB

Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad, aged 60 is the Managing Director of MAHB. 
Prior to his present employment, he has held various senior 
positions in Malaysian Airline System Berhad (“MAS”) throughout 
a period of 29 years, which include Director of Corporate 
Planning, Commercial Director, Senior Vice-President Commercial 
and Executive Vice-President Airline. He was also appointed as 
the Aviation Advisor to the Ministry of Transport.

Tan Sri Bashir currently sits on the Board of GMR Hyderabad 
International Airport Private Limited and Delhi International 
Airport (P) Limited. Tan Sri Bashir, in his course of work has 
been a member of Industry Affairs Committee of International 
Air Transport Association (IATA) and Committee member of 
Association of Asia Pacific Airlines (AAPA). He is currently the 
Acting President of Airport Council International (ACI) Asia-Pacific 
and also sits on the Board of ACI.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Arts Degree (Hons) majoring in 
International Relations from University of Malaya.
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FAIZAL MANSOR
Chief Financial Officer, MAHB

Faizal Mansor is the Chief Financial Officer of MAHB. He joined 
MAHB in 2006 as the Senior General Manager of Finance 
Services. He is a Chartered Accountant, a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants. He has a BSc. in Accounting from 
Rutgers University and an MBA from Ohio University, USA. 

He started his career with the Securities Commission and has 
had extensive experience in treasury, corporate and investment 
banking initially with the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi and 
subsequently with the AmInvestment Group. 

He had also worked in Australia as a Corporate Accountant 
in a manufacturing company for a proposed listing exercise 
whilst taking the lead in its corporate restructuring, strategic 
and business process improvements. Prior to joining MAHB, 
he was CFO of a public listed construction and wastewater 
management company.

DATO’ AZMI MURAD
Senior General Manager,
Operation Services, MAHB

Dato’ Azmi Murad, aged 58, is the Senior General Manager 
of Operation Services, MAHB. He started his career with 
the Department of Civil Aviation in 1970 as an Air Traffic 
Controller. He was later appointed Airport Manager for 
Kota Bharu Airport, Alor Setar Airport, Kota Kinabalu 
International Airport, Penang International Airport and 
KLIA. He was involved in the opening of KLIA in 1998 as 
Head of Operations, Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn Bhd. 
Since then, he has acquired substantial experience in the 
management and operations of airports. His previous 
positions were General Manager of Sepang International 
Circuit, General Manager of Corporate Communications and 
Air Traffic Services and General Manager, Malaysia Airports 
(Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. before attaining his current post. He is 
currently the Chairman of MAHB Whistleblower Independent 
Committee. He is also the current Chairman of Airport Council 
International (ACI), World Facilitation and Services Standing 
Committee.
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ROSEHAIDA AB RAHMAN
Senior General Manager,
Human Resource, MAHB

Rosehaida Ab Rahman is the Senior General Manager-Human 
Resource Services Division.  She has diversified knowledge in various 
areas of Human Resource management including Planning & Strategy, 
Change Management, Learning & Development, Compensation 
& Benefit, Talent Supply and Industrial Relations. In her colourful 
career that spans two decades, she has held several positions as 
the Head of Human Resource in multinational companies involved 
with various industries.  She has served in two major multinational 
manufacturing conglomerates as well as in companies dealing with 
telecommunications, sales and services, property development and oil 
& gas. 

FAIZAH KHAIRUDIN
Senior General Manager,
Commercial Services, MAHB

Faizah Khairuddin, Senior General Manager of Commercial 
Services, MAHB, graduated from Universite De Picardie, France 
and started her career as a Process Engineer in Thomson 
Electronic Parts Malaysia. She spent 8 years in the manufacturing 
industry, rising to the position of General Manager at a local 
manufacturing company. She moved to banking during the 
Asian crisis in 1998. During her ten years in banking, largely with 
multinational banks, her passion and ultimate focus had been 
in Retail Banking. Her last position in the financial industry had 
been in Bank Islam as General Manager, Consumer Banking, 
prior to joining MAHB in October 2008. Since assuming the 
position as Senior General Manager, Commercial Services, she 
has spearheaded and successfully launched the newly completed 
Satellite Retail Optimisation Project. Under her leadership, 
Commercial Services has re-strategised commercial development 
at airports with the introduction of the Airport Commercial 
Models and several other initiatives to drive commercial business 
sustainability and build business relationships through strong 
communications platforms with business partners.
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DATO’ MAHAT SAMAH
Senior General Manager,
Malaysia International Aerospace Centre Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Mahat Samah, aged 56, is the Senior General Manager  
of Malaysia International Aerospace Centre Sdn. Bhd. He 
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) 
(Hons) from University of Technology Malaysia and a Master 
of Science (Engineering) from the University of Edinburgh, 
United Kingdom. He started his career as a Mechanical 
Engineer at the Department of Civil Aviation (DCA)  in 1977 
and was then promoted to Senior Mechanical Engineer at 
DCA HQ and later moved to Subang International Airport. 
His previous posts include Principal of DCA College Subang, 
Senior Manager (Human Resource, Safety & Security) MAHB, 
Head of Engineering & Human Resource MAHB, General 
Manager Engineering/Operation/ Business Development 
MAHB, Project Manager NECC and General Manager 
Technical & Quality Assurance Division MAHB. He was 
also involved in the Design, Construction and Operational 
Readiness of KLIA, Short Term & Long Term Carparks projects 
as well as the Southern Common Amenities Project at KLIA. 
He was the Chief Executive Officer of Urusan Teknologi 
Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. (UTW), Senior General Manager, 
Operation Services MAHB, Senior General Manager, 
Corporate Planning and Senior General Manager 
Corporate Services before attaining his current post.

ABDUL RAHMAN KARIM
General Manager,
Urusan Teknologi Wawasan Sdn. Bhd.

Abdul Rahman Karim, is the General Manager of Urusan 
Teknologi Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. He holds a Bachelor of Science in 
Electrical & Electronic Engineering from the University of Leeds, 
United Kingdom. He started his career in 1980 and has held 
several posts in various agencies prior to joining DCA and MAHB. 
He has more than 26 years of experience in airport operation and 
management, which include facilities management, engineering 
and airport management and project and contract management. 
Prior to the present post he has served as Chief Engineer and 
Airport General Manager for Subang International Airport, 
Regional General Manager for Sabah and Sarawak, General 
Manager of Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. and General 
Manager of Malaysia Airport Sdn. Bhd.
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AHMAD ZUBER ABDUL
General Manager,
Malaysia Airports Academy, MAHB

Ahmad Zuber Abdul, aged 52, is the General Manager, Malaysia 
Airports Academy. He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) from Universiti 
Sains Malaysia. He has over 25 years of experience at various 
levels of human resource management and development, in local 
conglomerate and multinationals, such as HICOM Group, EON Bhd, 
Furukawa Electric Cable Ltd and Sumitomo Group; with the last nine 
years in MAHB. He has been with the Group since September 2001 
as General Manager, Human Resource, responsible and accountable 
for providing overall strategic direction and management, covering 
the full spectrum of human resources functions for MAHB and its 
group of companies, and at the same time has successfully managed 
the Malaysia Airports Training Center (MATC) in Penang and KLIA, 
which offer training programs designed to increase the professional 
knowledge and capability of airport management staff.

UMAR BUSTAMAM
General Manager,
Malaysia Airports (Niaga) Sdn. Bhd.

Umar Bustamam, aged 57 is the General Manager, Malaysia 
Airports (Niaga) Sdn. Bhd. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree 
in Electronics Communications Engineering from University 
of Salford, United Kingdom. In his 30 years of working career, 
he had held several senior positions, which include Director 
of Aeronautical Communications with the DCA, Construction 
Manager for KLIA development project, Head of Total Airport 
Management System (TAMS) of KLIA, General Manager of 
Malaysia Airports (Technologies) Sdn. Bhd., General Manager 
of Technical and Quality Assurance MAHB, General Manager of 
Corporate Services MAHB and General Manager of Commercial 
Services MAHB.
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IR. SURADINI ABDUL GHANI
General Manager,
Malaysia Airports Consultancy Services Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Malaysia Airports Management & 
Technical Services Sdn. Bhd)

Ir. Suradini Abdul Ghani, aged 50, is the General Manager of 
Malaysia Airports Consultancy Services Sdn Bhd (MACS). She 
holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Electrical & Electronics 
Engineering from the University of Nottingham, United 
Kingdom and a Postgraduate Diploma in Airport Engineering 
from Nanyang Technological University, Singapore. Starting 
her career in the Public Works Department in 1983, she then 
joined the Engineering Division of the DCA and later MAHB 
in 1992. She has held various positions in the Engineering 
Division of the Group including the Senior Manager 
Engineering post at KLIA for five years. Her experience covers 
Engineering Design & Supervision, Operation & Maintenance 
of Airport Facilities, Airport Planning, Design & Development, 
Contract Management and Project Management. She is an 
Electrical Engineer by profession. 

She is a Member of the Institute of Engineers Malaysia and 
is a registered Professional Engineer with the Board of 
Engineers Malaysia. She brings to the Group more than 26 
years of experience in Engineering Management.

MOHD NASIR ISMAIL
General Manager,
MAB Agriculture-Horticulture Sdn. Bhd.

Mohd Nasir Ismail, aged 54, is the General Manager of MAB 
Agriculture-Horticulture Sdn. Bhd. He holds a Bachelor of
Science in Engineering (Mechanical) from Plymouth Polytechnic, 
UK. Prior to joining the Group in 1998, he has held several 
positions at Sime Darby Plantations including a senior post with 
PT-Sime Indo Agro, based in Indonesia. He brings to the Group 
27 years of plantation and agricultural experience.
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MOHD AMINUDDIN YAAKUB
General Manager,
IT Development, MAHB

Mohd Aminuddin Yaakub aged 56, is the General Manager of IT 
Development. He graduated in BSc. (Hon) from University Sains 
Malaysia, Penang. He has been with MAHB since 2005, bringing years 
of experience in the Information Technology field. Prior to MAHB, 
he was in Malaysia Airlines IT division and the CEO of Business 
Information Technology Sdn. Bhd. He is a member of ACI World 
Airport IT Standing Committee.

SABARINA LAILA MOHD HASHIM
General Manager,
Secretarial and Legal Services Division cum Company
Secretary, MAHB

Sabarina Laila Mohd Hashim is the General Manager, Secretarial & 
Legal Services Division, MAHB. She is also the Company Secretary 
for MAHB and its group of companies. She holds a degree in 
Bachelor of Laws from the University of Malaya and was admitted 
to the High Court of Malaya as an advocate and solicitor in 1992.  
She recently obtained a Masters of Science degree in Corporate 
Governance from London South Bank University. Sabarina joined 
MAHB in 1995 as a Legal Advisor, in charge of the Group’s 
legal matters. Prior to joining MAHB, Sabarina was a practicing 
lawyer specialising in corporate and commercial law and was 
also a company secretary to several private limited companies.  
She is currently an Affiliate of Malaysian Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators (“MAICSA”).
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NASREIN FAZAL SULTAN
General Manager,
Internal Audit Division, MAHB

Nasrein Fazal Sultan, aged 45 is the General Manager of 
Internal Audit Division, MAHB. She holds a Bachelor of 
Accounting (Hons) from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia. 
She is a Chartered Accountant registered with the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (MIA) and a Chartered Member of 
the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (IIA). She had held 
several senior posts in Finance at SIRIM and was the Finance 
Manager of a subsidiary of the Sime Darby Group prior to 
joining MAHB.

ROKMAH ABDULLAH
General Manager, 
Procurement & Contract, MAHB

Rokmah Abdullah is the General Manager, Procurement & 
Contract Division, MAHB. She holds a Bachelor of Accounting 
(Hons) from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia and is a Chartered 
Accountant registered with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA). She joined MAHB in 1992 as an Accountant at Subang 
International Airport. In 1995, she led the Internal Audit Division 
before heading the Procurement & Contract Unit in 1998. Under 
her supervision, the unit has expanded to a division which consists 
of operational and procurement excellence. Prior to joining 
MAHB, Rokmah was the Finance and Administration Manager 
and also a Company Secretary in a retail business specialised in 
handicraft and heritage industry.
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IR. KHAIRIAH SALLEH
General Manager,
Engineering, MAHB

Ir. Khairiah Salleh, is the General Manager (Engineering) of MAHB. 
She holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from Old 
Dominion University, Virginia USA. She is a registered Professional 
Engineer with the Board of Engineers Malaysia and the Member of the 
Institute of Engineers Malaysia. She is an industry representative of 
the Engineering Accreditation Council, Board of Engineers Malaysia. 
She has vast experiences in construction industry and design office 
in her early years of her career. She serves MAHB for slightly more 
than 16 years. Her experience is gained from the various positions 
she held ranging from design and planning of airports, construction 
project management, contract management and the operations and 
maintenance of the airport systems, equipment and facilities. She 
joined MAHB as an Engineer in 1993 and was promoted to Manager 
for airport development until 2000. Her career moved on as the Head 
of Engineering KLIA to undertake the operations and maintenance of 
the airport system, equipment and facilities until her current post. In 
2008, she was appointed as the General Manager Engineering that 
covers the operations and maintenance of the infrastructures, building 
facilities and airport specialised systems and equipment for both KLIA 
and other airports under the Group throughout Malaysia.

MUHD NAJIB MOHD RAWI
General Manager,
Land Development, MAHB

Muhd Najib Mohd Rawi is the General Manager for Land 
Development of MAHB. He heads the land development division 
of the company which is responsible for the planning and 
implementation of commercial real estate development at KLIA 
and other airports managed by MAHB in Malaysia. He joined 
the group in 2006 and has over 20 years of experience in the 
construction & property development industries and is well versed 
in land-use planning, infrastructure and real estate development.  

He started his career with Syarikat Pembinaan Setia upon 
graduation in 1985 and has served in various capacities in its 
construction and development subsidiaries. In 1991 he joined the 
property division of UMW Toyota Motor and moved on to Land & 
General Bhd in 1993 where he was involved in the development 
of several large scale township developments in Kuala Lumpur 
and Selangor. He was the Chief Operating Officer of its property 
development subsidiaries prior to joining MAHB. 

Muhd Najib holds a Civil Engineering degree from University of 
Strathclyde, Glasgow and a Masters in Business Administration 
from Ohio University.
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MOHAMED SALLAUDDIN MOHAMED 
SHAH
General Manager,
Marketing, MAHB

Mohamed Sallauddin bin Mohamed Shah @ Mat Sah, aged 46 is 
the General Manager of Marketing, MAHB. He graduated with a 
BSc. Degree in Accountancy and Computer Science from Northern 
Illinois University, USA in 1985. He also holds an MBA (Strategic 
Management) Degree from the International Business School, 
Technology University of Malaysia. He started his career in aviation 
in 1986 as a Management Trainee with the national carrier, Malaysia 
Airlines (“MAS”) and held various positions in the Passenger 
Marketing and Sales Division before leaving MAS in 1997 to join 
Composite Technology Research Malaysia (CTRM) Sdn. Bhd., 
presenting him the opportunity to serve in USA and Australia. He 
joined MAHB in 2001 to be amongst the pioneer group that led the 
marketing of the international gateways managed by MAHB.

ABDUL NASIR ABDUL RAZAK
General Manager,
Planning & Development, MAHB

Ir. Abdul Nasir Abdul Razak, aged 52, is the General Manager 
of Planning and Development, MAHB. He holds a Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from the University of 
Hartford, Connecticut, USA and a Masters of Science Degree 
in Integrated Construction and Project Management from 
Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM). He is currently completing 
his Doctorate Program in Value Management at UiTM. He 
is also Professional Engineer with more than 21 years of 
experience in infrastructure planning and development, both 
in the Government and private sector.

He started his career in the Public Works Department in 1982, 
in the oil and gas sector. He then worked for several years 
in Singapore, in the high-rise building construction before 
joining MAHB in 1993. He has since held several senior 
positions in engineering field before assuming his current 
position. He is currently the Superintending Officer (SO) for 
the New Permanent LCCT at KLIA.

Currently, being a member of ACI World Standing Committee 
on Safety and Technical, he is involved in the preparation of 
ACI Airport Terminal Design Manual. He is also the Director of 
Public Affair of Institute Value Management Malaysia (IVMM), 
and a Senior Fellow of Global Innovative Knowledge Network 
(GIKEN). 
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KAMARUDIN MAHMOOD
General Manager,
Malaysia Airports Technologies Sdn. Bhd.

Kamaruddin Mahmood, aged 47, is the General Manager of
Malaysia Airports Technologies Sdn. Bhd. He graduated in
1987 from Universiti Sains Malaysia, Pulau Pinang with Bachelor 
in Computer Science (Hons) and started his career as a System 
Analyst in 1988. He spent 5 years with Immigration Department 
of Malaysia before he moved to a private sector as a System 
Engineer. Prior joining Malaysia Airports Technologies, he was 
attached with Sapura-Tomen-Harris (STH) as a Senior System 
Engineer for KLIA Development Project in 1998. He joined 
Malaysia Airports Technologies Sdn. Bhd. in 2000 as a Senior 
Manager, Specialist and seconded to Delhi International Airport 
Pt. Ltd. (DIAL) in 2007 until March 2009 as an IT Consultant 
before attaining his current post.

MUSTAFA KAMAL HJ. ALANG OTHMAN
General Manager,
Aviation Security, MAHB

Mustafa Kamal Hj. Alang Othman, aged 53 is the General 
Manager of Aviation Security MAHB. He holds a Degree of 
Communication (Hons) from University Putra Malaysia. He 
started his career in 1980 and had held Chief of Security position 
at several international airports in Malaysia, namely Subang, 
Penang, Kota Kinabalu and KLIA. Besides aviation security, he 
has extensive experience in airport operations ranging from 
Airside Operations, Airport Fire and Rescue Services (AFRS), 
Airport Operations Centre to Terminal Operations when he 
was at KLIA for nine years. He is actively involved with airport 
planning and was a member of the Shadow Management Group 
(SMG) for KLIA Project. 

He was trained as a Crisis Manager and had attended Senior 
Crisis Management Course, USA, International Disaster 
Management Course, UK, Anti-Terrorism Planning (ATP) and 
Terrorist Incident Management USA and Gold Commanders - 
Strategic Leadership In a Crisis Course organized by National 
Security Division, Prime Minister’s Department. Besides Police 
Inspector Training at PULAPOL, he was also trained in Criminal 
Investigation at CID School, Kuala Lumpur and Jungle Warfare 
Familiarization at Police Field Force (PPH), Ulu Kinta, Perak.

He also sits on the Board of Auxiliary Police Association of 
Malaysia.
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BRIAN ISKANDAR ZULKARIM
General Manager,
Overseas Ventures Division, MAHB

Brian Iskandar Zulkarim, aged 36, was appointed as the 
General Manager of Overseas Ventures Division for MAHB in 
August 2009. Brian graduated with a Degree in Mechanical 
Engineering from the University of Rhode Island in 1996 
and started his career as a Consultant Engineer in New York 
City. From 1999 – 2001, Brian served MAHB in the post-
privatization Restructuring Project Management team, then 
later went on to serve in various medium and large size 
organisations from diverse fields. 

His experience included freelance consultant for various 
Public listed companies, GLCs and SMEs. As the General 
Manager of Overseas Ventures, Brian is entrusted to manage 
all MAHB overseas businesses and investments such as the 
Hyderabad International Airport (India), Delhi International 
Airport (India) and Istanbul Sabiha Gokcen International 
Airport (Turkey).

He is also currently involved in the development of new 
international investment opportunities for MAHB.

NIK ANIS NIK ZAKARIA
General Manager
Corporate Communications, MAHB

Nik Anis Nik Zakaria is Malaysia Airports’ General Manager of 
Corporate Communication. She holds a BSc. in Economics from 
Northern Illinois University, USA. She has a total of 20 years of 
working experience in various capacities including managing 
sales and marketing, customer service and operations, and 
corporate communication in a public listed IT company prior to 
joining Malaysia Airports in 2009. 

Her corporate communication portfolio includes Marketing and 
Brand Communication, Employee Communication, Customer 
Satisfaction Management, Corporate Responsibility Programs, 
Public Relations and Media Relations. 

She is currently the president of International Association of 
Business Communicators (IABC) Malaysia Chapter, a global 
association that promotes communication excellence within the 
industry. 
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MOHD SUHAIMI ABD MUBIN
General Manager,
Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn. Bhd.

Mohd Suhaimi Abd Mubin, aged 43, was appointed as the 
General Manager of Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. in 
April 2010. He graduated with a Degree in Economics from 
University Malaya in 1989. He also hold a Postgraduate Diploma 
in Aviation Management and Graduate Diploma in Airport 
Management from the National University of Singapore in 1994 
and 2007 respectively. 

He started his career with DCA at Subang Airport as Duty 
Manager/Security Officer in 1990 and continued to bring his 
expertise and experience in serving with MAHB even after its 
separation from DCA in 1991. 

Suhaimi has 20 years of experience serving with MAHB and has 
held several managerial posts at Langkawi International Airport 
and Kuching International Airport. Among his notable tasks 
include his tenure as the Chief Operating Officer at the Sabiha 
Gokcen International Airport in Turkey from February till July 
2008. Pior to this current position, he was the Senior Airport 
Manager at the Kota Kinabalu International Airport. 

ANIS RIZANA BINTI MOHD ZAINUDIN @ 
MOHD ZAINUDDIN
General Manager
Corporate Planning, MAHB

Anis Rizana binti Mohd Zainudin @ Mohd Zainuddin aged 40, is 
the General Manager of Corporate Planning Division. She holds 
a Master in Business Administration (Finance) from Graduate
School of Management, Universiti Putra Malaysia. She also 
possess a Bachelor of Business Administration (Finance) from 
Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo USA, Diploma in 
Investment Analysis, ITM Shah Alam and a Diploma in Public 
Administration from INTAN.

She began her career in the Malaysian Civil Service in 1995 with 
the Ministry of Finance (MoF), and has since held various senior 
positions at various divisions in MoF. She was also the first 
appointed Finance Manager at Malaysian Institute of Integrity 
when the institute was established in 2004. 

Anis Rizana has been with the Company since 1st October 2009 
under the Government-GLC Cross Fertilisation Programme. 
Prior to her current position, she was a Special Function Officer
to the Chief Secretary to the Government.
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MAKING AN
IMPACT
We inculcate the culture of providing top-notch aviation facilities and services 
for our customers and partners by constantly upgrading our facilities and 
enhancing our operational efficiency, in order to cater for growth while 
mitigating the impact of high passenger traffic.
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The winds of change are 
sweeping across Malaysia 
Airports Holdings Berhad 
(MAHB). February 12, 2009 
proved to be a milestone 
in MAHB history. A new 
operating Agreements 
between MAHB and the 
Government reached the 
heights of a succesful 
conclusion based on the 
restructuring plan that was 
approved in November 
2008. The Agreements 
cement a unique public-
private partnership with 
the Government, setting 
the Group on a path to a 
dynamic and sustainable 
future.

While remaining intrinsically true to the 

reason of our incorporation, our Vision 

has taken on new dimensions. We have 

set ourselves an achievable target of 

being nothing less than a World-Class 

Airport Business. In moving forward, 

we have crafted a feasible blue-print to 

bring us to where we want to be within 

the next five years.  

MAHB is spreading its wings. From 

just an operator of 39 airports within 

Malaysia, we have taken the initiative 

to become a serious international 

entity. Our ventures beyond national 

boundaries have already taken us 

to Cambodia and Kazakhstan, and 

we presently play key roles in the 

management of airports in India and 

Turkey. 

A new MAHB has emerged over the last 

year or so. We are now a more intensely 

focused organisation, with the financial 

strength, stability and experience to 

exploit growth opportunities to meet 

the ultimate objective of enhancing 

shareholder value. But we will ensure 

that we achieve all this in a sustainable 

manner, always keeping in mind 

our obligations to our people, the 

community and the environment. 

MAHB is moving with the times and 

managing change to become a more 

resilient, flexible and nimble entity. 

The one thing that will never change 

is our core values - Market-Driven; 

Customer Focused; Teamwork; Strive 

For Excellence; Loyalty. These are 

time-honoured values that define our 

culture and set us apart from the others 

nor will we change our commitment 

to serve the nation’s interest first and 

last, for the benefit of all Malaysians, 

present and future generations.
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Asia Pacific’s 
Premier Air 
Transportation 

and Cargo Transhipment hub.

A Greenfield site covering 

10,000 hectares.

Themed after the natural 

surrounding “An 
Airport in the 
Forest and 
Forest in the 
Airport”.

Capable to accommodate up 

to 25 million pax 

per annum & 1.2 
million tonnes of 

cargo.

2 full service runways, 106 

aircraft stands and 46 gates.

216 check-in 
counters and 26 

custom counters.

KL INTERNATIONAL 
AIRPORT (KLIA)

LOW COST CARRIER TERMINAL 
(LCCT-KLIA)

The distance between the 

Main Terminal Building 

and the Satellite Building 

is 1.2 km and linked 

by aerotrain.

112 retail and 50 

food and beverage outlets 

await visitors.

Available from 

within the terminal 

is the Airside 
Transit Hotel 
with 80 rooms and the 

Pan Pacific 
Kuala Lumpur 
International 
Airport with 441 

rooms.

The Total Airport 

Management Systems 

(TAMS) links more 
than 42 
systems, which 

interfaces and integrates 

communication network.

Specifically built and 

custom-made to 

meet the Low-Cost Carrier 

Business Model.

Constructed on a fast track 

basis beginning June 2005 

at a cost of RM108 
million with a simple 

set-up and centralised 

operations.

Started operations in 

March 2006

The 64,067 
square meters 

terminal is designed

and built to facilitate the 

passengers of international 

and domestic departures / 

arrival within a single floor 

operation area.

LCCT-KLIA is capable of 

handling 15 million 

passengers a year and is 

fully air-conditioned.

Facilities 
& Services 
include: check-in

counters, baggage 

carousels, car park lots, 

retail and F&B outlets, 

covered walkway, Food 

Garden, service counters, 

foreign exchange 

counters, auto teller 

machine (ATM),

duty free shops, 

payphones, taxi & bus 

services, prayer rooms 

and Arrival & Departure 

lounges.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman 
(Chairman)

(Non-Independent Non-Executive)

Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin 
Abdul Majid 
(Managing Director)

(Non-Independent Executive)

Dato’ Long See Wool
(Non-Independent Non-Executive)

Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan 
(Non-Independent Non-Executive)
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Malaysia Airports 
Holdings Berhad (487092-W)

Investment holding.

100% MAHB
Malaysia Airports Sdn Bhd (230646-W)

Management, operations and 
maintanence of designated airports 
and provision of airport related 
services in Malaysia other than KL 
International Airport (“KLIA”), Sepang. 
The designated airports comprise:-
•	 4	international	airports	(Pulau		 	
 Pinang, Langkawi, Kuching and 
 Kota Kinabalu)
•	 15	domestic	airports
•	 18	Short	Take-off	and	Landing	Port		
 (STOLports)

100% MAHB
Malaysia Airports (Sepang) 
Sdn Bhd (320480-D)

Management, operations, maintenance 
and future development of KLIA and 
Low Cost Carrier Terminal in Sepang 
and provision of airport-related 
services. 

100% MAHB
Malaysia Airports Consultancy 
Services Sdn Bhd (fka Malaysia 
Airports Management & Technical 
Services Sdn Bhd) (375245-X)

Provision of maintenance and technical 
services in connection with the airport 
industry. 

  100% MACS
  Malaysia Airports Management 
  & Technical Services (Labuan) 
  Private Limited (LL05298)

  Investment holding management.

  75% MACS
  Urusan Teknologi Wawasan  
  Sdn Bhd (459878-D)

  Provision of mechanical,   
  electrical and civil engineering  
  services at KLIA, Sepang.
  
   51% UTW
   Airports Automotive  
   Workshop Sdn Bhd (808167-P)

   Operations of automotive 
   vehicle workshop.

100% MAHB
Malaysia International Aerospace 
Centre Sdn Bhd (438244-H)

Planning, management and marketing 
for the development of Malaysia 
International Aerospace Centre at 
Sultan Abdul Aziz Shah Airport and 
other airports in Malaysia.

100% MAHB
Malaysia Airports (Niaga) 
Sdn Bhd (281310-V)

Operating duty free, non-duty free 
outlets and providing management 
services in respect of food and 
beverage outlets at airports.

  100% MA (NIAGA)
  Eraman (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd   
  (324329-K)

  Dormant, intended principal   
  activity is general trading.  

  100% MA (NIAGA)
  Malaysia Airports (Mauritius)   
  Private Limited (59049 C1/GBL)

  Investment holding.
    
100% MAHB
Malaysia Airports (Properties)
Sdn Bhd (484656-H)

Provision of non-passenger related 
services which involves property 
management and establishing asset 
requirements.

  100% MA(P)
  K.L. Airport Hotel Sdn Bhd   
  (330863-D)

  Owner of the hotel known as 
  Pan Pacific Kuala Lumpur   
  International Airport.

  100% MA(P)
  MAB Agriculture-Horticulture 
  Sdn Bhd (467902-D)

  Cultivation and selling of oil palm  
  and other agriculture products,  
  and engaging in horticulture   
  activities. 
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  20% MA(P)
  Kuala Lumpur Aviation Fueling  
  System Sdn Bhd (395396-X)

  Development, management and  
  operations of aviation fuelling   
  system at KLIA, Sepang.

100% MAHB
Airport Ventures Sdn Bhd (512527-U)

Investment holding.

  100% AV
  Malaysia Airports Technologies
  Sdn Bhd (512262-H)

  Operations and maintenance   
  services and undertaking   
  Information and Communication  
  Technology business ventures. 

   100% MA (TECH)
   Malaysia Airports MSC  
   Sdn Bhd
   (fka KLIA.Com Sdn Bhd) 
   (516854-V)

   Provision of internet services,  
   development and incubation  
   of electronic commerce, and  
   to acquire, manage, lease,  
   establish, equip, maintain and  
   operate radio wireless, close  
   circuit televison and television  
   telecast.

100% MAHB
MAHB (Mauritius) Private Limited 
(64825 C1/BGL) 
Investment holding management.
 
20% MAHB
Istanbul Sabiha Gokcen International 
Airport Investment Development 
and Operation Inc. (656447)

Operation, management and 
development and provision of airport 
related services.

20% MAHB
LGM Airport Operations Trade and 
Tourism Inc. (689548)

Provision of management services in 
respect of transportation, parking, 
food and beverages, cleaning at the 
airport and construction of hotel and 
car park within the airport.

100% MAHB
*Asia Pacific Auction Centre Sdn Bhd 
(488190-H)

Operations and management of an 
auction centre. The Company has 
ceased its operation on 31 December 
2008.

  100% APAC
  * Asia Pacific Auction Sales 
   Sdn Bhd (523300-X)

  Involved in the auction of general  
  machineries. The Company has  
  ceased operations since 2001.

  100% APAC
  * Asia Pacific Machinery  
   Auctions Sdn Bhd (503068-D)

  Involved in the auction of light 
  and heavy machineries. The   
  Company has ceased operations  
  since 2001.

  100% APAC
  * Malaysia Motor Auctions
   Sdn Bhd (500189-H)

  Involved in the auction of general  
  motor vehicles. The Company   
  has ceased operations since 2001.

  100% APAC
  * Beans Around The World  
   Coffee Shop Sdn Bhd (528250-P)

  Provided services in respect of sale  
  of beverages. The Company has  
  ceased operations since 2001.

  100% APAC
  * Cargo One Restaurant &  
   Lounge Sdn Bhd (528261-V)

  Involved in the business of  
  restaurant operations. The   
  Company has ceased operations  
  since 2001.

  *  under member’s voluntary  
   winding-up
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K.L. Airport Hotel
Sdn Bhd
(330863-D)

100% MA(P)

MAB Agriculture-
Horticulture

Sdn Bhd
(467902-D)

100% MA(P)

Kuala Lumpur
Aviation Fueling
System Sdn Bhd

(395396-X)

20% MA(P)

LGM Aiport
Operations
Trade and

Tourism Inc.
(689548)

20% MAHB

 
 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 
 

  

 

  
  

 Malaysia Airports
(Mauritius)

Private Limited
(59049 C1/GBL)

100% MA (NIAGA)

 
 

 

Malaysia Airports
(Niaga) Sdn Bhd

(281310-V)

100% MAHB

Malaysia Airports 
(Properties) Sdn Bhd

(484656-H)

100% MAHB

Airport Ventures
Sdn Bhd 
(512527-U)

100% MAHB

Malaysia Airports
Technologies

Sdn Bhd
(512262-H)

100% AV

Malaysia Airports
MSC Sdn Bhd

(fka KLIA.COM Sdn Bhd) 
(516854-V)

100% MA (TECH)

MAHB (Mauritius)
Private Limited

(64825 C1/BGL) 

100% MAHB

Istanbul Sabiha
Gokcen International
Airport Investment
Development and

Operation Inc. 
(656447)

20% MAHB
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200109 / KKIA Shopping Campaign Offered Travellers Chances To Win 
RM 55,000 Cash Prizes.  Travellers and visitors to Kota Kinabalu International Airport 
(KKIA) were presented with an opportunity to walk away with cash prizes of RM55,000, offered 
in the “KKIA Shopping Campaign”, themed “KKIA Spend & Win”, organised to further 
encourage shopping and dining at KKIA and to enhance the airport shopping experience.  

120209 / MAHB Increased Its Aviation Security Personnel With 242 
New Graduates. MAHB increased the level of general airport safety when 242 aviation 
security trainees from intake 1/2008 completed their Foundation Course for Flight Security 
Assistant and were celebrated at the MAHB’s Marching Out Parade held at Pusat Latihan Polis 
(PULAPOL), Kuala Lumpur. 

120209 / MAHB & Government In Win-Win Public-Private Partnership.  
MAHB and the Government signed agreements to conclude the approved restructuring 
plan. The financial restructuring plan is a win-win situation for the government and MAHB, 
implemented through a public-private partnership arrangement.

130309 / New Low-Cost Carrier Terminal (LCCT) at KLIA Announced.  
MAHB plans to complete the construction of the new permanent Low-Cost Carrier Terminal 
(LCCT), at a cost of RM2 billion, by the third quarter of 2011. The new terminal will be able to 
accommodate up to 30 million passengers per annum, with capacity for expansion of up to 45 
million passengers per annum.

170309 / LCCT-KLIA’s New Departure Hall Opened.  The LCCT-KLIA’s new 
departure hall started operations with its first flight to Guangzhou, China. The new hall can 
accommodate 3,200 passengers compared to 600 at the previous hall.

240409 / ERAMAN Malaysia Brought Marrybrown To LCCT-KLIA To 
Enhance Passengers’ Airport Experience.  ERAMAN Malaysia continued its effort 
to enhance airport users’ experience at LCCT-KLIA by bringing Marrybrown to the terminal. 
The presence of Marrybrown at LCCT-KLIA will further increase product offerings not only to 
passengers and visitors but also to the surrounding communities.

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 2009



140 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009

140809 / KLIA Shopping Campaign 2008 / 2009 Grand Finale & iStyle 
KLIA.  KLIA Shopping Campaign 2008 / 2009 ended on a high note with a fashion show and 
the presentation of the ultimate grand prize – a Lexus GS300 car. The presentation of the 
grand prize was held at KLIA alongside the iStyle KLIA fashion show. The fashion showcase-
cum-styling competition, a first for MAHB, was organised to provide a platform for local 
fashion and design students to show off their creativity.

180809 / KLIA ‘Next Generation Hub’ Programme Started With The 
Launch Of Web Portal.  KLIA has launched itself as the Next Generation Hub, a premier 
airport that will enable passengers to connect seamlessly amongst all types of carriers 
including full service airlines and low-cost carriers to all destinations served from KLIA. In the 
first phase of the Next Generation Hub, MAHB launched www.flyklia.com, which provides an 
itinerary builder that integrates all airlines schedules and fares.

280809 / MAHB Celebrated The Holy Month Of Ramadhan With 2,000 
Passengers.  MAHB celebrated the holy month of Ramadhan by distributing packets of 
‘kurma’ or dates to 2,000 passengers at KLIA. This is also part of MAHB’s efforts to enhance 
its customer relationship management.

091009 / Another 194 Aviation Security Personnel Recruited By MAHB. 
MAHB received another 194 aviation security personnel after trainees from intake 1/2009 
completed their Foundation Course for Flight Security Assistant. The graduation ceremony 
was held at Bunga Raya Complex in KLIA.

201009 / Malaysia’s 5 International Airports First In Asia To Have 
Received SMS Certification.  All five international airports in Malaysia received the 
Safety Management System (SMS) certification, making these airports amongst the earliest to 
achieve the certifications, especially in the Asia region. The SMS certification is a testimony of 
MAHB’s initiatives to ensure the highest level of safety at airports and to fully comply with the 
International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Safety Management Program.

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 2009
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181109 / MAHB Announced Airline Recovery Programme.
MAHB announced the establishment of an Airline Recovery Programme for the airlines 
operating at airports managed by MAHB in Malaysia. This programme commenced in 2009 
and is set to continue for a period of three years.

201109 / ERAMAN Malaysia’s Excellent Customer Service Campaign. 
Eight staff members from ERAMAN were chosen as the best Customer Service Assistant for 
this campaign. The winners comprised of Customer Service Assistant from both ERAMAN’s 
retail and F&B outlets nationwide.

231109 / MAHB Launched ‘1Safety Culture’ Campaign at KLIA.  MAHB 
launched ‘1KLIA 1Safety Culture’, a joint safety campaign with the objective to promote 
awareness of safe working area and further stimulate safety-conscious to all airside workers. 

231109 / MAHB Participated in LIMA ‘09.  MAHB took part in the 10th edition 
of the Langkawi International Maritime and Aerospace Exhibition (LIMA), that showcased its 
services, facilities and future development for airports.

021209 / MOU Signed Between Eurocopter Malaysia and Malaysia 
International Aerospace Centre (MIAC) for The Development Of Helicopter 
Centre.  Eurocopter Malaysia and MIAC Sdn. Bhd. (MIAC) signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding for the development of Helicopter Centre at Sultan Abdul Aziz Shah Airport. The 
primary objective of this Helicopter Centre is to provide an environment that is conducive to the 
development of the helicopter industry in Malaysia.

171209 / Exciting Shopping Experience at KLIA Unveiled By MAHB.  
MAHB unveiled the newly completed Satellite Retail Optimisation Project (SROP) at KLIA. The 
Satellite Building has been given a major facelift and passengers can enjoy a more exciting and 
unique shopping experience. The SROP also included the building of a walkway through the 
forest reserve at the centre core of the Satellite Building, called KLIA Jungle Board Walk and 
creating a Circular Viewing Gallery at the Mezzanine Level.

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 2009
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AWARDS & ACCOLADES 2009

IATA’s EAGLE 
AWARD FOR BEST 

AIRPORT ‘09 
1.Penang International Airport was selected as Airport Of The Year 
(Below 15 Million Passengers Annually) in the 2009 Frost & 

Sullivan Asia Pacific Aerospace & Defense Awards.  
2.KLIA was awarded The Brand Laureate 2008-

2009 (the Grammy Awards for branding) for Corporate Branding - 

Best Brands in Transportation - Airports. 3.KLIA was 

awarded Best Green Service Provider-Airport 
in the 23rd Annual Asian Freight & Supply Chain Awards. 

4.Penang International Airport awarded Best Emerging 
Airport-Asia (less than 500,000 tonnes per year) 

in the 23rd Annual Asian Freight & Supply 
Chain Awards. 5.MAHB received the prestigious 

Eagle Award for Best Airport from IATA, 

in special recognition of outstanding performance in customer satisfaction, 

cost-efficiency and continuous improvements.  6.MAHB awarded the prestigious 

Community Engagement Award in the Asia 
Responsible Entrepreneurship Awards (AREA) 2009 Malaysia, 

in recognition of MAHB’s commitment towards the betterment of the surrounding community.  
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7.MAHB received Best Practice Award for Public Listed Company of the National 
Award for Management Accounting (NAfMA) 2009.  
8.MAHB was awarded the Distinction Award in the Malaysian Corporate 
Governance Index 2009. The new Malaysian Corporate Governance Index aims to promote 

best practices in corporate governance among public-listed companies in Malaysia, and was organised 

by Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group (MSWG). 9.MAHB bagged two awards in the The 
StarBiz-ICR Malaysia Corporate Responsibility Awards 
2009 for the Community and Environment categories. The StarBiz-ICR Malaysia 

Corporate Responsibility Awards recognises and honour companies that demonstrate outstanding 

Corporate Responsibility (CR) practices that go beyond community and philanthropic activities. 

10.MAHB was the recipient of Airport Investment Company of the 
Year while KLIA received the Asia Pacific Airport of the Year (Above 15 Million Annual 

Passengers) in the 2010 Frost & Sullivan Asia Pacific Aerospace & Defence 
Awards. Both awards represent the prestigious recognition of MAHB’s accomplishments in the 

commercial aviation and airports sector. 11.Pan Pacific Kuala Lumpur International Airport has been 

named Asia’s Leading Airport Hotel and World’s Leading 
Airport Hotel in the prestigious World Travel Awards 2009. The hotel 

also received the same honour in 2008, making this its second consecutive win. 12.Pan Pacific Kuala 

Lumpur International Airport was awarded with The Brand Laureate 2008-2009  
for Product Branding under the Airport Hotel category. 13.KLIA 

awarded Green Globe Gold Status after being certified for 5 consecutive years 

since 2004. 14.Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad, Managing Director of MAHB received the 

“Leadership in the Logistic Sector”-Airport Management 
award in the International Business Review Award 2009.



AIRPORTS 
OPERATED 
BY THE GROUP

INTERNATIONAL
Peninsular Malaysia 
KL International Airport 
Langkawi	•	Pulau	Pinang
Sabah
Kota Kinabalu
Sarawak
Kuching

AIRPORTS
OVERSEAS
•		 Delhi	International	Airport,	
 New Delhi, India
•		 Rajiv	Gandhi	International	Airport,		
 Hyderabad, India
•	 Sabiha	Gokcen	International	
 Airport, Turkey
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DOMESTIC
Peninsular Malaysia
Alor	Setar	•	Kota	Bharu	•	Kuala	Terengganu
Ipoh	•	Kuantan	•	Subang	•	Melaka
Sabah
Sandakan	•	Labuan	•	Tawau	•	Lahad	Datu
Sarawak
Miri	•	Bintulu	•	Sibu	•	Limbang	•	Mulu

SHORT TAKE-OFF AND LANDING
PORTS (STOLports)

Peninsular Malaysia
Pulau	Redang	•	Pulau	Pangkor	•	Pulau	Tioman
Sabah 
Kudat	•	Long	Pasia	•	Semporna
Sarawak
Lawas	•	Marudi	•	Long	Semado	•	Long	Seridan	•	Long	Lellang	•	Long	Banga
Bario	•	Kapit	•	Mukah	•	Bakalalan	•	Long	Akah	•	Belaga
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AIRPORTS IN MALAYSIA  
International Domestic Short Take-Off & Landing

MALAYSIA

Langkawi

Alor Setar

Penang

Kota Bharu
Pulau Redang

Kuala Terengganu

Kuantan

Pulau TiomanMelaka

KL nternational Airport
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MALAYSIAN AIRPORTS LOCATION & OVERSEAS AIRPORTS MANAGED BY MAHB
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TURKEY
Sabiha Gokcen International Airport
20% equity ; Management and Operations. 
Inaugurated in October 2009

Astana International Airport
Managed and operated airport 
from 2007-2009

Managed and operated airport 
from 1995-2005

Managed and operated airport 
from 1995-2005

KAZAKHSTAN

11% equity ; Management and Operations. 
Construction of  International Terminal, launched 
March 2008

11% equity ; Management and Operations. 

INDIA

Delhi International Airport
10% equity ; Management and Operations. 
Refurbishment of International Terminal 1&2. 
Construction of Terminal 3 to commence commercial 
operations by July 2010

New Hyderabad International Airport

Siem Reap International Airport

CAMBODIA

Phnom Penh International Airport

  AIRPORTS OVERSEAS
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DELIVERING
OUR PROMISE
As the Next Generation Hub and a key driver of economic development of 
the country, we strive to provide optimum connectivity for the people, with a 
vast network of air carriers, convenient ground transportation and excellent 
customer service.
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Introduction

As the leading Airport Operator, our operations 
and business activities have an enormous 
influence in the daily lives of thousands of people 
across the country, region and perhaps around 
the world. The Board of Directors strongly 
believes that good corporate governance is vital 
in enhancing the long-term performance and 
continuous growth of MAHB Group. Hence, a 
sound governance structure is fundamental to 
safeguard the interest of MAHB’s shareholders 
and to operate successfully in the global business 
environment amidst the current global economic 
downturn.

The Board considers that the corporate governance 
framework in MAHB has been developed and enhanced 
in compliance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance (Revised 2007) (“Code”), Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad’s Main Market Listing Requirements 
(“Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements”) and the adoption 
of recommendations on corporate governance in “Green 
Book Enhancing Board Effectiveness” initiated by the 
Putrajaya Committee on GLC High Performance as part 
of the GLC Transformation Programme (“Green Book”) as 
well as the recently Corporate Governance Guide (“CG 
Guide”) issued by Bursa Malaysia.

Good corporate governance, however, should not be a 
mere statement of compliance. It should aim at achieving 
the highest standards of business integrity, ethics and 
professionalism across all the Group’s activities. The 
Board acknowledges the importance of corporate 

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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governance in enhancing stakeholders’ value, increasing 
investors’ confidence, establishing customers’ trust and 
building a competitive organisation to support the Group’s 
corporate mission and vision. The commitment of the Board, 
Management and staff of MAHB Group in ensuring the 
interest of investors and all other stakeholders are well taken 
care of, is affirmed by the award and recognition that MAHB 
had won, such as the Distinction Award under the Malaysian 
Corporate Governance (“MCG”) Index 2009 awarded by the 
Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group (“MSWG”), a premier 
index for investors to determine the corporate governance 
levels of public listed companies in Malaysia. The MCG 
Index, an initiative by MSWG is an extension of MSWG’s 
corporate governance survey conducted in collaboration 
with Nottingham University Business School (“NUBS”) 
in 2004 – 2008. MAHB was ranked seventh (7th) position 
(2007: 14th and 2006: 40th) in the MSWG – NUBS corporate 
governance survey conducted in 2008.

In addition, MAHB had also been recognised for its 
commitment towards highest standard of business integrity, 
ethics and professionalism by winning the Best Practice 
Award for Public Listed Company of the National Award 
for Management Accounting (NAfMA) 2009 by Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants and The Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants. Such recognition reflects 
excellent management accounting practices in the MAHB 
Group. The NAfMA award recognises best practices in 
management accounting by companies in Malaysia that lead 
to value creation and excellent business performance.
 

TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

The Board will continuously ensure that the following three 
main components of an effective Board, as outlined under 
the Programme (“Improvement Programme”), will remain 
present:-
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as the ability to comprehend the industry within which 
MAHB operates, and its current and future competitive 
environment.

The Board currently comprises six (6) non-independent 
non-executive directors, three (3) independent non-
executive directors and one (1) Managing Director, the 
composition of which is in compliance with paragraph 
15.02 of Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements. The 
directors’ biographies are enclosed from pages [106] to 
[113] of this Annual Report.

During the year 2009, there were several changes in the 
Board’s composition as follow:-

Name Designation Remark

Datuk Latifah binti  Non-Independent Resigned on 13
Datuk Abu Mansor Non-Executive January 2009

Siti Zauyah binti Md Desa Non-Independent Ceased as Alternate
(alternate to Datuk Latifah  Non-Executive Director on 13
binti Datuk Abu Mansor)   January 2009

Dato’ Long See Wool 1 Non-Independent Vacated office on 19  
  Non-Executive January 2009 and  
    reappointed on 20  
    January 2009

Dyg Sadiah binti  Non-Independent Appointed on 25
Abg Bohan Non-Executive February 2009

Anis Rizana binti  Non-Independent Appointed as 
Mohd Zainudin @ Mohd  Non-Executive Alternate Director
Zainuddin (alternate to    on 25 February 2009
Dyg Sadiah binti   and resigned on 
Abg Bohan)    27 April 2009

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

a) To structure a high performing Board; 
b) To ensure effective day to day Board operations and  
 interactions; and
c) To fulfil the Board’s fundamental roles and responsibilities  
 guided by the best practices and recommendations of the  
 relevant bodies, such as the Malaysian Institute of Chartered  
 Secretaries and Administrators.

On 1 April 2010, MAHB launched its 5-year business direction 
“Malaysia Airports Runway to Success: Building A World-Class 
Airport Business 2010 – 2014”. The business direction document 
aims to provide a strategic business direction to staff, airlines, 
partners, suppliers, passengers, the Government, investors as 
well as members of the public.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MALAYSIA AIRPORTS 
HOLDINGS BERHAD

The Balance and Composition of the Board
MAHB’s business scope covers domestic and international 
markets and is consistently faced with political, commercial 
and technical risks associated with its business ventures. 
Consequently, particular attention is paid to the composition 
and balance of the Board to ensure that it has wide 
experience of the sector and regulatory environment in which 
MAHB operates, added with appropriate financial and risk 
management skills. The Board considers that objectivity and 
integrity, (as well as the relevant skills, knowledge, experience, 
mindset and ability, which will assist the Board in strengthening 
its key functions), are the prerequisites for appointment of new 
directors on the Board of MAHB.

The directors’ relevant background ensures that they have the 
understanding of the fiduciary duties and responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors and appreciate the working relationship 
between the Board and Management of the Group, as well 
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Notes:-

1 Dato’ Long See Wool had to vacate the office of director on 19 
January 2009 due to his inability to attend the number of the Board 
of Directors’ Meetings that would fulfil the 50% requirements of 
the total Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the financial year 
2008 in accordance to Para 15.05(3)(c) of the Bursa Malaysia Listing 
Requirements. Dato’ Long was appointed on 9 September 2008 and 
from that date till the end of 2008, there had been 3 Board Meetings 
held. Dato’ Long has attended 1 out of 3 Board Meetings held 
during the financial year 2008 which translates to 33% attendance, 
and hence was not able to fulfil the 50% requirements as mentioned 
above. The inability was due to his tight schedule as he had to 
represent the Government at several meetings overseas organised 
by the International Civil Aviation Organisation. Notwithstanding 
thereto, the Board subsequently approved the re-appointment of 
Dato’ Long as the Director on the Board of Directors of MAHB on 20 
January 2009.

The Board expressed its appreciation to Datuk Latifah binti 
Datuk Abu Mansor, Siti Zauyah binti Md Desa and Anis 
Rizana binti Mohd Zainudin @ Mohd Zainuddin for their 
contribution and guidance to the Company and the Board, in 
particular, during their tenure as members of the respective 
Board Committees of MAHB.

The composition of the Board fairly reflects the interest 
of the significant shareholders, which was adequately 
represented by the appointment of their nominee 
directors without compromising the interest of the minority 
shareholders. The independent directors on the Board act as 
a caretaker of the minority shareholders and their views carry 
significant weight in the Board’s decision-making process.

The Board regularly reviews the composition of the Board 
and its Committees to ensure appropriate balance and a 
good mix of skills and experience. The Board also considers 
the need to rotate the membership of the Committees 
amongst the directors, in order for them to gain exposure on 
the different functions of the Committees.

All directors are subject to re-election by the shareholders 
at the annual general meeting after their appointment to the 
Board, and to re-election by the shareholders at least once 
in every three years, in accordance with the Articles 129, 
131 and 132 of the Company’s Articles of Association. This 
ensures regular election and re-election process of Directors 
by the shareholders.

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Given the composition of the Board, in particular the strong 
and independent presence of the members and the Board 
as a whole, and the separation of the roles of the Chairman 
and the Managing Director, the Board does not consider 
it necessary to nominate a recognised Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director, at this juncture.

Principal Responsibilities of the Board
The Board members exercise due diligence and care in 
discharging their duties and responsibilities to ensure that 
high ethical standards are applied, through compliance with 
relevant rules and regulations, directives and guidelines in 
addition to adopting the best practices in the Code and 
CG Guide, and act in the best interest of the Group and 
shareholders.

The principal responsibilities of the Board include 
formulating, reviewing and adopting an effective strategic 
planning of the Group, steering the Group in the right 
direction to achieve its desired goals, overseeing the 
conduct of the Group’s businesses to ensure that the 
business processes are in place to maintain the highest 
integrity of the Group’s businesses, identifying and 
managing the risks affecting the Group, reviewing the 
adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal 
control and ensuring timely and accurate disclosure of 
material information regarding the financial situation, 
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performance, ownership and governance of the Company. 
Apart from that, the Board also assumes the responsibility of 
developing and implementing an investor relations programme 
or shareholder communications policy for the Group, as well 
as ensuring that the Group has its own succession planning 
programme for the senior management of the Group. 

The Board continues to adhere to the Directors’ Code of Ethics 
formulated based on principles in relation to integrity, sincere, 
responsibility and corporate social responsibility in order to 
enhance the standard of corporate governance and corporate 
behaviour.

The Role of the Board
The Board is responsible to the stakeholders for overseeing 
and protecting the long-term interests of all through effective 
management of the Group’s businesses. It challenges the views 
of the Management by undertaking thorough examination of 
the Group’s present and future strategic directions. It is also 
responsible for ensuring that management maintains and 
updates its system of internal control that provides satisfactory 
assurances of its effectiveness and efficiency, in relation to 
operations, internal financial controls, and compliance with the 
laws and regulations.

In order to ensure that Directors have sufficient time to focus 
and fulfil their roles and responsibilities effectively, the Board 
has adopted a restriction policy on external appointments. 
Under the policy, Directors may only be allowed to take up to 
five (5) directorships in other public-listed companies.

Independence of non-executive Directors
The Board considers all the three (3) Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad, Datuk 
Siti Maslamah binti Osman and Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq to be 
independent based on the definition as set out under the Bursa 
Malaysia Listing Requirements. The Board is satisfied that the 

three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors represent 
the interest of the minority shareholders by virtue of their 
roles and responsibilities.

The Board has determined that the following behaviours 
are essential when considering and assessing the 
independence of each non-executive Director:-

 a) Able to provide intelligent questions,  
  constructive debates, rigorous challenges, and  
  decides dispassionately on management’s views  
  and assumptions;

 b) Is willing to challenge the views, opinions, and  
  beliefs of other directors, for the benefit of the  
  company;

 c) Is prepared to defend his/her own views,  
  opinions, and beliefs for the ultimate good of  
  the company; and

 d) He/She must have a good understanding of the  
  businesses and operations of the company in  
  order to properly evaluate and provide the  
  necessary responses on the various issues  
  confronted by the Board.

The Board considers the issue of directors’ independence 
on an annual basis and has concluded that each of them 
continues to demonstrate the above behaviours which 
are in accordance with the definition under the Bursa 
Malaysia Listing Requirements therein.

In order to ensure independence on the part of the Board 
members of MAHB, the Board has established restriction 
policies/guidelines on the membership for the Board of 
Directors of MAHB’s subsidiaries, as follows:-
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 a) That the membership of the Board of  
  Directors of MAHB Group’s subsidiaries  
  comprises only representatives from Senior  
  Management and that except for Chairman/ 
  Managing Director of MAHB and nominee Directors  
  of the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Transport and  
  Khazanah Nasional Berhad, Board members of  
  MAHB are not appointed on the Board of Directors  
  of MAHB’s subsidiaries to avoid conflict of interest;

 b) That to maintain independence and impartiality  
  on the part of the Board members of MAHB, the  
  respective Board of Directors of MAHB’s  
  subsidiaries may at their discretion (subject to  
  the approval by the relevant Committee) appoint  
  external directors or engage the services of  
  specialists to draw on their experience/skills on  
  specific industry for which such expertise is lacking  
  within the Group, such as hotel business, plantation,  
  etc; and

 c) That Board members are encouraged to arrange/ 
  conduct dialogue sessions with Management  
  and Board of Directors of MAHB’s subsidiaries  
  to raise any matters of concern and to impart the  
  relevant knowledge and guidelines for the  
  betterment of the Group, as a whole.

The Roles of the Executive Director and Non-Executive 
Directors
The Executive Director (i.e. Managing Director) and the 
Non-Executive Directors have been given clear roles and 
accountability for intensifying performance management in 
the Group. 

The Executive Director is responsible for the following:-

 a) Implementation of the overall design of the  
  performance management scheme, particularly  
  developing the strategy, defining the Key  
  Performance Indicators and cascading them  
  through the organisation;

 b) Review of the performance of the businesses, taking  
  corrective actions and reporting them to the Board;  
  and

 c) Review of the performance of the Senior  
  Management and delivering meaningful rewards  
  and compensation.

On the other hand, the Non-Executive Directors are 
responsible for the following:-

 a) Providing independent judgement on the Group’s  
  Strategy;

 b) Overseeing that the internal control systems  
  and the risk management processes are appropriate  
  and effective;

 c) Setting the appropriate targets/objectives and  
  reviewing the performance of the Company and the  
  Executive Director; and

 d) Setting the right remuneration of the Executive  
  Director, and evaluating the effectiveness of the  
  Company’s succession planning programme.

The Board opined that the quality of its directors, each of 
whom possesses an impeccable background and offers 
relevant experience, ensures that they are able to challenge 
and help develop and drive the Group’s vision and strategy, 
scrutinise performance and controls including to ensure 
that the governance standards are continuously upheld. 
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The Chairman will always ensure that the board’s decisions 
are based on consensus, and any concerns expressed by 
any director, will accordingly be recorded in the minutes of 
meetings by the Company Secretary.

The Chairman and Managing Director
The responsibilities and authorities between the Chairman and 
the Managing Director are clearly separated and defined in 
order to maintain a balance of power, as outlined below:-

Chairman 
Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman is the Chairman of the 
Company. Prior to his appointment as the Chairman, Tan Sri 
Datuk Dr. Aris has never assumed an executive position on the 
Board or acted as the Managing Director of the Company. Tan 
Sri Datuk Dr. Aris’ roles and responsibilities are as follows:-

 a) Ensure orderly conduct and working of the  
  Board, where healthy debates on issues being  
  deliberated are encouraged to reflect any level  
  of scepticism and independence;

 b) Ensure that every Board Resolution is put to a  
  vote to ensure that the decision is made  
  collectively and reflects the will of the majority;

 c) Ensure that the Board agrees on the strategy  
  formulated by the Company and checks on its   
  implementation;

 d) Exemplify the highest standards of corporate  
  governance practices and ensure that these  
  practices are regularly communicated to the  
  stakeholders;

 e) Ensure the appropriateness and effectiveness  

  of the succession planning programme at the  
  Board and Senior Management levels;

 f) Ensure a healthy working relationship with the  
  Managing Director and provide the necessary  
  support and advice as appropriate; and

 g) Determine the agenda for the Board Meetings  
  in consultation with the Managing Director  
  and the Company Secretary and ensure effective  
  time management to allow the Board to have a  
  rich and deep discussion.

Managing Director
Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid is the Managing 
Director of the Company. Tan Sri Bashir’s in-depth 
knowledge in the aviation and airport operations 
industry and the overall Group’s businesses and affairs, 
has significantly contributed towards manoeuvring the 
direction of the Group to achieve the desired goals and 
objectives. Tan Sri Bashir’s roles and responsibilities are 
as follows:-

 a) Implementing the policies and decisions of the  
  Board, overseeing the operation, as well as  
  coordinating the development and  
  implementation of business and corporate  
  strategies;

 b) Developing and translating the strategies into a  
  set of manageable goals and priorities;

 c) Setting the overall policy and direction of the  
  business operations, investment and other  
  activities based on effective risk management  
  controls;

158 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009



 d) Ensuring that the financial results are accurate and  
  not misleading;

 e) Ensuring that the financial management practice is  
  carried out at the highest level of integrity and  
  transparency for the benefit of the shareholders;

 f) Ensuring that the business and affairs of the  
  Company are carried out in an ethical manner and  
  in full compliance with the relevant laws and  
  regulations;

 g) Ensuring that whilst the ultimate objective is  
  to maximise the shareholders return, the social and  
  environmental factors are not being neglected;

 h) Developing and maintaining strong communication  
  programmes and dialogues with the shareholders,  
  investors, analysts etc; and

 i) Providing the leadership and represent the  
  Company with major customers and industry  
  organisations together with the involvement of the  
  Chairman.

Furthermore, the responsibilities and authorities between 
the Chairman and the Managing Director are also clearly 
outlined in the Board Charter.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development
All newly-appointed directors have undergone a 
comprehensive induction programme arranged by the 
Company Secretary, tailored to their individual requirements, 
comprising, briefings by the Senior Management, training 
on Directors’ duties and responsibilities, and visits to the 
airports. The training is normally initiated within the first six 
months period following the Director’s appointment. 

All the directors have attended and successfully completed 
the Mandatory Accreditation Programme as required by the 
Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements. In this context, the 
listing requirements also prescribed that the onus is on the 
Board of Directors to determine and oversee the training 
needs of its members, whereby they should be encouraged 
to attend talks, seminars and training programmes to 
enhance their skills and knowledge, and to keep abreast with 
new developments within the business environment. 

Members of the Board of Directors of MAHB had attended 
the training programmes organised during the financial 
year 2009. The Board, being cognisant of its responsibility 
under the Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements, had taken 
the initiative to organise in-house training programmes 
conducted by external consultants, on areas relating to the 
changes in the airlines and airports environment, business 
sustainability and strategy development, financial reporting, 
etc. The training programmes attended by the Directors in 
2009, are as follows:

 a) Management Retreat and Teambuilding for  
  Directors and Senior Management held on 24 to 26  
  July 2009;

 b) Briefing/updates on H1N1 by the Ministry of Health  
  held on 30 July 2009;

 c) ACIIA Conference 2009 “Towering Experience:  
  Towards Sustainable Success” by Asian  
  Confederation of Institute of Internal Auditors held  
  on 19 to 21 October 2009;

 d) Presentation/briefing on Financial Reporting  
  Standard (FRS) 139 by Ernst & Young held on 22  
  October 2009;
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 e) 19th ACI World and Asia Pacific Conference and  
  Exhibition “Above the Turbulence – Sustaining  
  Business Excellence” by Airports Council International  
  held on 2 to 4 November 2009; and

 f) Briefing on how Corporate GIS is used in  
  Airports Worldwide with an Emphasis on  
  the Business Value at Airports by Manchester  
  Airport Technology Consultant held on 5  
  November 2009.

The Board members are continuously updated with the latest 
information on issues related to governance, risk management, 
board performance and financial position. In addition, the 
Board members also strive to develop their understanding 
of the business through regular airport visits and in-depth 
presentations on topical issues. 

The Company Secretary would continuously disseminate to the 
Board any interesting and relevant articles or reports extracted 
from various reputable magazines on governance best practices 
for the Board members’ reading pleasure in order to keep 
them updated with the latest development and also as part of 
their life long learning education. As an on-going effort, the 
Company Secretary is also procuring a collection of books and 
reading materials, for the Board members’ benefit, concerning 
corporate governance and several case studies.

As part of the customary annual training programme, the 
Board had in the past, participated in airport familiarisation 
visits to other renowned international airports, where they had 
the benefit of viewing the airports’ current operations, and 
were also briefed on the future development programmes of 
the respective airports. During the year, some of the Board 
members paid official visits to Delhi International Airport and 
Istanbul Sabiha Gokcen International Airport. The visits gave 
the directors the opportunity to experience the uniqueness of 

each airport operations, as well as a better understanding 
of the different approaches to managing challenges at 
the respective airports. It will certainly be an invaluable 
experience to the Directors, and the added value gained 
from this experience will no doubt benefit the Company.

Board Performance Evaluation
The Board performance evaluation framework and 
processes in MAHB have been developed and adopted in 
accordance with the principles as enunciated in the Green 
Book and the Code.

The performance evaluation of the Board was primarily 
based on the answers to a detailed questionnaire which 
was prepared internally by the Company Secretary. The 
questionnaire form was distributed to all the respective 
Board members and it covers topics that include, 
amongst others, the responsibilities and influence of the 
Board, meeting arrangements, information and support, 
Board composition, decision-making and output. Similar 
topics were covered in respect of the questionnaire 
for each of the Committees. Thereafter, the results of 
these questionnaires, after being agreed upon by the 
individual directors, were documented, and collectively, 
they formed the basis of a report to be tabled at the 
Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee meeting, 
subsequently for onward submission to the Board of 
Directors’ meeting for deliberation thereof, whereby the 
Board had evaluated their performance and formulate a 
“going forward position”, to enhance the effectiveness of 
the Board.

With regard to the performance of the respective Board 
Committees, members had assessed and rated the 
Board Committee’s performance based on each of the 
questionnaires and where necessary, provided their 
comments. Whilst assessing the performance of the 

160 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009



Board Committees, the members also indirectly assessed 
the individual members performance against a range of 
key competencies. These competencies include strategic 
thinking, commitment and preparedness, listening and 
communication skills, contribution to decision making and 
constructive challenging of information. The ratings and 
comments were synthesised into a report and tabled at the 
Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee meeting and 
the Board of Directors’ meeting for deliberation thereof.

The Board is passionate about conducting such performance 
evaluation, as this enables the Board performance to be 
properly gauged. At this juncture, the recommendation to 
conduct a one-on-one session between the Directors and the 
Chairman (as practised by the UK Public Listed Companies) 
would be considered at an appropriate time, at a later stage 
to come.

Board Charter
The Board has embarked upon a review of the Board 
Charter in accordance with the best practises prescribed 
in the Green Book which provides guidance to the Board 
in reviewing the Charter at least every 2 years to test its 
applicability to the Company’s current situation. The revised 
Board Charter has been approved by the Board on 10 
December 2009.

The Board continues to observe the Board Charter which 
provides guidance on the fulfilment of the Board’s roles, 
duties and responsibilities, to ensure that they are performed 
in accordance with the best practices of good corporate 
governance and are reflective of the latest legislations and 
regulations affecting the Board of Directors’ conduct.

The Board Charter clearly outlines the principles and 
adoption of best practices on the structures and processes 
towards achieving the highest governance standards, 

which include amongst others, the right balance and 
composition of the Board, the Board’s obligations and 
liabilities, Directors’ Code of Ethics, appointment of new 
directors, remuneration policy and the establishment of 
Board Committees together with the required mandates and 
activities.

Directors’ Code of Ethics
The Board upon its recent review of the Board Charter, has 
incorporated the elements of Directors’ Code of Ethics which 
establishes the standard of ethical conduct for Directors 
of MAHB and serves as a source of guiding principles for 
Directors in discharging their duties and responsibilities. 
The Code summarizes the Board’s fiduciary duties to the 
Company, provides guidance to directors to deal with ethical 
issues and helps to foster the spirit of social responsibility 
and accountability in line with the legislation, rules and 
regulations governing the Company.

Whistleblowing Programme
In order to improve the overall organisational effectiveness 
and to uphold the integrity of the Company in the eyes of 
the public, whilst at the same time being an entity that serves 
the interest of the nation, the Company has instituted the 
whistleblowing programme which acts as a formal internal 
communication channel, where the staff can communicate 
concerns in cases where the Company’s business conduct is 
deemed to be contrary to the Company’s common values. 
The categories of concern may cover the following:-

 a) Commission of fraud, bribery and/or corruption;

 b) Unauthorised use of Company’s properties, 
  facilities, information etc;
 
 c) Failure to comply with the professional standards  
  or legal requirements;
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 d) Actions that may result in danger to the health  
  and/or safety of people or may cause damage to  
  the environment;

 e) Miscarriage of justice;

 f) Unethical practice in accounting, internal  
  controls, financial reporting and auditing  
  matters; and

 g) Any other legal or ethical concerns.

All concerns should be addressed to the Whistleblowing 
Independent Committee which is comprised of respectable 
individuals from various levels of management chaired by Y. 
Bhg. Dato’ Che Azmi bin Murad, Senior General Manager, 
Operations, MAHB whereby the Committee would assess all 
concerns reported and recommend the appropriate action, and 
subsequently submit a report to the Managing Director for his 
consideration thereof. All details pertaining to the name and 
position of the whistleblower will be kept strictly confidential 
throughout the investigation proceedings.

During the year, a total of sixteen (16) concerns were reported, 
which cover broad areas of concerns as mentioned above, and 
where appropriate, actions have been taken to address the 
issues raised.

Meetings and Attendances
The Board requires all members to devote sufficient time to the 
working of the Board, to effectively discharge their duties as the 
directors of Malaysia Airports, and to use their best endeavours 
to attend meetings.

The Board meetings are scheduled in advance before the 
end of each financial year so as to enable the Directors to 
plan accordingly and fit the year’s board meetings into their 

schedules. Special Board meetings may be convened 
to consider urgent proposals or matters that require 
expeditious decision or deliberation by the Board.

The Board is scheduled to meet once a month with 
additional meetings convened, as and when deemed 
necessary. During the year 2009, eleven (11) Board 
meetings and two (2) Special Board meetings were held. 
All the directors had proportionately attended more than 
50% of the Board meetings held for the full financial year 
of 2009, in compliance with the Bursa Malaysia Listing 
Requirements.
 
The following table sets out the number of Board 
meetings held during the financial year 2009 and 
individual attendance by the Directors at the meetings. 
Directors who were unable to attend the Board meetings 
would review the relevant Board papers and thereafter 
convey their comments to the Chairman prior to the 
proceeding of the meetings:-
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Notes:-
 1. Appointed as a member of the Board with effect from 25 February 2009 
 2. Resigned as a member of the Board with effect from 13 January 2009

Non-independent  

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman  13 out of 13 100%

Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid 13 out of 13 100%

Dato’ Long See Wool  11 out of 13 85%

Izlan bin Izhab  12 out of 13 92%

Hajah Jamilah binti Dato’ Hj Hashim 11 out of 13 85%

Mohd Nadziruddin bin Mohd Basri  13 out of 13 100%

Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan 1 12 out of 12 100%

Datuk Latifah binti Datuk Abu Mansor 2 - -

Independent  

Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad  11 out of 13 85%

Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman 13 out of 13 100%

Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq 13 out of 13 100%

Directors  Number of Board Meetings attended/held Percentage
  (during the Directors’ tenure)

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD / 163



STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Non-attendance at the Board and Committee meetings is an 
exception, normally where directors have prior commitment, or 
in the case of newly-appointed directors, if there is a clash with 
a meeting which had been scheduled earlier and could not be 
re-arranged.

Matters Reserved to the Board
The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved 
to it. These reserved matters include the following:-

 a) Approval of the overall strategy, vision, values, and  
  governance framework of the Group;

 b) Approval of the Company’s Annual Report and  
  Quarterly Financial Statements;

 c) Approval of any interim dividend, recommendation of  
  the final dividend and the Company’s dividend policy;

 d) Approval of the Group’s annual budget and  
  amendments to that budget in relation to the amount,  
  borrowing and security, acquisitions and disposals of  
  tangible/non-tangible assets, and capital expenditure  
  over a specified amount;

 e) Approval of the Company’s long term financial plan  
  and the annual capital expenditure programme;

 f) Approval of any significant change in the accounting  
  policies and practices;

 g) Approval of all circulars, resolutions and corresponding  
  documentation sent to the stakeholders;

 h) Approval of changes in the capital structure  
  of the Company with regard to issuance or  

  allotment of shares or other securities, or its  
  status as a public listed company;

 i) Appointment, re-appointment or removal of  
  the Directors and the recommendation for  
  their election or re-election for the consideration  
  of the shareholders, pursuant to the Company’s  
  Articles of Association;

 j) Appointment or removal of the company  
  secretary;

 k) Recommendation to shareholders for the  
  appointment, re-appointment or removal of the  
  external auditors;

 l) Approval of the division of responsibilities  
  between the Chairman and Managing Director;  
  and

 m) Approval for the establishment of the Board  
  Committees, their terms of reference (i.e.  
  membership and financial authority), reviewing  
  their activities and, where appropriate, ratifying  
  their decisions.

Quality of Information
The Chairman takes responsibility for ensuring that the 
Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information 
with regard to the Group’s financial and operational 
performance, to enable the Board to make sound 
decision and provide the necessary advice, with all Board 
and Committee papers being issued in advance prior 
to the scheduled meetings. The Company Secretary 
will assist the Chairman to ensure that the process of 
disseminating the information is effective and reliable.
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Under the current practice, Notices pertaining to all Board 
of Directors’ meetings are issued to the directors, at least 14 
days from the date of the meeting, whilst the Notices of the 
Board Committee meetings are circulated to the Committee 
members and all those invited to attend the meeting, at 
least 7 days before each meeting. The Agenda and the 
Board papers are circulated within 7 days from the date of 
the meeting. Furthermore, in order to provide an in-depth 
discussion of the respective matters within a reasonable 
and sufficient time, the Managing Director, together with 
the Chairman would decide on the Agenda and accordingly 
structure and prioritise the respective matters based on their 
relevancy and importance. Confidential papers or urgent 
proposals are presented and tabled at the Board meetings 
under special agenda.

The format and structure of the Board papers are such that 
they contain the right amount of details and are clear and 
concise, to enable the directors to comprehend on the 
subject matters within the first five minutes of reading. The 
format of the papers has been designed and presented into 
a short, and synthesised executive summary, which includes, 
amongst others, action required for Board’s consideration; 
detailed information on the proposals; key issues and risks 
with a clear response plan, required actions with clear 
accountabilities and timelines; and responsible parties who 
prepared and reviewed the report. This is to ensure that 
the Directors have a complete understanding of the issues 
to enable systematic decision making in a well-informed 
manner.

The quality and presentation of the Board papers are 
continuously being monitored to ensure that the messages 
had been clearly understood by the Board, with a precise 
articulation of the facts and analysis. The Board, with the 
assistance of the Company Secretary will continuously guide 

the Management on the needs and criteria of what constitute 
an exemplary Board papers. For decision papers, it is 
advisable to accompany with a one-page Executive Summary 
outlining the objectives, rationale/justifications and actions 
required from the Board (whether to approve or endorse), in 
order to facilitate the directors and for reference purposes. 

The summary of the minutes of meetings is also enclosed 
to ensure that decisions, requests and requirements were 
recorded accurately and could be tracked and monitored 
upfront for clarity and ease of reference, as well as for the 
Board’s comfort that actions are being followed up. The 
Board may, if required, and in the best interest of time, 
refrain from considering any last minute agenda items during 
the proceedings of the Board meetings, unless the matter is 
of genuine and exceptional circumstances.

The minutes of each Board meetings are circulated together 
with the Board papers to all Directors for their perusal before 
confirmation of the minutes to be done at the following 
Board meeting which is one of the agenda of the meeting. 
The Directors may request for clarification or raise comments 
before the minutes are tabled for confirmation as a correct 
record of proceedings of the Board.

The Directors have a duty to declare immediately to the 
Board should they be interested in any transaction to be 
entered into directly or indirectly by the Company. An 
interested Director will abstain from deliberations and 
decisions of the Board on the transaction. In the event 
a corporate proposal is required to be approved by 
shareholders, interested Directors will abstain from voting on 
the resolutions relating to the corporate proposals, and will 
further undertake to ensure that persons connected to them 
similarly abstain from voting on the resolutions.
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Access to Information and Advice
The directors have full and unrestricted access to all information 
pertaining to the Group’s businesses and affairs to enable them 
to discharge their duties. They also have full and unrestricted 
access to the advice and services of the Senior Management 
and the Company Secretary of the Group.

Besides holding formal Board meetings, the Chairman maintains 
regular contact with the Managing Director to discuss specific 
matters. Furthermore, the Managing Director ensures that 
frequent communication between the Senior Management team 
and the Board is present at all time. Nevertheless, directors are 
free to arrange for meetings with the individual members of the 
Senior Management team and are always invited to attend the 
events and exhibitions organised by the Company.

Company Secretary
Sabarina Laila binti Dato’ Mohd Hashim, the Company Secretary 
for the Group, is responsible for advising the Board on issues 
relating to compliance with laws, rules, procedures and 
regulations affecting the Group, as well as the best practices 
of governance. The Company Secretary is also responsible 
for advising the directors of their obligations and adherence 
to matters pertaining to disclosure of interest in securities, 
disclosure of any conflict of interest in a transaction involving 
the Company, prohibition on dealing in securities and 
restrictions on disclosure of price-sensitive information. The 
Company Secretary will also brief the Board on the proposed 
contents and timing of material announcements to be made to 
Bursa Malaysia.

Apart from playing an active role as the advisor to the 
directors, the duties of the Company Secretary also include, 
amongst others, attending all Board and Board Committee 
meetings, ensuring that the proceedings of Board meetings 
and decisions made thereof, are accurately and sufficiently 
recorded, and properly kept for the purposes of meeting 

statutory obligations, as well as obligations arising from 
Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements or other regulatory 
requirements, communicating the decisions of the Board 
for Management’s attention and further action, ensuring 
all appointments and re-appointments of directors are 
in accordance with the relevant legislations, handling 
company share transactions, such as issuance of new 
shares, arranging for payment of dividends and liaising 
with external auditors, lawyers, tax advisors, bankers and 
shareholders.

Independent Professional Advice
The Board allows the directors, in furtherance of their 
duties, to obtain independent professional advice from 
external consultants, at the Company’s expenses. Copies 
of any reports, advice and recommendations provided 
by the independent professional adviser to a respective 
director, would be forwarded by the said director to the 
Company Secretary, who will, where appropriate, circulate 
them to other directors to ensure that they are kept 
informed of pertinent issues, which may have an impact 
on the Group’s sustainability. However, there was no such 
advice sought by any director during the year.

Appointment to the Board
There is a formal and transparent procedure for the 
appointment of new directors to the Board, the primary 
responsibility of which is delegated to the Board 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee, merged on 
5 November 2008, with the membership comprising 
exclusively, non-executive directors, the majority of whom 
are independent. This composition of only non-executive 
directors in the Committee ensures that any decisions 
made are impartial and in the best interest of the Group, 
without any element of fear or favour.
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The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for leading the selection, deliberation and 
proposal of suitable candidates for appointment as directors 
to the Board based on merit and on the needs of the Board 
and the Company’s present situation and future strategic 
direction. The Committee is also responsible for assessing 
and ensuring, amongst others, that the candidate possesses 
technical competencies, a strong sense of professionalism 
and integrity, organisational and strategic awareness, and 
the ability to add value, as well as adherence to the highest 
standards of business conduct.

The appointment process would begin with an evaluation of 
the composition of the Board, pertaining to balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience of the Board, at that juncture, 
which was based on the feedback received from the Board 
Effectiveness programme. Subsequently, the search for the 
potential candidates based on the description of the roles 
and capabilities required by the Board would be embarked 
upon by the members of the Board with the assistance of 
the Company Secretary. A list of potential candidates would 
be shortlisted through consultation with the Committee 
Chairman. Thereafter, a formal meeting of the Committee 
will be held to consider the merit of each candidates and to 
finalise a recommendation to the Board for deliberation and 
approval thereof.

During the year, the Board had considered and approved the 
appointment of Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan, a nominee of 
the Ministry of Finance. The appointment has strengthened 
the balance between the composition of the Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors of the Board. Besides that, 
the Director’s experience, skills and relevant knowledge in 
aviation industry and financial matters, have been beneficial 
towards strengthening the Company’s strategic vision.

The Committee is also responsible for evaluating the 
findings of the Board Performance Evaluation for the Board 
and the relevant Board Committees. Each Director’s ability 
and capability will be individually self assessed by them, 
and any weaknesses identified would be discussed, and 
thereafter a plan would be formulated to address the gap.

The Committee has also been tasked with ensuring the 
implementation of a sound and orderly succession of 
Management in the Group, as well as ensuring that a pool 
of talents have been identified and undergone the relevant 
trainings as part of the Company’s career development 
programme. In this regard, the Committee plays a major role 
in assisting the Management in determining the appropriate 
human capital strategy, reviewing the Group’s overall 
performance management philosophy to ensure that it is 
capable of attracting, motivating and retaining the right pool 
of talents and performers, overseeing succession planning 
for key leadership positions and enhancing leadership and 
human capital development.

Re-election of Directors
All directors, including the Managing Director, are subject 
to re-election by the shareholders at their first opportunity 
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election at 
least once every three (3) years, in accordance with Articles 
129, 131 and 132 of the Company’s Articles of Association. 
The re-election of directors at a regular interval not only 
promotes the creation of an effective Board, but also 
present the shareholders with the opportunity to gauge the 
performance of the directors.

The retiring directors who are seeking re-election would 
be subjected to performance assessment carried out by 
the Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee, which 
would then submit its recommendations to the Board for 
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deliberation and approval. The Board would endorse a director 
for re-election if his or her performance is considered as 
satisfactory and meet the expected roles and responsibilities.

At the Eleventh Annual General Meeting, Tan Sri Datuk Dr. 
Aris bin Othman, Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman and Hajah 
Jamilah binti Dato’ Hj Hashim shall retire in accordance with 
Article 131 of the Company’s Articles of Association and being 
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee has 
deliberated and recommended the re-election of the above 
directors to the Board for its approval thereof.

The Board has determined that the performance of the above 
directors who are subject to re-election, has continued to 
exemplify and demonstrate the highest commitment towards 
strengthening the effectiveness of the governance framework. 
Hence, the Board unanimously recommended that the 
shareholders vote in favour of the re-election of the above 
directors at the Company’s Eleventh Annual General Meeting.

Directors over the age of seventy years are also required to 
submit themselves for re-appointment annually, in accordance 
with Section 129 (6) of the Companies Act, 1965. Currently, 
the Company has no Directors who have reached the above 
stipulated age.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for the review, assessment and recommendation to 
the Board of Directors, the appropriate remuneration packages 
for the Directors, Managing Director, and to deliberate the 

remuneration package for the Senior Management of 
the Group. The component parts of the remuneration 
are structured as such, so as to link rewards to corporate 
and individual performance, in line with the “Enhancing 
Business and Performance Management” Programme 
developed by the Group with the assistance and in 
consultation with the external consultants.

The Managing Director’s remuneration comprises basic 
salary and other customary benefits which are competitive 
that reflect his performance for the year, whilst the non-
executive directors’ remuneration package, comprises 
fees and allowances, which reflect the individual’s roles 
and responsibilities. The calibre of the non-executive 
directors serving the Company is essential in upholding 
the standards of Corporate Governance. The Board 
remuneration structure is reviewed by benchmarking the 
Chairman and the directors’ remuneration against peer 
companies, locally and regionally, in order to align the 
remuneration to at least around the 50th percentile of the 
appropriate peer group. The Board hopes the alignment 
of the remuneration package offered to the non-
executive directors of the Company would continue to 
attract and retain directors of such calibre to provide the 
necessary skills and experiences required for the effective 
management and operations of the Group.

The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
embarked upon a review of the overall remuneration 
policy for the Managing Director and recommended 
on specific adjustments in remuneration and/or reward 
payments that reflect his contribution to the Company, 
and which are competitive and are supportive with the 
Company’s corporate objectives, culture and strategy. 

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

168 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009



During the year, the Board Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee has recommended the increase of the existing 
Directors’ fees for the Non-Executive Directors to the Board 
for approval. The Board had deliberated and unanimously 
recommended that the proposed increase in Directors’ 
fees be tabled at the Company’s Eleventh Annual General 
Meeting for shareholders’ approval thereof. The proposed 
increase of Directors’ fees is to reflect the increase in 
Directors’ responsibilities and liabilities and to align their 
total remuneration to other public listed companies. The 
higher level of activities of the Group requires further 
involvement of Directors in the Group’s operations.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors received the 
following fees in respect of the financial year 2009:-

 Fee   Chairman  Non-Executive
      Director

1. Directors’ Fee RM8,000/month RM1,500/month

2. Meeting Allowance  

2.1 - Board Meeting RM2,000/meeting RM1,500/meeting

2.2 - Board Committee Meeting RM1,000/meeting RM500/meeting

2.3 - Subsidiary Meeting RM1,500/meeting RM1,000/meeting

Category Salary, 
Bonus and 
Other 
emoluments
(RM)

Directors’ 
Fees 
(RM)

Benefits 
in kind 
(RM)

Total
(RM)

Directors’ 
Other 
emoluments
(RM)

Executive 
Director* 934,972.05 - - 18,031.16 953,003.21

Non-Executive 
Directors - 238,500.00 270,000.00 16,599.96 525,099.96

   Number of Directors 
  2009  2008
Executive Director:   
RM750,001 – RM800,000 -  -
RM800,001 – RM850,000 -  -
RM850,001 – RM900,000 -  -
RM900,001 – RM950,000 1  1

Non-Executive Director:   
Less than RM50,000 9  13
RM50,001 – RM100,000 -  -
RM100,001 – RM150,000 -  -
RM150,001 – RM200,000 1  1

* being the Managing Director

The details of the total remuneration of directors for the 
financial year 2009 are summarised as follows:-

The number of directors of the Company whose total 
remuneration fell within the specified bands during the 
financial year 2009 is tabulated, as follows:-

The Board opted not to disclose the remuneration of 
individual directors as suggested by the Code, as it 
believes that this information will not add significantly 
to the understanding and evaluation of the Group’s 
governance.

Board Committees
The Board of Directors delegates certain of its governance 
responsibilities to the following Board Committees, which 
operate within clearly defined terms of reference, to assist 
the Board in discharging its responsibilities: -
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Key Functions 

Review and evaluate 
performance of External 
Auditors and Internal 
Audit Division in ensuring 
efficiency and effectiveness 
of the Company’s operations, 
adequacy of internal control 
system, compliance to 
established policies and 
procedures, transparency in 
decision-making process and 
accountability of financial and 
management information. 
 
Review, assess and recommend 
to the Board of Directors, 
remuneration packages 
of the Executive Director 
and senior management 
as well as to determine 
criteria for Board/Board 
Committees’ membership, 
structure, responsibilities and 
effectiveness, and to formulate/
review policies and procedures 
on human resource matters 
with regard to recruitment, 
appointment, promotion, 
transfer and secondment of 
employees, etc.

Board Committee 

Board Audit 
Committee (“BAC”) 

Board Nomination 
& Remuneration 
Committee (“BNRC”)

Key Functions 

Review and monitor the financial 
performance of the Group, 
including the budgets, and 
monitor investment policy and 
portfolio of the Group.

Formulate the overall risk 
management, occupational 
safety and health, ICAO safety 
management safety and 
information security strategy 
of the Group and recommend 
for approval and/or approve 
(whenever applicable) any major 
risk financing decisions by the 
Group.

Approve tender for contract 
value above RM5 million up 
to RM200 million, review and 
approve procurement policies 
and procedures, oversee 
and monitor the overall 
implementation of the Red Book 
on Procurement Guidelines, 
ensuring efficiency and 
effectiveness of procurement 
process, and support of national 
development objectives.

Board Committee 

Board Finance & 
Investment Committee 
(“BF&IC”)

Board Risk 
Management 
Committee (“BRMC”) 

Board Procurement 
Committee (“BPC”)
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The terms and reference of all the Board Committees have 
been reviewed and enhanced under the Improvement 
Programme to enable the respective Board Committees to 
focus their roles and responsibilities to ensure that there are 
no gaps or overlaps. Suffice to say that the implementation 
of the Improvement Programme has successfully increased 
the overall effectiveness of the Board Committees. Prior 
to the establishment of these Board Committees, their 
functions were assumed by the Board as a whole. The 
Chairman and members of each Board Committee shall 

be appointed by the Board. As a matter of good practice, 
the Chairmen of the various Board Committees will report 
the outcome of the Board Committee meetings to the 
Board, and such reports and also the minutes of Committee 
meetings would be noted in the minutes of the Board 
meetings. 

The composition of the Board Committees and the 
attendance of members at Board Committee meetings 
during the financial year 2009 are reflected as follows: -

Director BAC BNRC BF&IC BRMC BPC

Non-Independent     
Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman   C C C
Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid 1   M M 
Dato’ Long See Wool     M M
Izlan bin Izhab  M    
Hajah Jamilah binti Dato’ Hj Hashim   M   
Mohd Nadziruddin bin Mohd Basri   M M 
Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan 2  M M  M
Datuk Latifah binti Datuk Abu Mansor 3  M M  M

Independent     
Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad  M C  M M
Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman  C M M  
Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq  M M   

Notes:-

C: Chairman, M: Member

1. Resigned as a member of the Board Risk Management Committee with effect from 28 December 2009.
2. Appointed as a member of the Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee, Board Finance & Investment Committee and Board  
 Procurement Committee with effect from 25 February 2009.
3. Resigned as a member of the Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee, Board Finance & Investment Committee and Board   
 Procurement Committee with effect from 13 January 2009.
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Director BAC BNRC BF&IC BRMC BPC

Non-Independent     
Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman   4/4 4/4 13/13
Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid 1   3/4 1/4 
Dato’ Long See Wool     3/4 11/13
Izlan bin Izhab  4/7    
Hajah Jamilah binti Dato’ Hj Hashim   8/8   
Mohd Nadziruddin bin Mohd Basri   3/4 3/4 
Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan 2  5/8 3/4  13/13
Datuk Latifah binti Datuk Abu Mansor 3  - -  -

Independent     
Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad  7/7 8/8  4/4 13/13
Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman  7/7 8/8 4/4  
Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq  7/7 7/8   

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The salient terms of reference of the Board Committees are as 
follows:

Board Audit Committee (“Audit Committee”)
The Audit Committee comprises no fewer than four (4) 
members, all of whom are non-executive directors with majority 
being independent directors. At least one (1) member must be 
a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, or he/she 
complies with the requirement of paragraph 15.09 (1)(c)(iii) of 
the Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements.

The Audit Committee shall have the following authorities as 
empowered by the Board:-

 a) Have authority to investigate any matter within its  
  terms of reference;

 b) Have the resources required to perform its duties;

 c) Have full and unrestricted access to any 
  information, records, properties and personnel  
  within the Group;

 d) Have direct communication channels with the  
  external auditors and internal auditors;

 e) Be able to obtain independent professional  
  advisers or other advisers and to engage outsiders  
  with relevant experience and expertise if necessary;
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 f) Be able to convene meetings with the external  
  auditors, internal auditors or both, excluding  
  the attendance of other directors and employees of  
  the Company, whenever deemed necessary; and

 g) Be able to meet with Management to ensure that  
  there are specific and effective avenues for  
  whistleblowing.

The Audit Committee meets at least six (6) times during 
the financial year to carry out its functions. The Audit 
Committee is also responsible for recommending the 
person(s) to be nominated to act as the external auditor and 
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external 
auditor. 

Under the Improvement Programme, the Audit Committee 
will also review its terms of reference at least once in every 
two years to assess its relevancy and clarity.

Activities Undertaken During the Year
The Audit Committee had deliberated key matters during 
the year 2009, which include, amongst others, the following:-

 a) Reviewed and approved the Company’s accounting  
  approach and treatment in compliance with the  
  Financial Reporting Standards;

 b) Reviewed the quarterly and annual results and  
  considered any matters raised by the internal auditors  
  as well as the external auditors;

 c) Reviewed and approved the audit plans for the  
  internal auditors;

 d) Monitored the scope, effectiveness, independence  
  and objectivity of the external auditors;

 e) Discussed the results of internal audit reviews,  
  significant findings, management’s action plans and  
  consequence management;

 f) Reviewed any related party transactions that may arise  
  within the Group; and

 g) Reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit  
  Committee.

Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
(“Nomination & Remuneration Committee”)
The Nomination & Remuneration Committee consists of at 
least three (3) members, all of whom shall be non-executive 
directors. The Chairman and members of the Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee shall be appointed by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. The Committee’s main 
responsibilities and such other responsibilities as may be 
determined by the Board include, amongst others, the 
following:

Nomination
 a) Determine the criteria for Board membership,  
  including qualities, experience, skills, education and  
  other factors that will best qualify a nominee to serve  
  on the Board;

 b) Review annually and recommend to the Board with  
  regard to the structure, size, balance and composition  
  of the Board and Committees, including the required  
  mix of skills and experience, core competencies which  
  the non-executive directors should bring to the  
  Board and other qualities in order to function  
  effectively and efficiently;
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 c) Propose to the Board the responsibilities of the non- 
  executive directors, including membership and  
  chairmanship of the Board Committees;

 d) Establish and implement processes for assessing the  
  effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Committees of  
  the Board and for assessing the contribution of each  
  director;

 e) Evaluate on an annual basis, the effectiveness of each  
  director’s ability to contribute to the effectiveness of the  
  Board and the relevant Board Committees, and to  
  provide the necessary feedback to directors in relation to  
  their performance, the effectiveness of the Committees of  
  the Board, and the effectiveness of the Board as a whole;

 f) Review and set policies and procedures on human  
  resources and employee matters (i.e. talent  
  management);

 g) Review and determine the level and make-up of key  
  management positions; and

 h) Develop policies and recommend appropriate  
  proposals to facilitate the recruitment and retention of  
  Senior Management, for which approval is required from  
  the Board.

Remuneration
 a) To establish and recommend to the Board the  
  remuneration structure and policy for the Managing  
  Director and the General Managers, including the  
  terms of employment or contract of employment/ 
  service, benefits, pensions or incentive scheme  
  entitlement, bonuses, fees and expenses and any  

  compensation payable on the termination of the  
  service contract by the Company and/or Group and  
  to review any changes to the policy, as necessary;

 b) To review the Managing Director and the  
  General Managers’ goals and objectives and to  
  assess their performance against these objectives  
  as well as contribution to the corporate strategy;

 c) To ensure that a strong link is maintained between  
  the level of remuneration and individual  
  performance against agreed targets, with the  
  performance-related elements of remuneration  
  setting forming a significant proportion of the total  
  remuneration package of the Managing Director;

 d) To establish, review and recommend the scheme  
  of service for employees and the general  
  remuneration policies and practices within the  
  Group; and

 e) To recommend to the Board of Directors suitable  
  short and long-term policies of having  
  performance-related incentive schemes and to  
  consider other matters as referred to the  
  Committee by the Board.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee will make 
the following recommendations to the Board:

 a) In regard to whether the directors who are retiring  
  by rotation should be put forward for re-election;

 b) In regard to the termination of individual directors  
  in accordance with policies for cause or other  
  appropriate reasons; and
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 c) To review and approve the appointment and  
  promotion of executives, secondment of employees  
  as well as extension of service for retired  
  employees, for which approval is required from the  
  Board.

Under the Improvement Programme, the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee will also review its Terms of 
Reference at least once in every two (2) years to assess its 
relevancy and clarity.

Activities Undertaken During the Year
The Nomination & Remuneration Committee had 
deliberated key matters during the year 2009 which include, 
amongst others, the following:-

Nomination
 a) Considered and recommended to the Board, the  
  appointment of new director, namely Dyg Sadiah binti  
  Abg Bohan (a nominee of the Ministry of Finance), on  
  the Board of the Company;

 b) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  Directors’ retirement and re-election at the Annual  
  General Meeting of the Company;

 c) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  appointment of new directors on the Board of MAHB’s  
  subsidiary/associate/investment companies;

 d) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  appointment of Senior General Managers and General  
  Managers of the Company;

 e) Monitored the implementation of the Succession  
  Planning Programme which enables the Company  
  to identify, develop, monitor and justify promotions,  
  replacements, training and exposure of potential  
  candidates to be earmarked for future key executive  
  positions;

  In order to strengthen the succession planning  
  job transition, the selected candidates will be required  
  to undergo a series of succession planning preparatory  
  programmes to enhance their leadership  
  competencies, whereby the curriculums will include  
  amongst others, emotional intelligence, performance  
  coaching monitoring, involvement in high impact  
  projects and exposure to board and management  
  meetings and presentations;

 f) Reviewed the results of the performance evaluation of  
  the Board and Board Committees and thereafter  
  formulated and recommended to the Board a range  
  of initiatives to be embarked upon for Board and  
  Board Committees performance improvement; and

 g) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  renewal of employment contracts for the Senior  
  General Managers and General Managers of the  
  Company.

In early 2010, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, 
upon analysing the result of the annual Board performance 
evaluation, was satisfied that the size of the Board is 
sufficiently appropriate and that there is a good mix of 
knowledge, skills, attributes and core competencies in the 
composition of the Board. The Committee was also satisfied 
that all the Board members are suitably qualified to maintain 
their positions as Directors of the Board and members 
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of the Committees in view of their respective academic and 
professional qualifications, experience and qualities. 

The Committee has also reviewed the Board members’ and 
Senior Management’s directorships in MAHB’s subsidiary/
associate/investment companies to ensure the membership/
directorship held are well within the restriction policies/
guidelines as stipulated.

Remuneration
 a) Reviewed and recommended to the Board the overall  
  remuneration packages for Directors and Managing  
  Director of the Company to ensure that are sufficiently  
  attractive to draw in and to retain persons of high calibre;

 b) Reviewed the performance of the Managing Director and  
  specific adjustments in remuneration and/or reward  
  payments that reflect his contributions, and which are  
  competitive and are in tandem with the market trends;

 c) Reviewed the Corporate Scorecard and Senior  
  Management KPI percentage achievement for the year  
  and recommended the reward payments based on the  
  KPI’s achievement of each member of Senior  
  Management;

 d) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  Corporate Scorecard for the ensuing year;

 e) Reviewed the job scope/size of Senior Management  
  and recommended to the Board on specific adjustments  
  in remuneration that commensurate with their scope of  
  duties and responsibilities, and which are  
  competitive and are in tandem with the business  
  diversity and market trends; 

 f) Recommended to the Board for the salary  
 increment and bonus of the employees of the Group;  
 and

 g) Reviewed the framework and policies on the  
  performance management and reward strategies of  
  MAHB.

Board Finance & Investment Committee (“Finance & 
Investment Committee”)
The Finance & Investment Committee comprises at least 
four (4) members and at least one (1) member must be 
a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants or 
fulfils the requirements which are more particularly set out 
in the Committee’s Terms of Reference.

The Chairman of the Company shall be the Chairman 
of the Finance & Investment Committee. The Finance & 
Investment Committee will conduct its meeting at least 
once every quarter or four (4) meetings per annum, and to 
convene additional meetings as and when necessary.

The functions and duties of the Finance & Investment 
Committee are to:

 a) Review the annual business plans and budgets  
  and any supplementary budgets (half-yearly) and  
  recommending them to the Board for approval;

 b) Review and monitor the financial position and  
  performance of the Company and its group of  
  companies on a quarterly basis;

 c) Review and monitor the financial investment policy  
  and financial investment portfolios of the Company  
  and its group of companies and report to the Board  
  on a quarterly basis;
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 d) Consider and appoint investment managers to  
  manage the financial investments of the Company  
  and its group of companies; and

 e) Oversee current and future capital and financial  
  resource requirements.

Under the Improvement Programme, the Finance & 
Investment Committee will also review its Terms of Reference 
at least once every two (2) years to assess its relevancy and 
clarity.

Activities Undertaken During the Year
The Finance & Investment Committee had deliberated key 
matters during the year 2009 which include, amongst others, 
the following:-

 a) Reviewed the budget performance for the year with  
  particular attention on the utilisation of the Group’s  
  capital expenditure;

 b) Reviewed the financial status of overseas projects and  
  the investment portfolios;

 c) Reviewed the authorised signatories in respect of the  
  collection bank accounts and investment activities  
  under the provision of the Financial Limit of Authority  
  to streamline the financial system of the Group;

 d) Reviewed the asset groupings and depreciation rates  
  within MAHB Group of Companies to ensure the  
  integration of the system within the Group;

 e)  Reviewed the implementation of the fixed asset  
  management policy to improve utilisation and  
  management of fixed assets of the Group; 

 f) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  implementation of the zakat payment within MAHB  
  Group;

 g) Considered and recommended to the Board for  
  the declaration of the interim dividend for the year for  
  distribution to the shareholders of the Company; and

 h) Considered and recommended to the Board the  
  proposed Group’s budget for the ensuing year.

Board Risk Management Committee (“Risk Management 
Committee”)
The Risk Management Committee comprises at least four (4) 
members, made up of independent non-executive directors 
and non-independent non-executive directors. The members 
of the Risk Management Committee are appointed by the 
Board as recommended by the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee.

The responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee are 
to, inter alia:

 a) Approve the overall Risk Management, Occupational  
  Safety and Health (OSH), ICAO Safety Management  
  Safety (SMS) and Information Security policies and  
  strategies;

 b) Oversee senior management’s responsibilities in  
  managing risks including information security risks and  
  safety to ensure that the risk management process is in  
  place and functioning;

 c) Review major risk and safety strategies, policies and  
  risk tolerance standards proposed or to be proposed  
  to the Board and to opine or make recommendations  
  to the Board;
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 d) Review risk management, OSH, Safety and Information  
  Security activities to ensure that all risks are taken into  
  account in business plans and strategies;

 e) Review the Corporate Risk Profile and understand the  
  significant risks that affect the achievement of the   
  company’s objectives and ensure the implementation of   
  appropriate systems to manage these risks;

 f) Oversee the adequacy of resources for implementation of  
  risk management and safety strategies, activities and  
  initiatives; and

 g) Ensure a risk management statement is included in  
  the annual report confirming that risks are being  
  identified, evaluated/assessed and that appropriate  
  Management Action Plans are in place to manage and  
  mitigate those risks effectively.

Under the Improvement Programme, the Risk Management 
Committee will also review its Terms of Reference at least once 
every two (2) years to assess its relevancy and clarity.

Activities Undertaken During the Year
The Risk Management Committee had deliberated key matters 
during the year 2009 which include, amongst others, the 
following:-

 a) Monitored the status on risk management  
  activities which include, amongst others, risk  
  assessments conducted at several airports, the  
  findings of the airports valuation exercise,  
  the status of the business continuity management  
  programme, the status of the enterprise risk  
  management, the effectiveness of the  
  whistleblowing programme, and the  

  implementation of electronic insurance claims  
  management system;

 b) Assessed the physical and operational risks at  
  all airside areas of the airports based on the degree  
  of probability/likelihood of the occurrence of an  
  accident in the areas;

 c) Monitored the status of occupational safety and  
  health programme of the Group;

 d) Considered and recommended to the Board  
  Procurement Committee for the appointment of  
  insurance and risk management brokers/consultants  
  for MAHB Group of Companies for the year 2010 –  
  2012;

 e) Reviewed the structure of Risk Management  
  Department to be in line with the development of  
  the corporate governance in Malaysia; 

 f) Reviewed the terms of reference of the Risk  
  Management Committee to reflect the  
  responsibilities in the area of safety management  
  system and information security;

 g) Monitored the activities and plan in enhancing 
  information security through the implementation of  
  ISO 27001:2005 Information Security Management  
  System within the Group; and

 h) Reviewed the insurance programme for the ensuing  
  year;
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Board Procurement Committee (“Procurement 
Committee”)
The Procurement Committee comprises at least three (3) 
members, made up of both independent non-executive 
directors and non-independent non-executive directors. The 
members of the Procurement Committee are appointed by 
the Board.

The general functions of the Procurement Committee are to:

 a) Ensure that the project and tender documents comply  
  with the prescribed procurement policies and  
  procedures;

 b) Determine the tender evaluation criteria;

 c) Approve qualified tenderers;

 d) Appoint sub-committees for technical and commercial  
  evaluations, as and when necessary;

 e) Recommend to the Board on award of tender above  
  Ringgit Malaysia Two Hundred (200) Million;

 f) Approve tenders for amount from Ringgit Malaysia  
  Five (5) Million up to Ringgit Malaysia Two Hundred  
  (200) Million;

 g) Review and approve procurement policies and  
  procedures, including the anti-corruption policy and  
  codes of conduct; and

 h) Oversee and monitor the overall implementation  
  of the Red Book on Procurement Guidelines, ensuring  
  efficiency and effectiveness of procurement processes,  
  and support of national development objectives.

Under the Improvement Programme, the Procurement 
Committee will also review its Terms of Reference at least 
once every two (2) years to assess its relevancy and clarity.

Activities Undertaken During the Year
During the year, the Procurement Committee reviewed and 
approved various tenders which were duly awarded to the 
respective contractors/consultants, and approvals/decisions 
were made in line with the Procurement Policies, Procedures 
& Guidelines (“3Ps”).  

For urgent proposals or matters in relation to the 
development of the new LCC Terminal at KLIA that require 
expeditious decision or consideration, Special Board 
Procurement Committee meetings will be convened.

SHAREHOLDERS

Relations with Major Shareholders and Stakeholders
The Stakeholder Management Committee, led by the 
Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company and including, where appropriate, other members 
of senior management, will regularly hold meetings with 
the Company’s major shareholders, namely Khazanah 
Nasional Berhad and its major stakeholders (which involve, 
the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Transport, and Airlines, 
amongst others) to discuss the company’s strategy, financial 
performance and specific major investment activities.

Relations with Institutional Shareholders
The investor relations team is responsible for managing the 
day-to-day communications with institutional shareholders 
through briefings to fund managers, institutional investors 
and investment analysts, normally held after the release 
of the Group’s quarterly results to Bursa Malaysia. Press 
conferences are also held to brief the members of the 
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media, and to highlight any significant events undertaken by the 
Group. All non-executive directors have always been invited to 
the briefings, should they wish to.

Relations with Private Shareholders
Each year, shareholders would receive the annual report 
of the Company. The shareholders can also access up-to-
date information on the Group’s latest activities such as 
financial performance, group background and future events 
throughout the year on the Company’s official website at www.
malaysiaairports.com.my, which has since been revamped with a 
new outlook to satisfy the discerning taste of our shareholders.

The Board acknowledges the importance of shareholders to be 
informed in prompt and timely manner of all material business 
matters affecting the Company. All announcements of quarterly 
financial results, change in the composition of the Board, etc 
are disclosed to Bursa Malaysia within statutory timelines, with 
clear, accurate and sufficient information to enable shareholders 
and investors to make informed decisions. Likewise, all formal 
queries by Bursa Malaysia and other regulatory authorities are 
expeditiously responded to.

Investor Relations
MAHB recognises the value of transparent, consistent and 
coherent communications with investment community 
consistent with commercial confidentiality and regulatory 
considerations. Our Investor Relations Policy aims to build 
long-term relationships with our shareholders and potential 
investors through appropriate channels for the management 
and disclosure of information. We provide these investors with 
sufficient business, operations and financial information on the 
Group enabling them to make informed investment decisions.

MAHB holds analyst presentations in each quarter in 2009 in 
conjunction with the Group’s quarterly financial results. The 
briefings include the corporate overview, review of business 

operations and financial performance, headline key 
performance indicators achievements and the business 
outlook for the Group. 

In addition, MAHB organised regular one-to-one 
meetings with investment analysts and fund managers 
throughout the year. The analysts and fund managers 
briefings will continue to be held regularly in 2010.

Dividend Policy
The Company’s dividend policy entails the payment 
of dividend at a payout ratio of at least 50% of the 
consolidated annual net profit after taxation and 
minority interest commencing from the financial year 
2007. Nevertheless, the actual amount and timing of the 
dividend payments would depend on the Company’s cash 
flow position, results of operations, business prospects, 
current and expected obligations, and such other matters 
as the Board of Directors may deem relevant.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) would normally 
take place at Pan Pacific Kuala Lumpur International 
Airport, Kuala Lumpur International Airport, Jalan CTA 
4B, 64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan, and 
formal notification is sent to the shareholders at least 21 
days in advance. At the meeting, the Managing Director 
would conduct a business presentation, and shareholders 
are encouraged to ask questions about the Company’s 
activities and prospects.

The Board believes that the AGM is an important forum to 
engage with shareholders, which allows the shareholders 
to gain direct access to the Board as well as the 
Company’s External Auditors, to channel their queries, 
grievances or even opinion on how to further enhance the 
Company’s performance.
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The Board will regularly maintain a good dialogue 
with shareholders by proactively organising meetings, 
presentations and events, as to better understand the views 
of the shareholders on a range of issues from strategy to 
corporate governance.

Shareholders are also encouraged to contact the following 
personnel pertaining to investor relations matters:-

Faizal Sham bin Abu Mansor
Chief Financial Officer

The biographies of Faizal Sham bin Abu Mansor is enclosed 
on page [116] of this Annual Report. 

Contact Details
Tel: 603-8777 7004
Fax: 603-8777 7776
E-mail: faizalmansor@malaysiaairports.com.my

A. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting
In presenting the annual audited financial statements and 
quarterly announcement of results to the shareholders, the 
Directors aim to present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. The 
Board Audit Committee assists the Board by reviewing 
the information to be disclosed to ensure completeness, 
accuracy and adequacy.

The Board is fully aware of the changes in the accounting 
policies with the implementation Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRS”) approved by the Malaysian Accounting 
Standards Board, and has adopted the relevant FRSs 
applicable for the Group’s financial year 2009.

The adoption of the FRSs has changed a number of the 
Group’s accounting policies. The principal effects of the 
changes in accounting policies resulting from the above 
adoption are set out from pages [222] to [245] of this Annual 
Report.

Internal Control
The Statement of Internal Control set out on page [194] 
of this Annual Report provides an overview of the state of 
internal controls within the Group.

Relationship with External Auditors
The Board Audit Committee and the Board place great 
emphasis on the objectivity and independence of the 
Group’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, in providing the 
relevant reports to shareholders. In order to ensure full 
disclosure of matters, Ernst & Young are regularly invited 
to attend the Committee’s meetings as well as the Annual 
General Meeting. The Board Audit Committee also has 
discussions with the external auditors and internal auditors at 
least twice in a year, without the presence of the Managing 
Director and Management, to discuss the adequacy of 
controls and any judgemental areas.

In order to ensure that the external auditors’ independence 
and objectivity are not compromised by the provision of 
non-audit services, the Board Audit Committee’s practice 
is to exclude them from providing tax services, merger and 
acquisition exercise, due diligence, management, strategic 
and IT consultancy, and other non-audit and non-tax-related 
services unless the services offered by the external auditors 
are more effective or competitively priced, and they are the 
expert in the field against the other providers.

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD / 181



Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Company and the Group’s financial statements are drawn 
up in accordance with the applicable approved accounting 
standards, and the Board of Directors has the responsibility of 
ensuring that the financial statements of the Company and the 
Group give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company 
and the Group. The Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 
169 (15) of the Companies Act, 1965 is set out on page [210] of 
this Annual Report.

B. ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

The following information is provided in compliance with 
paragraph 9.25 of the Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements.

1. Option, Warrants or Convertible Securities
The Company did not issue any options, warrants or convertible 
securities during the financial year 2009.

2. Imposition of Sanctions/Penalties
There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the 
Company and/or its subsidiary companies, Directors or Senior 
Management arising from any significant breach of rules/
guidelines/legislations by the relevant regulatory bodies during 
the financial year 2009.

3. Material Contracts
Neither the Company nor its subsidiary companies had entered 
into any material contracts, which involved the Directors and 
Major Shareholders’ interest during the financial year 2009.

4. Non-Audit Fees
The amount of non-audit fees paid to the External Auditors, 
apart from the audit fees, during the financial year ended 31 
December 2009, is as follows:-

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

5. Profit Guarantee
There was no profit guarantee given by the Company 
during the financial year 2009.

6. Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties
There was no revaluation of properties of the Company 
during the financial year 2009. 

7. Share Buy-Back
There was no share buy-back exercised by the Company 
during the financial year 2009. 

8. American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) or Global 
Depository Receipt (“GDR”) Programme
The Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR 
programme during the financial year 2009.
 
This Statement on Corporate Governance was duly 
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors of 
MAHB on 25 March 2010.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman
Chairman

External Auditors Report Total Paid (RM)

Ernst & Young Professional Services and  42,000
  Advisory Work on the
  Application of the
  Financial Reporting Standard 
  (“FRS”) 139 for MAHB Group
  of Companies

  Professional Services and 132,750
  Advisory Work on the MAHB
  Corporate Restructuring 
  Excersice
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Our business model inherently requires us to take on measured 
risks from the planning stage to actual service delivery and 
these risks are clearly more pronounced during down cycles 
where there is a great deal of uncertainty with respect to 
financial and commercial performances and overall utilisation of 
our airports. To mitigate and manage these more effectively, we 
are pursuing a more proactive risk management stance at the 
corporate level and throughout our various departments and 
airports. 

We believe that an enterprise-wide approach to risk 
management is critical in providing the Board and Management 
with reasonable assurance that threats that may adversely affect 
the Company’s ability to maximise shareholders’ value and 
achieve our business objectives are identified, monitored and 
effectively mitigated. 

 The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk 
management and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity 
of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) practice within 
the Group. The risk management framework and system is 
aimed towards effective risk assessment and risk treatment 
with continuous monitoring and reporting of significant risks 
that may affect the achievement of our Corporate Vision and 
Mission. 

MAHB’S ERM FRAMEWORK

To guide our risk taking activities and ensure that they 
are aligned with our strategic objectives and regulatory 
requirements, MAHB has in place an enterprise wide risk 
management framework to measure, assess and manage 
the risks across the organisation. MAHB’s ERM framework 
ensures there is clear responsibility and ownership for 
risks and ensures reasonable assurance to the Board Risk 
Management Committee (BRMC) that all risks mainly 
strategic and operational risks are explicitly identified and 
managed. 

MAHB has adopted the recently launched ISO 31000 
Risk Management framework which will assist MAHB in 
meeting the scope and principles of risk management 
policy and procedure for effective risk management.  
Risk ownership, awareness and communication of risks 
are activities that will ensure risk management is embed 
within MAHB’s business process. This will support MAHB’s 
corporate objectives of profitability and growth through 
enhancing efficiency and savings and become part of 
daily business management.

In minimising interruptions towards the 
achievement of our Corporate Vision 
and Mission we continue to embed risk 
management as part of the business 
process and culture.
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OVERVIEW OF ISO 31000 FRAMEWORK

MAHB RISK SCORECARD (MArs) SYSTEM 

The Board and Management remain firmly committed to the 
effective management of strategic, operational, financial 
and compliance-related risks throughout the organisation. 
One of the key responsibilities of the Board is to ensure 
the presence of adequate and effective organisational 
and procedural controls, supported by both management 
information systems and a risk management monitoring and 
reporting system.

In MAHB, we use a powerful web-based solution known 
as MArs to facilitate Directors, Senior Management, Line 
Management and Risk Owners in identifying, assessing, 
prioritising and monitoring risks.  

MAHB risk scorecard or MArs is our Risk Management 
Information System (RMIS). It is an Enterprise Risk 
Management software tool to assist in the management 
of risk throughout the organisation.  The system was 

customised based on MAHB reporting structure and aligned 
to ICAO and ISO risk assessment requirement.

The key objective of MArs is to capture all risk information on 
Residual Risks, their causes and consequences, the current 
controls in place and its effectiveness. It also captures the 
Action Plans to achieve Target Risks and the respective risk 
owner for each risk. 

Improvements and customisation were made to MArs to 
ensure that it becomes part of the business process and to 
meet ISO Standards and ICAO requirement for the purpose 
of Safety Management System (SMS) certification where it 
requires a structured Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment 
and Risk Control (HIRARC) processes.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES

We continue to embed good risk management practice 
as part of our culture through the launch of the tagline 
“Managing risk is everyone’s responsibility” during the 2009 
Internal Risk Management Seminar. We also recognised 
the commitment and dedication showed by our Risk 
Coordinators through the Risk Manager of the Year Award, 
which is aspired to be a catalyst for an effective ERM 
implementation.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

To further recognise the efforts and commitment of airports 
towards continuous risk improvements and maintaining good 
risk management practice, we have introduced a new Risk 
Management Award – Airport of the Year. 

Apart from the recognition and rewards towards the 
commitment for good risk management practices, we strongly 
believe in continuous risk assessment, risk communication and 
awareness program in keeping pace with the dynamic nature 
of our business and hence the list of initiatives that we have 
embarked upon:- 

 Corporate Risk Profile 
 A corporate level risk scorecard is periodically reviewed to   
 produce the Corporate Risk Profile with the cooperation   
 and commitment from the Managing Director and Senior   
 Management team of MAHB. This risk list also incorporates   
 the critical departmental/airport risks from their scorecards.   
 This will ensure there is integration in managing risk across   
 all levels of the organisation.  

 International Airport Risk Registers
 Review of the KLIA/LCCT risk register to reflect current risks   
 and status of action plans to achieve target risks levels.
 Development of risk scorecards for the four (4) international   
 airports and action plans to manage the critical risks to the   
 airports. Each airport has its designated risk coordinator   
 who is responsible to coordinate the risk scorecard   
 review and updates with the identified risk owners.    
 The Airport Manager being the ultimate risk owner for   
 each of the airport.  

 Departmental Risk Registers
 Development and review of scorecards for all    
 departments in MAHB and its subsidiaries with Target   
 risks action plans to manage the risks with designated risk   
 owner for each of the identified risks, responsible for   
 managing risks to an acceptable level. 

 Overseas Ventures Risk Assessment 
 All overseas ventures/projects proposals within MAHB  
 are required to undergo risk assessment process to  
 identify risks and recommends risk treatment including  
 but not limited to country and partner risks, financial,  
 legal and regulatory risks. A Country risk assessment  
 and Overseas Project risk assessment templates were  
 developed to assist the Board and management in   
 their decision making in evaluating the overseas   
 ventures proposals.  

 Project Risk Assessment 
 All key projects within MAHB are required to undergo  
 Project risk assessment process to identify and manage  
 risks across the project. There were several project   
 risk assessment conducted in 2009 with participation  
 from the risk management team, external consultant,  
 project directors, key project staffs, key contractors  
 and key suppliers. Each project risk is uploaded into 
 the MArs system for better monitoring and   
 management of risk.  

 Security Risk Assessment 
 Security risk assessment was conducted on KLIA to   
 identify specific risk improvements regarding physical, 
 technical, procedural and/or programmatic security  
 and include a budgetary cost estimate for all 
 enhancement/improvements options provided.

 Risk Engineering Surveys 
 These surveys were carried out on KLIA/LCCT, all   
 international airports and other critical domestic   
 airports which involved overall observation of the   
 operations and physical risks as well as inspection   
 and testing on the effectiveness of the fire protection  
 system.
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 Airside Risk Assessment
	 •	 The	Assessment	would	involve	overall	observation		
  of the physical and operational risks as well as to  
  understand the degree of aviation risk present at  
  any airport from identifiable hazards. 

	 •	 One	of	the	fundamental	components	of	the	ICAO	
  Airport Safety Management System (SMS) and a   
  mandatory requirement for airport certification by  
  DCA.

Business Continuity Management (BCM) : MAHB-MAS 
Joint Tabletop Exercise
	 •	 The	first	joint	table-top	exercise	for	MAHB	and	MAS	 
  was held on 8 December 2009. A total of 100   
  participants (50 participants from MAHB and 
  50 participants from MAS) participated in the exercise. 
	 •	 This	exercise	achieved	the	intended	objectives,	which		

  were :-
  - To test on awareness level of respective recovery  
   strategies and activities (especially on the person  
   who are next in line in the command chain).
  - To discuss / deliberate on workability of recovery  
   strategies and/or activities of both MAHB and MAS.
  - To identify issues in execution of recovery strategies 
   / activities.
  - To create /raise awareness of both parties
  - To identify gaps for improvements.
  - To provide learning opportunities for both MAHB  
   and MAS.

Communication, Consultation and Raising ERM Awareness  
	 •	 Annual	Internal	Risk	Management	Seminar	conducted		
  with the presence of Managing Director, management  
  and staff and officiated by the Chairman of MAHB and  
  Chairman of Board Risk Management Committee. The  
  key purpose of the seminar is to raise awareness on risk  
  management and Corporate Governance and to share 
  on the development of Risk Management within the  
  company and in the region with guess speakers sharing  
  their expertise and experiences. 

	 •	 Periodical	reporting	to	the	Board	Risk	Management		
  Committee on the status of risk management initiatives  
  within MAHB.
	 •	 ERM	and	BCM	training	and	workshop	for	following		

  target groups
  - Board of Directors
  - Senior Management and Line Management
  - Risk Coordinators
  - Heads of Departments/Division
  - Airport Managers

These training cover key areas such as benefits of risk 
management, risk management approach and role of 
head of departments, airport managers and risk owners 
in managing risk and hands-on training on the MAHB Risk 
Scorecards (MArs) system.

The ultimate objective:-
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BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

Representatives of Senior Management and the Head 
of Internal Audit were in attendance during all BAC 
meetings. The external auditors’ representatives were 
invited to attend the meetings as and when required. 

During two (2) of the meetings, the BAC held a private 
discussion with the external auditors without the presence 
of the management.  
 
The minutes of the BAC meetings were circulated to all 
members of the MAHB Board and material issues were 
discussed at the Board meetings.  

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR

The BAC carried out its duties in accordance with its 
terms of reference during the financial year ended 31 
December 2009.

The main activities undertaken by the BAC were as 
follows: 

Internal Audit

•	 Reviewed	and	approved	the	Internal	Audit	Division	
 (“IAD”)’s Annual Internal Audit Plan, budget and   
 staffing requirements to ensure adequacy of resources,  
 competencies and coverage on key risk areas.  
•	 Reviewed	the	Internal	Audit	Reports	and	Special	Audit		
 Reports to ensure that the Management addresses and  
 resolves the issues highlighted in the audit reports.
•	 Reviewed	follow-up	reports	by	the	internal	auditors		
 on the status of actions taken by the Management on  
 recommendations suggested in the audit reports.
•	 Reviewed	follow-up	reports	by	the	internal	auditors	
 on external auditors’ findings as set out in the   
 Management Letter and status of actions taken by the  
 Management on issues raised by the external auditors.   

MEMBERSHIP

The Board Audit Committee (“BAC”) comprises four (4) 
Non-Executive Directors of whom three (3) are Independent 
Directors, as follows:

Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman
(Chairman)
Independent Non-Executive Director
    
Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad
Independent Non-Executive Director
   
Izlan bin Izhab
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
    
Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq
Independent Non-Executive Director
    
The Chairman of the BAC is a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants.  

MEETINGS

During the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the BAC 
met seven (7) times, with the following record of attendance: 

Name of Director    Attendance

Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman  7/7

Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad  7/7

Izlan bin Izhab  4/7

Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq  7/7
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•	 Evaluated	the	performance	of	the	IAD	and	recommended		
 improvements.  

External Audit

	•	 Reviewed	the	external	auditor’s	scope	of	work	and	audit		
 plans for the financial year.
•	 Reviewed	with	the	external	auditors	their	Management		
 Letter together with the management response.
•	 Evaluated	the	performance	of	the	external	auditors		
 and made recommendations to the Board on their   
 reappointment and audit fees.  

Financial Results

•	 Reviewed	the	quarterly	financial	results	of	the	Group		
 before recommending to the Board of Directors.
•	 Reviewed	the	audited	results	of	MAHB	Group	with	the		
 external auditors before recommending to the Board of  
 Directors. 
•	 Ensured	compliance	to	the	Listing	Requirements	of	Bursa		
 Malaysia Securities Berhad, applicable accounting   
 standards in Malaysia, provisions of Companies Act 1965  
 and other legal and regulatory requirements.  

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit function of the Group is carried out by the 
IAD that reports directly to the BAC. The principal role of 
the IAD is to undertake independent, regular and systematic 
review of the systems of internal controls so as to provide 
reasonable assurance that such systems continue to operate 
satisfactorily and effectively. The IAD adopts a risk-based 
approach in its audit plan and examination. 

It is the responsibility of the IAD to provide the BAC with 
independent and objective reports on the state of internal 
control of the various operating units within the Group 

and the extent of compliance of the units with the Group’s 
established policies and procedures as well as relevant 
statutory requirements. 

A structured risk assessment is used to examine all auditable 
areas and its inherent risks. Audit are prorities according to 
assessment of the potential risk-exposure.

During the financial year, the IAD issued a total of fifty 
six (56) reports. The areas of coverage include finance, 
procurement, operations, inventory, merchandising, property 
plant and equipment, security, marketing, information 
systems, investigations and special reviews on specific areas 
as requested by the Board, Board Committees, Management 
or arising from the Whistle Blowing Programme. Two (2) 
of the BAC meetings were held at operations site to get a 
better understanding of the functions processes.

The internal audit reports arising from these assignments 
were issued to the Management for their response and 
corrective actions. The Management is responsible for 
ensuring that corrective actions are taken on reported 
weaknesses within the required time frame. The internal 
audit reports are then presented at the Internal Audit 
Management Committee, chaired by the Managing Director 
or his representative, to discuss the current status of audit 
issues before being tabled at the BAC.         

In ensuring audit work performed by the internal auditors 
is in line with The Institute of Internal Auditors standards, 
an external quality assessment by a qualified independent 
reviewer has been carried out, along with a follow-up in 
January 2010. The Internal Audit Division conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing. The total expenditure incurred by the 
Internal Audit Division for the financial year 2009 is RM1.1 
million. 
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TERMS OF REFERENCE - MAHB BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE (“BAC”)

   (i)  all members shall be Non-Executive  
     Directors and comprise of at least four  
     (4) members.

   (ii)  a majority of the members must be   
     Independent Directors.

   (iii)  at least one member must be a   
     member of the Malaysian Institute   
     of Accountants, or if he is not, then   
     he must comply with para 15.10 of the  
     Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia  
     Securities Berhad (“BMSB”).

  3.2 If for any reason the membership falls   
   below four members, the Board of Directors  
   shall within one month of the event,   
   appoint such number of new members as may  
   be required to fulfil the minimum   
   requirement.

  3.3 No alternate Director is to be appointed as a  
   member of Board Audit Committee.

  3.4 The Chairman of the Board Audit Committee  
   shall be an independent Non-Executive   
   Director appointed by the Board of Directors.

4. AUTHORITY 

  4.1 The Board Audit Committee shall have   
   the following authority as empowered by the  
   Board of Directors:

   (i) Have authority to investigate any matter  
    within its terms of reference.

1. CONSTITUTION

  1.1 The authority and function of the Board Audit   
   Committee extends to MAHB and all its    
   subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates within 
   the Group.

2. ESTABLISHMENT OF OBJECTIVES

  2.1 Assist the Board of Directors;

   i) in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating   
    to  the company’s accounting policies, financial   
    reporting practices and business ethics policies.

   ii) assessing the Group’s processes relating to   
    internal controls, risk management and   
    governance.

  2.2 Ensure transparency, integrity and accountability in  
   the Group’s activities to safeguard the rights and   
   interest of the Shareholders.

  2.3 Maintain, through regularly scheduled meetings,   
   a direct line of communication between the Board   
   and the External and Internal Auditors.

  2.4 Enhance the independence of the External and   
   Internal Audit functions.

3. MEMBERSHIP

  3.1 The Board Audit Committee shall be appointed by   
   the Board of Directors of MAHB from among its   
   members and:
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   (ii)  Have the resources required to perform its  
     duties.

   (iii)  Have full and unrestricted access to any  
     information, records, properties and  
     personnel within the Group. 

   (iv)  Have direct communication channels with  
     the External Auditors and Internal   
     Auditors.

   (v)  Be able to obtain independent   
     professional advisers or other advisers 
     and to engage outsiders with relevant  
     experience and expertise if necessary.

   (vi)  Be able to convene meetings with the  
     External Auditors, the Internal Auditors  
     or both, excluding the attendance of other  
     directors and employees of the company  
     whenever deemed necessary.

   (vii) Be able to meet with Management to  
     ensure that there are specific and effective  
     avenues for whistle blowing.

5. FUNCTION AND DUTIES 

The functions and duties of the Board Audit Committee shall 
be to:

 5.1 Consider the appointment of the External Auditors,  
   the audit fee and any questions of resignation or  
   dismissal.
 

 5.2 Discuss with the External Auditors before the  
   audit commences the nature and scope of the  
   audit, the annual audit plan and ensure   
   co-ordination where more than one firm is involved.

 5.3 Review the quarterly and year-end financial   
   statements of the Group prior to submission to  
   the Board, focusing particularly on:
 
   - any changes in accounting policies and  
    practices
   - significant adjustments arising from the audit
   - extraordinary events
   - the going concern assumption 
   - compliance with accounting standards,  
    the Listing Requirements of BMSB and other  
    legal requirements

 5.4 Review the efficiency of the Group’s operations  
   particularly those relating to areas of significant  
   risks.   

 5.5 Assess the internal process for determining and  
   managing key risks.

 5.6 Discuss problems and reservations arising from  
   the interim and final audits, and any other   
   matter the auditor may wish to discuss in the   
   absence of management where necessary.

 5.7 Review the External Auditor’s Management   
   Letter and management’s response.
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 5.14 Review and reassess, with the assistance of   
   management and the External Auditors, the   
   adequacy of the Terms of Reference of the   
   Board Audit Committee.

 5.15 Annual evaluation of the external auditor’s   
   performance to ensure continued independence,  
   objectivity and quality of audits.

6. MEETINGS

 6.1 The Board Audit Committee Meetings shall be  
   held at least six times during the financial year. 
   Notice of meetings shall be circulated to the   
   members one week in advance. The agenda   
   for each meeting shall be circulated at least   
   three full working days before each meeting to  
   the Committee members.

 6.2 Upon the request of any member of Board Audit  
   Committee, the Head of Internal Audit or the  
   External Auditor, the Chairman of Board Audit  
   Committee shall convene a special meeting to  
   consider any matters.

 6.3 A quorum of three members, of which two are  
   independent, is the minimum required to   
   be present at any Board Audit Committee   
   Meetings. At any meetings, there must be a   
   majority of independent members.

 6.4 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of  
   the Board Audit Committee.

 5.8 Oversee the Internal Audit functions by:

   - reviewing the adequacy of the plan, scope,   
    functions, competency and resources and that   
    it has the necessary authority to carry out its   
    work and have appropriate standing in the   
    Group. 
   - reviewing the internal audit programme and   
    results of the internal audit process and where   
    necessary ensure that appropriate action is taken 
    on its recommendations.
   - reviewing the appraisal or assessment of the   
    performance of its members.
   - approving the appointments of senior staff   
    members. 
   - being informed of resignations of staff members   
    and provide them the opportunity to submit   
    reasons for resigning. 

 5.9 Review any related party transactions that may arise   
   within the Group.

 5.10 Consider the major findings of internal investigations   
   and management’s response.

 5.11 Carry out other duties as directed by the Board.

 5.12 Promptly report to BMSB on matters reported by it to   
   the Board that have not been satisfactorily resolved   
   resulting in a breach of the Listing Requirements of the  
   BMSB.

 5.13 Direct any special investigations to be carried out by   
   the Internal Audit.
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 6.5 The meetings of the Board Audit Committee   
   shall be attended by the Head of Internal   
   Audit. The Management of MAHB shall be   
   represented by the Managing Director or his   
   authorised representatives, at the invitation of  
   the Board Audit Committee and shall excuse  
   themselves when so directed by the Board Audit  
   Committee.
 
 6.6 The Committee may request other members of  
   management, Internal Auditors and External   
   Auditors to participate in the Board Audit   
   Committee meetings, as and when necessary.

 6.7 The minutes of the meetings shall be tabled at the  
   MAHB Board of Directors’ meetings.  
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STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board Audit Committee, comprising four members 
who are all non-executive directors with majority being 
independent members, regularly reviewed reports of the 
Internal Audit function, including an annual assessment on 
the adequacy of the function’s scope of work, resources 
and competency. The Committee also reviewed the 
internal control issues identified by the External Auditors 
through its annual presentation of the Memorandum of 
Suggestions, and the Internal Audit Division updated 
the status at subsequent meetings. The Board Audit 
Committee Report is provided on page 188. 

The Board Finance and Investment Committee, 
comprising a majority of independent directors, reviewed 
the Annual Business Plan and Budget prepared at 
subsidiary levels before being tabled to the Main Board 
for approval. In addition, the Finance and Investment 
Committee is also responsible for reviewing and 
monitoring the financial investment policy and financial 
investment portfolios of the Group. 

The Board Risk Management Committee, comprising 
four non-executive directors, continued to oversee 
the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) programme in 
the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management Steering 
Committee approves ERM deliverables for submission 
to the Board Risk Management Committee. The Risk 
Management Report is provided on page 186.
 
The Board Procurement Committee, comprising at least 
three non-executive directors, is tasked with ensuring the 
effectiveness of the overall procurement system, including 
approving related procurements. Major projects are 
subject to Main Board’s review and approval, and where 
relevant, approval from the Ministry of Finance is sought.

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is ultimately responsible 
for the Group’s system of internal control which includes 
the establishment of an appropriate control environment 
and review of its adequacy and integrity on a regular basis 
to ensure its effectiveness. The Board is committed to 
safeguard shareholders’ investment, Group’s assets and other 
stakeholders’ interests.

In accordance with the Statement on Internal Control: Guidance 
for Directors of Public Listed Companies, the Board confirms 
that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing risks faced by the Group. This process has been in 
place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance 
of the annual report and financial statements. However, in view 
of the limitations in any system of internal control, the Board 
acknowledges that this system is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risks completely. As such, internal controls 
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
risks.

The key features of the Group’s internal control system during 
the financial year under review were as follows:

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors held regular meetings with the principal 
responsibilities of formulating, reviewing and adopting an 
effective strategic planning for the Group, steering the Group 
in the right direction, overseeing the conduct of the Group’s 
businesses, identifying and managing the risks affecting the 
Group and ensuring timely and accurate disclosure of material 
information regarding the Group. The business performance 
of the Company was prepared and submitted to the Board on 
a monthly basis, facilitating management to focus on areas of 
concern.
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The Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
comprising of at least three non-executive directors with the 
majority being independent directors, is established among 
others to determine the criteria for Board membership 
including qualities, experiences, skills, education and to 
recommend to the Board the remuneration structure and 
policy for the Managing Director and Senior Management.  

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

The Executive Committee (EXCO) comprising of the 
Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Senior General Manager Commercial, Senior 
General Manager Human Resource and Senior General 
Manager Operations shall deliberate and decide on all 
matters pertaining to the running and the managing of the 
company and its group of companies, including but not 
limited to policy, strategy and operational issues.

The Management Committee (MC), comprising of the 
Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Senior General Managers, General Managers 
and Subsidiary Chief Executive Officers, is the forum for 
discussing/deliberating/coordinating the operational issues 
affecting the company. 

At Group level, the Internal Audit Management Committee 
(IAMC) is established to review all audit findings before 
being tabled at the Board Audit Committee. The IAMC 
is chaired by the Managing Director or his designated 
representative and it is also attended by the heads of 
the respective audit areas. The current status of the audit 
findings and any new decisions are agreed at this meeting.
 

As a subset discipline of Corporate Governance, Information 
Communication Technology (ICT) Governance focused 
on information technology systems, performance and risk 
management in creating the alignment of the business 
and the ICT rollout. The information security is managed 
through the Board Risk Management Committee, addressing 
the information and ICT risk issues and mitigations. The 
EXCO, in performing the role of ICT Strategic Committee, 
is responsible for matters of ICT Strategy, overall objective 
setting and management approval for ICT investments. The 
Functional ICT Steering Committee is a representation of 
division’s steering committees discussing operational ICT 
planning and execution. In sustaining the ICT governance 
in MAHB, the ICT planning is conducted by the IT 
Development Division, along with setting strategic solutions, 
implementing standards and policies, and monitoring of ICT 
solutions and delivery.
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INTERNAL AUDIT DIVISION

The Internal Audit Division carried out ongoing reviews 
of the internal control system of the Group. The audits 
conducted were in the areas of finance/accounts, 
operations, management, information systems and 
investigation in accordance with the approved Risk 
Based Audit Plan. The Internal Audit Division also 
undertook special reviews as requested by the Board, 
Board Committee, Management or arising from the 
Whistleblowing Programme. Periodic follow-up reviews 
are conducted to monitor the status of internal control 
issues raised. The Internal Audit Division continued 
implementation of Self Audits i.e. Internal Control 
Questionnaire (ICQ) in new areas. The Self Audits provide 
Management with an easy to use and effective tool to 
review and improve the control system. 

Based on the External Quality Assessment Report 
produced in February 2008, the Internal Audit Division 
achieved overall Conformance to the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing. A follow up was conducted in January 2010 
whereby it was certified that the Internal Audit Division 
had undertaken further improvements as highlighted 
in the previous report. The Internal Audit Division 
reports directly to the Board Audit Committee. The 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) of the Head of the 
Internal Audit Division are approved by the Board Audit 
Committee. 

The Management Procurement Committee supports the 
procurement framework, including approving of related 
procurements. The Procurement Policies and Procedures also 
known as 3Ps, covering the Group, are updated when new 
requirements arise. The 3Ps also include the procurement 
Limit of Authority and the procurement Code of Ethics. The 
Procurement Improvement Programme is in place to monitor 
the implementation of the procurement initiatives in line 
with the Red Book objectives. Continuous training on the 
procurement procedures are being conducted throughout the 
Group.

A Quality Council supported by a Corporate Quality 
Management Division is established at the Group level to 
direct, formulate and review vision, mission, policies, strategies 
and objectives for quality in line with Group’s Business Plan.
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RISK MANAGEMENT DIVISION

The Risk Management Divison is responsible for the overall 
coordination of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
Framework for Malaysia Airports. The division works closely 
with the Risk Coordinators across the Group to ensure 
that the framework is embedded into business processes. 
Risk Registers are developed at all levels of the Group 
and appropriate Management Action Plans are in place to 
mitigate these risks. At Group level, a Corporate Risk Profile 
is established which outlines the significant risks faced by 
the Group covering strategic, operational and financial 
risks. The company has established the Business Continuity 
Management framework for the Group and trainings are held 
for target groups.      

OTHER INTERNAL CONTROL ELEMENTS

The Group Code of Ethics is in place, applicable to all 
employees and the Company’s representatives including 

agents, consultants, contractors and suppliers of the Group. 
The Code outlines clearly forms of acceptable business 
practices in the Group and to ensure that the employees and 
all representatives adhere to one standard Code.

The organisational structure for the Group was revised 
effective July 2009 incorporating the company’s new vision, 
in ensuring that the business direction can be delivered. The 
responsibility, accountability and delegation of authority of 
each division/subsidiary head are clearly defined. 

The organisation structure was also benchmarked against 
other international airports so that the company would 
remain competitive.
 
The company has a Whistleblowing programme with the 
objective of providing the staff with a mechanism to raise 
their concerns responsibly, regarding malpractices and 
irregularities affecting the company whilst keeping the 
identity of the whistleblower confidential. The program is 
expected to improve the overall organisational effectiveness, 
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future aspirations while building future sustainability. The 
deliverables of CIP, among others, include higher cost 
savings and revenue enhancement, realigning MAHB’s 
strategic plans while integrating and synergizing people, 
processes, systems and structure in the company. It also 
focuses on delivering shareholders’ financial expectations. 
The deliverables have been translated into a One Page 
Strategy (one year and three years) that outlines the 
immediate and mid-term strategies in managing and 
improving the defined areas. The Transformation Council 
has been regularly updated on the implementation of 
CIP.  The end result of CIP includes both monetary and 
non-monetary deliverables. CIP has also inculcated 
new working cultures in Malaysia Airports i.e. culture 
of openness, performance and cross functionality in 
the Group. It has also introduced the culture of Lean 
Management with 30 lean practitioners being trained to-
date to carry out lean projects across the Group.

while upholding Malaysia Airports’ integrity in the eyes of the 
public and as an entity serving the national interests. 

In line with the initiatives introduced under the GLC 
transformation programme, the Board has adopted all the eight 
coloured books i.e. the Blue Book: intensifying performance 
management; the Red Book: reviewing and revamping 
procurement practices; the Green Book: enhancing board 
effectiveness; the Silver Book: achieving value through social 
responsibility; the Purple Book: optimizing capital management 
practices; the Yellow Book: enhancing operational efficiency 
and effectiveness; the Orange Book: succession planning; and 
the White Book: improving regulatory environment. Various 
colour books initiatives have been implemented and updated 
regularly to the Transformation Council, chaired by the 
Managing Director.

Guided by the Yellow Book, the company implemented a 
Continuous Improvement Program (CIP) to drive Malaysia 
Airports in achieving greater performance in its targets and 
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Top-down target setting process, with targets cascading 
from the Managing Director based on a Corporate Scorecard 
approved by the Board, aligns strategic focus and direction. 
As part of the implementation of the system, Senior 
Management are placed on contract compensation scheme. 
KPIs have been implemented to assess and reward all staff of 
the Group.

Competency based Human Resource processes, covering 
annual and semi-annual performance appraisals, career 
development, succession planning and structured training 
programmes, are implemented for all staff, to ensure staff 
are competent and adequately trained in carrying out 
their duties. During the year, a leadership competency 
programme was established for the Senior Management and 
all Senior Management were assessed on the competencies 
and thereupon an individual development programme was 
developed to address the identified gaps.

Accounting Policies approved by the Board are adopted by 
the whole Group, covering accounting policies related to the 
Group. Revisions and additions are made when necessary, 
taking into consideration the Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRSs). 

Financial Limits of Authority (“FLOA”) approved by the 
Board are applicable to the whole Group, covering areas of 
finance/accounts and selected corporate matters. Revisions 
and additions are made to the FLOA when deemed 
necessary. This authority facilitates quality and timely 
decision-making. 

Continuous documentation of Standard Operating 
Procedures are undertaken for all business units. All five 
international airports, namely KL International Airport (main 
operations), Kuching International Airport, Kota Kinabalu 

International Airport, Penang International Airport and 
Langkawi International Airport, and fifteen domestic airports 
and key functions at subsidiary levels have been certified 
to MS ISO 9001:2000 Quality Management System. Moving 
towards a culture of total quality management system for 
the Group, in 2009, related functions at Head Office had 
undergone certification Stage 1 (Adequacy Audit).

All five international airports have been awarded the 
Aerodrome Certification by the Department of Civil Aviation, 
as required under Airport Standards Directive 103 (ASD 103) 
of International Civil Aviation Organisation (“ICAO”). This 
certificate is a requirement to ensure safety, regularity and 
efficiency of aerodromes. Nine domestic airports have also 
been certified whilst the rest are awaiting DCA inspection.    

KLIA is also certified to Green Globe 21, an award for 
commitment to Sustainable Travel & Tourism through 
Control & Improvement of Environment and Social Aspects. 
KLIA is the first airport in the Asia Pacific to attain such 
certification. This certificate is regularly reviewed to ensure 
continued applicability to the activities and applicable 
legislative requirement. 

The above Statement on Internal Control has been reviewed 
by the External Auditors for inclusion in the annual report of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

In respect of the preparation of the 
Financial Statements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2009.

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 (“the 
Act”) to ensure that the financial statements prepared for each 
financial year give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Group and the Company as at the end of the financial 
year and of the results and cashflows of the Group and the 
Company for the financial year. As required by the Act and the 
Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards 
in Malaysia and the provisions of the Act.

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial 
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 set 
out from pages [204] to [319], the Group has used appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and 
ensured that all applicable approved accounting standards have 
been followed.

The Directors have ensured that the accounting records to be 
kept by the Group and the Company have been properly kept 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act, which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and of 
the Company.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors dated 25 March 2010.
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MAINTAINING OUR 
COMPETITIVE 
ADVANTAGE
Our staff is our most important asset as we drive forward with a clear focus to 
become a World-Class Airport Business. With the determination and dedication 
of our team, we will maintain our competitive advantage and continue to bear the 
fruits of success.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DiRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

PRinCiPAL ACTiviTiES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 17 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year except as disclosed in 
Note 10 to the financial statements.

Information in respect of the Group’s restructuring with the Government of Malaysia (“GoM”), including both the Group’s 
obligations and operations are disclosed as significant events in Note 39 to the financial statements.

RESULTS          

  group  Company 
  RM’000  RM’000 
          
Profit for the year from continuing operations  379,933  23,417 
Loss for the year from discontinued operations  (1,355)  - 
Profit for the year  378,578  23,417 
          
Attributable to:          
Equity holders of the Company  377,922  23,417 
Minority interests  656  - 
  378,578  23,417 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements. 

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature other than:

          
Profit for the year from continuing operations  379,933  23,417 
Loss for the year from discontinued operations  (1,355)  - 
Profit for the year  378,578  23,417 
          

          
Equity holders of the Company  377,922  23,417 
Minority interests  656  - 
  378,578  23,417 



RESULTS (Contd.)

a) the effect arising from the writeback of provision for leases in connection with the new operating agreement which  
 has resulted in an increase in the Group’s profit for the year by RM52,000,000 as disclosed in Notes 7 and 32 to the  
 financial statements;

b) the effect arising from the realisation of deferred income relating to a former subsidiary and pursuant to 
 the restructuring aggreement which has resulted in an increase in the Group’s profit for the year by RM28,282,000 as 
 disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements; 

c) the effect arising from changes in amortisation and depreciation estimates relating to the concession rights and  
 property, plant and equipment which have resulted in the expense savings in Group’s profit for the year by  
 RM41,075,000 and RM10,311,000 as disclosed in Notes 2.2(d)(ii) and 2.2(e) respectively. 

DiviDEnDS

The amount of dividends paid by the Company since 31 December 2008 were as follows:
             RM’000
In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2008 as reported in the directors’ 
report of that year:

Final dividend of 14.55% less 25% taxation, on 1,100,000,000 ordinary shares, declared on
5 May 2009 and paid on 29 June 2009          120,038

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009:

Interim Dividend of 8% less 25% Taxation, on 1,100,000,000 ordinary shares, declared on 
4 December 2009 and paid on 29 December 2009          66,000

Total dividends             186,038

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009, of 
14.9044% less 25% taxation on 1,100,000,000 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM122,961,000 (11.18 sen 
net per ordinary share) will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year 
do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an 
appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2010.
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DiRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman
Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid
Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman
Datuk Alias bin Hj Ahmad
Izlan bin Izhab
Jamilah binti Dato’ Hashim
Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq
Dato’ Long See Wool
Mohd Nadziruddin bin Mohd Basri
Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan
Anis Rizana binti Mohd Zainudin @ Mohd Zainuddin
 [alternate director to Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan]  (resigned on 27 April 2009)

BOARD nOMinATiOn AnD REMUnERATiOn COMMiTTEE

The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee, merged on 5 November 2008, comprising of at least three (3) non-executive 
directors with the majority being independent directors. The Committee’s main responsibilities include among others, to 
determine the criteria for Board membership including qualities, experiences, skills, education and to recommend to the Board 
the remuneration structure and policy for the Managing Director and senior management.

The members of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, comprising entirely of non-executive directors, as at the date of 
this report are:

Datuk Alias bin Hj Ahmad (Chairman)
Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman (Member)
Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq (Member)
Jamilah binti Dato’ Hashim (Member)
Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan (Member)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DiRECTORS’ BEnEfiTS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company 
was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors as shown in Note 8 to the 
financial statements or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or 
a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director 
has a substantial financial interest.

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors in office at the end of the financial year had any 
interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.

OThER STATUTORy infORMATiOn

(a) Before the income statements and balance sheets of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took  
 reasonable steps:

 (i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision  
  for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision  
  had been made for doubtful debts; and

 (ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the  
  ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of  
  the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and

 (ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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OThER STATUTORy infORMATiOn (Contd.)

(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence  
 to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or  
 inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or  
 the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements  
 misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:
 
 (i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which   
  secures the liabilities of any other person; or 

 (ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f) In the opinion of the directors:

 (i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve  
  months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet  
  their obligations when they fall due; and

 (ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the  
  financial  year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group  
  and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.



SignifiCAnT EvEnTS DURing ThE yEAR

Significant events during the year are disclosed in Note 39 to the financial statements.

AUDiTORS

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 25 March 2010.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman       Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid 
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PURSUAnT TO SECTiOn 169(15) Of ThE COMPAniES ACT, 1965

We, Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman and Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid, being two of the directors of Malaysia Airports 
Holdings Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 
213 to 319 are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 
December 2009 and of the results and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 25 March 2010.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman       Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid

STATUTORY DECLARATiOn

PURSUAnT TO SECTiOn 169(16) Of ThE COMPAniES ACT,1965

I, Faizal Sham bin Abu Mansor (MIA Number: 27407), being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of 
Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on 
pages 213 to 319 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and 
by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Faizal Sham bin Abu
Mansor at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal
Territory on 25 March 2010. Faizal Sham bin Abu Mansor

Before me, 

STATEMENT BY DiRECTORS
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REPORT ON THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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We have audited the financial statements of Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad, which comprise the balance sheets of the 
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash flow 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 213 to 319.

DiRECTORS’ RESPOnSiBiLiTy fOR ThE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDiTORS’ RESPOnSiBiLiTy

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPiniOn

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as 
at 31 December 2009 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
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REPORT On OThER LEgAL AnD REgULATORy REqUiREMEnTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and  
 its  subsidiaries have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors,  
 which are indicated in Note 17 to the financial statements.

(c) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements  
 of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated  
 financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) The auditors’ reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and did not include any  
 comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

OThER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young        Nik Rahmat Kamarulzaman bin Nik Ab. Rahman
AF: 0039        No. 1759/02/12(J)
Chartered Accountants       Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
25 March 2010



group Company
     Restated     
 note   2009   2008  2009   2008 
   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
Continuing operations         
Revenue 3   1,637,093   1,434,973  63,000   103,946 
Other income 4   83,543   90,379  63,928   13,822 
Changes in inventories   4,754   7,241  -   - 
Purchases of inventories   (188,500)  (167,858) -   - 
Employee benefits expense 5   (356,670)  (322,518) (43,194)  (340)
Depreciation and amortisation   (150,474)  (154,930) (2,756)  (2,108)
Other expenses    (538,102)  (467,197) (44,365)  (31,316)
Operating profit   491,644   420,090  36,613   84,004 
Finance costs 6   (14,177)  (282) (53)  (277)
Share of profit of associates   2,631   2,388  -   - 
Profit before tax and zakat 7   480,098   422,196  36,560   83,727 
Taxation and zakat 9   (100,165)  (123,252) (13,143)  (27,544)
Profit for the year from          
  continuing operations   379,933   298,944  23,417   56,183 
Discontinued operation         
(Loss)/profit for the year from          
   discontinued operations 10   (1,355)  6,877  -   - 
Profit for the year   378,578   305,821  23,417   56,183 
         
Attributable to:         
Equity holders of the Company   377,922   305,206  23,417   56,183 
Minority interests   656   615  -   - 
   378,578   305,821  23,417   56,183 
         
Earnings per share attributable         
to equity holders of the          
Company (sen) 11       
- basic, for profit from          
         continuing operations    34.48   27.12     
- basic, for (loss)/profits from         
         discontinued operations    (0.12)   0.63     
- basic, for profit for the year   34.36   27.75     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   
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 11       
- basic, for profit from          
         continuing operations    34.48   27.12     
- basic, for (loss)/profits from         
         discontinued operations    (0.12)   0.63     
- basic, for profit for the year   34.36   27.75
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INCOME STATEMEnTS 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2009



  
group Company  

 note   2009  2008  2009  2008
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
ASSETS          

non-current assets          
Property, plant and equipment 13    1,951,143  1,910,726  106,915   12,229 
Plantation development expenditure 14    46,834  58,314  -   - 
Prepaid land lease payments 15    8,031  8,152  -   - 
Concession rights 16    1,758,444   1,187,777  -   - 
Investments in subsidiaries 17    -  -  1,777,260   1,787,260 
Investments in associates 18    133,734  52,663  114,040   25,287 
Investment in a jointly controlled entity 19    100   -   -   - 
Other investments 20    302,041  311,583  34,925   36,417 
Trade and other receivables 21    19,993  20,501   -   - 
Staff loans 22    32,536  31,503  -   - 
Deferred tax assets 23   3,635  3,616  2,384   2,316 
   4,256,491   3,584,835  2,035,524   1,863,509 
Current assets          
Inventories 24    60,440  58,100  339   308 
Trade and other receivables 21    634,359  667,759  1,261,695   554,901 
Cash and cash equivalents 25    268,286  677,287  28,291   301,407 
    963,085  1,403,146  1,290,325   856,616 
Assets of disposal group classified           
as held for disposal 10   496  4,306  -   - 
    963,581   1,407,452  1,290,325   856,616 
TOTAL ASSETS   5,220,072  4,992,287   3,325,849   2,720,125

EqUiTy AnD LiABiLiTiES          
          
Equity attributable to equity          
holders of the Company          
Share capital 26    1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000 
Share premium   822,744   822,744   822,744   822,744 
Retained earnings 27    1,448,881   1,256,997   379,777   542,398 
Foreign exchange reserve   (2,011)  (1,178)  -   - 
   3,369,614  3,178,563  2,302,521   2,465,142 
Minority interests   4,714  4,058   -   - 
Total equity   3,374,328  3,182,621  2,302,521   2,465,142 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE ShEETS 
As At 31 December 2009



                             group                            Company   
note   2009  2008  2009  2008

   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 

non-current liabilities          
Retirement benefits  28    51 580  52,751  2,457   2,783 
Other financial liability 29    199 625   201,961   -   - 
Borrowings 30    507 890   250   507,890   250 
Trade and other payables 32    354 172  131,774  -   - 
Deferred tax liabilities 23   47 725   47,917   1, 64   871 
   1,160 992  434,653   511, 11   3,904 
          
Current liabilities          
Borrowings 30    250  2,782  50   2,750 
Trade and other payables 32    637 932   503,035   511, 67   248,329 
Concession rights payable 33    -  826,680  -   - 
Income tax payable   46 341   39,859   -   - 
   684 523   1,372,356  511, 17   251,079 
Liabilities of disposal group          
classified as held for disposal 10   229  2,657   -  - 
   684 752 1,375,013  511, 17   251,079 
Total liabilities   1,845 744  1,809,666   1,023, 28   254,983 

Total equity and liabilities   5,220 072   4,992,287   3,325, 49   2,720,125

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE ShEETS 
As At 31 December 2009 (Contd.)



  

   Attributable to equity holders of the Company            
          non-distributable     
    foreign  Distributable       
  Share  Share   exchange  retained    Minority  Total 
  capital  premium  reserve  earnings  Total  interests  equity
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000
group note  (note 26)    (note 27)       
                
At 1 January 2008  1,100,000  822,744  -  1,096,683  3,019,427  3,643   3,023,070 
Profit for the year, 
   representing total
   recognised income and
   expense  -   -   -  305,206   305,206  615   305,821 
Dividends 12  -   -   -   (144,892)  (144,892)  -  (144,892)
Dividend paid to minority
   shareholders   -  -  -  -   -   (200)  (200)
Foreign currency
   translation   -   -   (1,178)  -   (1,178)  -   (1,178)
At 31 December 2008  1,100,000   822,744   (1,178)  1,256,997   3,178,563   4,058   3,182,621 
                

At 1 January 2009  1,100,000  822,744  (1,178) 1,256,997   3,178,563  4,058   3,182,621 
Profit for the year,
   representing total
   recognised income and
   expense  -  -  -  377,922  377,922   656   378,578 
Dividends 12  -  -  -   (186,038)  (186,038)  -   (186,038)
Foreign currency translation   -   -   (833) -   (833)  -   (833)
At 31 December 2009  1,100,000  822,744   (2,011) 1,448,881   3,369,614   4,714   3,374,328

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ChAngES in EqUiTy
For The Year Ended 31 December 2009



    non-     
    distributable  Distributable   
   Share  share  retained  Total 
   capital  premium  earnings   equity 
    RM’000   RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 note  (note 26)    (note 27)   
Company            
            
At 1 January 2008   1,100 000  822,744  631, 07   2,553,851 
Profit for the year    -   -  56, 83   56,183 
Dividends 12    -   -   (144,892)  (144,892)
At 31 December 2008   1,100 000  822,744  542, 98   2,465,142 
            

At 1 January 2009   1,100 000  822,744   542, 98   2,465,142 
Profit for the year    -   -   23, 17   23,417 
Dividends 12    -   -   (186,038)  (186,038)
At 31 December 2009    1,100 000   822,744  379, 77   2,302,521 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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    1,100,000   822,744  379,777   2,302,521 
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STATEMENT OF ChAngES in EqUiTy
For The Year Ended 31 December 2009



                              group                            Company
    Restated   
    2009  2008  2009  2008
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Cash flows from operating activities          

Profit/(loss) before tax and zakat from:            
    Continuing operations      480,098  422,196  36,560  83,727 
    Discontinued operations      (1,355) 7,079  -  - 
Adjustments for:            
    Interest income from:            
        Continuing operations      (10,485) (25,441) (2,636)  (8,574)
        Discontinued operations      (291) (841) -   - 
    Dividend income     -  -  (63,000)  (103,946)
    Interest expense     14,177  282  53   277 
    Provision for liabilities:            
        Continuing operations (Note 32)     5,275  11,041  -   368 
    (Writeback of)/provision for liabilities:            
         Continuing operations (Note 32)     (52,577) -  (11) - 
         Discontinued operations (Note 32)     (108) -  -  - 
    Accretion of premium arising from  redemption of 
        preference shares by associate      (37) -  -  - 
    Amortisation of:           
        - concession rights      36,667  32,155  -  - 
         - plantation development expenditure     2,833  2,873  -  - 
        - prepaid land lease payments      121  121  -  - 
        - premium on investments      159  82  -  - 
        - deferred income      (6,487) (4,801) -  - 
    Bad debts written off:            
        - third parties      -  7  -  - 
        - subsidiary      -  -  -   5,021 
    Impairment of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      1,248  -  -  - 
            Discontinued operations      -  1,010  -  - 
        - investment in subsidiary      -  -  -   10,456 
    Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:            
        Continuing operations      110,853  119,784  2,756   2,108 
        Discontinued operations        2,363    - 
Balance carried forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278) (10,563)

Profit/(loss) before tax and zakat from:            
    Continuing operations      480,098  422,196  36,560  83,727 
    Discontinued operations      (1,355) 7,079  -  - 
Adjustments for:            
    Interest income from:            
        Continuing operations      (10,485) (25,441) (2,636)  (8,574)
        Discontinued operations      (291) (841) -   - 
    Dividend income     -  -  (63,000)  (103,946)
    Interest expense     14,177  282  53   277 
    Provision for liabilities:            
        Continuing operations (Note 32)     5,275  11,041  -   368 
    (Writeback of)/provision for liabilities:            
         Continuing operations (Note 32)     (52,577) -  (11) - 
         Discontinued operations (Note 32)     (108) -  -  - 

        preference shares by associate      (37) -  -  - 
    Amortisation of:           
        - concession rights      36,667  32,155  -  - 
         - plantation development expenditure     2,833  2,873  -  - 
        - prepaid land lease payments      121  121  -  - 
        - premium on investments      159  82  -  - 
        - deferred income      (6,487) (4,801) -  - 
    Bad debts written off:            
        - third parties      -  7  -  - 
        - subsidiary      -  -  -   5,021 
    Impairment of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      1,248  -  -  - 
            Discontinued operations      -  1,010  -  - 
        - investment in subsidiary      -  -  -   10,456 
    Depreciation of property, plant and equipment             
        Continuing operations      110,853  119,784  2,756   2,108 
        Discontinued operations      1,157  2,363  -   
Balance carried forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278) (10,563)

Profit/(loss) before tax and zakat from:            
    Continuing operations      480,098  422,196  36,560  83,727 
    Discontinued operations      (1,355) 7,079  -  - 
Adjustments for:            
    Interest income from:            
        Continuing operations      (10,485) (25,441) (2,636)  (8,574)
        Discontinued operations      (291) (841) -   - 
    Dividend income     -  -  (63,000)  (103,946)
    Interest expense     14,177  282  53   277 
    Provision for liabilities:            
        Continuing operations (Note 32)     5,275  11,041  -   368 
    (Writeback of)/provision for liabilities:            
         Continuing operations (Note 32)     (52,577) -  (11) - 
         Discontinued operations (Note 32)     (108) -  -  - 

        preference shares by associate      (37) -  -  - 
    Amortisation of:           
        - concession rights      36,667  32,155  -  - 
         - plantation development expenditure     2,833  2,873  -  - 
        - prepaid land lease payments      121  121  -  - 
        - premium on investments      159  82  -  - 
        - deferred income      (6,487) (4,801) -  - 
    Bad debts written off:            
        - third parties      -  7  -  - 
        - subsidiary      -  -  -   5,021 
    Impairment of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      1,248  -  -  - 
            Discontinued operations      -  1,010  -  - 
        - investment in subsidiary      -  -  -   10,456 
    Depreciation of property, plant and equipment             
        Continuing operations      110,853  119,784  2,756   2,108 
        Discontinued operations      1,157  2,363  -   
Balance carried forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278) (10,563)
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 group  Company
    Restated   
    2009  2008  2009  2008
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000
Balance brought forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278)  (10,563)
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      (157) (87) -   (25)
            Discontinued operations      (187)  32  -  - 
        - bonds and medium term notes     (1,438) -  -  - 
        - other investments      (904) -  385  3,399 
        - investments in subsidiaries      (6,847) -  2,757  - 
    Property, plant and equipment written off    514  582  -  - 
    Inventories written off:            
        Continuing operations      18  40  -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  25  -  - 
    Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts:            
        Continuing operations      5,153  (38,165) -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  169  -  - 
    Realisation of deferred income    (28,282) - - -
    Retirement benefits:            
        Continuing operations      2,698  2,696  216   222 
        Discontinued operations      (2) (11)  -  - 
    Investment income     (3,641) (2,223) (1,429)  (1,547)
    Share of profit of associates     (2,631) (2,388) -  -
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes   545,542  528,580  (24,349)  (8,514)
    (Increase)/decrease in inventories    (2,953)  (1,327) (31)  110 
    (Increase)/decrease in receivables    (330,401) (152,778) 76,256   (135,137)
    Increase in payables     91,317  190,367  224,558   21,658
    (Decrease)/increase in provisions for liabilities   (6,766) 8,184  (8)  (4)
    (Decrease)/increase in related company balances   -  -  (741,414)  192,634 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations    296,739 573,026  (464,988)  70,747 
    Taxes and zakat paid     (91,611) (127,789) (17,282)  (174)
    Retirement benefits paid     (3,406) (3,507) (432)  (296)
    Payment made to GoM     (507,890) -  -  - 
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities   (306,168) 441,730  (482,702)  70,277

Balance brought forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278)  (10,563)
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      (157) (87) -   (25)
            Discontinued operations      (187)  32  -  - 
        - bonds and medium term notes     (1,438) -  -  - 
        - other investments      (904) -  385  3,399 
        - investments in subsidiaries      (6,847) -  2,757  - 
    Property, plant and equipment written off    514  582  -  - 
    Inventories written off:            
        Continuing operations      18  40  -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  25  -  - 
    Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts:            
        Continuing operations      5,153  (38,165) -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  169  -  - 
    Rea isation of deferred income    (28,282) - - -
    Retirement benefits:            
        Continuing operations      2,698  2,696  216   222 
        Discontinued operations      (2) (11)  -  - 
    Investment income     (3,641) (2,223) (1,429)  (1,547)
    Share of profit of associates     (2,631) (2,388) -  -
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes   545,542  528,580  (24,349)  (8,514)
    (Increase)/decrease in inventories    (2,953)  (1,327) (31)  110 
    (Increase)/decrease in receivables    (330,401) (152,778) 76,256   (135,137)
    Increase in payables     91,317  190,367  224,558   21,658
    (Decrease)/increase in provisions for liabilities   (6,766) 8,184  (8)  (4)
    (Decrease)/increase in related company balances   -  -  (741,414)  192,634 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations    296,739 573,026  (464,988)  70,747 
    Taxes and zakat paid     (91,611) (127,789) (17,282)  (174)
    Retirement benefits paid     (3,406) (3,507) (432)  (296)
    Payment made to GoM     (507,890) -  -  - 
Net cash (used in /generated from operating activities   (306,168) 441,730  (482,702)  70,277

Balance brought forward     581,248  567,910  (26,278)  (10,563)
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of:            
        - property, plant and equipment:          
            Continuing operations      (157) (87) -   (25)
            Discontinued operations      (187)  32  -  - 
        - bonds and medium term notes     (1,438) -  -  - 
        - other investments      (904) -  385  3,399 
        - investments in subsidiaries      (6,847) -  2,757  - 
    Property, plant and equipment written off    514  582  -  - 
    Inventories written off:            
        Continuing operations      18  40  -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  25  -  - 
    Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts:            
        Continuing operations      5,153  (38,165) -  - 
        Discontinued operations      -  169  -  - 
    Rea isation of deferred income    (28,282) - - -
    Retirement benefits:            
        Continuing operations      2,698  2,696  216   222 
        Discontinued operations      (2) (11)  -  - 
    Investment income     (3,641) (2,223) (1,429)  (1,547)
    Share of profit of associates     (2,631) (2,388) -  -
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes   545,542  528,580  (24,349)  (8,514)
    (Increase)/decrease in inventories    (2,953)  (1,327) (31)  110 
    (Increase)/decrease in receivables    (330,401) (152,778) 76,256   (135,137)
    Increase in payables     91,317  190,367  224,558   21,658
    (Decrease)/increase in provisions for liabilities   (6,766) 8,184  (8)  (4)
    (Decrease)/increase in related company balances   -  -  (741,414)  192,634 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations    296,739 573,026  (464,988)  70,747 
    Taxes and zakat paid     (91,611) (127,789) (17,282)  (174)
    Retirement benefits paid     (3,406) (3,507) (432)  (296)
    Payment made to GoM     (507,890) -  -  - 
Net cash (used in /generated from operating activities   (306,168) 441,730  (482,702)  70,277
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  group Company
    Restated   
    2009  2008  2009  2008
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  

Cash flows from investing activities            
           
Purchase of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      (326,347) (282,267) (97,442)  (7,259)
    - bonds and medium term notes      (10,651) (5,273) -  - 
    - unquoted shares      (2,345) (200,786) (1,344)  (1,488)
Proceeds from disposals of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      618  56  -   1,049 
    - other investments      4,513  -  2,451   18,487 
Other cost in respect of concession rights   (146) -  -  - 
Acquisition of an associate     (22) (25,287) (22)  (25,287)
Additional investment in an associate    (88,731) -  (88,731)  - 
Redemption of bonds     17,012   -  -   - 
Investment income received     3,641  2,223  1,429   1,547
Interest received:            
    Continuing operations      10,485  25,441  2,636   8,574 
    Discontinued operations      291  841  -   - 
Proceed from redemption of preference share by an associate   9,900  -  -  - 
Investment in a jointly controlled entity    (100) -  -  - 
Net cash outflow from disposals of subsidiaries (Note 17)   (38,609) -  -  - 
Dividend received from an associate    450  450  -  - 
Dividends received from subsidiaries    -  -  63,000   79,000 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities   (420,041)   (484,602)  (118,023)   74,623         

Cash flows from financing activities            
           
Repayment of hire purchase and finance lease liabilities   (32) (40) -  - 
Repayment of term loans     (2,750)  (6,000) (2,750)  (6,000)
Drawdown of term loans     507,890  -  507,890  - 
Interest paid     (14,177) (282)  (53)  (277)
Balance carried forward     490,931    (6,322) 505,087   (6,277)

           
           
Purchase of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      (326,347) (282,267) (97,442)  (7,259)
    - bonds and medium term notes      (10,651) (5,273) -  - 
    - unquoted shares      (2,345) (200,786) (1,344)  (1,488)
Proceeds from disposals of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      618  56  -   1,049 
    - other investments      4,513  -  2,451   18,487 
Other cost in respect of concession rights   (146) -  -  - 
Acquisition of an associate     (22) (25,287) (22)  (25,287)
Additional investment in an associate    (88,731) -  (88,731)  - 
Redemption of bonds     17,012   -  -   - 
Investment income received     3,641  2,223  1,429   1,547
Interest received:            
    Continuing operations      10,485  25,441  2,636   8,574 
    Discontinued operations      291  841  -   - 
Proceed from redemption of preference share by an associate   9,900  -  -  - 
Investment in a jointly controlled entity    (100) -  -  - 
Net cash outflow from disposals of subsidiaries (Note 17)   (38,609) -  -  - 
Dividend received from an associate    450  450  -  - 
Dividends received from subsidiaries    -  -  63,000   79,000 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities   (420,041)   (484,602)  (118,023)   74,623

           
           
Repayment of hire purchase and finance lease liabilities   (32) (40) -  - 
Repayment of term loans     (2,750)  (6,000) (2,750)  (6,000)
Drawdown of term loans     507,890  -  507,890  - 
Interest paid     (14,177) (282)  (53)  (277)
Balance carried forward     490,931    (6,322) 505,087   (6,277)

           
           
Purchase of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      (326,347) (282,267) (97,442)  (7,259)
    - bonds and medium term notes      (10,651) (5,273) -  - 
    - unquoted shares      (2,345) (200,786) (1,344)  (1,488)
Proceeds from disposals of:            
    - property, plant and equipment      618  56  -   1,049 
    - other investments      4,513  -  2,451   18,487 
Other cost in respect of concession rights   (146) -  -  - 
Acquisition of an associate     (22) (25,287) (22)  (25,287)
Additional investment in an associate    (88,731) -  (88,731)  - 
Redemption of bonds     17,012   -  -   - 
Investment income received     3,641  2,223  1,429   1,547
Interest received:            
    Continuing operations      10,485  25,441  2,636   8,574 
    Discontinued operations      291  841  -   - 
Proceed from redemption of preference share by an associate   9,900  -  -  - 
Investment in a jointly controlled entity    (100) -  -  - 
Net cash outflow from disposals of subsidiaries (Note 17)   (38,609) -  -  - 
Dividend received from an associate    450  450  -  - 
Dividends received from subsidiaries    -  -  63,000   79,000 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities   (420,041)   (484,602)  (118,023)   74,623

           
           
Repayment of hire purchase and finance lease liabilities   (32) (40) -  - 
Repayment of term loans     (2,750)  (6,000) (2,750)  (6,000)
Drawdown of term loans     507,890  -  507,890  - 
Interest paid     (14,177) (282)  (53)  (277)
Balance carried forward     490,931    (6,322) 505,087   (6,277)
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 group Company
    Restated   
    2009  2008  2009  2008
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

Balance brought forward     490,931   (6,322)  505,087  (6,277)
Debentures issued by a subsidiary      -  186,044   -  - 
Dividends paid to:            
    - shareholders of the Company     (177,478) (144,349) (177,478)  (144,349)  
    - minority shareholders      -  (200) -  - 
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities   313,453   35,173   327,609  (150,626)
           
net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (412,756) (7,699) (273,116)  (5,726)
Effects of foreign currency translation    27  61  -  - 
net movement in cash and cash equivalents classified as             
    discontinued operations     3,728  (3,732) -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   677,287  688,657  301,407   307,133 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 25)   268,286  677,287  28,291   301,407

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance brought forward     490,931   (6,322)  505,087  (6,277)
Debentures issued by a subsidiary      -  186,044   -  - 
Dividends paid to:            
    - shareholders of the Company     (177,478) (144,349) (177,478)  (144,349)  
    - minority shareholders      -  (200) -  - 
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities   313,453   35,173   327,609  (150,626)
           

    (412,756) (7,699) (273,116)  (5,726)
    27  61  -  - 

net movement in cash and cash equivalents classified as             
    3,728  (3,732) -  - 

  677,287  688,657  301,407   307,133 

  268,286  677,287  28,291   301,407

Balance brought forward     490,931   (6,322)  505,087  (6,277)
Debentures issued by a subsidiary      -  186,044   -  - 
Dividends paid to:            
    - shareholders of the Company     (177,478) (144,349) (177,478)  (144,349)  
    - minority shareholders      -  (200) -  - 
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities   313,453   35,173   327,609  (150,626)
           

    (412,756) (7,699) (273,116)  (5,726)
    27  61  -  - 

net movement in cash and cash equivalents classified as             
    3,728  (3,732) -  - 

  677,287  688,657  301,407   307,133 

  268,286  677,287  28,291   301,407
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1. CORPORATE infORMATiOn
 
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is located at Malaysia Airports Corporate Office, 
Persiaran Korporat KLIA, 64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

The immediate holding company is Khazanah Nasional Berhad and the ultimate holding body is the Minister of Finance 
(Incorporated) (“MoF”), a corporate body which was incorporated under the Minister of Finance (Incorporation) Act, 1957.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 17. 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

Information in respect of the Group’s restructuring with the Government of Malaysia, including both the Group’s obligations and 
operations are disclosed as significant events in Note 39. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
25 March 2010.

2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES

 2.1 Basis of Preparation

  The financial statements comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable Financial Reporting  
  Standards (“FRS”) in Malaysia.

  The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have also been prepared on a historical basis, unless  
  otherwise indicated in the summary of significant accounting policies below.

  The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand  
  (RM’000), except when otherwise indicated.
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
 
 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
  (a) Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation 
  
   (i) Subsidiaries

    Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the ability to control the financial and operating policies  
    so as to obtain benefits from their activities.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are  
    currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has such power over  
    another entity.

    In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment  
    losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying  
    amounts is included in profit or loss.

   (ii) Basis of consolidation 

    The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries  
    as at the balance sheet date.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting  
    date as the Company.

    Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,  
    and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. In preparing the consolidated financial  
    statements, intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains or losses are eliminated in full.  
    Uniform accounting policies are adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and  
    events in similar circumstances. 

    Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method.  The purchase method of accounting  
    involves allocating the cost of the acquisition to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities and  
    contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.  The cost of an acquisition is measured as the  
    aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and  
    equity instruments issued, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  

    Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,  
    liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill.  Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value  
    of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised  
    immediately in profit or loss.
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)       
         
  (a) Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (contd.)      
         
   (ii) Basis of consolidation (contd.)

    Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group.   
    It is measured at the minorities’ share of the fair value of the subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at  
    the acquisition date and the minorities’ share of changes in the subsidiaries’ equity since then.

  (b) Associates

   Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest  
   in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions  
   of the investee but not in control or joint control over those policies.

   Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of  
   accounting. Under the equity method, the investment in associate is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at  
   cost adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. The Group’s share of  
   the net profit or loss of the associate is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. Where there has been a  
   change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of such changes. 

   In applying the equity method, unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and the associate  
   are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. After application of the equity method, the  
   Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s  
   net investment in the associate. The associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant  
   influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.

   Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. Any  
   excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent  
   liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead  
   included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which  
   the investment is acquired.
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.) 
   
  (b) Associates (contd.)

   When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any  
   long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associates, the Group does  
   not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

   The most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in applying the  
   equity method.  Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not co-terminous with those of  
   the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and management  
   financial statements to the end of the accounting period.  Uniform accounting policies are adopted for like  
   transactions and events in similar circumstances.

   In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment  
   losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts  
   is included in profit or loss. 

  (c) Jointly controlled entity

   The Group has an interest in a joint venture which is a jointly controlled entity. A joint venture is a contractual  
   arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, and a  
   jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves an unincorporated entity or the establishment of a separate  
   entity in which each venturer has an interest.

   Investment in jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity  
   method of accounting as described in Note 2.2(b).

   In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in jointly controlled entity is stated at cost less  
   impairment loss.

   On disposal of such investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amount is  
   included in profit or loss.
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)       
         
  (d) intangible assets      

   (i) goodwill

    Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of  
    business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and  
    contingent liabilities. Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated  
    impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment, annually or more  
    frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Gains and  
    losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

   (ii) Other intangible Assets

    Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.  The cost of intangible assets  
    acquired in a business combination is their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,  
    intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment  
    losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with  
    finite lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic useful lives and assessed for  
    impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired.  The amortisation  
    period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each  
    balance sheet date. 

    In prior years, the concession rights comprised fees payable by a subsidiary to the Government of Malaysia  
    (“GoM”) for the rights to operate, manage and undertake future development of the K.L. International Airport  
    (“KLIA”) in Sepang subject to an extension for an unspecified further period at the discretion of the GoM and  
    was deemed to have a finite useful life and was amortised over the remaining concession period commencing  
    from 1 January 2004. 

    Pursuant to the restructuring arrangement entered into with the GoM, and as disclosed in the Note 39, the  
    previous concession agreement and lease agreement were terminated and the Operating Agreements  
    substituting the new rights and obligations between the parties concerned. The new Operating Agreements  
    are for a period of 25 years ending 2034.
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  (d) intangible assets (contd.)      

   (ii) Other intangible Assets (contd.)

    In addition, the Group also changed the amortisation policy in respect of the new Operating Agreements from  
    straight-line  to the method reflecting the asset’s usage based on passengers volume and usage of airport  
    activities. The current amortisation used shall reflect the pattern in which the concession’s future economic  
    benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group and is applied consistently from period to period, unless  
    there is a change in the expected pattern of consumption of those future economic benefits.

    The effect on the financial statements of this change in accounting estimate is a decrease in amortisation  
    charge for the Group by RM41,075,000 and  the expense savings in Group’s current year profit by  
    RM41,075,000.

  (e) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

   All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  Subsequent costs are included in the  
   asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future  
   economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured  
   reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged  
   to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

   Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and  
   any accumulated impairment losses.

   Capital improvements relate to the upgrading and resurfacing of runway.

   Capital work-in-progress comprises the construction of buildings, renovation in-progress and other assets which  
   have not been commissioned. Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated.  

   Capital work-in-progress is capitalised in accordance with the FRS 116: Property, Plant and Equipment and is  
   recognised as an asset when:

   (a) it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the enterprise; and
   (b) the cost of the asset to the enterprise can be measured reliably.
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  (e) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (contd.)

   Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of 
   each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

   Property and terminal buildings  4%
   Hotel property 4%
   Infrastructure, safety equipment and motor vehicles 10% - 20%
   Office, communications and electronic equipment 10% - 50%
   Furniture and fittings 10% - 20%
   Plant and machinery 20%
   Crockery, glassware, cutlery and linen 25%
   Racing circuit 2% - 10%
   Capital improvements 12.5%

   During the year, the Group assessed the useful lives of all the property, plant and equipment  and revised the 
   depreciation rates for certain property, plant and equipment  to reflect their anticipated useful lives of these 
   assets including property and  terminal building and hotel property which are now depreciated over the new 
   concession period granted to the Group. The net effect on the financial statements of these changes in accounting 
   estimate is a decrease in the current year depreciation charge of the Group by RM10,311,000 and the expense 
   savings in the Group’s current year profit by RM10,311,000.

   The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure that the 
   amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
   consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

   An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
   are expected from its use or disposal.  The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net 
   carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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  (f) impairment of non-financial assets

   The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there  
   is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated to  
   determine the amount of impairment loss. For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible  
   assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date or more  
   frequently when indicators of impairment are identified.

   For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset  
   basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets.  If  
   this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs  
   to. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s  
   CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of  
   whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.  

   An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.   
   In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax  
   discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the  
   asset.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired  
   and is written down to its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of  
   CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units  
   and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.  

   An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

   Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.  An impairment loss for an asset other than  
   goodwill is reversed only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s  
   recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than  
   goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying  
   amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been  
   recognised for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised  
   in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation  
   increase.      
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  (g) inventories
   
   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on a weighted average basis) and net realisable value. Cost  
   of inventories comprises cost of purchase of goods. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less  
   all estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

  (h) Plantation development expenditure

   New planting expenditure incurred on land clearing and upkeep of trees to maturity are capitalised under  
   plantations.

   Amortisation of plantation development expenditure is at a rate of 4% per annum.

  (i) Replanting expenditure

   Replanting expenditure incurred during the year is recognised in the income statement.  Replanting expenditure  
   represents the total cost incurred from land clearing to the point of harvesting.

  (j) financial instruments

   Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has become a party to the contractual  
   provisions of the instrument.

   Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual  
   arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are  
   reported as expense or income.  Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged  
   directly to equity.  Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and  
   intends to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

   (i) Cash and cash equivalents

    For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks  
    and deposits at call which have an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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  (j) financial instruments (contd.)

   (ii) Other non-current investments

    Non-current investments other than investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less impairment  
    losses. On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is  
    recognised in profit or loss.

   (iii) Receivables

    Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. An estimate  
    is made for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at the balance sheet date.

   (iv) Payables

    Payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and  
    services received.

   (v) interest bearing loans and borrowings

    All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly  
    attributable transaction costs.  After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently  
    measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

   (vi) Equity instruments

    Ordinary shares and preference share are classified as equity.  Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in  
    equity in the period in which they are declared.

    The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax.  Equity  
    transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction  
    which would otherwise have been avoided. 
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  (k) Leases  
   
   (i) Classification

    A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Group all the risks and rewards  
    incidental to ownership.  Leases of land and buildings are classified as operating or finance leases in the same  
    way as leases of other assets and the land and buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings are  
    considered separately for the purposes of lease classification.  All leases that do not transfer substantially all  
    the risks and rewards are classified as operating leases, except land held for own use under an operating  
    lease, the fair value of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon  
    at the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building is also  
    clearly held under an operating lease.

   (ii) finance leases

    Assets acquired by way of hire purchase or finance leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their  
    fair values and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases, less accumulated  
    depreciation and impairment losses. The corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as borrowings.   
    In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the discount factor used is the interest rate  
    implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to determine; otherwise, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate  
    is used.  Any initial direct costs are also added to the carrying amount of such assets.

    Lease payments are apportioned between the finance costs and the reduction of the outstanding liability.  
    Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the  
    assets acquired, are recognised in the profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a  
    constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

    The depreciation policy for lease assets is in accordance with that for depreciable property, plant and  
    equipment as described in Note 2.2 (e).



MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD / 233

2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)       

  (k) Leases (contd.)  
   
   (iii) Operating leases

    Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant  
    lease. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental  
    expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

    In the case of a lease of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments or the up-front payments made  
    are allocated, whenever necessary, between the land and the buildings elements in proportion to the relative  
    fair values for leasehold interests in the land element and buildings element of the lease at the inception of  
    the lease. The up-front payment relating to the land element represents prepaid lease payments and are  
    amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

    Amortisation of leasehold land ranges between 50 to 99 years.

  (l) Borrowing costs

   All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

  (m) income tax and zakat

   Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected  
   amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates  
   that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.

   Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between  
   the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. In principle, deferred  
   tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for  
   all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable  
   that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and  
   unused tax credits can be utilised.  Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill  
   or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business  
   combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.
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  (m) income tax and zakat (contd.)

   Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the  
   liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.   
   Deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in the profit or loss for the period, except when it  
   arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised  
   directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred  
   tax is included in the resulting goodwill or the amount of any excess of the acquirer’s interest is the net fair value  
   of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the combination.

   Zakat payable by the Group and Company is a form of contribution according to the principles  
   of Syariah. 

  (n) Provisions for liabilities

   Provisions for liabilities are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it  
   is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,  
   and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and  
   adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions  
   are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where  
   discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

   Provision for restructuring costs is recognised when a detailed and formal restructuring plan has been approved,  
   and the restructuring has either commenced or has been announced publicly.  Costs relating to ongoing activities  
   are not provided for.

  (o) Employee benefits

   (i) Short-term benefits

    Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which  
    the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated  
    absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase  
    their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating compensated absences  
    such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.
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  (o) Employee benefits (contd.)

   (ii) Defined contribution plans

    Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions  
    into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions  
    if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in  
    the current and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss  
    as incurred. As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such contributions to the Employees  
    Provident Fund.

   (iii) Defined benefit plan

    The Group operates an unfunded, defined benefit Retirement Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”) for all qualifying  
    staff who have been confirmed in service whereby only employees who have earned in return for their service  
    up to 31 December 2004 shall continue to benefit from the Scheme but limited to their qualifying number of  
    years employed up to and equivalent factoring as at 31 December 2004. The existing employees as well as  
    new employees who have earned in return for their service subsequent to 31 December 2004 are not eligible  
    for the Scheme but shall be compensated based on the Scheme in the defined contribution plans in note 2.2  
    (o)(ii) above.

    The Group’s obligations under the Scheme are determined based on triennial actuarial valuation where the  
    amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years is  
    estimated. That benefit is discounted using the Projected Unit Credit Method in order to determine its  
    present value.   

    The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations  
    adjusted for unrecognised transitional obligations or assets. The Group has amortised the unrecognised  
    transitional obligations over a two-year period beginning from the previous financial year.
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  (p) foreign currencies

   (i) functional currency

    The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary  
    economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).

   (ii) foreign currency transactions

    In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s  
    functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded in the functional currencies using the exchange rates  
    prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in  
    foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items carried  
    at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when  
    the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign  
    currency are not translated.

    Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,  
    are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that  
    form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operation.  These are initially taken directly to the foreign  
    currency translation reserve within equity until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which time they are  
    recognised in profit or loss.  Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Company’s  
    net investment in foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the Company’s separate financial  
    statements or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate.

    Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in  
    profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in  
    respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.  Exchange differences arising from such  
    non-monetary items are also recognised directly in equity.
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  (p) foreign currencies (contd.)

   (iii) foreign operations

    The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the 
    presentation currency (RM) of the consolidated financial statements are translated into RM as follows:

    - Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate prevailing at the 
     balance sheet date;

    - Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year, 
     which approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and

    - All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

    Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and 
    liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and 
    translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date.

    The principal exchange rates used for every unit of foreign currency ruling at the balance sheet date are 
    as follows:

         
 2009 2008 
 RM RM 
         
  United States Dollar (USD) 3.42   3.46 
  Great Britain Pound (GBP)   5.50 5.00 
  Singapore Dollar (SGD)  2.44 2.41 
  Euro (EUR)   4.92 4.88
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  (q) User fee

   User fee is in respect of license and operating rights payable to the GoM based on share of the revenues generated  
   from the commercial activities carried out by the Group at KLIA and all other airports but excludes inter-company  
   revenue.

  (r) Revenue recognition

   Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the  
   revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is  
   recognised:

   (i) Dividend income

    Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

   (ii) Sale of goods

    Revenue is recognised net of sales taxes and upon transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership to the  
    buyer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of  
    the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

   (iii) Revenue from services

    Revenue from airport management, horticulture and auction services rendered is recognised net of service  
    taxes and discounts as and when the services are performed.

    Revenue from contracts are recognised by reference to the stage of completion at the balance sheet date.   
    Stage of completion is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total  
    estimated labour hours for each contract.  Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue  
    is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.
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  (r) Revenue recognition (contd.)

   (iv) Marginal cost support sum (“MARCS”)

    Under the Operating Agreements, the GoM shall assist the Group in bearing its socio-economic obligations by  
    compensating the Group with a marginal cost support sum (“MARCS”) for marginal losses suffered, arising  
    from the undertaking of socio-economic activities and GoM policies.

    The MARCS support is recognised in the financial statements throughout the concession year as revenue  
    when recovery is probable and the amount that is recoverable can be measured reliably. Further details are  
    disclosed in Notes 3 and 39.

   (v) Revenue from hotel operations

    Revenue from rental of hotel rooms, sale of food and beverages and other related income are recognised  
    when the services are performed.

   (vi) Revenue from event management services

    Revenue from event management is recognised net of discounts as and when the event takes place.

   (vii) interest income

    Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
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  (s) Disposal groups classified as held for sale and discontinued operations

   Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered  
   principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only  
   when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present  
   condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary.

   Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets (or all the assets  
   and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable FRS. Then, on initial  
   classification as held for sale, non-current assets or disposal groups (other than investment properties, deferred  
   tax assets and financial assets) are measured in accordance with FRS 5 that is at the lower of carrying amount and  
   fair value less costs to sell. Any differences are included in profit or loss.

   A component of the Group is classified as a discontinued operation when the criteria to be classified as held  
   for sale have been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major line of  
   business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated major line of business or geographical  
   area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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 2.3 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

   At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new FRS, Amendments to FRS and  
   Interpretations were issued but not yet effective and have not been applied by the Group and the Company:

   Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009:           

   FRS 8 Operating Segments      

   Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010:           

   FRS 4 Insurance Contracts      
   FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures      
   FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)      
   FRS 123 Borrowing Costs      
   FRS 139  Financial Instruments: Recognition and       
    Measurement 
   Amendments to FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting  
    Standards and FRS 127: Consolidated and  
    Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an  
    Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled  
    Entity or Associate      
   Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions  
    and Cancellations      
   Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation      
   Amendments to FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and  
    Measurement, FRS 7: Financial Instruments:  
    Disclosures and IC Interpretation 9:  
    Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives       
   Amendments to FRS’s 2009 Improvement to FRSs (2009)      
   IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives      
   IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment      
   IC Interpretation 11 FRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions      
   IC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes      
   IC Interpretation 14 FRS 119 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,  
    Minimum Funding Requirements and their  
    Interaction      
   TR i – 3 Presentation of Financial Statements of Islamic  
    Financial Institutions      
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   Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010:

   FRS 1 FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting  
    Standards      
   FRS 3 Business Combinations (revised)      
   FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  
    (amended)      
   Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment      
   Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued  
    Operations      
   Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets      
   Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives      
   IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements      
   IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate      
   IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation      
   IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners      
            
   The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above pronouncements when they become effective in the  
   respective financial period. These pronouncements are expected to have no significant impact to the financial  
   statements of the Group and the Company upon their initial application.           
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.4 Significant accounting judgements and estimates         
          
  (a) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

   The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s accounting  
   policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

   (i) Amortisation of concession rights

    The carrying amount of the concession asset is amortised over the concession period by the method where  
    the amortisation method used shall reflect the pattern which the concession’s future economic benefits are  
    expected to be consumed by the Group based on the expected number of passengers and the utilisation of  
    the airports over the concession period. The variable factors in determining the estimated amortisation  
    includes projected total number of passengers for subsequent years to year 2034. The assumptions to arrive  
    at the passenger volume projections and usage of airports also take into consideration the growth rate  
    based on current market and economic conditions. Changes in the expected passenger volume and usage  
    of airports could impact future amortisation charges.

   (ii) Amount due from goM

    Management assessed the amount claimable from the GoM together with the future obligations of the  
    Group in respect of user fee payable to the GoM.

    Profit projections are used in determining the future obligations in respect of future user fee payable for  
    any potential setoff against the amount claimable from GoM as at balance sheet date. Profit projections are  
    based on various assumptions, amongst others, passenger volume, usage of airports and projected growth  
    rate.

    Details of amount due from and to GoM are disclosed in Notes 21 and 32.

   



2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.4 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (contd.)

  (a) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies (contd.)

   (iii) Revenue recognition

    Included in the Group’s revenue is revenue in respect of certain aeronautical and commercial debtors where  
    the Group has not finalised the definitive terms of agreement with these trade debtors. The revenue is based  
    on pre-determined rates negotiated upon the operations of the K.L. International Airport (“KLIA”). The  
    management estimates that based on their experience with other trade debtors where definitive terms were  
    finalised, the formalisation of the agreed rates will not be materially different if such rates are being  
    re-negotiated.

    Significant judgement is also applied to determine the accrued revenue in respect of aeronautical services  
    based on passenger movements, the number of airlines and timing of billings.

    As at balance sheet date, the amount of accrued revenue for aeronautical and commercial debtors is  
    disclosed in Note 21 comprised approximately 3% (2008: 5%) of total revenue.

  (b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

   The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet  
   date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  
   within the next financial year are discussed below:

   (i) income taxes

    Significant estimation is involved in determining the provision for income taxes.  There are certain transactions  
    and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of  
    business.  The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional  
    taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially  
    recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which  
    such determination is made. 
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2. SignifiCAnT ACCOUnTing POLiCiES (Contd.)        
         
 2.4 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (contd.)

  (b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (contd.)

   (ii) Deferred taxation

    Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unutilised tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other 
    deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
    which the losses, capital allowances and other deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant 
    management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
    based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
    Further details are contained in Note 23.

3. REvEnUE 
group  Company   

  Restated     
  2009   2008  2009   2008 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
 Airport operations:           
  - Airport services:           
   - Aeronautical 790,483 652,498 -  - 
   - Non-aeronautical 354,482 321,751  -   - 
  - Duty free and non dutiable goods  351,609  304,904   -   - 
 Non-airport operations:           
   - Agriculture and horticulture 48,530 67,350   -   - 
    - Hotel operations  57,511  61,709   -   - 
    - Management services 34,478  26,761   -   - 
 Dividend income from subsidiaries  -   -   63,000 103,946
      1,637,093  1,434,973   63,000 103,946

 Included in aeronautical revenue is marginal cost support sum income of RM145,775,000 (2008: RM Nil) as disclosed in 
 (Note 2.2(r)(iv)).            
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 Airport operations:           
  - Airport services:           
   - Aeronautical 790,483 652,498 -  - 
   - Non-aeronautical 354,482 321,751  -   - 
  - Duty free and non dutiable goods  351,609  304,904   -   - 
 Non-airport operations:           
   - Agriculture and horticulture 48,530 67,350   -   - 
    - Hotel operations  57,511  61,709   -   - 
    - Management services 34,478  26,761   -   - 
 Dividend income from subsidiaries  -   -   63,000 103,946
      1,637,093  1,434,973   63,000 103,946

 Airport operations:           
  - Airport services:           
   - Aeronautical 790,483 652,498 -  - 
   - Non-aeronautical 354,482 321,751  -   - 
  - Duty free and non dutiable goods  351,609  304,904   -   - 
 Non-airport operations:           
   - Agriculture and horticulture 48,530 67,350   -   - 
    - Hotel operations  57,511  61,709   -   - 
    - Management services 34,478  26,761   -   - 
 Dividend income from subsidiaries  -   -   63,000 103,946
      1,637,093  1,434,973   63,000 103,946



4. OThER inCOME           
            

Included in other income are:                           

group  Company   
  Restated     

 2009  2008  2009  2008 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
            
 Interest income 10,485  25,441  2,636  8,574 
 Rental income 6,256  5,059  -   - 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  157   87   -  25 
 Accretion of premium arising from redemption of
  preference shares by associate 37   -   -   - 
 Gain on disposal of bonds and medium-term notes 1,438   -   -   - 
 Amortisation of deferred income (Note 32)(d)  6,487  4,801  -  - 
 Net realised foreign exchange gain 1,070   2,785   -   - 
 Net unrealised foreign exchange gain  -   -   -  1,982 
 Investment income 3,641  2,223   1,429  1,547 
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 Interest income 10,485  25,441  2,636  8,574 
 Rental income 6,256  5,059  -   - 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  157   87   -  25 

  preference shares by associate 37   -   -   - 
 Gain on disposal of bonds and medium-term notes 1,438   -   -   - 
 Amortisation of deferred income (Note 32)(d)  6,487  4,801  -  - 
 Net realised foreign exchange gain 1,070   2,785   -   - 
 Net unrealised foreign exchange gain  -   -   -  1,982 
 Investment income 3,641  2,223   1,429  1,547 

            
 Interest income 10,485  25,441  2,636  8,574 
 Rental income 6,256  5,059  -   - 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  157   87   -  25 

  preference shares by associate 37   -   -   - 
 Gain on disposal of bonds and medium-term notes 1,438   -   -   - 
 Amortisation of deferred income (Note 32)(d)  6,487  4,801  -  - 
 Net realised foreign exchange gain 1,070   2,785   -   - 
 Net unrealised foreign exchange gain  -   -   -  1,982 
 Investment income 3,641  2,223   1,429  1,547 



5. EMPLOyEE BEnEfiTS EXPEnSE           
            
  group  Company   
  Restated     

2009  2008  2009 2008 
 RM’000 RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 
            

Wages and salaries  204,673 189,329  23,219   18,843 
 Bonus   43,063  23,196  4,764  (2,606)
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 42,287  38,990   5,568   4,885 
 Social security contributions  3,329   3,173   228  190 
 Short-term accumulating compensated absences  (315) 1,808   (11)  368 
 Defined benefit plan (Note 28):           
   Continuing operations 2,698 2,696  216   222 
   Discontinued operations (2) (11)  -   - 
 Other employee benefits 60,937   63,337  9,210  7,764
      356,670  322,518   43,194 29,666 
 Re-charged to subsidiaries  -   -   - (29,326)
      356,670   322,518   43,194 340 

 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration 
 amounting to RM935,000 (2008: RM903,000) and RM935,000 (2008: RM903,000) respectively as further disclosed in 
 Note 8.
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Wages and salaries  204,673 189,329  23,219   18,843 

 Bonus   43,063  23,196  4,764  (2,606)
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 42,287  38,990   5,568   4,885 
 Social security contributions  3,329   3,173   228  190 
 Short-term accumulating compensated absences  (315) 1,808   (11)  368 
 Defined benefit plan (Note 28):           
   Continuing operations 2,698 2,696  216   222 
   Discontinued operations (2) (11)  -   - 
 Other employee benefits 60,937   63,337  9,210  7,764
      356,670  322,518   43,194 29,666 
 Re-charged to subsidiaries  -   -   - (29,326)
      356,670   322,518   43,194 340 

            
Wages and salaries  204,673 189,329  23,219   18,843 

 Bonus   43,063  23,196  4,764  (2,606)
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 42,287  38,990   5,568   4,885 
 Social security contributions  3,329   3,173   228  190 
 Short-term accumulating compensated absences  (315) 1,808   (11)  368 
 Defined benefit plan (Note 28):           
   Continuing operations 2,698 2,696  216   222 
   Discontinued operations (2) (11)  -   - 
 Other employee benefits 60,937   63,337  9,210  7,764
      356,670  322,518   43,194 29,666 
 Re-charged to subsidiaries  -   -   - (29,326)
      356,670   322,518   43,194 340 



6. finAnCE COSTS           
            

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 Interest expense:           
 Term loan  14,177  277   53 277 
 Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities  -   5   -   - 
     14,177   282   53   277 

7. PROfiT BEfORE TAX AnD ZAKAT           
            
 The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit before tax and zakat:           
            
  group  Company   
       Restated     
     2009  2008  2009  2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration excluding           
  benefits-in-kind (Note 8)  523   493  509  464 
 Auditors’ remuneration:           
   - statutory   436  420  36  52 
   - other services  175  22 175  22 
 User fee expenses 112,548  -  -  -
 Lease rental expenses:        
  - provision   3,060  7,300  -  - 
  - Writeback (52,000)  -  -  - 
 Rental expense  9,802  9,550  3,252  203 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 110,853  119,784  2,756  2,108 
 Amortisation of:           
  - plantation development expenditure (Note 14) 2,833  2,873  -  - 
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 Non-executive directors’ remuneration excluding           
  benefits-in-kind (Note 8)  523   493  509  464 
 Auditors’ remuneration:           
   - statutory   436  420  36  52 
   - other services  175  22 175  22 
 User fee expenses 112,548  -  -  -
 Lease rental expenses:        
  - provision   3,060  7,300  -  - 
  - Writeback (52,000)  -  -  - 
 Rental expense  9,802  9,550  3,252  203 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 110,853  119,784  2,756  2,108 
 Amortisation of:           
  - plantation development expenditure (Note 14) 2,833  2,873  -  - 

 Non-executive directors’ remuneration excluding           
  benefits-in-kind (Note 8)  523   493  509  464 
 Auditors’ remuneration:           
   - statutory   436  420  36  52 
   - other services  175  22 175  22 
 User fee expenses 112,548  -  -  -
 Lease rental expenses:        
  - provision   3,060  7,300  -  - 
  - Writeback (52,000)  -  -  - 
 Rental expense  9,802  9,550  3,252  203 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 110,853  119,784  2,756  2,108 
 Amortisation of:           
  - plantation development expenditure (Note 14) 2,833  2,873  -  - 

Interest expense:           
 Term loan  14,177  277   53 277 
 Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities  -   5   -   - 
     14,177   282   53   277 

Interest expense:           
 Term loan  14,177  277   53 277 
 Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities  -   5   -   - 
     14,177   282   53   277 



7. PROfiT BEfORE TAX AnD ZAKAT (Contd.)

 group  Company 
      Restated     
     2009  2008  2009  2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

  - prepaid land lease payments (Note 15) 121   121   -   - 
  - concession rights (Note 16)  36,667   32,155   -   - 
    - premium on investments 159   82  -   - 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of:           
  - investments in subsidiaries (Note 17) (6,847)  -   2,757   - 
  - other investments  (904)  -   385  3,399 
 Property, plant and equipment written off  514   582   -   - 
 Inventories written off  18   40   -   - 
 Provision/(writeback of) for doubtful debts  5,153   (38,165)  -   - 
 Bad debts written off:           
  - third parties  -   7   -   - 
  - subsidiary  -   -   -   5,021 
 Bad debts recovered  (310)  (21)  -   -
 Realisation of deferred income  28,282 - - -
 Impairment of:           
  - investment in subsidiary  -  -  -  10,456 
  - property, plant and equipment  1,248  -  -  - 
 Utilities cost 194,570  165,822  1,005  39 
 Repair and maintenance costs  121,845  120,902  2,568  - 
 Management fee paid to hotel operator  2,402   2,557   -   -

           
 User fee amounting to RM112,548,000 (2008: RM Nil) relates to license and operating rights payable to the GoM which 
 ranges between 8.30% to 8.67% of the gross revenues generated by the Group from the commercial activities carried out 
 at KLIA and other airports excluding inter-company revenue.          
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  - prepaid land lease payments (Note 15) 121   121   -   - 
  - concession rights (Note 16)  36,667   32,155   -   - 
    - premium on investments 159   82  -   - 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of:           
  - investments in subsidiaries (Note 17) (6,847)  -   2,757   - 
  - other investments  (904)  -   385  3,399 
 Property, plant and equipment written off  514   582   -   - 
 Inventories written off  18   40   -   - 
 Provision/(writeback of) for doubtful debts  5,153   (38,165)  -   - 
 Bad debts written off:           
  - third parties  -   7   -   - 
  - subsidiary  -   -   -   5,021 
 Bad debts recovered  (310)  (21)  -   -
 Realisation of deferred income  28,282 - - -
 Impairment of:           
  - investment in subsidiary  -  -  -  10,456 
  - property, plant and equipment  1,248  -  -  - 
 Utilities cost 194,570  165,822  1,005  39 
 Repair and maintenance costs  121,845  120,902  2,568  - 
 Management fee paid to hotel operator  2,402   2,557   -   -

  - prepaid land lease payments (Note 15) 121   121   -   - 
  - concession rights (Note 16)  36,667   32,155   -   - 
    - premium on investments 159   82  -   - 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of:           
  - investments in subsidiaries (Note 17) (6,847)  -   2,757   - 
  - other investments  (904)  -   385  3,399 
 Property, plant and equipment written off  514   582   -   - 
 Inventories written off  18   40   -   - 
 Provision/(writeback of) for doubtful debts  5,153   (38,165)  -   - 
 Bad debts written off:           
  - third parties  -   7   -   - 
  - subsidiary  -   -   -   5,021 
 Bad debts recovered  (310)  (21)  -   -
 Realisation of deferred income  28,282 - - -
 Impairment of:           
  - investment in subsidiary  -  -  -  10,456 
  - property, plant and equipment  1,248  -  -  - 
 Utilities cost 194,570  165,822  1,005  39 
 Repair and maintenance costs  121,845  120,902  2,568  - 
 Management fee paid to hotel operator  2,402   2,557   -   -
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8. DiRECTORS’ REMUnERATiOn

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Executive directors’ remuneration (Note 5):           
  - Other emoluments  935   903   935   903 
           
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 7):           
  - Fees  239   239 239  239 
  - Other emoluments  284   254 270  225 
     523  493   509  464 
           
 Total directors’ remuneration  1,458  1,396  1,444  1,367 
 Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  35  35  35  35 
 Total directors’ remuneration including benefits-in-kind  1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402
 

 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Group and the Company during the year are as follows:

 group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000
 Executive:           
  - Salaries and other emoluments 599 565  599  565 
  - Bonus  200  207  200  207 
  - Defined contribution plans 136 131  136  131 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 18  18  18  18 
      953  921  953  921 
 Non-executive:           
  - Fees  239  239  239  239 
  - Allowances  284  254  270  225 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  17  17  17  17 
      1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402 

 Executive directors’ remuneration (Note 5):           
  - Other emoluments  935   903   935   903 
           
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 7):           
  - Fees  239   239 239  239 
  - Other emoluments  284   254 270  225 
     523  493   509  464 
           
 Total directors’ remuneration  1,458  1,396  1,444  1,367 
 Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  35  35  35  35 
 Total directors’ remuneration including benefits-in-kind  1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402

 Executive directors’ remuneration (Note 5):           
  - Other emoluments  935   903   935   903 
           
 Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 7):           
  - Fees  239   239 239  239 
  - Other emoluments  284   254 270  225 
     523  493   509  464 
           
 Total directors’ remuneration  1,458  1,396  1,444  1,367 
 Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  35  35  35  35 
 Total directors’ remuneration including benefits-in-kind  1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402

 Executive:           
  - Salaries and other emoluments 599 565  599  565 
  - Bonus  200  207  200  207 
  - Defined contribution plans 136 131  136  131 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 18  18  18  18 
      953  921  953  921 
 Non-executive:           
  - Fees  239  239  239  239 
  - Allowances  284  254  270  225 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  17  17  17  17 
      1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402 

 Executive:           
  - Salaries and other emoluments 599 565  599  565 
  - Bonus  200  207  200  207 
  - Defined contribution plans 136 131  136  131 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 18  18  18  18 
      953  921  953  921 
 Non-executive:           
  - Fees  239  239  239  239 
  - Allowances  284  254  270  225 
  - Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  17  17  17  17 
      1,493  1,431  1,479  1,402 
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8. DiRECTORS’ REMUnERATiOn (Contd.)

 The amount of fee paid to the immediate holding company in respect of services rendered to the Company by directors are 
 RM81,500 (2008: RM40,000).

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is 
 analysed below:

     number of directors  
     2009  2008 
 Executive directors:           
           
 RM750,001 - RM800,000  -  - 
 RM800,001 - RM850,000  -  - 
 RM850,001 - RM900,000  -  - 
 RM900,001 - RM950,000  1  1 
           
 Non-executive directors:           
           
 Less than RM50,000  9  13 
 RM50,001 - RM100,000  -  - 
 RM100,001 - RM150,000  -  - 
 RM150,001 - RM200,000  1  1

           
 RM750,001 - RM800,000  -  - 
 RM800,001 - RM850,000  -  - 
 RM850,001 - RM900,000  -  - 
 RM900,001 - RM950,000  1  1 
           
 Non-executive directors:           
           
 Less than RM50,000  9  13 
 RM50,001 - RM100,000  -  - 
 RM100,001 - RM150,000  -  - 
 RM150,001 - RM200,000  1  1
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9. inCOME TAX AnD ZAKAT

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Continuing operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat:           
  Current income tax  112,838  110,257  11,984  25,412 
 (Over)/underprovision in prior years  (15,036)  (9,046)  (610)  454 
      97,802  101,211  11,374  25,866 
           
 Deferred tax (Note 23):           
 Relating to origination and            
  reversal of temporary differences 10,238  23,408  715  1,646 
 Relating to reduction in tax rate  -   (1,726)  -  60 
 (Over)/underprovision of deferred tax           
  liabilities in prior years  (10,449)  359  (390)  (28)
     (211) 22,041  325  1,678
     97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
           
 Income tax expenses  97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
 Zakat   2,574  -  1,444  - 
 Total income tax expense and zakat           
  from continuing operations  100,165   123,252 13,143  27,544 
           
 Discontinued operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat  - 202   -  - 
 Total income tax and zakat  100,165   123,454   13,143  27,544

 Current income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. 
 In the previous financial year, certain subsidiaries which are Malaysian residents and with paid-up capital of RM2.5 million or 
 less qualified for the preferential tax rates under Paragraph 2A, Schedule 1 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 as follows:

 On the first RM500,000 of chargeable income : 20%      
 In excess of RM500,000 of chargeable income: 26%    

 Continuing operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat:           
  Current income tax  112,838  110,257  11,984  25,412 
 (Over)/underprovision in prior years  (15,036)  (9,046)  (610)  454 
      97,802  101,211  11,374  25,866 
           
 Deferred tax (Note 23):           
 Relating to origination and            
  reversal of temporary differences 10,238  23,408  715  1,646 
 Relating to reduction in tax rate  -   (1,726)  -  60 
 (Over)/underprovision of deferred tax           
  liabilities in prior years  (10,449)  359  (390)  (28)
     (211) 22,041  325  1,678
     97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
           
 Income tax expenses  97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
 Zakat   2,574  -  1,444  - 
 Total income tax expense and zakat           
  from continuing operations  100,165   123,252 13,143  27,544 
           
 Discontinued operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat  - 202   -  - 
 Total income tax and zakat  100,165   123,454   13,143  27,544

 Continuing operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat:           
  Current income tax  112,838  110,257  11,984  25,412 
 (Over)/underprovision in prior years  (15,036)  (9,046)  (610)  454 
      97,802  101,211  11,374  25,866 
           
 Deferred tax (Note 23):           
 Relating to origination and            
  reversal of temporary differences 10,238  23,408  715  1,646 
 Relating to reduction in tax rate  -   (1,726)  -  60 
 (Over)/underprovision of deferred tax           
  liabilities in prior years  (10,449)  359  (390)  (28)
     (211) 22,041  325  1,678
     97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
           
 Income tax expenses  97,591  123,252  11,699  27,544 
 Zakat   2,574  -  1,444  - 
 Total income tax expense and zakat           
  from continuing operations  100,165   123,252 13,143  27,544 
           
 Discontinued operations           
 Malaysian income tax and zakat  - 202   -  - 
 Total income tax and zakat  100,165   123,454   13,143  27,544
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9. inCOME TAX AnD ZAKAT (Contd.)

 However, pursuant to Paragraph 2B, Schedule 1 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 that was introduced with effect from the year 
 of assessment 2009, certain subsidiaries no longer qualify for the above preferential tax rates. 

 Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing in that jurisdiction.

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
 at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

      2009   2008 
 group    RM’000  RM’000 
           
 Profit/(loss) before tax and zakat from:           
  Continuing operations  480,098  422,196 
  Discontinued operations (Note 10) (1,355)  7,079 
      478,743  429,275 
           
 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%)  120,025  109,771 
 Effect of different tax rates on the first RM500,000 (2008: RM500,000)  -  (123)
 Effect of different tax rates in other countries  7  23 
 Effects of share of results of associates  (658)  (621)
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  -  (1,726)
 Income not subject to tax  (2,938)  (8)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  19,408   24,371 
 Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of current year’s  
  tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances  232   252 
 Utilisation of unrecognised other deductible temporary differences  (13,000)  - 
 Overprovision of income tax in prior years  (15,036)  (9,046)
 (Over)/underprovision of deferred tax in prior years  (10,449)  359 
 Income tax expense for the year  97,591  123,252 
           

 Profit/(loss) before tax and zakat from:           
  Continuing operations  480,098  422,196 
  Discontinued operations (Note 10) (1,355)  7,079 
      478,743  429,275 
           
 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%)  120,025  109,771 
 Effect of different tax rates on the first RM500,000 (2008: RM500,000)  -  (123)
 Effect of different tax rates in other countries  7  23 
 Effects of share of results of associates  (658)  (621)
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  -  (1,726)
 Income not subject to tax  (2,938)  (8)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  19,408   24,371 

  tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances  232   252 
 Utilisation of unrecognised other deductible temporary differences  (13,000)  - 
 Overprovision of ncome tax in pr or years  (15,036)  (9,046)
 (Over)/underprovision of deferred tax in prior years  (10,449)  359 
 Income tax expense for the year  97,591  123,252 
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9. inCOME TAX AnD ZAKAT (Contd.)

     2009   2008 
 Company  RM’000  RM’000
  Profit before tax and zakat  36,560   83,727 
        
 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%)  9,140  21,769 
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  4,309  7,324 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  -  60 
 Income not subject to tax  (750)  (2,080)
 (Over)/Underprovision of income tax in prior years  (610)  454 
 Overprovision of deferred tax in prior years  (390)  (28)
 Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of current year’s   
  unabsorbed capital allowances  -  45 
 Income tax expense for the year  11,699  27,544

Profit before tax and zakat  36,560   83,727 
        
 Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%)  9,140  21,769 
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  4,309  7,324 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  -  60 
 Income not subject to tax  (750)  (2,080)
 (Over)/Underprovision of income tax in prior years  (610)  454 
 Overprovision of deferred tax in prior years  (390)  (28)
 Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of current year’s   
  unabsorbed capital allowances  -  45 
 Income tax expense for the year  11,699  27,544
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10. DiSCOnTinUED OPERATiOnS AnD DiSPOSAL gROUP CLASSifiED AS hELD fOR DiSPOSAL

 On 30 October 2008, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Asia Pacific Auction Centre Sdn. Bhd. (“APAC”) and its 
 subsidiaries ceased their operations. The principal activities of APAC and its subsidiaries were management and operations 
 of an auction centre. The APAC group of companies (“APAC Group”) are expected to be wound up under members’ 
 voluntary liquidation.
 
 As further disclosed in Note 39, pursuant to the restructuring arrangement with the GoM, the Company disposed off NECC 
 Sdn. Bhd. (“NECC”) and Sepang International Circuit Sdn. Bhd. (“SIC”) on 30 June 2009 and 10 July 2009.

 The results from APAC Group, NECC and SIC are presented separately in the consolidated income statements as 
 discontinued operations.

 As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the assets and liabilities of APAC Group have been presented on the consolidated 
 balance sheet as a disposal group held for disposal.

 An analysis of the result of the discontinued operations is as follows:           
           
  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000
          
 Revenue    61,459  80,652 
 Other income  617  1,855 
 Expenses   (63,431)  (75,428)
 (Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations (Note 9)  (1,355)  7,079 
 Income tax expense (Note 9)  -  (202)
 (Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations  (1,355)  6,877

 Revenue    61,459  80,652 
 Other income  617  1,855 
 Expenses   (63,431)  (75,428)
 (Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations (Note 9)  (1,355)  7,079 
 Income tax expense (Note 9)  -  (202)
 (Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations  (1,355)  6,877



10. DiSCOnTinUED OPERATiOnS AnD DiSPOSAL gROUP CLASSifiED AS hELD fOR DiSPOSAL (Contd.)

 The major classes of assets and liabilities of APAC Group classified as held for disposal on the consolidated balance sheet 
 as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Assets           
 Trade and other receivables  492  574 
 Cash and cash equivalents  4   3,732 
 Assets of disposal group classified as held for disposal  496   4,306 
           
 Liabilities    
 Trade and other payables  229  2,610 
 Income tax payable  -   47 
 Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for disposal  229  2,657

 The following amounts have been included in arriving at (loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations:

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000
 Auditors’ remuneration   8  38 
 Interest income   (291)  (841)
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   -  1,010 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)   1,157  2,363 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (187)  32 
 Inventories written off   -  25 
 Provision for doubtful debts   -  169 
 Retirement benefits- interest cost (Note 28)   2  11 
 Realised foreign exchange loss   -  542 
 Rental expenses   33  634 
 Utilities     656  2,140 
 Repair and maintenance   1,265  3,651
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 Assets           
 Trade and other receivables  492  574 
 Cash and cash equivalents  4   3,732 
 Assets of disposal group classified as held for disposal  496   4,306 
           
 Liabilities    
 Trade and other payables  229  2,610 
 Income tax payable  -   47 
 Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for disposal  229  2,657

 Auditors’ remuneration   8  38 
 Interest income   (291)  (841)
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   -  1,010 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)   1,157  2,363 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (187)  32 
 Inventories written off   -  25 
 Provision for doubtful debts   -  169 
 Retirement benefits- interest cost (Note 28)   2  11 
 Realised foreign exchange loss   -  542 
 Rental expenses   33  634 
 Utilities     656  2,140 
 Repair and maintenance   1,265  3,651



10. DiSCOnTinUED OPERATiOnS (Contd.)

 The cash flows attributable to the discontinued operations are as follows:
  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Operating cash flows   (786)  9,801 
 Investing cash flows   291   841 
 Total cash (outflows)/inflows  495 10,642

11. EARningS PER ShARE
 
 (a) Basic

  Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
  the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000
  Profit from continuing operations attributable 
   to ordinary equity holders of the Company   379,277  298,329 
  (Loss)/profit from discontinued operation attributable            
   to ordinary equity holders of the Company    (1,355)  6,877 
  Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company    377,922  305,206

  group  
      2009 2008  
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)    1,100,000  1,100,000
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Operating cash flows   (786)  9,801 
 Investing cash flows   291   841 
 Total cash (outflows)/inflows  495 10,642

   to ordinary equity holders of the Company   379,277  298,329 
  (Loss)/profit from discontinued operation attributable            
   to ordinary equity holders of the Company    (1,355)  6,877 
  Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company    377,922  305,206

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)    1,100,000  1,100,000



11. EARningS PER ShARE (Contd.)

  group  
      2009 2008
      sen sen
 Basic earnings per share for:           
 Profit from continuing operations    34.48  27.12 
 (Loss)/profit from discontinued operations     (0.12)  0.63 
 Profit for the year    34.36  27.75

 There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date 
 and the date of completion of these financial statements. 

 There are no shares in issuance which have a dilutive effect to the earnings per share of the Group.

 Basic earnings per share for:           
 Profit from continuing operations    34.48  27.12 
 (Loss)/profit from discontinued operations     (0.12)  0.63 
 Profit for the year    34.36  27.75
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12. DiviDEnDS

 Dividends in respect   Dividends   
 of year recognised in year 
 2009  2008   2009   2008 
 RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 RM’000 
           
 Recognised during the year:           
 Interim dividend for 2009: 8.0% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares 
  (6.00 sen net per ordinary share)  66,000  -  66,000  - 
 Final dividend for 2008: 14.55% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (10.91 sen net per ordinary share)  -  120,038  120,038  -
 Interim dividend for 2008: 4.0% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (2.96 sen net per ordinary share)  -  32,560  -  32,560 
 Final dividend for 2007: 13.8% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares           
  (10.21 sen net per ordinary share)  -  -  -  112,332 
           
 Proposed for approval at forthcoming Annual general            
 Meeting (not recognised as at 31 December 2009):           
 Final dividend for 2009: 14.9044% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (11.18 sen net per ordinary share)  122,961  -  -  - 
   
   188,961  152,598  186,038  144,892

 Recognised during the year:           
 Interim dividend for 2009: 8.0% less 25% taxation, on            

  (6.00 sen net per ordinary share)  66,000  -  66,000  - 
 Final dividend for 2008: 14.55% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (10.91 sen net per ordinary share)  -  120,038  120,038  -
 Interim dividend for 2008: 4.0% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (2.96 sen net per ordinary share)  -  32,560  -  32,560 
 Final dividend for 2007: 13.8% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares           
  (10.21 sen net per ordinary share)  -  -  -  112,332 
           
 Proposed for approval at forthcoming Annual general            

           
 Final dividend for 2009: 14.9044% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (11.18 sen net per ordinary share)  122,961  -  -  - 

   188,961  152,598  186,038  144,892

 Recognised during the year:           
 Interim dividend for 2009: 8.0% less 25% taxation, on            

  (6.00 sen net per ordinary share)  66,000  -  66,000  - 
 Final dividend for 2008: 14.55% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (10.91 sen net per ordinary share)  -  120,038  120,038  -
 Interim dividend for 2008: 4.0% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (2.96 sen net per ordinary share)  -  32,560  -  32,560 
 Final dividend for 2007: 13.8% less 26% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares           
  (10.21 sen net per ordinary share)  -  -  -  112,332 
           
 Proposed for approval at forthcoming Annual general            

           
 Final dividend for 2009: 14.9044% less 25% taxation, on            
  1,100,000,000 ordinary shares            
  (11.18 sen net per ordinary share)  122,961  -  -  - 

   188,961  152,598  186,038  144,892
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At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009, 
 of 14.9044% less 25% taxation on 1,100,000,000 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM122,961,000 (11.18 
 sen net per ordinary share) will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial 
 year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity 
 as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2010.
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13. PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EqUiPMEnT

        Office,           

        communi-  Plant and

       infrastructure, cations and machinery,        

     Property  safety   electronic   crockery,        

     and  equipment equipment, glassware,  Capital Capital     

     terminal   hotel  and motor furniture   cutlery and  Racing   improve-   work-in-   

      buildings   property   vehicles  and fittings  linen   circuit   ments  progress  Total 

      RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

 group              

 At 31 December 2009            

 Cost              

 At 1 January 2009   798,612  120,745  119,198  704,236  7,893  428,105  97,035   346,891  2,622,715 

 Additions   25,579   -   101   91,455   7,451  -   136   201,625   326,347 

 Disposals   -   -   (40)  (360)  (71)  -   -   -  (471)

 Written off   -   -   (3,390)  (30,160)  (222)  -   (899)  (422)  (35,093)

 Transfers    160,549   -   11,985   59,494   5,019   6,811   26,350   (270,208)  - 

 Reclassification  (587) -   -   823   -   -   -   (236)  - 

 Reclassified to:              

 - Concession rights (Note 16)   -   -   (17,196)  -   -   -   -   -   (17,196)

 - Disposal of subsidiaries -   -   (1,132)  (19,894)  -   -   (3,376)  (159,635)  (184,037)

 At 31 December 2009 984,153  120,745   109,526   805,594  20,070   434,916   119,246   118,015   2,712,265

 Accumulated depreciation            

   and impairment             

 At 1 January 2009   145,058  16,463  74,970  340,292  5,333   90,835  37,790   1,248  711,989 

 Charge for the year:   23,710  3,626  6,312  66,781  1,400  5,922  4,259   -  112,010 

 - Continuing operations (Note 7)  23,710   3,626  6,265   65,847  1,400  5,922   4,083   -  110,853 

 - Discontinued operations (Note 10) -  - 47  934  - -   176   - 1,157 

 Disposals   -   -  (40)  (86)  (71)  -  -  -  (197)

 Written off   -   -   (3,388)  (30,136)  (156)  -  (899)  -  (34,579)

 Impairment loss  -   -  -  -  -  -  -  1,248  1,248 

 Reclassified to:             

  - Concession rights (Note 16)  -   -   (13,026)  -   -  -  -  -  (13,026)

 - Disposal of subsidiaries  -   -  (949)  (13,660)  -  -  (1,714)  -  (16,323)

 At 31 December 2009 168,768   20,089  63,879   363,191  6,506  96,757  39,436   2,496  761,122 

 net carrying amount   815,385   100,656    45,647    442,403   13,564   338,159    79,810   115,519    1,951,143 
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13. PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EqUiPMEnT (Contd.)

        Office,         

        communi-  Plant and

       infrastructure, cations and machinery,       

     Property  safety   electronic   crockery,        

     and  equipment equipment, glassware,  Capital Capital     

     terminal   hotel  and motor furniture   cutlery and  Racing   improve-   work-in-   

      buildings   property   vehicles  and fittings  linen   circuit   ments  progress  Total 

      RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

 group (contd.)             

 At 31 December 2008            

 Cost              

 At 1 January 2008  760,955  120,745 106,766 560,215 10,254  413,160 96,398 354,777 2,423,270 

 Additions  1,907   -  123  64,258 1,559  -  - 214,420 282,267 

 Disposals   -   - (86) (124)  -   -   -  (1) (211)

 Written off   -  -  (34) (1,567)  (32)  -   (8) (537) (2,178)

 Transfers   74,676  - 12,565 87,305 (3,888) 14,945 36,165 (221,768)  - 

 Reclassified to:              

 - Concession rights (Note 16)  (38,229)  -  -  -  -  -  (35,520)  -  (73,749)

 - Assets held for disposal (Note 10) (697)  -  (136) (5,851)  -  -  -  - (6,684)

 At 31 December 2008 798,612  120,745  119,198  704,236  7,893  428,105  97,035  346,891   2,622,715 

                

 Accumulated depreciation             

 and impairment             

 At 1 January 2008  143,327  14,048  61,221  277,392  5,628  80,410  59,919   1,248  643,193 

 Charge for the year:  17,271  2,415  13,946  69,139  582  10,425 8,369   -  122,147 

 - Continuing operations (Note 7)  17,232   2,415   13,832   67,253   582  10,425   8,045   -  119,784 

 - Discontinued operations (Note 10)  39  -  114  1,886   -   -   324   -  2,363 

 Disposals   -   -  (86) (124)  -   -   -   -  (210)

 Written off   -   -   (9) (1,526)  (61)  -   -   -  (1,596)

 Transfers    -   -  (10) 826  (816)  -   -   -   - 

 Impairment loss   530  -   44  436   -   -   -   -  1,010 

 Reclassified to:              

 - Concession rights (Note 16)  (15,373)  -   -   -   -   -   (30,498)  -   (45,871)

 - Assets held for disposal (Note 10) (697)  -  (136) (5,851)  -   -   -   -  (6,684)

 At 31 December 2008 145,058  16,463  74,970  340,292 5,333 90,835 37,790 1,248 711,989

 net carrying amount   653,554 104,282 44,228 363,944 2,560 337,270 59,245 245,643 1,910,726
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13. PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EqUiPMEnT (Contd.)

 

    furniture    Capital   

     and   Motor   Office   work-in-   

     fittings   vehicles   equipment   progress   Total 

     RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

 Company         

 At 31 December 2009         

 Cost          

 At 1 January 2009  1,738   1,853   12,846   4,581   21,018 

 Additions  -   6   917   96,519   97,442 

 Reclassifications  26,767   -   10,402   (37,169)  - 

 At 31 December 2009  28,505   1,859   24,165   63,931   118,460 

 Accumulated depreciation         

 At 1 January 2009  129   1,262  7,398  -   8,789 

 Charge for the year (Note 7)  251  267  2,238  -  2,756 

 At 31 December 2009  380 1,529  9,636   -   11,545 

 net carrying amount  28,125   330    14,529    63,931  106,915 

 At 31 December 2008         

 Cost          

 At 1 January 2008  1,363  1,849   10,213   1,387   14,812 

 Additions  44  4   2,226  4,985   7,259 

 Reclassifications 331   -  1,460  (1,791)  - 

 Disposals  -  -  (1,053)  -   (1,053)   

 At 31 December 2008 1,738    1,853   12,846   4,581   21,018 

 Accumulated depreciation         

 At 1 January 2008  74  949   5,687  -  6,710 

 Charge for the year (Note 7)  55  313  1,740  -  2,108 

 Disposals  -  -  (29)  -   (29)

 At 31 December 2008 129    1,262   7,398   -   8,789 

 net carrying amount 1,609   591    5,448  4,581   12,229 
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13. PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EqUiPMEnT (Contd.)

 As disclosed in Note 39, the Group’s arrangement with GoM to restructure its obligations includes the proposed disposal of  
 the racing circuit, also referred to as the Sepang F1 Circuit. The initial cost and carrying amount excluding capital  
 improvements referred to in the proposed disposal are RM399,853,000 (2008: RM339,853,000) and RM309,873,000 (2008:  
 RM312,361,000) respectively.              

 Carrying amounts of certain assets in respect of the cost incurred and attributable to the rights to continue managing the  
 operations of airports other than KLIA were reclassified to concession rights. The reclassification has no significant effect  
 to current and prior years depreciation charge and the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and accordingly  
 no restatement of prior year comparatives is presented.

 Included in the cost of property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are cost of fully depreciated assets  
 which are still in use amounting to RM201,597,000 (2008: RM211,601,000) and RM7,366,000 (2008: RM5,335,000)  
 respectively.

 In the prior year, the cost and net carrying amount of motor vehicles held under hire purchase arrangements were RM263,000  
 and RM26,000 respectively.

 Details of the terms and conditions of the hire purchase and finance lease arrangements are disclosed in Notes 31 and 40.
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14. PLAnTATiOn DEvELOPMEnT EXPEnDiTURE 

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Cost           
 At 1 January  73,785   73,785 
 Disposal    (11,100)  - 
 At 31 December   62,685  73,785 
           
 Accumulated amortisation  
 At 1 January   15,471  12,598 
 Charge for the year (Note 7)   2,833  2,873 
 Disposal     (2,453)  - 
 At 31 December   15,851  15,471 
           
 net carrying amount   46,834  58,314

15. PREPAiD LAnD LEASE PAyMEnTS

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 net carrying amount           
 At 1 January   8,152   8,273 
 Amortisation during the year (Note 7)   (121)  (121)
 At 31 December   8,031   8,152 
            
 Analysed as:          
 Short term leasehold land   1,893   1,941 
 Long term leasehold land   6,138   6,211 
       8,031   8,152

         
 At 1 January  73,785   73,785 
 Disposal    (11,100)  - 
 At 31 December   62,685  73,785 
           

 At 1 January   15,471  12,598 
 Charge for the year (Note 7)   2,833  2,873 
 Disposal     (2,453)  - 
 At 31 December   15,851  15,471 
           

   46,834  58,314

 net carrying amount           
 At 1 January   8,152   8,273 
 Amortisation during the year (Note 7)   (121)  (121)
 At 31 December   8,031   8,152 
            
 Analysed as:          
 Short term leasehold land   1,893   1,941 
 Long term leasehold land   6,138   6,211 
       8,031   8,152
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16. COnCESSiOn RighTS

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Cost           
 At 1 January   1,336,228   1,308,350 
 Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (Note 13)   4,170   27,878 
 Additions (Note 39)   603,164   - 
 At 31 December   1,943,562  1,336,228 
            
 Accumulated amortisation           
 At 1 January   148,451  116,296 
 Charge for the year (Note 7)   36,667  32,155 
 At 31 December   185,118  148,451 
            

net carrying amount   1,758,444  1,187,777

           
 At 1 January   1,336,228   1,308,350 
 Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (Note 13)   4,170   27,878 
 Additions (Note 39)   603,164   - 
 At 31 December   1,943,562  1,336,228 
            
 Accumulated amortisation           
 At 1 January   148,451  116,296 
 Charge for the year (Note 7)   36,667  32,155 
 At 31 December   185,118  148,451 
            

   1,758,444  1,187,777
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES

  Company  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Unquoted shares at cost  1,787,716  1,807,607 
 Less: Accumulated impairment losses   (10,456)  (20,347)
       1,777,260  1,787,260

 Details of the subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in Malaysia (except for Malaysia Airports (Mauritius) Pte Ltd and 
 MAHB (Mauritius) Pte Ltd, both of which are incorporated in Mauritius), are as follows:

Unquoted shares at cost  1,787,716  1,807,607 
 Less: Accumulated impairment losses   (10,456)  (20,347)
       1,777,260  1,787,260

name of
Company

Malaysia Airports
Sdn.Bhd. (230646-U)

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM

360,113,847

Principal Activities

Management, operations and 
maintenance of designated 
airports and provision of airport 
related services in Malaysia 
other than K. L. International 
Airport (“KLIA”).  
 

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %

 100 100

Malaysia Airports   50,000,002  100   100  Management, operations,     
(Sepang) Sdn. Bhd.       maintenance and future   
(320480-D)     development of KLIA and
        Low Cost Carrier Terminal  
        (“LCCT”) in Sepang and
        provision of airport related
        services. 
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 
 Malaysia Airports  5,000,002  100  100  Operating duty free, non-   
    (Niaga) Sdn. Bhd.    duty free outlets and    
    (281310-V)    providing management    
        services in respect of     
        food and beverage    
        outlets at airports.   
            
  Malaysia Airports  500,002  100   100  Provision of maintenance   
 Consultancy Services    and technical services in   
 Sdn. Bhd.     connection with the   
 (formerly known as    airport industry.    
 Malaysia Airports             
 Management & Technical             
 Services Sdn. Bhd.)            
 (375245-X)          
          
 Malaysia Airports   2   100   100  Provision of non passenger 
 (Properties) Sdn. Bhd.     related services which 
    (484656-H)    involves property management 
        and establishing fixed asset  
        requirements. 

 MAB Agriculture- 10,000,000   100   100  Cultivation and selling of  
 Horticulture Sdn. Bhd.    oil palm and other agricultural  
    (467902-D)    products, and engaging in 
        horticulture activities.

name of
Company

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM Principal Activities

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 K.L. Airport Hotel  10,900,000   100   100 Owner of the hotel known    
 Sdn. Bhd. (330863-D)    as The Pan Pacific Hotel KLIA.  
            
 Malaysia Airports   1,150,002  100  100 Operations and maintenance     
 Technologies Sdn. Bhd.     services and undertaking   
 (512262-H)    Information and Communication    
        Technology business ventures. 
          
 Sepang International  ^  10,000,000  -  100 Management and operations  
 Circuit Sdn. Bhd.    of Sepang F1 Circuit and  
 (457149-T)    organisation and promotion  
           of motor sports and
        entertainment events. 
          
 Asia Pacific Auction *  10,556,000  100  100  Management and operations  
 Centre Sdn. Bhd.    of an auction centre. The  
 (488190-H)    Company  has ceased operations
        during the year. 

 NECC Sdn. Bhd. ^  10,000,000   -   100  Undertaking the proposed  
 (521231-V)    development of the National 
        Exhibition and Convention
        Centre at Subang. The activities 
        of the Company have been
        suspended since 2001. 
          

name of
Company

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM Principal Activities

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 Cargo One *  2  100  100 Involved in the business of    
 Restaurant &     restaurant operations.     
 Lounge Sdn. Bhd.    The Company has ceased    
 (528261-V)    operations since 2001.   
            
 Malaysia Airports  @  USD1,000  100  100 Investment holding.   
 (Mauritius) Pte Ltd       

 MAHB (Mauritius)  @  USD2   100  100 Investment holding   
 Pte Ltd     management.   
            
 Asia Pacific Auction *  2,000   100  95 Involved in the auction of    
    Sales Sdn. Bhd.    general machineries.     
    (523300-X)    The Company has ceased    
           operations since 2001.   
            
 Asia Pacific Machinery *  2,000  100  51 Involved in the auction of    
 Auctions Sdn. Bhd.    light and heavy    
    (503068-D)    machineries. The Company   
           has ceased operations  
        since 2001.           

name of
Company

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM Principal Activities

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 Malaysia Motor Auctions *  2,000  100  51 Involved in the auction of  
    Sdn. Bhd. (500189-H)    general motor vehicles.  
           The Company has ceased  
        operations since 2001. 
          
 Beans Around The World * 2  100  100 Provide services in respect  
    Coffee Shop Sdn. Bhd.    of sale of beverages.   
    (528250-P)    The Company has ceased  
           operations since 2001. 
          
 Eraman (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.  2  100   100  Dormant. Intended principal  
  (324329-K)    activity is general trading. 
             
 Malaysia International  2  100  100 Planning, management   
 Aerospace Centre Sdn. Bhd.    and marketing for the 
 (438244-H)    development of Malaysia   
        International Aerospace   
        Centre at Sultan Abdul 
        Aziz Shah Airport and other  
        airports in Malaysia.   
            
 Airport Ventures Sdn. Bhd.    2  100  100 Investment holding.   
 (512527-U)                 

name of
Company

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM Principal Activities

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 Malaysia Airports MSC 500,000 100 100 Dormant. Intended pricipal
 Sdn. Bhd.    activities are to provide
 (Formerly known as    internet services,
 KLIA.Com Sdn. Bhd.)    development and
 (516854-V)    incubation of electronic
        commerce, and to acquire,
        manage, lease, establish,
        equip, maintain and
        operate radio wireless,
        close circuit television and
        television telecast.

 Malaysia Airports USD 1,000 100 100 Invesment holding
 Management &    management.
 Technical Services
 (Labuan) Pte Ltd
 (LL05298)

 Urusan Teknologi 750,000 75 75 Provision of mechanical,
 Wawasan Sdn. Bhd.    electrical and civil
 (459878-D)    engineering services at
        KLIA in Sepang.

 Airport Automotive 100 38 38 Operations of automotive
 Workshop Sdn. Bhd.    vehicle workshop.
 (808167-P)
 
 ^ Subsidiaries disposed of during the financial year           
 * Subsidiaries under member’s voluntary winding-up as at 31 December 2009 and classified as discontinued operations           
 @ Audited by a member firm of Ernst & Young Global                            

name of
Company

issued and 
Paid-up
capital

RM Principal Activities

Effective
interest held

 2009 2008
 % %
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)

 (1) Disposals of subsidiaries

  Pursuant to the restructuring arrangement with the GoM, the Company disposed of:

  (i) its 100% equity interest in NECC Sdn. Bhd. (“NECC”) to the Minister of Finance (Incorporated)(“Minister of Finance”),  
   a corporate body formed under the Minister of Finance (Incorporation) Act, 1957, for sale consideration of  
   RM159,632,122 to be satisfied via offset against part of the Residual Payment (“Proposed NECC Disposal”); and

  (ii) its 100% equity interest in Sepang International Circuit Sdn. Bhd. (“SIC”) to the Minister of Finance for cash  
   consideration of RM1.

  Co-terminous with the sale of SIC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. (“MASB”) granted an  
  option to the Minister of Finance to require MASB to sell the Sepang International Formula One Circuit (“Circuit”)  
  (“Proposed SIC Disposal”) to the Minister of Finance (“Call Option”). The Call Option is exercisable within ten (10)  
  years from the date the agreement in relation to the Proposed SIC Disposal is executed (“Call Option Period”).  If the  
  Call Option is not exercised by the end of the Call Option Period, it shall be deemed exercised on the last date of the  
  Call Option Period. No effect of the Call Option had been taken into account in the financial statements. 

  The disposals of subsidiaries in the current year were in respect of NECC and SIC and the cash inflows resulted from  
  the disposals were as follows:           
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17. invESTMEnTS in SUBSiDiARiES (Contd.)
 (1) Disposals of subsidiaries (contd.)

         2009 
         RM’000 
          
  Property, plant and equipment     167,714 
  Inventories     595 
  Trade and other receivables     115,796 
  Cash and bank balances     38,609 
  Trade and other payables     (169,786)
  Retirement benefits (Note 28)     (179)
  Tax recoverable     36 
  Net assets disposed     152,785 
  Total disposal proceeds     159,632 
  Gain on disposals to the Group (Note 7)     6,847 
          
  Disposals proceeds settled by:          
  Other than cash (Note 39)     159,632 
          
  Cash outflow arising on disposal:          
  Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries disposed of     (38,609)
  Net cash outflow to the Group     (38,609)  
        

          
  Property, plant and equipment     167,714 
  Inventories     595 
  Trade and other receivables     115,796 
  Cash and bank balances     38,609 
  Trade and other payables     (169,786)
  Retirement benefits (Note 28)     (179)
  Tax recoverable     36 
  Net assets disposed     152,785 
  Total disposal proceeds     159,632 
  Gain on disposals to the Group (Note 7)     6,847 
          
  Disposals proceeds settled by:          
  Other than cash (Note 39)     159,632 
          
  Cash outflow arising on disposal:          
  Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries disposed of     (38,609)
  Net cash outflow to the Group     (38,609)  
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18. invESTMEnTS in ASSOCiATES

 group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

Unquoted shares at cost:           
    - outside Malaysia  114,040  35,150  114,040  25,287 
  - in Malaysia 600  600  -  - 
      114,640   35,750  114,040  25,287 
 Share of post-acquisition reserve  19,094  16,913  -   - 
      133,734   52,663  114,040  25,287 
           
 Analysed as:           
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
 At 1 January   35,750  10,463  25,287  - 
 Acquisition during the year  22  25,287   22 25,287 
 Additional capital contribution  88,731   -  88,731  - 
 Redemption of preference shares by associate  (9,863)  -  -  - 
 At 31 December 114,640  35,750  114,040  25,287 
           
 Share of post-acquisition reserve:       
 At 1 January   16,913  14,975  -  - 
 Share of profit  2,631  2,388  -  - 
 Dividend received  (450)  (450)  -  - 
 At 31 December  19,094  16,913  -  -

 Investment in an associate with carrying amount of RM22,000 was pledged to financial institutions for credit facilities granted 
 to the associate.

Unquoted shares at cost:           
    - outside Malaysia  114,040  35,150  114,040  25,287 
  - in Malaysia 600  600  -  - 
      114,640   35,750  114,040  25,287 
 Share of post-acquisition reserve  19,094  16,913  -   - 
      133,734   52,663  114,040  25,287 

  - in Malaysia 600  600  -  - 

           
 Analysed as:           
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
 At 1 January   35,750  10,463  25,287  - 
 Acquisition during the year  22  25,287   22 25,287 
 Additional capital contribution  88,731   -  88,731  - 
 Redemption of preference shares by associate  (9,863)  -  -  - 
 At 31 December 114,640  35,750  114,040  25,287 
           
 Share of post-acquisition reserve:       
 At 1 January   16,913  14,975  -  - 
 Share of profit  2,631  2,388  -  - 
 Dividend received  (450)  (450)  -  - 
 At 31 December  19,094  16,913  -  -

Unquoted shares at cost:           
    - outside Malaysia  114,040  35,150  114,040  25,287 
  - in Malaysia 600  600  -  - 
      114,640   35,750  114,040  25,287 
 Share of post-acquisition reserve  19,094  16,913  -   - 
      133,734   52,663  114,040  25,287 

  - in Malaysia 600  600  -  - 

           
 Analysed as:           
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
 At 1 January   35,750  10,463  25,287  - 
 Acquisition during the year  22  25,287   22 25,287 
 Additional capital contribution  88,731   -  88,731  - 
 Redemption of preference shares by associate  (9,863)  -  -  - 
 At 31 December 114,640  35,750  114,040  25,287 
           
 Share of post-acquisition reserve:       
 At 1 January   16,913  14,975  -  - 
 Share of profit  2,631  2,388  -  - 
 Dividend received  (450)  (450)  -  - 
 At 31 December  19,094  16,913  -  -
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18. invESTMEnTS in ASSOCiATES (Contd.)

 Details of the associates are as follows:

     Effective       
    issued and   interest held       
 name of Country of   Paid-up   2009  2008 financial Principal 
 Associate  incorporation  Capital   %   %   year End  Activities

 held by the Company:             

 Istanbul Sabiha Turkey     114,840,000  20  20  31 December Operation, 
 Gokcen      management  
    International      and development 
    Investment        Airport and provision 
    Development      of airport related 
    and  Operation Inc *        services

 LGM Turkey     23,145 20   -  31 December Provision of 
 Airport        management services 
 Operations Trade      in respect of
 and Tourism Inc       transportation, parking,
         food and beverages,
          cleaning at the airport
         and construction of
         hotel and car park
         within the airport. 

 Kuala Lumpur  Malaysia  RM3,000,000   20  20  31 March  Development,  
 Aviation Fuelling      management and 
    System Sdn.Bhd.         operations of aviation 
 (KAF) **      fuelling system at KLIA.

 *  In the prior year, the Company entered into an agreement with several parties as disclosed in Note 35(c) to form a Joint  
   Venture Company for the development of the Sabiha Gokcen International Airport in Istanbul, Turkey.

 ** KAF has a financial year end of 31 March 2009 to conform with its holding company’s financial year end. The financial  
  statements of the associate for the 9 month interim period ended 31 December 2009 have been used for the purpose of  
  applying the equity method of accounting.
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18. invESTMEnTS in ASSOCiATES (Contd.)

 The summarised financial statements of the associates are as follows: 

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Assets and liabilities             
 Current assets   428,506  350,756 
 Non-current assets   6,339,194  4,599,409 
 Total assets    6,767,700  4,950,165 
              
 Current liabilities   (155,616)  (153,106)
 Non-current liabilities   (5,939,385)  (4,561,726)
 Total liabilities   (6,095,001)  (4,714,832)
              
 Results             
 Revenue     666,315  505,694 
 Profit for the year   13,155  11,495            

 Assets and liabilities             
 Current assets   428,506  350,756 
 Non-current assets   6,339,194  4,599,409 
 Total assets    6,767,700  4,950,165 
              
 Current liabilities   (155,616)  (153,106)
 Non-current liabilities   (5,939,385)  (4,561,726)
 Total liabilities   (6,095,001)  (4,714,832)
              
 Results             
 Revenue     666,315  505,694 
 Profit for the year   13,155  11,495             Profit for the year   13,155  11,495            
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19. invESTMEnT in A JOinTLy COnTROLLED EnTiTy

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Investment in a jointly controlled entity   100   -

 On 13 February 2009, the Company entered into a Consortium Agreement with KLIA Consultancy Services Sdn. Bhd. 
 (“KLIACS”) for airport industry related services rendered or to be rendered including the construction of new airport terminal 
 buildings and its complimentaries, hotels, hypermarkets and other constructions (“Works”). KLIACS and the Company have 
 agreed to form an unincorporated consortium (“KLIACS-MAMTS Consortium”) for the sole purpose of carrying out the 
 Works. KLIACS and the Company participation in the KLIACS-MAMTS Consortium will be in the agreed proportion of 51% 
 and 49% respectively.

 The jointly controlled entity has not commenced operations and therefore no share of results were recognised during the 
 financial year.

 Investment in a jointly controlled entity   100   -
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20. OThER invESTMEnTS

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Bonds and medium-term notes in Malaysia           
  - net of amortisation of premium             
   of RM4,924,000 (2008: RM4,764,000) 15,831 20,913  -  - 
           
 Quoted unit trust in Malaysia 5,901 4,901 - -
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
  - in Malaysia  50,180   52,445  34,925  33,581 
  - outside Malaysia  230,129  233,324  -  2,836 
    286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417 
 Total other investments  302,041  311,583  34,925  36,417 
          
 Market value of :
  - unit trust 6,013 4,901 - -
  - bonds and medium-term notes 15,831  22,555  -  -

 Movement in unquoted shares are as follows:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

At 1 January 290,670  91,031  36,417  56,814 
 Additions  2,344  200,786  1,344  1,489 
 Redemption of preference shares  (3,609)  -  -  - 
 Disposal  -  -  (2,836)  (21,886)
 Foreign currency translation (3,195)  (1,147)  -  - 
 At 31 December   286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417

 Unquoted shares of RM106,881,000 (2008: RM108,726,000) and RM Nil (2008: RM1,954,000) respectively for the Group and 
 the Company are pledged as security in respect of certain agreement entered into by the Group and the Company. 

 Bonds and medium-term notes in Malaysia           
  - net of amortisation of premium             
   of RM4,924,000 (2008: RM4,764,000) 15,831 20,913  -  - 
           
 Quoted unit trust in Malaysia 5,901 4,901 - -
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
  - in Malaysia  50,180   52,445  34,925  33,581 
  - outside Malaysia  230,129  233,324  -  2,836 
    286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417 
 Total other investments  302,041  311,583  34,925  36,417 
          

  - unit trust 6,013 4,901 - -
  - bonds and medium-term notes 15,831  22,555  -  -

 Bonds and medium-term notes in Malaysia           
  - net of amortisation of premium             
   of RM4,924,000 (2008: RM4,764,000) 15,831 20,913  -  - 
           
 Quoted unit trust in Malaysia 5,901 4,901 - -
 Unquoted shares at cost:           
  - in Malaysia  50,180   52,445  34,925  33,581 
  - outside Malaysia  230,129  233,324  -  2,836 
    286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417 
 Total other investments  302,041  311,583  34,925  36,417 
          

  - unit trust 6,013 4,901 - -
  - bonds and medium-term notes 15,831  22,555  -  -

At 1 January 290,670  91,031  36,417  56,814 
 Additions  2,344  200,786  1,344  1,489 
 Redemption of preference shares  (3,609)  -  -  - 
 Disposal  -  -  (2,836)  (21,886)
 Foreign currency translation (3,195)  (1,147)  -  - 
 At 31 December   286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417

At 1 January 290,670  91,031  36,417  56,814 
 Additions  2,344  200,786  1,344  1,489 
 Redemption of preference shares  (3,609)  -  -  - 
 Disposal  -  -  (2,836)  (21,886)
 Foreign currency translation (3,195)  (1,147)  -  - 
 At 31 December   286,210  290,670  34,925  36,417
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21. TRADE AnD OThER RECEivABLES

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000
 Current           
  Trade receivables           
  Third parties  310,713  371,169  -  - 
  Accrued revenue  53,969   70,131  -  - 
  Due from former subsidiary  3,366  -  -  - 
     368,048   441,300  -   - 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts           
  Third parties  (51,705)  (48,641)  -  - 
  Trade receivables, net  316,343  392,659  -  - 
           
  Other receivables           
  Amounts due from:           
  Subsidiaries  -  -  1,191,614  413,028 
  Staff loans (Note 22)  3,470   3,224  -  - 
  Deposits  3,260  3,426  9  9 
  Tax recoverable  -  2,283  4,464  1,313 
  Prepayment for event management activities  -  1,009  -  - 
  Amounts recoverable arising from           
   event management activities  -   95,635  -  - 
  Other prepayments  1,994   2,181  95  98 
  Due from GoM  278,195  -  49,119   - 
  Due from former subsidiary  5,410  -  -  - 
   Sundry receivables 27,275  169,066  16,402  140,461 
     319,604   276,824  1,261,703  554,909 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,588)  (1,724)  (8)  (8)
  Other receivables, net  318,016  275,100  1,261,695  554,901 
  Total   634,359  667,759  1,261,695  554,901 
           
 non-current           
  Trade receivables           
  Third parties  19,993  20,501  -  -
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 Current           
           

  Third parties  310,713  371,169  -  - 
  Accrued revenue  53,969   70,131  -  - 
  Due from former subsidiary  3,366  -  -  - 
     368,048   441,300  -   - 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts           
  Third parties  (51,705)  (48,641)  -  - 
  Trade receivables, net  316,343  392,659  -  - 
           

           
  Amounts due from:           
  Subsidiaries  -  -  1,191,614  413,028 
  Staff loans (Note 22)  3,470   3,224  -  - 
  Deposits  3,260  3,426  9  9 
  Tax recoverable  -  2,283  4,464  1,313 
  Prepayment for event management activities  -  1,009  -  - 
  Amounts recoverable arising from           
   event management activities  -   95,635  -  - 
  Other prepayments  1,994   2,181  95  98 
  Due from GoM  278,195  -  49,119   - 
  Due from former subsidiary  5,410  -  -  - 
   Sundry receivables 27,275  169,066  16,402  140,461 
     319,604   276,824  1,261,703  554,909 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,588)  (1,724)  (8)  (8)
  Other receivables, net  318,016  275,100  1,261,695  554,901 
  Total   634,359  667,759  1,261,695  554,901 
           
 non-current           

           
  Third parties  19,993  20,501  -  -

 Current           
           

  Third parties  310,713  371,169  -  - 
  Accrued revenue  53,969   70,131  -  - 
  Due from former subsidiary  3,366  -  -  - 
     368,048   441,300  -   - 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts           
  Third parties  (51,705)  (48,641)  -  - 
  Trade receivables, net  316,343  392,659  -  - 
           

           
  Amounts due from:           
  Subsidiaries  -  -  1,191,614  413,028 
  Staff loans (Note 22)  3,470   3,224  -  - 
  Deposits  3,260  3,426  9  9 
  Tax recoverable  -  2,283  4,464  1,313 
  Prepayment for event management activities  -  1,009  -  - 
  Amounts recoverable arising from           
   event management activities  -   95,635  -  - 
  Other prepayments  1,994   2,181  95  98 
  Due from GoM  278,195  -  49,119   - 
  Due from former subsidiary  5,410  -  -  - 
   Sundry receivables 27,275  169,066  16,402  140,461 
     319,604   276,824  1,261,703  554,909 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,588)  (1,724)  (8)  (8)
  Other receivables, net  318,016  275,100  1,261,695  554,901 
  Total   634,359  667,759  1,261,695  554,901 
           
 non-current           

           
  Third parties  19,993  20,501  -  -
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21. TRADE AnD OThER RECEivABLES (Contd.)

 The movements in provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000
  

At beginning of year  50,365  108,244  8  8 
 Continuing operations:           
  Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts 5,153  (38,165)  -  - 
  Written off  (3)  (19,883)  -  - 
 Discontinued operations  (2,222)  169  -  - 
 At end of year  53,293  50,365  8  8 

  (a) Credit risk

    The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its trade receivables. The Group’s trading terms with its 
    customers are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally for a period of one month, extending up to three 
    months for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict 
    control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue 
   balances are reviewed regularly by senior management and bears interest at 1% per month on overdue balances. 
   As at balance sheet date, the concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding balances is mainly due to four 
   (2008: five) customers representing approximately 24% (2008: 53%) of the total trade receivables.

  (b)  Amounts due from subsidiaries (Current)

   Amounts due from subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand. All related parties 
   receivables are unsecured and are to be settled in cash. Included in amounts due from subsidiaries is RM507,889,908 
   paid by the Company to GoM on behalf of its subsidiary as disclosed in Note 39.

  (c) Trade receivables (non-current)

   The Group had previously negotiated with several debtors to extend the settlement of outstanding debts by 
   entering into debts settlement agreements. The non-current amounts consist of overdue balances of these 
   debtors with the term of settlements ranging from 1 to 6 years. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, 
   unsecured and are to be repaid by cash settlement.

At beginning of year  50,365  108,244  8  8 
 Continuing operations:           
  Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts 5,153  (38,165)  -  - 
  Written off  (3)  (19,883)  -  - 
 Discontinued operations  (2,222)  169  -  - 
 At end of year  53,293  50,365  8  8 

At beginning of year  50,365  108,244  8  8 
 Continuing operations:           
  Provision for/(writeback of) doubtful debts 5,153  (38,165)  -  - 
  Written off  (3)  (19,883)  -  - 
 Discontinued operations  (2,222)  169  -  - 
 At end of year  53,293  50,365  8  8 
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21. TRADE AnD OThER RECEivABLES (Contd.)

 (d) Other receivables

  Included within other receivables of the Group in the prior year was an amount of RM248,737,000 relating to matters in 
  connection with the restructuring agreement with the GoM as disclosed in Note 39.

 (e) Due from goM

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

  Debts assumed from former subsidiary  121,200  -  49,119  - 
  MARCS (Note 2.2 (r)(iv))  91,728  -   -   - 
  Airlines incentive  65,267  -  -  - 
    278,195  -  49,119  -

  Amounts due from GoM are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

 (f) Due from former subsidiary

  The past due debts are recoverable pursuant to the restructuring arrangement as disclosed in Note 39.

  Other information on financial risks of other receivables are disclosed in Note 40.         

Debts assumed from former subsidiary  121,200  -  49,119  - 
  MARCS (Note 2.2 (r)(iv))  91,728  -   -   - 
  Airlines incentive  65,267  -  -  - 
    278,195  -  49,119  -

Debts assumed from former subsidiary  121,200  -  49,119  - 
  MARCS (Note 2.2 (r)(iv))  91,728  -   -   - 
  Airlines incentive  65,267  -  -  - 
    278,195  -  49,119  -



22. STAff LOAnS

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 Staff loans    36,006  34,727 
 Less: Current (Note 21)   (3,470)  (3,224)
 Non-current portion   32,536  31,503 
           
 Analysed as:      
  Current    3,470  3,224 
  Non-current:           
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years    3,336  3,209 
   Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years    8,977  8,835 
   Later than 5 years    20,223  19,459 
       32,536  31,503 
       36,006  34,727

 The staff loans attract interest rate at 4% (2008: 4%) per annum.

23. DEfERRED TAX (ASSESTS)/LiABiLiTiES

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 At 1 January  44,301 22,260 (1,445) (3,123)
 Recognised in income statement (Note 9) (211) 22,041 325 1,678 
 At 31 December  44,090 44,301 (1,120) (1,445)
           
 Presented after offsetting as follows:           
 Deferred tax assets (3,635)  (3,616)  (2,384)  (2,316)
 Deferred tax liabilities 47,725  47,917  1,264  871 
    44,090   44,301   (1,120)  (1,445)
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 Staff loans    36,006  34,727 
 Less: Current (Note 21)   (3,470)  (3,224)
 Non-current portion   32,536  31,503 
           
 Analysed as:      
  Current    3,470  3,224 
  Non-current:           
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years    3,336  3,209 
   Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years    8,977  8,835 
   Later than 5 years    20,223  19,459 
       32,536  31,503 
       36,006  34,727

 At 1 January  44,301 22,260 (1,445) (3,123)
 Recognised in income statement (Note 9) (211) 22,041 325 1,678 
 At 31 December  44,090 44,301 (1,120) (1,445)
           
 Presented after offsetting as follows:           
 Deferred tax assets (3,635)  (3,616)  (2,384)  (2,316)
 Deferred tax liabilities 47,725  47,917  1,264  871 
    44,090   44,301   (1,120)  (1,445)

 At 1 January  44,301 22,260 (1,445) (3,123)
 Recognised in income statement (Note 9) (211) 22,041 325 1,678 
 At 31 December  44,090 44,301 (1,120) (1,445)
           
 Presented after offsetting as follows:           
 Deferred tax assets (3,635)  (3,616)  (2,384)  (2,316)
 Deferred tax liabilities 47,725  47,917  1,264  871 
    44,090   44,301   (1,120)  (1,445)
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23. DEfERRED TAX (ASSESTS)/LiABiLiTiES (Contd.)

 The component and movement of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year are as follows:

 Deferred tax liabilities of the group :

   Property, 
   plant and equipment   
   RM’000 

 At 1 January 2009  81,565 
 Recognised in the income statement  2,270 
 Disposal of subsidiary  (735)
 At 31 December 2009  83,100 
 Less: Offset against deferred tax assets  (35,375)
   47,725 

 At 1 January 2008  78,249 
 Recognised in the income statement  6,584 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  (3,268)
 At 31 December 2008  81,565 
 Less: Offset against deferred tax assets  (33,648)
   47,917
 Deferred tax assests of the group:

    Unutilised         
     tax losses         
     and         
     unabsorbed         
     capital     Retirement     
     allowances    Receivables   benefi ts  Payables  Total 
     RM’000   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
           
  At 1 January 2009   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,2 4)
  Recognised in the income            
  statement  2,426   (1,485)  1)  (3,421)  (2,4 1)
  Disposal of subsidiary  519  -  44  172   735 
 At 31 December 2009   (1,877   (10,412)   13,753    (12,968)  (39,0 0)
 Less: Offset against deferred             
  tax liabilities       35,37  
         (3,6 5)

 At 1 January 2009  81,565 
 Recognised in the income statement  2,270 
 Disposal of subsidiary  (735)
 At 31 December 2009  83,100 
 Less: Offset against deferred tax assets  (35,375)
   47,725 

 At 1 January 2008  78,249 
 Recognised in the income statement  6,584 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  (3,268)
 At 31 December 2008  81,565 
 Less: Offset against deferred tax assets  (33,648)
   47,917

           
  At 1 January 2009   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)
  Recognised in the income            
  statement  2,426   (1,485)  (1)  (3,421)  (2,481)
  D sposal of subsidiary  519  -  44  172   735 
 At 31 December 2009   (1,877)  10,412    (13,753)   12,968   (39,010)

           
  At 1 January 2009   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)
  Recognised in the income            
  statement  2,426   (1,485)  (1)  (3,421)  (2,481)
  D sposal of subsidiary  519  -  44  172   735 
 At 31 December 2009   (1,877)  10,412    (13,753)   12,968   (39,010)

           
  At 1 January 2009   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)
  Recognised in the income            
  statement  2,426   (1,485)  (1)  (3,421)  (2,481)
  D sposal of subsidiary  519  -  44  172   735 
 At 31 December 2009   (1,877)  10,412    (13,753)   12,968   (39,010)
 Less: Offset against deferred             
  tax liabilities       35,375 
         (3,635)
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23. DEfERRED TAX (ASSESTS)/LiABiLiTiES (Contd.)

 Deferred tax assests of the group (contd.):

   Unutilised         
    tax losses         
    and         
    unabsorbed         
    capital     Retirement     
    allowances    Receivables   benefits  Payables  Total 
    RM’000   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
           
 At 1 January 2008   (15,272)  (13,947) (14,808)  (11,962)  (55 989)
  Recognised in the            
  income statement   10,257   4,663   460   1,803   17,183 
  Deferred tax recognised at             
  reduced tax rate   193   357   552   440   1,542 
  At 31 December 2008   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37 264)
  Less: Offset against deferred             
  tax liabilities       33,648 
         3 616)

 Deferred tax liabilities of the Company:

   Property, 
   plant and 
   equipment 
   RM’000
           
  At 1 January 2009   871 
  Recognised in the income statement   393 
  At 31 December 2009   1,264 
           
  At  ry     
  R     te     
  D ed  c n e   c      
  At   8   

 At 1 January 2008   (15,272)  (13,947) (14,808)  (11,962)  (55,989)
  Recognised in the            
  income statement   10,257   4,663   460   1,803   17,183 
  Deferred tax recognised at             
  reduced tax rate   193   357   552   440   1,542 
  At 31 December 2008   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)

 At 1 January 2008   (15,272)  (13,947) (14,808)  (11,962)  (55,989)
  Recognised in the            
  income statement   10,257   4,663   460   1,803   17,183 
  Deferred tax recognised at             
  reduced tax rate   193   357   552   440   1,542 
  At 31 December 2008   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)

 At 1 January 2008   (15,272)  (13,947) (14,808)  (11,962)  (55,989)
  Recognised in the            
  income statement   10,257   4,663   460   1,803   17,183 
  Deferred tax recognised at             
  reduced tax rate   193   357   552   440   1,542 
  At 31 December 2008   (4,822)  (8,927)  (13,796)  (9,719)  (37,264)
  Less: Offset against deferred             
  tax liabil ties       33,648 
         (3,616)

  At 1 January 2009   871 
  Recognised in the income statement   393 
  At 31 December 2009   1,264 
           
  At  ry    574 
  R     tem    332 
  D ed  c n e   c      (35)
  At   8   871



MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD / 285

23. DEfERRED TAX (ASSESTS)/LiABiLiTiES (Contd.)

 Deffered tax assests of the Company:

   Retirement     
    benefits  Payables  Total 
    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
           
 At 1 January 2009  (769)  (1,547)  (2,316)
 Recognised in the income statement  54  (122)  (68)
 At 31 December 2009  (715)   (1,669)   (2,384)
           
 At 1 January 2008  (819)  (2,878)  (3,697)
 Recognised in the income statement  19  1,267  1,286 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  31  64  95 
 At 31 December 2008  (769)   (1,547)   (2,316)

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Unutilised tax losses  2,990  2,091  -  - 
 Unabsorbed capital allowances  19  -  -  - 
 Other deductible temporary differences  9  52,000  -   - 
     3,018  54,091  -  -

 The availability of the unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for offsetting against future taxable profits 
 of the respective subsidiaries of the Group are subject to no substantial changes in shareholdings of those subsidiaries 
 under Section 44(5A) and (5B) of Income Tax Act, 1967.

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised where it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
 which the subsidiaries can utilise the benefits.

           
 At 1 January 2009  (769)  (1,547)  (2,316)
 Recognised in the income statement  54  (122)  (68)
 At 31 December 2009  (715)   (1,669)   (2,384)
           
 At 1 January 2008  (819)  (2,878)  (3,697)
 Recognised in the income statement  19  1,267  1,286 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  31  64  95 
 At 31 December 2008  (769)   (1,547)   (2,316)

 Unutilised tax losses  2,990  2,091  -  - 
 Unabsorbed capital allowances  19  -  -  - 
 Other deductible temporary differences  9  52,000  -   - 
     3,018  54,091  -  -

 Unutilised tax losses  2,990  2,091  -  - 
 Unabsorbed capital allowances  19  -  -  - 
 Other deductible temporary differences  9  52,000  -   - 
     3,018  54,091  -  -

           
 At 1 January 2009  (769)  (1,547)  (2,316)
 Recognised in the income statement  54  (122)  (68)
 At 31 December 2009  (715)   (1,669)   (2,384)
           
 At 1 January 2008  (819)  (2,878)  (3,697)
 Recognised in the income statement  19  1,267  1,286 
 Deferred tax recognised at reduced tax rate  31  64  95 
 At 31 December 2008  (769)   (1,547)   (2,316)
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24. invEnTORiES

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Cost       
 Spares and consumables  14,526   16,755  339  308 
 Merchandise goods  45,398  41,135   -  - 
 Food and beverages  516  210  -  - 
    60,440  58,100  339  308

25. CASh AnD CASh EqUivALEnTS

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Cash on hand and at banks  113,743   79,505  15,999  4,310 
 Deposits with:           
  Licensed banks  31,460   220,215   12,292  92,343 
  Licensed finance companies  -   122,985  -  38,874 
 Money on call with licensed banks  123,083  254,582  -   165,880 
 Cash and bank balances  268,286   677,287  28,291  301,407

 Other information on financial risks of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 40.

 Included in deposits of the Group and of the Company is fixed deposits of RM6,000,000 (2008 : RM Nil) place under lien          
 for revolving credit facility granted to the Group and Company.

 Cash on hand and at banks  113,743   79,505  15,999  4,310 
 Deposits with:           
  Licensed banks  31,460   220,215   12,292  92,343 
  Licensed finance companies  -   122,985  -  38,874 
 Money on call with licensed banks  123,083  254,582  -   165,880 
 Cash and bank balances  268,286   677,287  28,291  301,407

 Cash on hand and at banks  113,743   79,505  15,999  4,310 
 Deposits with:           
  Licensed banks  31,460   220,215   12,292  92,343 
  Licensed finance companies  -   122,985  -  38,874 
 Money on call with licensed banks  123,083  254,582  -   165,880 
 Cash and bank balances  268,286   677,287  28,291  301,407

 Cost       
 Spares and consumables  14,526   16,755  339  308 
 Merchandise goods  45,398  41,135   -  - 
 Food and beverages  516  210  -  - 
    60,440  58,100  339  308

 Cost       
 Spares and consumables  14,526   16,755  339  308 
 Merchandise goods  45,398  41,135   -  - 
 Food and beverages  516  210  -  - 
    60,440  58,100  339  308
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26. ShARE CAPiTAL

   number of shares       
    of RM1 each  Amount   
    2009 2008 2009   2008 
      RM   RM 
 Authorised:           
 Special Rights Redeemable Preference          
  Share of RM1 each    1    1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each 2,000 000,00    2,000,000,000  2,000 000,00   2,000,000,000 
    2,000 000,00   2,000,000,001  2,000 000,00    2,000,000,001 
           
 issued and fully paid:           
 Special Rights Redeemable Preference           
  Share of RM1 each    1    1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each  1,100 000,00   1,100,000,000  1,100 000,00   1,100,000,000 
    1,100 000,00   1,100,000,001  1,100 000,00   1,100,000,001

 Ordinary shares

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 
 per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

 Special Rights Redeemable Preference Share

 (a) The Special Rights Redeemable Preference Share (“Special Share”) of RM1 enables the GoM, through the Minister 
  of Finance, to ensure that certain major decisions affecting the operations of the Company are consistent with GoM 
  policies.  The Special Shareholder, which may only be the GoM or any representative or person acting on its behalf, 
  is entitled to receive notices of meetings but not entitled to vote at such meetings of the Company.  However, the 
  Special Shareholder is entitled to attend and speak at such meetings.

  The Special Shareholder has the right to appoint any person, but not more than six at any time, to be directors.

 Authorised:           
 Special R ghts Redeemable Preference          
  Share of RM1 each  1  1  1  1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each 2,000,000,000   2,000 000,000  2,000,000,000  2,000,000,000 
    2,000,000,001  2,000 000,001  2,000,000,001   2,000,000,001 
           
 issued and f lly paid:           
 Special R ghts Redeemable Preference           
  Share of RM1 each  1  1  1  1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each  1,100,000,000  1,100 000,000  1,100,000,000  1,100,000,000 
    1,100,000,001  1,100 000,001  1,100,000,001  1,100,000,001

 Authorised:           
 Special R ghts Redeemable Preference          
  Share of RM1 each  1  1  1  1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each 2,000,000,000   2,000 000,000  2,000,000,000  2,000,000,000 
    2,000,000,001  2,000 000,001  2,000,000,001   2,000,000,001 
           
 issued and f lly paid:           
 Special R ghts Redeemable Preference           
  Share of RM1 each  1  1  1  1 
 Ordinary shares of RM1 each  1,100,000,000  1,100 000,000  1,100,000,000  1,100,000,000 
    1,100,000,001  1,100 000,001  1,100,000,001  1,100,000,001
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26. ShARE CAPiTAL (Contd.)

 Special Rights Redeemable Preference Share (contd.)

 (b) The Special Shareholder has the right to require the Company to redeem the Special Share at par at any time by serving  
  written notice upon the Company and delivering the relevant share certificate.

 (c) The Special Shareholder shall be entitled to repayment of the capital paid-up on the Special Share in priority to any  
  repayment of capital to any other member.

 (d) The Special Shareholder does not have any right to participate in the capital or profits of the Company.

 (e) Certain matters which vary the rights attached to the Special Share can only be effective with the written consent of  
  the Special Shareholder, in particular matters relating to the creation and issue of additional shares which carry different  
  voting rights, the dissolution of the Company, substantial disposal of assets, amalgamations, merger and takeover.

27. RETAinED EARningS

 Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopt the full imputation system. In accordance with the Finance  
 Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28 December 2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on dividend paid,  
 credited or distributed to its shareholders and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of the shareholders  
 (“single tier system”). However, there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31 December 2013, to allow companies  
 to pay franked dividends to their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also have an irrevocable option to  
 disregard the Section 108 balance of Malaysian Income Tax Act, 1967 (Section 108 balance) and opt to pay dividends  
 under the single tier system. The change in the tax legislation also provides for the Section 108 balance to be locked-in as  
 at 31 December 2007 in accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007. 

 The Company has not elected for the irrevocable option to disregard the Section 108 balance. Accordingly, during the  
 transitional period, the Company may utilise the credit in the Section 108 balance as at 31 December 2009 to distribute  
 cash dividend payments to ordinary shareholdings as defined under the Finance Act 2007. As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, 
  the Company has sufficient credit in the Section 108 balance to pay franked dividends out of its entire retained earnings.

NOTES TO THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
31 December 2009
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28. RETiREMEnT BEnEfiTS

 The Group operates an unfunded, defined benefit Retirement Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”) for all qualifying staff who  
 have been confirmed in service whereby only employees who have earned in return for their service up to 31 December  
 2004 shall continue to benefit from the Scheme but limited to their qualifying number of years employed up to and  
 equivalent factoring as at 31 December 2009.

 The Group’s obligations under the Scheme is determined based on the latest actuarial valuation by an independent valuer.  
 The existing employees as well as new employees who have earned in return for their service subsequent to 31 December  
 2004 are not eligible for the Scheme but shall be compensated based on the Scheme in the defined contribution plans in  
 note 2.2(o)(ii) above. The value of retirement benefits shall be paid on the attainment of retirement age of 55.

 The Group’s obligations under the Scheme continued to be determined based on triennial actuarial valuation where the  
 amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years is estimated. That  
 benefit is discounted using the Projected Unit Credit Method in order to determine its present value.

 The amount recognised in the balance sheets represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations adjusted for  
 unrecognised transitional obligations or assets. The Group has amortised the unrecognised transitional obligations over a  
 two-year period beginning from the previous financial year.  

 The amounts recognised on the balance sheets are determined as follows: 
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28. RETiREMEnT BEnEfiTS (Contd.)

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations  55,292  56,179  2,860  3,076 
           
 Analysed as:           
  Current (Note 32)  3,712  3,428  403  293 
  Non-current:           
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years  3,884  3,716  382   403 
  Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years  12,596   11,793  1,018  989 
  Later than 5 years  35,100   37,242   1,057  1,391 
    51,580  52,751   2,457  2,783 
    55,292   56,179  2,860  3,076

 The amount recognised in the income statements comprises:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Interest cost           
    - continuing operations   2,698   2,696  216  222 
    - discontinued operations (Note 5)   (2)  (11)  -  - 
    2,696   2,685   216    222

 Interest cost           
    - continuing operations   2,698   2,696  216  222 
    - discontinued operations (Note 5    (2)  (11)  -  - 
    2,696   2,685   216    222

 Interest cost           
    - continuing operations   2,698   2,696  216  222 
    - discontinued operations (Note 5    (2)  (11)  -  - 
    2,696   2,685   216    222

 Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations  55,292  56,179  2,860  3,076 
           
 Analysed as:           
  Current (Note 32)  3,712  3,428  403  293 
  Non-current:           
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years  3,884  3,716  382   403 
  Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years  12,596   11,793  1,018  989 
  Later than 5 years  35,100   37,242   1,057  1,391 
    51,580  52,751   2,457  2,783 
    55,292   56,179  2,860  3,076

 Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations  55,292  56,179  2,860  3,076 
           
 Analysed as:           
  Current (Note 32)  3,712  3,428  403  293 
  Non-current:           
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years  3,884  3,716  382   403 
  Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years  12,596   11,793  1,018  989 
  Later than 5 years  35,100   37,242   1,057  1,391 
    51,580  52,751   2,457  2,783 
    55,292   56,179  2,860  3,076

NOTES TO THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
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28. RETiREMEnT BEnEfiTS (Contd.)

 Movements in the net liability in the current year were as follows:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 At 1 January   56,179  56,990  3,076  3,150 
 Recognised in income statement  2,698  2,696  216  222 
 Contributions paid  (3,406)  (3,507)  (432)  (296)
 Disposal of subsidiary  (179)  -  -   - 
 At 31 December   55,292   56,179   2,860   3,076 

 Principal actuarial assumption used:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000
     % % % %

 Discount rate  5.5  5.5  5.5  5.5

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations is determined by reference to the market yields at 
 the balance sheet date on high quality corporate bonds.

 At 1 January   56,179  56,990  3,076  3,150 
 Recognised in income statement  2,698  2,696  216  222 
 Contributions paid  (3,406)  (3,507)  (432)  (296)
 Disposal of subsidiary  (179)  -  -   - 
 At 31 December   55,292   56,179   2,860   3,076 

 Discount rate  5.5  5.5  5.5  5.5 Discount rate  5.5  5.5  5.5  5.5

 At 1 January   56,179  56,990  3,076  3,150 
 Recognised in income statement  2,698  2,696  216  222 
 Contributions paid  (3,406)  (3,507)  (432)  (296)
 Disposal of subsidiary  (179)  -  -   - 
 At 31 December   55,292   56,179   2,860   3,076 



29. OThER finAnCiAL LiABiLiTy

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 At 1 January    201,961   15,825 
 Issued during the year   -   186,044 
 Foreign currency translation   (2,336)  92 
 At 31 December    199,625  201,961

 Other financial liability is in respect of unsecured debentures issued by a foreign subsidiary comprising 58,370,000 fully paid 
 debenture units of USD1 each. Interest on the debentures are payable upon the realisation of dividends from other 
 investment held by the foreign subsidiary. The debentures have a 10-year period and the debenture holders have the rights 
 to redeem the debentures at the nominal value and the debentures may be converted to ordinary shares issued by the 
 foreign subsidiary.

 At 1 January    201,961   15,825 
 Issued during the year   -   186,044 
 Foreign currency translation   (2,336)  92 
 At 31 December    199,625  201,961

     
  

292 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009

NOTES TO THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
31 December 2009



30. BORROWingS

 group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Short-term borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Fixed rate term loan  250  2,750  250  2,750 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31) -   32  -  - 
    250  2,782  250  2,750 
 Long-term borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,89   -  507,89   - 
  Fixed rate term loan  -   250   -   250 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31)  -  -  -  - 
    507,89   250  507,89   250 
           
 Total borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,89   -  507,89   - 
   a  term n     0        0  
  i  ha   e e     2       
       2    0

 Other information on financial risks of borrowings are disclosed in Note 40.

           
 Unsecured:           
  Fixed rate term loan  250  2,750  250  2,750 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31) -   32  -  - 
    250  2,782  250  2,750 
 Long-term borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,890  -  507,890  - 
  Fixed rate term loan  -   250   -   250 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31)  -  -  -  - 
    507,890  250  507,890  250 
           
 Total borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,890  -  507,890  - 
   a  term n  250   0    250    0  
   ha   e e   -  2   -    
    508,140   2  508,140  0

           
 Unsecured:           
  Fixed rate term loan  250  2,750  250  2,750 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31) -   32  -  - 
    250  2,782  250  2,750 
 Long-term borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,890  -  507,890  - 
  Fixed rate term loan  -   250   -   250 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 31)  -  -  -  - 
    507,890  250  507,890  250 
           
 Total borrowings           
 Unsecured:           
  Revolving loan  507,890  -  507,890  - 
   a  term n  250   0    250    0  
   ha   e e   -  2   -    
    508,140   2  508,140  0
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31. hiRE PURChASE AnD finAnCE LEASE LiABiLiTiES

  group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

 future minimum lease payments:           
 Not later than 1 year   -  33 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years   -  - 
 Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years   -  - 
 Total minimum future lease payments   -  33 
 Less: Future finance charges   -  (1)
 Present value of finance lease liabilities   -  32 
           
 Analysis of present value of finance lease liabilities           
 Not later than 1 year   -  32 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years   -  - 
 Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years   -  - 
      -  32 
 Less: Amount due within 12 months (Note 30)   -  (32)
 Amount due after 12 months (Note 30)   -  -

 The Group had finance leases and hire purchase contracts for motor vehicles (Note 13). These leases had terms of renewal 
 but no purchase options and escalation clauses. Renewals were at the option of the specific entity that held the lease. 
 There were no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases and no arrangements had been entered into 
 for contingent rental payments.

 Other information on financial risks of hire purchase and finance lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 40.

 future minimum lease payments:           
 Not later than 1 year   -  33 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years   -  - 
 Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years   -  - 
 Total minimum future lease payments   -  33 
 Less: Future finance charges   -  (1)
 Present value of finance lease liabilities   -  32 
           
 Analysis of present value of finance lease liabilities           
 Not later than 1 year   -  32 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years   -  - 
 Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years   -  - 
      -  32 
 Less: Amount due within 12 months (Note 30)   -  (32)
 Amount due after 12 months (Note 30)   -  -
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32. TRADE AnD OThER PAyABLES

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

Current           
  Trade payables           
  Third parties  110,197  104,741  -  -

  Other payables           
  Amounts due to subsidiaries  -   -  347,879  158,318 
  Accruals  125,008  94,211  2,407  969 
  Provisions for liabilities  15,592  69,768   1,389   1,408 
  Sundry payables  229,669   191,563   146,081   81,031 
  Due to GoM  110,944   -  -  - 
  Deferred income  4,644  11,803  -   - 
  Dividend payable  12,167  3,607   12,167  3,607 
  Deposits  25,999  23,914   1,141   2,703 
  Retirement benefits (Note 28)  3,712  3,428   403  293 
      527,735  398,294  511,467  248,329 
  Total   637,932   503,035  511,467   248,329

non-current           
  Other payables           
  Deferred income  137,278   131,774   -   - 
  Due to GoM  216,894   -   -   - 
      354,172  131,774   -  -
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32. TRADE AnD OThER PAyABLES (Contd.)

Movements of provisions for liabilities during the year is as follows: 

   Short term       
    accumulating       
    compensated  Lease  Assessment    
    absences  rental   fees   Total 
   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 

 group           
 At 31 December 2009           
 At 1 January 2009  8,064  53,250  8,454  69,768 
 Continuing operations: 
  Additional provision during the year  262   3,060  1,953  5,275 
  Writeback of provision  (577)  (52,000)  -  (52,577)
  Utilised during the year  (17)  (4,310)  (2,439)  (6,766)
 Discontinued operations  (108)  -  -  (108)
 At 31 December 2009  7,624   -    7,968  15,592 
           
 At 31 December 2008           
 At 1 January 2008  6,391   52,000    8,520   66,911 
 Additional provision during the year  1,808   7,300  1,933   11,041 
 Utilised during the year  (135)  (6,050)  (1,999)  (8,184)
 At 31 December 2008  8,064   53,250   8,454    69,768 

 group           
 At 31 December 2009  
 At 1 January 2009  8,064  53,250  8,454  69,768 

  Additional provision during the year  262   3,060  1,953  5,275 
  Writeback of provision  (577)  (52,000)  -  (52,577)
  Utilised during the year  (17)  (4,310)  (2,439)  (6,766)
 Discontinued operations  (108)  -  -  (108)
 At 31 December 2009  7,624   -    7,968  15,592 
           
 At 31 December 2008           
 At 1 January 2008  6,391   52,000    8,520   66,911 
 Additional provision during the year  1,808   7,300  1,933   11,041 
 Utilised during the year  (135)  (6,050)  (1,999)  (8,184)
 At 31 December 2008  8,064   53,250   8,454    69,768 

 group           
         

 At 1 January 2009  8,064  53,250  8,454  69,768 

  Additional provision during the year  262   3,060  1,953  5,275 
  Writeback of provision  (577)  (52,000)  -  (52,577)
  Utilised during the year  (17)  (4,310)  (2,439)  (6,766)
 Discontinued operations  (108)  -  -  (108)
 At 31 December 2009  7,624   -    7,968  15,592 
           
 At 31 December 2008           
 At 1 January 2008  6,391   52,000    8,520   66,911 
 Additional provision during the year  1,808   7,300  1,933   11,041 
 Utilised during the year  (135)  (6,050)  (1,999)  (8,184)
 At 31 December 2008  8,064   53,250   8,454    69,768 
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32. TRADE AnD OThER PAyABLES (Contd.)

     Short term 
      accumulating 
      compensated 
      absences 
      RM’000 
           

Company           
 At 31 December 2009           
 At 1 January 2009  1,408 
 Writeback of provision during the year  (11)
 Utilised during the year  (8)
 At 31 December 2009  1,389 
           

At 31 December 2008        
 At 1 January 2008  1,044 
 Additional provision during the year  368 
 Utilised during the year  (4)
 At 31 December 2008  1,408 

 (a) Trade payables

  Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 30 to 90 
  (2008: 30 to 90) days.

 (b) Amounts due to subsidiaries

  Amounts due to all related parties are non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand. The amounts are unsecured 
  and are to be settled in cash.

 (c) Due to goM

  Amount due to GoM is in respect of user fee payable to the GoM. Details of user fee are disclosed in Notes 7 and 39. The 
  non-current portion of the amount due to GoM is in respect of the estimated amount to be paid after 12 months.

Company           
           

 At 1 January 2009  1,408 
 Writeback of provision during the year  (11)
 Utilised during the year  (8)
 At 31 December 2009  1,389 
           

        
 At 1 January 2008  1,044 
 Additional provision during the year  368 
 Utilised during the year  (4)
 At 31 December 2008  1,408 
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NOTES TO THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
31 December 2009

32. TRADE AnD OThER PAyABLES (Contd.)

 (d) Deferred income

  Deferred income is in respect of funds received from GoM for the purpose of maintenance and upgrading the racing 
  circuit and for the development of Malaysia International Aerospace Centre (“MIAC”). Income is recognised in the 
  period which maintenance expenditure of circuit is incurred and on a systematic and rational basis over the useful life of 
  the depreciation of the racing circuit and MIAC.

    group  
      2009 2008  
      RM’000   RM’000

At 1 January    143,577  15,895 
 Amount received  33,114   132,483 
 Recognised as income (Note 4)   (6,487)  (4,801)
 Realisation   (28,282) -
 At 31 December    141,922   143,577 
           
 Analysed as:          
  Current    4,644   11,803 
  Non-current:          
   Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years    2,877  17,247 
   Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years    8,632  51,742 
   Later than 5 years    125,769   62,785 
       137,278  131,774 
       141,922   143,577

 Other information on financial risks of other payables are disclosed in Note 40.

 The realisation is pursuant to the restructuring agreement.
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33. COnCESSiOn RighTS PAyABLE

 The Government of Malaysia (“GoM”) had in previous years granted an extension of time for the payment of balance of the 
 concession rights fee incurred pursuant to the concession agreement dated 18 October 1999 entered into between the 
 GoM and a subsidiary.

 Pursuant to the restructuring arrangement as disclosed in Note 39, the entire concession rights payable is terminated and 
 is no longer required.

34. OPERATing LEASE ARRAngEMEnTS

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of certain plant and equipment. These 
 leases have an average life of between 3 and 5 years with no renewal or purchase option included in the contracts. There 
 are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases.

 The Group also leases various plant and machinery under cancellable operating lease agreements. The Group is required 
 to give a period of between one to three months notice for the termination of those agreements.

 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for as at the balance 
 sheet date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Future minimum rental payments:           
 Not later than 1 year  14,963  10,734  2,237  1,853 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  23,146  15,994  3,116  2,746 
      38,109  26,728   5,353   4,599
           
           
           

 Future minimum rental payments:           
 Not later than 1 year  14,963  10,734  2,237  1,853 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  23,146  15,994  3,116  2,746 
      38,109  26,728   5,353   4,599

 Future minimum rental payments:           
 Not later than 1 year  14,963  10,734  2,237  1,853 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  23,146  15,994  3,116  2,746 
      38,109  26,728   5,353   4,599
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31 December 2009

35. COMMiTMEnTS

     Due Due year Due year   
      year 2010 2011 to 2014  2015 to 2066   Total 
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 31 December 2009           
 group           
           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
           
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for          
   Subang airport  2,300  9,200   119,600  131,100 
           
  Lease rental payable to the           
   GoM for all airports managed          
   other than Subang  3,750   15,000  71,250   90,000 
  Capital expenditure  67,599   50,000  -   117,599 
      71,349   65,000   71,250   207,599 
     73,649 74,200 190,850 338,699 
       
 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  1,667,384  -   -   1,667,384 
      1,741,033  74,200   190,850   2,006,083

     Due  Due year   Due year   
      year 2010  2011 to 2014  2015 to 2066   Total 
      RM’000  RM’000 RM’000   RM’000 
 31 December 2009           
 Company           
           
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  1,264,059  -  -   1,264,059

 31 December 2009           
 Company           
           
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  1,264,059  -  -   1,264,059

 31 December 2009           
 Company           
           
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  1,264,059  -  -   1,264,059

 31 December 2009           
 group    
           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
           
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for          
   Subang airport  2,300  9,200   119,600  131,100 
           
  Lease rental payable to the           
   GoM for all airports managed          
   other than Subang  3,750   15,000  71,250   90,000 
  Capital expenditure  67,599   50,000  -   117,599 
      71,349   65,000   71,250   207,599 
     73,649 74,200 190,850 338,699 
       
 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  1,667,384  -   -   1,667,384 
      1,741,033  74,200   190,850   2,006,083

 31 December 2009           
       

           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
           
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for          
   Subang airport  2,300  9,200   119,600  131,100 
           
  Lease rental payable to the           
   GoM for all airports managed          
   other than Subang  3,750   15,000  71,250   90,000 
  Capital expenditure  67,599   50,000  -   117,599 
      71,349   65,000   71,250   207,599 
     73,649 74,200 190,850 338,699 

 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  1,667,384  -   -   1,667,384 
      1,741,033  74,200   190,850   2,006,083
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35. COMMiTMEnTS (Contd.)

     Due Due year Due year   
      year 2009 2010 to 2013  2014 to 2066   Total 
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 31 December 2008           
 group           
           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
            
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for           
   Subang Airport  2,300   9,200  121,900  133,400 
            
  Nominal land lease charges payable          
   to the GoM (a) 4,000   16,000   80,000   100,000 
  Capital expenditure  350,276   39,088   -   389,364 
     354,276      55,088  80,000   489,364 
     356,576  64,288   201,900   622,764 
            
 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  272,264   -   -  272,264 
            
 (iii) Other investment:          
  Investment in Delhi International           
   Airport Limited (“DIAL”) (b)  70,310  -   -   70,310 
  Investment in Sabiha Gokcen          
   International Airport Limited (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975   69,212   -  87,187 
     88,285   69,212   -  157,497 
     717,125 133,500 201,900 1,052,525

 31 December 2008           
 group    
           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
            
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for           
   Subang Airport  2,300   9,200  121,900  133,400 
            
  Nominal land lease charges payable          
   to the GoM (a) 4,000   16,000   80,000   100,000 
  Capital expenditure  350,276   39,088   -   389,364 
     354,276      55,088  80,000   489,364 
     356,576  64,288   201,900   622,764 
            
 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  272,264   -   -  272,264 
            
 (iii) Other investment:          
  Investment in Delhi International           
   Airport Limited (“DIAL”) (b)  70,310  -   -   70,310 
  Investment in Sabiha Gokcen          
   International Airport Limited (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975   69,212   -  87,187 
     88,285   69,212   -  157,497 
     717,125 133,500 201,900 1,052,525

 31 December 2008           
       

           
 (i) Approved and contracted for:          
            
  Lease rental payable to the GoM for           
   Subang Airport  2,300   9,200  121,900  133,400 
            
  Nominal land lease charges payable          
   to the GoM (a) 4,000   16,000   80,000   100,000 
  Capital expenditure  350,276   39,088   -   389,364 
     354,276      55,088  80,000   489,364 
     356,576  64,288   201,900   622,764 
            
 (ii) Approved but not contracted for:          
  Capital expenditure  272,264   -   -  272,264 
            
 (iii) Other investment:          
  Investment in Delhi International           
   Airport Limited (“DIAL”) (b)  70,310  -   -   70,310 
  Investment in Sabiha Gokcen          
   International Airport Limited (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975   69,212   -  87,187 
     88,285   69,212   -  157,497 
     717,125 133,500 201,900 1,052,525
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35. COMMiTMEnTS (Contd.)

     Due Due year Due year   
      year 2009 2010 to 2013  2014 to 2066   Total 
      RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 31 December 2008           
 Company           
           
 Investment in Sabiha Gokcen           
  International Airport Limited           
  (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975  69,212  -   87,187 
            
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  90,740  39,088  -   129,828 
      108,715   108,300  -   217,015 

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Analysed as:           
           
 Not later than 1 year  1,741,033   717,125  1,264,059  108,715 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  74,200  133,500   -  108,300 
 Later than 5 years   190,850  201,900   -  - 
      2,006,083   1,052,525   1,264,059   217,015

 (a) In the prior year, lease rental payable to the GoM comprised fixed and variable payment. The lease 
  rental payable under the concession agreement dated 18 October 1999 was in respect of fixed payment, which 
  commenced from RM60 million in year 2004 and increased by 4% in each subsequent year up to the end of the concession 
  period. The variable payment was based on 8% of the total audited revenue of a subsidiary, which was granted the rights in 
  respect of the KLIA Concession, and was payable on an annual basis commencing in year 2004.

  However, pursuant to the restructuring agreement signed with the GoM on 12 February 2009, the concession agreement 
  together with the lease agreement were terminated and accordingly the commitments to the GoM in respect of the fixed 
  lease rental payable as disclosed in prior year were no longer applicable. Salient features of the restructuring arragement 
  are disclosed in Note 39.

 31 December 2008           
 Company    
           
 Investment in Sabiha Gokcen           
  International Airport Limited           
  (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975  69,212  -   87,187 
            
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  90,740  39,088  -   129,828 
      108,715   108,300  -   217,015 

 Analysed as:           
           
 Not later than 1 year  1,741,033   717,125  1,264,059  108,715 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  74,200  133,500   -  108,300 
 Later than 5 years   190,850  201,900   -  - 
      2,006,083   1,052,525   1,264,059   217,015

 Analysed as:           
           
 Not later than 1 year  1,741,033   717,125  1,264,059  108,715 
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  74,200  133,500   -  108,300 
 Later than 5 years   190,850  201,900   -  - 
      2,006,083   1,052,525   1,264,059   217,015

 31 December 2008           
       

           
 Investment in Sabiha Gokcen           
  International Airport Limited           
  (“SGIA”) (c)  17,975  69,212  -   87,187 
            
 Approved but not contracted for:           
 Capital expenditure  90,740  39,088  -   129,828 
      108,715   108,300  -   217,015 
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35. COMMiTMEnTS (Contd.)

 (b) A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Malaysia Airports (Mauritius) Pte Ltd (“MA (Mauritius)”), had entered into a  
  shareholders agreement to acquire a 10% equity interest in Delhi International Airport Limited (“DIAL”) on 4 April  
  2006. DIAL, a company incorporated in India, has been identified for the modernisation and restructuring of the Indira  
  Gandhi International Airport in New Delhi, India. MA (Mauritius) is involved in the airport management project of DIAL and  
  will progressively make cash investments into DIAL up to a maximum of Indian Rs3,450,000,000 (approximately  
  RM269,670,000).

  As at 31 December 2009, MA (Mauritius) has paid up RM199,360,000 (2008: RM199,360,000) as share capital in DIAL and  
  advances which are convertible into shares in DIAL.

 (c) On 19 March 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with GMR Infrastructure Limited (“GMR”) and Limak Insaat  
  Sanayi San Ve Tic A.S Turkey (“LIMAK”) to form a Joint Venture Company (“JVC”) for the development of the Sabiha  
  Gokcen International Airport (“SGIA”) in Istanbul, Turkey. The Company will jointly undertake the airport terminal  
  operations and management of SGIA with GMR & LIMAK and will progressively make cash investments into the JVC for  
  up to Euro 21 million or its 20% equity participation in the JVC whichever is lower.

36. COnTingEnT LiABiLiTiES

 (a) As at 31 December 2009, the Company provided corporate guarantees as follows:

  (i) RM242,100,000 (2008: RM25,552,000) for the purpose of standby equity commitment  to a financial institution for  
   credit facilities granted to Istanbul Sabiha Gokcen International Airport Investment Development and Operation  
   Inc  (“ISG”).         
           
  (ii) RM17,023,810 (2008: RM Nil) for the purpose of standby equity commitment to a  financial institution for credit  
   facilities graned to LGM Airport Operations Trade and   Tourism Inc, a related company of ISG.         
           
  (iii) RM30,000,000 (2008: RM Nil) for advance payment guarantee to a Duty Free Operator at ISG.         
  
 (b) Claims have been submitted by XY Base Sdn. Bhd. in respect of certain alleged breach of contract amounting to  
  RM6,467,000. The directors after consultation with the legal counsel, are of the opinion that there are indeed triable  
  issues in this case which the Group has merits to contest the claims. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the  
  financial statements. 
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37. RELATED PARTy DiSLOSURES

 Compensation of key management personnel

 The remuneration of other members of key management during the year was as follows:

group Company   
     2009 2008  2009   2008 
     RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 Short-term employee benefits 8,159  8,631  6,065  5,428 
 Post-employment benefit:           
  Defined contribution plans  1,436  1,229   1,070   876 
  Defined benefit plan  150  150  150   150 
      9,745  10,010   7,285   6,454

 Remuneration of directors is as disclosed in Note 8.

38. COMPARATivES

 Certain comparative amounts as at 31 December 2008 have been restated. The reclassification of income statement items 
 is in respect of FRS5: Discontinued Operations.

      As previously  Reclassi   
      reported  -fication   As restated 
      RM’000  RM’000   RM’000 
 group           

 Profit and loss           
 Revenue    1,513,089  (78,116)  1,434,973 
 Other income  90,992  (613)  90,379 
 Depreciation and amortisation  (157,041)  2,111  (154,930)
 Employee benefits expense  (327,336)  4,818   (322,518)
 Other expenses  (528,756)  61,559  (467,197)
 Income tax and zakat  (123,407)  155  (123,252)
 Profit for the year from continuing operations  309,030  (10,086)  298,944 
 (Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued           
  operations  (3,209)  10,086  6,877

 Short-term employee benefits 8,159  8,631  6,065  5,428 
 Post-employment benefit:           
  Defined contribution plans  1,436  1,229   1,070   876 
  Defined benefit plan  150  150  150   150 
      9,745  10,010   7,285   6,454

 Short-term employee benefits 8,159  8,631  6,065  5,428 
 Post-employment benefit:           
  Defined contribution plans  1,436  1,229   1,070   876 
  Defined benefit plan  150  150  150   150 
      9,745  10,010   7,285   6,454

 Profit and loss   
 Revenue    1,513,089  (78,116)  1,434,973 
 Other income  90,992  (613)  90,379 
 Depreciation and amortisation  (157,041)  2,111  (154,930)
 Employee benefits expense  (327,336)  4,818   (322,518)
 Other expenses  (528,756)  61,559  (467,197)
 Income tax and zakat  (123,407)  155  (123,252)
 Profit for the year from continuing operations  309,030  (10,086)  298,944 
 (Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued           
  operations  (3,209)  10,086  6,877

        
 Revenue    1,513,089  (78,116)  1,434,973 
 Other income  90,992  (613)  90,379 
 Depreciation and amortisation  (157,041)  2,111  (154,930)
 Employee benefits expense  (327,336)  4,818   (322,518)
 Other expenses  (528,756)  61,559  (467,197)
 Income tax and zakat  (123,407)  155  (123,252)
 Profit for the year from continuing operations  309,030  (10,086)  298,944 
 (Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued           
  operations  (3,209)  10,086  6,877
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39. SignifiCAnT EvEnTS

 (1) On 12 February 2009, the Company had entered into the following arrangement with the GoM:

  (i) an operating agreement with Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. (“MA Sepang”) and the GoM (“Operating  
   Agreement for KLIA”) whereby the GoM and MA Sepang (“the Operator”) have agreed:

   (a)  to restate their respective rights and commitments with respect to the operation, management, maintenance  
     and development of KLIA, and to terminate all prior rights and commitments arising from the concession  
     agreement and lease agreement for KLIA entered into earlier between the GoM and MA Sepang save for  
     rights and commitments expressly excluded in the Operating Agreement for KLIA; 

   (b) to the settlement of Residual Payment owing by MA Sepang to the GoM in a manner that could not significantly  
    deplete the cash reserves of the Group, and that would take into consideration the Group financial resources  
    and business plans; and

   (c) The GoM shall procure the Federal Lands Commissioner (“FLC”) as the registered owners of the Airport Lands  
    (“Lands”), to lease to the Operator these Lands by procuring the execution by FLC of the New Lease  
    Agreement (substantially in the form annexed of the Operating Agreement). The period of the lease under  
    the New Lease Agreement shall be co-terminous with the operating period to the extent that if the Operating  
    Rights are extended pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Operating Agreement or otherwise, the  
    period of such lease shall be accordingly extended on such terms and conditions to be determined by the  
    GoM, the FLC and the Operator for the relevant period.

  (ii) an operating agreement with Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. (“MASB”) and the GoM (“Operating Agreement for  
   the Designated Airports”) whereby the GoM and MASB have agreed to restate the rights and commitments of all  
   parties with respect to the operation, management, maintenance and development of the Designated Airports, and  
   to terminate all prior rights and commitments entered into earlier between the GoM and MASB save for rights and  
   commitments expressly excluded in the Operating Agreement for the Designated Airports;

  The new operating agreements are collectively referred to as the Operating Agreements. Pursuant to the Operating  
  Agreements, the Company also disposed of:

  (i) its 100% equity interest in NECC Sdn. Bhd. (“NECC”) to the Minister of Finance (Incorporated), a corporate body  
   formed under the Minister of Finance (Incorporation) Act, 1957, for sale consideration of RM159,632,122 to be  
   satisfied via set off against part of the Residual Payment (“Proposed NECC Disposal”); and
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39. SignifiCAnT EvEnTS (Contd.)

  (ii) its 100% equity interest in Sepang International Circuit Sdn. Bhd. (“SIC”) to the Minister of Finance for cash  
   consideration of RM1.          
    
 Co-terminous with the sale of SIC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. (“MASB”), granted an option  
 to the Minister of Finance to require MASB to sell the Sepang International Formula One Circuit (“Circuit”) (“Proposed  
 SIC Disposal”) to the Minister of Finance (“Call Option”). The Call Option is exercisable within ten (10) years from the date  
 the agreement in relation to the Proposed SIC Disposal is executed (“Call Option Period”).  If the Call Option is not  
 exercised by the end of the Call Option Period, it shall be deemed exercised on the last date of the Call Option Period.

 Pursuant to the Operating Agreements:

  (i) the existing Concession Agreement and the FLC Lease Agreement between MA Sepang and the GoM and the FLC  
   respectively will be terminated and all amounts due thereunder will be restated as an agreed sum of RM1,429,698,449,  
   (“Residual Payment”) payable to the GoM; and

  (ii) the respective rights and commitments of the GoM, MA Sepang, MASB and the Company with respect to the operation,  
   management, maintenance and development of KLIA and the Designated Airports would be restated under more  
   preferable terms to the Group.

 During the year, as mutually agreed in the Operating Agreements, the Residual Payment was settled by:

  (i) the payment of RM507,889,908 to the GoM by MA Sepang;

  (ii) the transfer of all the issued and paid-up share capital in NECC by the Company to the Minister of Finance at an agreed  
   valuation of RM159,632,122;  
          
  (iii) the offsetting by MA Sepang of the capital expenditure incurred or to be incurred by MA Sepang in relation to the Low  
   Cost Carrier Terminal Expansion Project for the sum not exceeding RM123,900,000 only provided that should the actual  
   capital expenditure incurred be less than RM123,900,000, MA Sepang shall reimburse the differential sum to the GoM  
   in cash. In the event where the capital expenditure in relation to the Low Cost Carrier Terminal Expansion Project  
   exceeds RM123,900,000, such excess shall be solely borne by MA Sepang;        
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39. SignifiCAnT EvEnTS (Contd.)

  (iv) the offsetting by MA Sepang of the capital expenditure incurred or to be incurred by MA Sepang in relation to the KLIA  
   Spurline Project for the sum not exceeding RM208,577,970 only provided that should the actual capital expenditure  
   incurred be less than RM208,577,970, MA Sepang shall reimburse the differential sum to the GoM in cash. In the event  
   where the capital expenditure in relation to the KLIA Spurline Project exceeds RM208,577,970, such excess shall be solely  
   borne by MA Sepang;

  (v) the set off by MA Sepang of the capital expenditure incurred or to be incurred by MA Sepang in relation to the Air Traffic  
   Control Upgrade Project for the sum not exceeding RM10,000,000 only provided that should the actual capital expenditure  
   incurred be less than RM10,000,000, MA Sepang shall reimburse the differential sum to the GoM in cash. In the event  
   where the capital expenditure in relation to the Air Traffic Control Upgrade Project exceeds RM10,000,000, such excess  
   shall be solely borne by MA Sepang; and

  (vi) MA Sepang paying to the GoM an amount equal to half the amount calculated as the fee based on a share of the  
   revenues generated from the commercial activities carried out by MA Sepang and any other subsidiary of the Company  
   at KLIA (“MA Sepang User Fee”)  every three (3) consecutive month period during the financial year of MA Sepang until  
   the remaining balance of the Residual Payment being the sum of RM419,698,449 is fully settled.

 In consideration of the GoM entering into the Operating Agreement for the Designated Airports, MASB and the Company  
 agree to pay the GoM the MASB User Fee.

 Under the Operating Agreement, the GoM shall assist MAHB in bearing its socio-economic obligations by compensating  
 MA Sepang and MASB with a marginal cost support sum (“MARCS”) for marginal losses suffered, arising from the undertaking  
 of socio-economic activities and GoM policies.

 The Operating Rights are granted by the GoM to further define and augment the rights of MA Sepang as a licensed airport  
 operator and manager of KLIA, and MASB as a licensed airport operator and manager of the Designated Airports, and the  
 Operating Rights shall run for a period of twenty five (25) years from 12 February 2009 and may be renewed by the GoM. 

 The restructuring agreement has given rise to the writeback of provision for  lease rental of RM52,000,000 as disclosed in  
 Notes 7 and 32 and increase in the concession asset of approximately RM603,164,000 million as disclosed in Note 16. Other  
 than those disclosed in the relevant notes, no effects of the financial restructuring had been taken into account in the  
 preparation of these financial statements. The restructuring agreement also resulted in a discontinued operations in the  
 event management activities business segment the effect of which is disclosed in Note 41.



308 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009
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 (2) On 12 February 2009, the Company announced that Malaysia Airports Management & Technical Services Sdn. Bhd.  
  (“MAMTS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Joint Venture Agreement with Sooj International  
  (“SOOJ”) for services in connection with the development, management, construction management, operation and  
  maintenance of airports and airport systems and facilities including airport hotels and services ancillary thereto and any  
  other business in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“the Projects”). A Joint Venture Company (“JVC”) in the Kingdom of  
  Saudi Arabia will be jointly incorporated to undertake the Projects. The JVC’s proposed initial issued and paid-up share  
  capital shall not be less than Saudi Riyal 1 million (approximately RM963,000) where MAMTS and SOOJ will subscribe for  
  the shares in issue in the equal proportion of 50% each.

  As at 31 December 2009, the Joint Venture Agreement has not been formalised and no effects has been taken into  
  account in the financial statements.

 (3) Five (5) of its wholly-owned dormant/inactive subsidiaries, Asia Pacific Auction Sales Sdn. Bhd., Asia Pacific Machinery  
  Auctions Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia Motor Auctions Sdn. Bhd., Beans Around The World Coffee Shop Sdn. Bhd., and Cargo  
  One Restaurant & Lounge Sdn. Bhd., undertook a member’s voluntary winding-up exercise.

  The member’s voluntary winding-up as mentioned in the above did not have any significant effects on the results of the  
  Group and of the Company.

 (4) On 13 February 2009, the Company via MAMTS, entered into a Consortium Agreement with KLIA Consultancy Services  
  Sdn. Bhd. (“KLIACS”) for airport industry related services rendered or to be rendered including the construction of new  
  airport terminal buildings and its complimentaries, hotels, hypermarkets and other constructions (“Works”). KLIACS and  
  MAMTS have agreed to form an unincorporated consortium (“KLIACS - MAMTS Consortium”) for the sole purpose of  
  carrying out the Works. KLIACS and MAMTS participation in the KLIACS - MAMTS Consortium will be in the agreed  
  proportion of 51% and 49% respectively. The effect of this joint venture is disclosed in Note 19.

40. finAnCiAL inSTRUMEnTS

 (a) financial risk management objectives and policies

  The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the  
  development of the Group’s businesses whilst managing its interest rate risks (both fair value and cash flow), foreign  
  currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and  
  they are summarised below. It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in  
  derivative financial instruments shall be undertaken.
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40. finAnCiAL inSTRUMEnTS (Contd.)

 (b) interest rate risk

  Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
  in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
  to changes in market interest rates.  As the Group has no significant interest-bearing financial assets, the Group’s 
  income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.  The Group’s interest-
  bearing financial assets are mainly short-term in nature and have been mostly placed in fixed deposits. 

  The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk at the balance sheet date. The following table sets out the carrying 
  amounts, the weighted average effective interest rates (“WAEIR”) as at the balance sheet date and the remaining maturities 
  of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

      Within 1   1-2   
      WAEiR  year   years   Total 
     note %  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 
 At 31 December 2009             
              
 group             
  Fixed rate term loan 30  5.30  250  -  250             
  Revolving loan  30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31   -   -  -  - 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 2.42  154,543  -  154,543 
              

Company             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30 250 - 250             
  Revolving loan 30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 0.96  12,292  -   12,292

              
 group             

30  5.30  250  -  250
  Revolving loan  30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31   -   -  -  - 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 2.42  154,543  -  154,543 
              

Company             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30 250 - 250
  Revolving loan 30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 0.96  12,292  -   12,292

              
 group             

30  5.30  250  -  250
  Revolving loan  30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31   -   -  -  - 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 2.42  154,543  -  154,543 
              

Company             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30 250 - 250
  Revolving loan 30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 0.96  12,292  -   12,292

              
 group             

30  5.30  250  -  250             
  Revolving loan  30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31   -   -  -  - 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 2.42  154,543  -  154,543 
              

Company             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30 250 - 250             
  Revolving loan 30 3.14 - 507,890 507,890 
              
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25 0.96  12,292  -   12,292
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 (b) interest rate risk (contd.)

      Within 1   1-2   
      WAEiR  year   years   Total 
     note %  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 
 At 31 December 2008             
              
 group             
  fixed rate             
  Fixed rate term loan 30  5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31  6.00  32   -  32 
             
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  2.92  597,782  -   597,782 
             
 Company             
  fixed rate             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
             
  floating rate             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  3.27  297,097  -  297,097 

 Interest on financial instruments subject to floating interest rates is contractually repriced at intervals of less than 95 (2008: 22) 
 days. Interest on financial instruments are fixed at fixed rate until the maturity of the instrument. The other financial 
 instruments of the Group and of the Company that are not included in the above tables are not subject to interest rate 
 risks.

 group             
             

  Fixed rate term loan 30  5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31  6.00  32   -  32 
             

             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  2.92  597,782  -   597,782 
             
 Company             
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  Cash and cash equivalents 25  2.92  597,782  -   597,782 
             
 Company             

             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
             

             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  3.27  297,097  -  297,097 

 group             
             

  Fixed rate term loan 30  5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
  Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 31  6.00  32   -  32 
             

             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  2.92  597,782  -   597,782 
             
 Company             

             
  Fixed rate term loan 30 5.30  2,750  250  3,000 
             

             
  Cash and cash equivalents 25  3.27  297,097  -  297,097 
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40. finAnCiAL inSTRUMEnTS (Contd.)

 (c) foreign currency risk

  Other than the Group’s investment in foreign associates and foreign subsidiaries, the Group does not operate 
  internationally but is exposed to mainlythe United States Dollar, Great Britain Pound, Euro and Singapore Dollar. 
  Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the operating entities are 
  kept to a manageable level and short term imbalances are addressed by buying and selling foreign currencies at spot 
  rate.

  The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in their functional 
  currencies are as follows:

     net financial Assets/(Liabilities) held       
     non-functional Currencies      
      United  great      
 functional Currency  States   Britain   Singapore   
  of group Companies Dollar   Pound   Euro  Dollar   Total 
      RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000  RM’000 
             
 At 31 December 2009             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  1,382  (3)  (299)  (48)  1,032 
             
 At 31 December 2008             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  3,989  (449)  (2,121)  (421)  998

             
 At 31 December 2009             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  1,382  (3)  (299)  (48)  1,032 
             
 At 31 December 2008             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  3,989  (449)  (2,121)  (421)  998

             
 At 31 December 2009             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  1,382  (3)  (299)  (48)  1,032 
             
 At 31 December 2008             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  3,989  (449)  (2,121)  (421)  998

             
 At 31 December 2009             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  1,382  (3)  (299)  (48)  1,032 
             
 At 31 December 2008             
             
 Ringgit Malaysia  3,989  (449)  (2,121)  (421)  998
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 (d) Liquidity risk

  The Group manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that  
  refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity management, the Group maintains  
  sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the Group  
  strives to maintain available banking facilities at a reasonable level to its overall debt position. As far as possible, the  
  Group raises committed funding from both capital markets and financial institutions and balances its portfolio with some  
  short-term funding so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.

 (e) Credit risk

  The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group trades only with recognised and  
  creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to  
  credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s  
  exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the  
  relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit  
  Control. Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for  
  collateral.

  The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, arises from default of the  
  counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

  As at balance sheet date, the concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding balances is mainly due to four (2008:  
  five) customers representing approximately 24% (2008: 53%) of the total trade receivables.

 (f) fair values

  The methods and assumptions used by management to determine fair values of financial instruments other than  
  those whose carrying amounts reasonably approximate their fair values are as follows:

  (i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables
   
   The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables approximate their fair  
   values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
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 (f) fair values (contd.)

  (ii) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries

   It is not practicable to estimate the fair values of amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries due principally to a lack 
   of fixed repayment terms entered into by the parties involved and without incurring excessive costs.

  (iii) Bonds and medium term notes

   The carrying amount of bonds and medium term notes do not approximate its fair value as the Group does not 
   mark its bonds and medium term notes prices to market.

  (iv) Fixed rate term loan

   The fixed rate term loan is repayable in 16 equal instalments of RM1,500,000 each, the first to be made 12 months 
   from the date of first drawdown and the remainder at successive three months intervals thereafter. 

  (v) Revolving loan

   The revolving credit is secured by fixed deposits of RM6,000,000 (2008: RM Nil) placed in lien and the maturity of 
   the revolving credit is on 12 February 2011.

      group   Company   
      Carrying    Carrying   
      amount   fair value  amount   fair value 
     note  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

 At 31 December 2009          
 Bonds and medium-term notes 20   15,831  15,831  -  - 
 Fixed rate term loan 30 250 237 250 237
 Revolving loan 30   507,890  507,890  507,890  507,890 

 At 31 December 2008          
 Bonds and medium-term notes 20  20,913   22,555  -  -
 Fixed rate term loan 30  3,000  2,898  3,000  2,898
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 (a) Reporting format

  The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return are  
  affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced.  Secondary information is reported  
  geographically.  The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the  
  products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products  
  and serves different markets.

 (b) Business segments

  The Group comprise the following main business segments:

  Continuing operations:

   (i) Duty free and non dutiable goods
    To operate duty free, non duty free outlets and provide management service in respect of food and beverage  
    outlets at designated airports.            
   
   (ii) Airport services
    To manage, operate and maintain designated airports in Malaysia and to provide airport related services.

   (iii) Agriculture and horticulture
    To cultivate and sell oil palm and other agricultural products and to carry out horticulture activities.

   (iv) Hotel
    To manage and operate a hotel, known as The Pan Pacific Hotel KLIA.

   (v) Project and repair maintenance
    To provide operations and maintenance of Information and Communication Technology business ventures  
    and provision of mechanical and electrical engineering.
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 Discontinued operations:

   (vi) Event Management
    Managed and operated Sepang F1 Circuit and organised and promoted motor sports and entertainment  
    events.       

   (vii) Auction
    Business as auctioneers and auction related activities.

 Other business segments include investment holding and other activities, none of which are of a sufficient size to be  
 reported separately.

 (c) geographical segments

  No segmental information is provided on a geographical basis as the results of the overseas subsidiaries company are  
  considered insignificant to the Group.

 (d) Allocation basis and transfer pricing

  Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be  
  allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, liabilities and expenses.

  Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third  
  parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These transfers are  
  eliminated on consolidation.
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The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other information by business 
segment:

41. SEgMEnT infORMATiOn (Contd.)

   Duty free and   Agriculture   Project           

  non dutiable Airport and   and repair     Event   Total 

  goods   services   horticulture  hotel  maintenance  Others   Eliminations   Total Auction management Eliminations Total operation 

   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 31 December 2009               

 Revenue                

 External sales               

  Aeronautical -   790,483   -   -   -   -   -   790,483  -   -   -   -  790,483 

    Non-aeronautical:               

   Retail  351,609   -   -   -   -   -   -   351,609   -   -   -   -  351,609 

   Others  -   354,482   48,530  57,511  34,478   -   -   495,001   146   61,313   -   61,459   556,460 

  Inter-segment sales 1,126   128,277   2,470   1,661   80,197   4,000   (217,731)  -   -  600   (600)  -   - 

  Inter-segment dividends  -  -   -   -   -   63,000  (63,000)  -   -   -   -   -   - 

 Total revenue 352,735   1,273,242    51,000   59,172 114,675  67,000  (280,731) 1,637,093  146 61,913 (600)  61,459   1,698,552 

        

 Results                

  Segment results 9,164  508,137   9,231   (296)  14,607   40,728   (89,927) 491,644   (1,062) (966)  673   (1,355)  490,289 

  Finance costs  -   (14,124)  -   -   -   (53)  -  (14,177)  -   -  -   -   (14,177)

  Share of profit of associates  -  1,457   -   -   -   1,174   -  2,631   -   -   -   -   2,631 

  Profit/(loss) before tax  9,164  495,470   9,231  (296) 14,607   41,849  (89,927) 480,098  (1,062)  (966)  673  (1,355)  478,743 

  Income tax expense (3,341) (94,275) (255)  (165)  (4,108) (14,171) 16,150  (100,165)  -   -   -   -   (100,165)

  Profit/(loss) for the year  5,823  401,915  8,976  (461) 10,499  27,678  (73,777)  379,933 (1,062) (966) 673  (1,355)  378,578 

                   

 Assets                 

  Segment assets 126,608   6,453,210  78,734 119,377  122,930  3,608669   (5,423,686) 5,085,842 496   -  - 496 5,086,338 

  Investment in associates  -   133,734   -   -   -  - -  133,734   -   -   -   -   133,734 

  Total assets 126,608  6,586,944   78,734   119,377 122,930   3,608,669   (5,423,686)  5,219,576  496   -   -   496   5,220,072

Continuing Operations Discontinued

Operations
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41. SEgMEnT infORMATiOn (Contd.)

   Duty free and   Agriculture   Project           

  non dutiable Airport and   and repair     Event   Total 

  goods   services   horticulture  hotel  maintenance  Others   Eliminations   Total Auction management Eliminations Total operation 

   RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 31 December 2009 (contd.)               

 Liabilities                

  Segment liabilities               

  representing total 

  liabilities 28,922 3,834,610  26,843 18,009  57,681  1,420,548   (3,541,098) 1,845,515  229   -   -   229   1,845,744  

                

 Other segment information               

  Capital expenditure 12,322 180,032  3,916   3,628   291   125,015   - 325,204   -  1,143   -   1,143   326,347 

  Depreciation  2,733   85,778   708  15,204  782   5,648  -  110,853   -   1,157   -   1,157   112,010 

  Amortisation of:               

   - prepaid land lease payments  -   121   -   -   -   -   -  121   -   -   -   -  121 

  - plantation development  -   -  2,833  -   -   -   -  2,833   -   -   -   -   2,833 

  - concession rights   -   36,667   -   -   -   -   -  36,667   -   -   -   -   36,667 

 Other significant non cash items:               

 Provision for/(writeback of):                

  - employee benefits 122  1,832 (4)  (20)  245   206   -  2,381   -   2   -   2  2,383 

  - doubtful debts   -   4,932   -   38   183   -   -   5,153   -   -   -   -   5,153 

  - lease  -   (52,000)  -   -   -   -   -  (52,000)  -   -   -   -  (52,000)

Continuing Operations

non-Airport OperationsAirport Operations

Discontinued

Operations
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41. SEgMEnT infORMATiOn (Contd.)

       Project  
  Duty free and   Agriculture    and         
  non dutiable Airport and   Event repair    Event   Total 
  goods   services   horticulture  hotel  management  maintenance   Others   Eliminations Total management Auction Total operation 

  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 31 December 2008               

  

 Revenue                 

 External sales                

   Aeronautical   -  652,498  -   -   -   -   -   -  652,498   -   -   -   652,498 

   Non-aeronautical:                

    Retail   304,904   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  304,904  -   -   -   304,904 

    Others  -   321,751  67,350   61,709   -   26,761  -   -   477,571   78,116   2,536   80,652   558,223 

  Inter-segment sales 1,099 80,389 5,398 2,460  -  91,107  10,810  (191,263)  -   -   -   -   - 

  Inter-segment dividends   -   -   -   -   -   -  103,946  (103,946)  -   -   -   -   - 

 Total revenue  306,003 1,054,638  72,748  64,169  -  117,868 114,756  (295,209) 1,434,973  78,116   2,536  80,652   1,515,625 

                   

 Results                 

 Segment results  36,383  345,235  30,869   2,934   -   14,642  94,743   (104,716)  420,090  10,241   (3,162) 7,079  427,169 

  Finance costs  -   -   -   -   -   (5) (277)  -   (282)  -   -   -  (282)

  Share of profit of associates  -   3,339   -   -   -   -   (951)  -   2,388   -   -   -  2,388 

  Profit/(loss) before tax 36,383 348,574  30,869  2,934 -  14,637  93,515  (104,716)  422,196   10,241   (3,162)  7,079  429,275 

  Income tax expense  (10,250) (97,759) (8,382) (591) -  (3,854) (30,532) 28,116 (123,252)  (155) (47) (202)  (123,454)

  Profit/(loss) for the year 26,133 250,815  22,487 2,343  -  10,783 62,983 (76,600)  298,944 10,086  (3,209) 6,877   305,821 

                   

 Assets                 

  Segment assets 114,630 6,604,497 76,817 130,000 152,808 114,215  4,892,428 (7,150,077)  4,935,318  -   4,306   4,306   4,939,624 

  Investment in associates  -  52,663  -   -  -  -   - - 52,663  -   -   -   52,663 

  Total assets 114,630  6,657,160  76,817 130,000  152,808 114,215  4,892,428 (7,150,077) 4,987,981  -   4,306   4,306  4,992,287 

NOTES TO THE finAnCiAL STATEMEnTS 
31 December 2009

Continuing Operations

non-Airport OperationsAirport Operations

Discontinued

Operations
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41. SEgMEnT infORMATiOn (Contd.)

        Project   
  Duty free and   Agriculture    and         
  non dutiable Airport and   Event repair    Event   Total 
  goods   services   horticulture  hotel  management  maintenance   Others   Eliminations Total management Auction Total operation 

  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000   RM’000

 31 December 2008 (contd.)               

  

  Liabilities                 

 Segment liabilities                

   representing total

   liabilities   39,820   4,333,446  33,902  28,170  158,691   54,374  2,448,324   (5,289,718)  1,807,009   -  2,657   2,657 1,809,666 

                    

 Other segment information                

  Capital expenditure   2,324   142,884  4,350   7,270   -   548  123,747   -   281,123  1,144   -   1,144   282,267 

  Depreciation  1,158   101,360   524   13,790   -   870   2,081   -   119,784   2,108   255   2,363   122,147 

  Amortisation of:                

   - prepaid land 

    lease payments  -   121   -   -   -   -   -   -   121   -   -   -  121 

   - plantation development                

    expenditure  -   -  2,873   -   -   -   -   -   2,873   -   -   -  2,873 

   -  concession rights  -   32,155   -   -   -   -   -   -  32,155   -   -   -  32,155 

 Other significant non cash items:                

 Provision for/(writeback of):                

  - employee benefits 11  3,709  17   (30)  -  190  591   -   4,493   11   (58)  (47) 4,446 

  - doubtful debts  -  (40,442)  -   (32)  -   2,309   5,021  (5,021)  (38,165)  169   -  169  (37,996)

Continuing Operations

non-Airport OperationsAirport Operations

Discontinued

Operations
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MAKING A
DIFFERENCE 
We believe that we have a great responsibility to serve our partners and the 
public in the best possible way. Which is why, in everything we do, every cause 
we champion, every change we implement, we aim to make a positive difference 
for everyone.
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MAHB (MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BHD) TRAFFIC 2009
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2009 2008 +/-

2009 2008 +/-

2009 2008 +/-

2009 2008 +/-

MAHB AL YSI  AIRPORTS OLD NGS BHD) RAFFIC 2009

PASSENGER MOVEMENTS

Terminal passengers [international] 22,740,774 20,723,584 9.7%

Terminal passengers [domestic] 28,060,843 26,158,770 7.3%

Transit passengers 533,690 565,522 -5.6%

Total Passenger Movements 51,335,307 47,447,876 8.2%   

654,523,260 761,649,816 -14.1%

138,176,452 155,679,351 -11.2%

11,264,310 15,110,722 -25.5%

803,964,021 932,439,889 -13.8%

184,867 164,744 12.2%

350,926 331,527 5.9%

535,793 496,271 8.0%

301,371 215,303 40.0%

837,164 711,574 17.6%

15,317,458 13,125,589 16.7%

9,122,829 12,971,450 -29.7%

170,577        994 17060.7%

24,610,864 26,098,033 -5.7%

AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS

Commercial aircraft [international] 

Commercial aircraft [domestic] 

Total commercial aircraft

All other aircraft

Total Aircraft Movements

CARGO MOVEMENTS [kg]

Cargo movements  [international]

Cargo movements [domestic]

Transit cargo

Total Cargo Movements

MAIL MOVEMENTS [kg]

Mail movements [international]

Mail movements [domestic]

Transit mail

Total Mail Movements
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Arrival Departure Total Arrival Departure Total 2009* 2008* % + / - Domestic Int'l Total

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Redang

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Total 2009

Total 2008

% change

 5,044,578

 921,785

 1,848,377

 1,564,921

 591,674

 490,927

 -

 247,668

 208,578

 17

 334,743

 106,024

 15,288

 3,623

 9,556

 222,248

 49,162

 328,413

 426,874

 235,048

 790,561

 458,688

 24,869

 23,060

 -

 69,075

7,974,461

 2,875,074

 3,166,222

   14,015,757

13,093,916

7.0%

 4,952,233

 929,712

 1,858,939

 1,570,183

 608,668

 512,235

 -

 268,166

 212,736

 22

 335,593

 106,066

 15,546

 3,994

 10,785

 224,027

 49,396

 332,080

 431,469

 225,166

 807,649

 468,336

 24,386

 22,452

 -

 75,248

7,955,756

 2,895,911

 3,193,420

 14,045,087

13,064,854

7.5%

 9,996,811

 1,851,497

 3,707,316

 3,135,104

 1,200,342

 1,003,162

 -

 515,834

 421,314

 39

 670,336

 212,090

 30,834

 7,617

 20,341

 446,275

 98,558

 660,493

 858,343

 460,214

 1,598,210

 927,023

 49,255

 45,512

 -

 144,323

15,930,217

 5,770,985

 6,359,641

 28,060,843

26,158,770

7.3%

 9,617,629

 719,636

 530,530

 191,767

 77,761

 -

 10,743

 2,524

 -

 9,727

 76,202

 7,439

 8,834

 -

 3,865

 564

 -

 1,205

 3,933

 -

 7,878

 59

 -

 -

 -

 -

10,534,360

 536,232

 199,704

 11,270,296

10,368,535

8.7%

 9,784,043

 750,981

 528,034

 193,531

 80,403

 -

 11,194

 5,261

 -

 8,810

 73,302

 7,383

 9,389

 -

 4,040

 9

 -

 1,122

 4,325

 3

 8,648

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

10,734,806

 533,490

 202,182

11,470,478

10,355,049

10.8%

 19,401,672

 1,470,617

 1,058,564

 385,298

 158,164

 -

 21,937

 7,785

 -

 18,537

 149,504

 14,822

 18,223

 -

 7,905

 573

 -

 2,327

 8,258

 3

 16,526

 59

 -

 -

 -

 -

21,269,166

 1,069,722

 401,886

 22,740,774

20,723,584

9.7%

29,682,093

3,325,423

4,868,526

3,574,632

1,359,271

1,003,162

21,937

523,619

421,314

18,576

819,840

226,912

49,057

7,617

28,246

476,876

98,558

672,469

866,601

487,060

1,620,345

939,732

49,255

45,512

0

148,674

 37,487,067

 6,983,030

 6,865,210

 51,335,307

 47,447,876

8.2%

27,529,355

3,405,762

4,689,164

3,238,614

1,196,956

836,060

5,376

487,495

307,564

23,751

307,747

259,529

48,767

8,132

34,957

550,859

99,983

618,927

768,967

417,918

1,537,840

831,772

43,652

49,181

3,741

145,807

34,451,451

 6,731,641

 6,264,784

 47,447,876

7.8%

-2.4%

3.8%

10.4%

13.6%

20.0%

308.1%

7.4%

37.0%

-21.8%

166.4%

-12.6%

0.6%

-6.3%

-19.2%

-13.4%

-1.4%

8.7%

12.7%

16.5%

5.4%

13.0%

12.8%

-7.5%

-100.0%

2.0%

8.8%

3.7%

9.6%

8.2%

 -

 1,408

 66,584

 48,395

 427

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 30,028

 -

 9,649

 -

 26,843

 5,609

 12,650

 -

 -

 -

 4,351

 1,835

 106,261

 97,848

205,944

235,311

-12.5%

 283,610

 1,901

 36,062

 5,835

 338

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 -

 285,849

 36,062

 5,835

327,746

330,211

-0.7%

283,610

3,309

102,646

54,230

765

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

30,028

0

9,649

0

26,843

5,609

12,650

0

0

0

4,351

287,684

142,323

103,683

533,690

565,522

-5.6%

AIRPORTS

Note: *Including transit passengers

DOMESTIC INTERNATIONAL TOTAL TRANSIT
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PASSENGER MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

7,000,000 -

6,000,000 -

5,000,000 -

4,000,000 -

3,000,000 -

2,000,000 -

1,000,000 -

0 - 2,
10

0,
03

1

1,
80

4,
32

5

2,
26

7,
08

7

2,
15

0,
29

6

2,
32

4,
55

3

2,
58

2,
50

9

2,
51

9,
90

7

2,
45

1,
93

6

2,
23

0,
40

3

2,
40

0,
25

6

2,
53

0,
10

9

2,
90

5,
37

5

1,
69

3,
37

4

1,
46

9,
77

3

1,
77

8,
96

4

1,
76

5,
59

4

1,
72

9,
98

8

1,
88

5,
94

3

2,
04

6,
97

6

2,
05

9,
18

2

1,
90

2,
45

2

2,
08

0,
62

6

2,
14

0,
67

7

2,
51

4,
97

1

3,793,405

3,274,098

4,046,051 3,915,890 4,054,541
4,468,452 4,566,883 4,511,118

4,132,855
4,480,882 4,670,786

5,420,346
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2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 % + / -

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Johor Bahru

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Redang

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Grand Total

% change 

14,732,876

2,740,505

3,092,326

2,545,080

958,066

1,026,729

512,834

148,095

343,186

311,224

13,917

2,100,727

419,441

74,762

6,498

-

558,877

102,492

452,824

464,784

352,154

1,049,561

657,375

31,016

71,526

6,809

130,735

23,388,860

 4,678,112

 4,837,447

 32,904,419

11.6%

14,538,831

2,558,999

3,036,196

2,693,903

829,498

998,693

506,632

131,730

355,063

306,514

9,171

1,955,688

433,270

83,358

8,999

-

619,260

104,270

449,679

472,301

384,201

1,159,832

725,449

36,601

76,642

6,850

155,339

22,716,446

 4,688,556

 5,231,967

 32,636,969

-0.8%

16,398,230

2,508,693

3,256,212

2,935,052

712,988

874,278

534,959

132,314

309,202

287,465

7,438

1,130,169

388,746

64,067

8,811

-

635,458

108,151

449,613

495,462

422,715

1,292,004

759,704

44,371

77,821

6,896

173,123

23,357,360

 4,951,792

 5,704,790

 34,013,942

4.2%

17,454,564

2,334,669

3,302,366

2,923,633

726,817

651,352

589,950

115,286

394,240

353,778

31,108

72,491

351,179

56,900

6,095

-

696,961

107,914

497,999

551,168

427,894

1,377,312

817,687

41,280

83,459

6,945

165,704

 23,138,429

 5,163,353

 5,836,969

 34,138,751

0.4%

21,058,572

2,987,993

3,918,201

3,317,879

845,276

-

639,871

103,123

435,620

346,502

46,692

90,593

349,375

57,957

10,247

20,750

686,103

117,584

574,213

620,847

464,576

1,509,684

903,108

54,767

96,209

7,099

167,805

26,992,571

 5,924,047

 6,514,028

 39,430,646

17.7%

23,213,926

2,834,545

3,975,136

3,354,973

830,334

-

635,397

74,451

419,475

323,669

27,683

83,602

298,184

54,054

11,193

30,650

642,582

116,973

621,513

680,901

487,077

1,594,855

920,930

52,914

105,652

6,009

173,956

 28,837,163

 6,043,114

 6,690,357

 41,570,634

5.4%

24,129,748

3,103,772

4,015,221

3,196,352

934,024

-

678,306

64,711

398,252

292,549

18,509

83,502

273,005

57,559

9,866

28,928

575,684

108,697

633,194

660,331

449,673

1,559,379

898,923

48,825

89,814

5,933

153,199

30,072,731

 5,999,060

 6,396,165

 42,467,956

2.2%

26,453,379

3,173,117

4,399,939

3,236,468

1,122,911

-

759,316

814

430,800

291,006

27,209

95,583

262,486

46,260

8,906

33,738

535,294

77,024

626,192

736,646

381,158

1,454,167

809,955

37,463

50,107

1,942

134,079

32,705,525

 6,377,037

 6,103,397

 45,185,959

6.4%

27,529,355

3,405,762

4,689,164

3,238,614

1,196,956

-

836,060

5,376

487,495

307,564

23,751

307,747

259,529

48,767

8,132

34,957

550,859

99,983

618,927

768,967

417,918

1,537,840

831,772

43,652

49,181

3,741

145,807

34,451,451

 6,731,641

 6,264,784

 47,447,876

5.0%

29,682,093

3,325,423

4,868,526

3,574,632

1,359,271

-

1,003,162

21,937

523,619

421,314

18,576

819,840

226,912

49,057

7,617

28,246

476,876

98,558

672,469

866,601

487,060

1,620,345

939,732

49,255

45,512

0

148,674

37,487,067

 6,983,030

 6,865,210

 51,335,307

8.2%

7.8%

-2.4%

3.8%

10.4%

13.6%

-

20.0%

308.1%

7.4%

37.0%

-21.8%

166.4%

-12.6%

0.6%

-6.3%

-19.2%

-13.4%

-1.4%

8.7%

12.7%

16.5%

5.4%

13.0%

12.8%

-7.5%

-100.0%

2.0%

 

8.8%

3.7%

9.6%

8.2%

AIRPORTS

PASSENGER MOVEMENT  2000 - 009)
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PASSENGER MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS (2000-2009)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

60,000,000 -

50,000,000 -

40,000,000 -

30,000,000 -

20,000,000 -

10,000,000 -

0 -

32,904,419 32,636,969
34,013,942 34,138,751

39,430,646

41,570,634 42,467,956

45,185,959
47,447,876

51,335,307
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Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

4,000,000 -
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2,172,868
1,901,354

2,342,641 2,284,618 2,317,780
2,523,436

2,671,608 2,602,911

2,405,054

2,614,727 2,708,579

3,136,517
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INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS AT
KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTE L P G        

 

2009 2008

SOUTH EAST ASIA

Banda Acheh

Bandar Seri Begawan

Bandung

Bangkok

Cebu

Chiang Mai

Clark Field

Denpasar

Dili

Hanoi

Ho Chi Minh City

Jakarta

Krabi

Manado

Manila

Mataram

Medan

Padang

Palembang

Pekan Baru

Phnom Penh 

Phuket

Siem Reap

Singapore

Solo City

Surabaya

Ujung Pandang

Utapao

Vientiane

Yangon

Yogyakarta

Total

27,981

101,748

96,590

631,522

3,812

45,212

45,195

333,852

0

93,790

197,728

602,492

41,597

14,981

98,429

1,054

190,687

65,389

33,726

23,487

92,482

174,688

53,946

1,255,947

38,642

229,363

21,408

0

19,721

58,900

51,433

4,645,802

25,450

89,862

79,015

634,248

5,383

50,189

50,517

284,415

0

111,381

156,787

550,493

31,044

3,531

104,517

0

171,538

58,029

31,830

17,295

87,876

155,111

45,802

968,129

50,099

218,322

8,939

2,937

18,008

58,071

40,596

4,109,414

2009 2008

28,961

100,145

105,907

627,438

3,495

45,435

47,291

337,124

358

124,277

199,977

611,548

40,011

14,777

99,421

15,317

205,867

69,698

35,574

24,386

84,527

173,597

48,378

1,229,143

47,211

227,363

22,314

0

19,205

49,753

63,733

4,702,231

28,782

89,435

86,814

634,350

4,950

50,513

51,748

264,650

0

139,595

154,700

568,620

29,973

3,717

98,737

15,451

176,688

58,684

30,003

17,120

82,040

149,330

42,416

937,726

56,248

208,315

9,573

2,293

17,874

35,812

50,212

4,096,369

2009 2008

56,942

201,893

202,497

1,258,960

7,307

90,647

92,486

670,976

358

218,067

397,705

1,214,040

81,608

29,758

197,850

16,371

396,554

135,087

69,300

47,873

177,009

348,285

102,324

2,485,090

85,853

456,726

43,722

0

38,926

108,653

115,166

9,348,033

%+/-

5.0%

12.6%

22.1%

-0.8%

-29.3%

-10.0%

-9.6%

22.2%

-

-13.1%

27.7%

8.5%

33.7%

310.6%

-2.7%

6.0%

13.9%

15.7%

12.1%

39.1%

4.2%

14.4%

16.0%

30.4%

-19.3%

7.1%

136.2%

-100.0%

8.5%

15.7%

26.8%

13.9%

54,232

179,297

165,829

1,268,598

10,333

100,702

102,265

549,065

0

250,976

311,487

1,119,113

61,017

7,248

203,254

15,451

348,226

116,713

61,833

34,415

169,916

304,441

88,218

1,905,855

106,347

426,637

18,512

5,230

35,882

93,883

90,808

8,205,783

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL
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2009 2008

NORTH EAST ASIA

Beijing

Chengdu

Chongqing

Fuzhou

Guangzhou

Guilin

Haikou

Hangzhou

Hong Kong

Kaohsiung

Kunming

Macau

Nagoya

Nanning

Osaka

Pyongyang

Sapporo

Seoul

Shanghai Pu Dong

Shenyang

Shenzhen

Taipei

Tianjin

Tokyo

Wuhan

Xi An

Xiamen

Zhengzhou

Total

                                            100,347

11,699

330

13,437

207,815

35,351

29,624

76,458

463,508

9,133

13,356

141,767

0

7,105

56,596

0

0

113,233

129,262

0

130,339

214,198

33,124

153,797

0

176

39,567

0

1,980,222

101,226

230

0

17,117

160,552

9,026

28,974

48,069

446,844

14,359

11,235

197,482

335

5,915

67,611

532

0

132,766

142,807

464

135,354

174,626

0

167,755

0

0

38,486

306

1,902,071

2009 2008

102,798

12,635

428

15,605

204,482

36,236

29,800

77,551

491,945

8,614

14,077

146,454

0

7,840

68,281

0

283

116,136

138,405

0

128,565

216,707

37,836

158,532

465

612

38,474

0

2,052,761

102,255

230

0

17,382

157,636

9,747

29,356

53,879

479,812

13,938

12,855

213,782

792

7,060

81,374

462

0

132,356

145,066

465

141,199

175,528

0

177,876

0

0

37,574

297

1,990,921

2009 2008

203,145

24,334

758

29,042

412,297

71,587

59,424

154,009

955,453

17,747

27,433

288,221

0

14,945

124,877

0

283

229,369

267,667

0

258,904

430,905

70,960

312,329

465

788

78,041

0

4,032,983

%+/-

-0.2%

5190.0%

-

-15.8%

29.6%

281.3%

1.9%

51.1%

3.1%

-37.3%

13.9%

-29.9%

-100.0%

15.2%

-16.2%

-

-

-13.5%

-7.0%

-100.0%

-6.4%

23.1%

-

-9.6%

-

-

2.6%

-100.0%

3.6%

203,481

460

0

34,499

318,188

18,773

58,330

101,948

926,656

28,297

24,090

411,264

1,127

12,975

148,985

994

0

265,122

287,873

929

276,553

350,154

0

345,631

0

0

76,060

603

3,892,992

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL
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2009 2008

SOUTHWEST PACIFIC

Adelaide

Auckland

Avalon

Brisbane

Christmas Island

Gold Coast

Melbourne

Perth

Port Moresby

Sydney

Total

SOUTH ASIA

Bangalore

Chennai

Chittagong

Colombo

Delhi

Dhaka

Hyderabad

Islamabad

Karachi

Kathmandu

Kochi

Kolkata

Male

Mumbai

Peshawar

Thiruchilapally

Thiruvananthapuram

Total

43,022

46,830

0

36,414

2,010

62,942

255,240

187,688

3,250

128,000

765,396

25,956

179,580

0

91,034

83,596

151,720

23,234

0

36,833

27,659

6,255

5,359

35,488

73,806

0

63,800

5,000

809,320

45,005

51,324

3

49,493

1,895

49,873

179,038

114,409

802

157,489

649,331

38,178

212,684

2,633

92,636

111,609

203,956

26,363

0

42,767

48,235

0

0

25,728

81,098

0

4,131

0

890,018

2009 2008

43,795

50,254

0

27,302

1,869

64,520

249,312

184,267

3,467

131,626

756,412

28,562

179,377

0

82,730

85,690

186,983

23,671

4,113

24,045

32,829

7,237

5,576

36,199

72,732

4,474

75,949

5,886

856,053

46,696

51,885

0

40,955

1,756

53,063

179,042

110,157

679

165,280

649,513

40,446

202,785

61

95,679

101,261

127,006

25,438

0

33,022

37,714

0

0

27,436

75,099

3,358

5,454

0

774,759

2009 2008

86,817

97,084

0

63,716

3,879

127,462

504,552

371,955

6,717

259,626

1,521,808

54,518

358,957

0

173,764

169,286

338,703

46,905

4,113

60,878

60,488

13,492

10,935

71,687

146,538

4,474

139,749

10,886

1,665,373

%+/-

-5.3%

-5.9%

-100.0%

-29.6%

6.2%

23.8%

40.9%

65.6%

353.5%

-19.6%

17.2%

-30.7%

-13.6%

-100.0%

-7.7%

-20.5%

2.3%

-9.5%

-

-19.7%

-29.6%

-

-

34.8%

-6.2%

33.2%

1358.0%

-

0.04%

91,701

103,209

3

90,448

3,651

102,936

358,080

224,566

1,481

322,769

1,298,844

78,624

415,469

2,694

188,315

212,870

330,962

51,801

0

75,789

85,949

0

0

53,164

156,197

3,358

9,585

0

1,664,777

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL
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2009 2008

CENTRAL ASIA

Tashkent

Almaty

Total

MIDDLE EAST

Abu Dhabi

Amman

Bahrain

Beirut

Cairo

Damascus

Dammam

Doha

Dubai

Jeddah

Kuwait

Madinah

Riyadh

Sanaa

Tehran Imam Khomeini

Tehran Mehrabad 

Total

14,974

1,365

16,339

75,922

0

67,634

9,778

26,098

0

7,149

74,503

247,902

87,201

10,686

20,327

33,649

6,150

50,843

0

717,842

15,940

0

15,940

82,236

0

52,835

10,266

18,937

235

9,669

81,622

202,481

89,881

12,385

12,586

32,445

7,594

39,214

11,662

664,048

2009 2008

14,043

1,162

15,205

78,333

58

66,206

9,681

26,701

0

1,138

70,157

233,881

98,116

12,619

18,402

17,531

5,842

49,705

0

688,370

14,438

0

14,438

83,719

0

52,904

10,720

19,753

105

1,848

80,898

201,292

91,416

13,980

22,843

17,571

6,982

39,206

10,144

653,381

2009 2008

29,017

2,527

31,544

154,255

58

133,840

19,459

52,799

0

8,287

144,660

481,783

185,317

23,305

38,729

51,180

11,992

100,548

0

1,406,212

%+/-

-4.5%

-

3.8%

-7.1%

-

26.6%

-7.3%

36.5%

-100.0%

-28.0%

-11.0%

19.3%

2.2%

-11.6%

9.3%

2.3%

-17.7%

28.2%

-100.0%

6.7%

30,378

0

30,378

165,955

0

105,739

20,986

38,690

340

11,517

162,520

403,773

181,297

26,365

35,429

50,016

14,576

78,420

21,806

1,317,429

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL
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2009 2008

EUROPE

Amsterdam

Frankfurt

Istanbul

London

London Stansted

Moscow

Paris

Rome

Stockholm

Vienna

Zurich

Total

NORTH AMERICA

Los Angeles

New York

Total

SOUTH AMERICA

Buenos Aires

Total

AFRICA

Cape Town

Djibouti

Harare

Johannesburg

Mauritius

Total

Grand Total

172,936

60,052

13,884

198,771

60,569

105

60,793

28,981

17,896

0

0

613,987

19,712

7,388

27,100

11,797

11,797

4,218

0

305

12,943

12,358

29,824

9,617,629

186,799

65,287

9,487

201,326

0

244

69,946

41,652

18,206

0

1,468

594,415

40,103

13,198

53,301

13,774

13,774

6,128

149

0

15,126

13,327

34,730

8,927,042

2009 2008

183,928

62,738

14,267

203,391

62,346

154

63,896

29,522

17,987

0

0

638,229

20,065

9,507

29,572

13,786

13,786

7,638

0

305

11,321

12,160

31,424

9,784,043

198,211

71,410

10,128

199,238

0

170

76,400

45,237

19,408

23

2,352

622,577

42,163

11,909

54,072

14,723

14,723

10,110

109

0

14,502

14,151

38,872

8,909,625

2009 2008

356,864

122,790

28,151

402,162

122,915

259

124,689

58,503

35,883

0

0

1,252,216

39,777

16,895

56,672

25,583

25,583

11,856

0

610

24,264

24,518

61,248

19,401,672

%+/-

-7.3%

-10.2%

43.5%

0.4%

-

-37.4%

-14.8%

-32.7%

-4.6%

-100.0%

-100.0%

2.9%

-51.6%

-32.7%

-47.2%

-10.2%

-10.2%

-27.0%

-100.0%

-

-18.1%

-10.8%

-16.8%

8.8%

385,010

136,697

19,615

400,564

0

414

146,346

86,889

37,614

23

3,820

1,216,992

82,266

25,107

107,373

28,497

28,497

16,238

258

0

29,628

27,478

73,602

17,836,667

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS AT
KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
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KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

Africa
Central Asia

South America

South Asia

North America

Southwest Pacific

Europe

North East Asia

Middle East

South East Asia48.2%

0.3%

0.3%

0.1%
6.5%

7.2%

0.1%

8.6%

20.8%

7.8%

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

19,401,672
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AIRLINES WITH MORE THAN 1% INTERNATIONAL MARKET SHARE AT KLIA

 

Malaysia Airlines

AirAsia 

AirAsia X

Indonesia AirAsia

Cathay Pacific Airways

Singapore Airlines

Emirates

KLM-Royal Dutch Airlines

Thai Airways International

SilkAir

6,515,516

5,024,742

981,241

910,038

539,004

492,447

411,658

409,083

337,652

302,160

33.1

25.5

5.0

4.6

2.7

2.5

2.1

2.1

1.7

1.5

AIRLINES PASSENGER MOVEMENTS MARKET SHARE %

10 HIGHEST GROWTH INTERNATIONAL PERFORMANCE AT KLIA

 

SilkAir

Air Niugini

AirAsia X

Jetstar Asia

Tiger Airways

Yemenia Yemen Airlines

Xiamen Airlines

Indonesia AirAsia

AirAsia 

Gulf Air

302,160

8,522

981,241

219,419

279,612

34,157

55,603

910,038

5,024,742

134,049

665.8

475.4

281.9

204.9

196.7

67.5

48.8

43.3

31.1

26.8

AIRLINES PASSENGER MOVEMENTS % CHANGE OVER 2008

DOMESTIC TRAFFIC AT KLIA

 

Malaysia Airlines

AirAsia 

 4,407,339 

 5,588,493 

1.2%

10.6%

AIRLINES PASSENGER MOVEMENTS % CHANGE OVER 2008
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Europe

South East Asia

0.4%

7.8%

91.7%

North East Asia

LANGKAWI INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

158,502

Middle East

South East Asia

0.4%

16.6%

83.0%

PENANG INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

1,472,518 North East Asia
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South East Asia
48.7%

51.1%

0.1%

North East Asia

Middle East

KOTA KINABALU INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

1,094,626

West Asia

South East Asia

0.6%

10.3%

89.1%

North East Asia

0.002% Southwest Pacific

KUCHING INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

391,133
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Scheduled Non-scheduled Total

AIRPORTS DOMESTIC INTERNATIONAL TOTAL

Scheduled Non-scheduled Total 2009 2008 % + / -

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Redang

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Total 2009

Total 2008

% change

82,666

20,797

40,476

33,084

10,971

9,829

0

5,930

4,578

0

15,771

2,710

960

502

584

7,426

2,846

8,061

8,466

9,395

28,890

15,246

1,570

1,697

0

12,140

155,298

67,275

102,022

324,595

304,445

6.6%

365

5

1,023

3,317

0

3,880

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,137

76

1,841

296

1,547

9,816

1,028

0

0

0

0

4,250

6,373

15,708

26,331

27,082

-2.8%

83,031

20,802

41,499

36,401

10,971

13,709

0

5,930

4,578

0

15,771

2,710

960

502

584

10,563

2,922

9,902

8,762

10,942

38,706

16,274

1,570

1,697

0

12,140

159,548

73,648

117,730

350,926

331,527

5.9%

141,226

17,533

11,159

4,799

1,667

0

384

61

0

616

4,126

237

631

0

278

7

0

32

96

0

130

0

0

0

0

0

166,759

11,294

4,929

182,982

163,066

12.2%

994

8

19

237

0

0

0

15

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

298

0

280

27

6

0

1

0

0

0

0

1,017

624

244

1,885

1,678

12.3%

142,220

17,541

11,178

5,036

1,667

0

384

76

0

616

4,126

237

631

0

278

305

0

312

123

6

130

1

0

0

0

0

167,776

11,918

5,173

184,867

164,744

12.2%

225,251

38,343

52,677

41,437

12,638

13,709

384

6,006

4,578

616

19,897

2,947

1,591

502

862

10,868

2,922

10,214

8,885

10,948

38,836

16,275

1,570

1,697

0

12,140

327,324

85,566

122,903

535,793

496,271

8.0%

209,681

38,335

52,463

36,087

12,242

14,083

183

6,038

2,934

700

11,448

3,334

1,603

503

1,083

11,212

2,922

8,991

7,334

8,933

35,178

14,307

1,642

1,860

459

12,716

302,167

83,381

110,723

496,271

7.4%

0.02%

0.4%

14.8%

3.2%

-2.7%

109.8%

-0.5%

56.0%

-12.0%

73.8%

-11.6%

-0.7%

-0.2%

-20.4%

-3.1%

0.0%

13.6%

21.1%

22.6%

10.4%

13.8%

-4.4%

-8.8%

-100.0%

-4.5%

8.3%

2.6%

11.0%

8.0%

COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS 2009
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COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS 2009

COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total
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,9
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,0
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,6
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,4
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 1
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00
1 

16
,9

15
 

43,490 

38,714 

 43,123 43,008 44,397 44,039 
46,200 45,636 44,788 

47,244 46,479 
48,604 
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COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS 2009 AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total
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,4

25
 

11
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,5

78
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,9

67
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,5

93
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,1

26
 

12
,1

03
 

11
,7

98
 

12
,2

71
 

12
,0

48
 

12
,8

18
 

18,610 

16,482 

18,443 18,280 18,857 18,533 
19,329 18,999  18,650 

 19,371 19,195 
20,502 
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COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS (2000 - 2009)

 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 % + / -AIRPORTS

COMMERCI L A RCRA T  M VE   ( 2000  9 )

KLIA 

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Pulau Langkawi

Johor Bahru

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Redang

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Grand Total

% change 

109,339

27,672

39,889

34,551

8,947

11,432

4,588

2,117

3,210

2,968

458

25,423

3,782

2,000

520

-

7,261

2,556

9,214

6,428

11,642

32,706

15,301

2,684

4,840

905

10,980

202,456

66,253

112,704

381,413

-1.3%

113,147

28,866

38,680

36,625

9,448

11,513

4,808

1,946

3,366

2,978

278

22,441

4,046

2,708

652

-

7,572

2,694

9,325

6,547

12,646

36,010

16,589

3,484

5,130

902

12,486

206,197

65,720

122,970

394,887

3.5%

127,462

28,861

42,177

39,477

7,910

9,291

6,255

1,662

3,196

2,940

182

14,685

3,764

2,357

519

-

8,358

2,886

9,474

6,928

14,111

39,545

16,791

4,536

4,688

922

13,531

209,084

70,745

132,679

412,508

4.5%

139,101

26,516

42,491

38,676

7,168

8,848

7,520

1,572

4,221

3,646

1,102

5,140

3,743

2,173

511

-

9,661

2,882

9,985

7,450

13,288

40,468

16,593

3,422

4,994

936

13,173

211,261

73,405

130,614

415,280

0.7%

164,483

29,182

50,313

41,353

7,352

-

8,888

 1,402 

4,776

3,568

2,135

6,981

3,748

1,885

534

741

10,450

2,948

10,184

8,019

13,240

42,306

17,162

3,066

5,625

812

13,816

235,675

82,726

136,568

454,969

9.4%

181,341

31,173

49,680

39,430

8,021

-

8,765

 1,145 

4,623

3,267

1,328

8,988

3,500

1,668

530

1,110

9,292

3,010

10,876

8,531

13,146

40,302

16,683

2,620

5,490

814

14,322

255,459

82,203

131,993

469,655

3.2%

182,548

31,448

50,594

37,167

8,287

-

10,368

954

3,792

2,820

596

9,158

2,748

1,836

514

934

9,332

3,203

10,034

8,005

11,388

39,462

15,092

2,220

4,242

800

14,718

256,003

81,968

124,289

462,260

-1.6%

192,282

34,508

49,881

34,192

10,828

-

13,074

12

4,533

2,668

714

7,234

3,253

1,597

517

1,053

10,127

2,195

7,719

6,863

6,542

33,022

11,765

1,638

2,300

338

12,457

272,273

77,123

101,916

451,312

-2.4%

209,681

38,335

52,463

36,087

12,242

-

14,083

183

6,038

2,934

700

11,448

3,334

1,603

503

1,083

11,212

2,922

8,991

7,334

8,933

35,178

14,307

1,642

1,860

459

12,716

302,167

83,381

110,723

496,271

10.0%

225,251

38,343

52,677

41,437

12,638

-

13,709

384

6,006

4,578

616

19,897

2,947

1,591

502

862

10,868

2,922

10,214

8,885

10,948

38,836

16,275

1,570

1,697

0

12,140

327,324

85,566

122,903

535,793

8.0%

7.4%

0.02%

0.4%

14.8%

3.2%

-

-2.7%

109.8%

-0.6%

56.0%

-12.0%

73.8%

-11.6%

-0.7%

-0.2%

-20.4%

-3.1%

0.0%

13.6%

21.1%

22.6%

10.4%

13.8%

-4.4%

-8.8%

-100.0%

-4.5%

8.3%

2.6%

11.0%

8.0%
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COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS (2000 - 2009)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

650,000 -

550,000 -

450,000 -

350,000 -

250,000 -

150,000 -

50,000 -

0 -

 381,413 394,887 412,508 415,923 

454,969  469,655 462,260  451,312 

496,271 

535,793 
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ALL AIRCRAFT MOVEMENTS (2000 - 2009)

 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 % + / -AIRPORTS

A L AIRCRAFT  MOVEMENTS  ( 000  2 9 )

KLIA 

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Pulau Langkawi

Johor Bahru

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Redang

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Grand Total

% change 

109,925

29,788

41,411

37,203

11,267

17,780

5,348

5,096

3,668

29,846

26,132

38,129

4,132

2,354

837

-

7,585

2,674

10,395

7,669

12,097

36,250

15,743

2,684

4,840

905

10,980

284,302

70,639

119,797

474,738

0.4%

113,590

32,676

40,157

39,815

12,724

18,591

5,668

6,330

3,880

36,592

33,274

35,691

4,294

2,994

898

-

7,750

2,774

10,257

7,787

12,972

39,580

16,995

3,484

5,130

902

12,486

307,202

69,627

130,462

507,291

6.9%

127,952

32,503

44,528

42,975

9,686

28,759

8,527

8,562

4,159

24,539

40,030

28,170

4,043

2,641

764

-

8,871

2,990

10,569

8,148

14,485

42,714

17,113

4,654

4,688

922

13,531

320,335

76,028

140,160

536,523

5.8%

139,947

30,558

44,748

42,138

8,913

22,253

10,010

8,505

5,508

18,318

57,636

19,616

4,054

2,633

657

-

9,896

3,035

10,588

8,368

13,627

43,460

16,885

3,524

5,046

938

13,305

328,608

77,573

137,985

544,166

1.4%

 165,115 

 33,069 

 52,352 

 45,340 

 8,711 

 -   

 11,869 

 7,075 

 5,834 

 14,784 

 70,369

 22,757  

 4,088 

 2,447 

 698 

 741 

 10,668 

 3,055 

 10,823 

 8,900 

 13,546 

 45,269 

 17,650 

 3,122 

 5,691 

 812 

 13,838 

347,557

86,610

144,456

578,623

6.3%

182,537

34,616

51,824

43,253

8,964

 -   

11,194

26,657

5,622

17,632

77,504

29,668

3,757

2,146

752

1,121

9,510

3,160

11,662

9,814

13,619

42,865

17,330

2,642

5,568

814

14,394

402,170

86,784

139,671

628,625

8.6%

183,869

36,259

52,055

40,292

27,622

 -   

38,352

30,626

3,792

18,495

74,888

36,626

2,973

2,256

541

934

9,554

3,376

10,776

9,215

11,804

42,680

15,638

2,220

4,366

800

14,854

457,233

85,776

131,854

674,863

7.4%

193,710

39,265

52,047

37,348

43,234

 -   

58,996

32,462

8,781

20,277

64,936

44,302

3,487

1,989

589

1,053

10,349

2,336

8,410

7,992

7,093

35,502

12,536

1,660

2,552

338

12,719

513,081

81,472

109,410

703,963

4.3%

211,228

43,796

54,317

39,188

41,837

 -   

57,102

2,183

10,045

17,705

60,512

46,989

3,551

2,141

545

1,083

11,328

3,012

9,622

8,546

16,787

38,172

14,672

1,664

2,112

459

12,978

498,717

87,284

125,573

711,574

1.1%

226,751

43,621

53,554

44,761

39,815

 -   

74,863

40,883

9,875

24,031

54,160

55,148

3,110

2,180

502

862

11,045

3,077

12,915

9,876

51,009

41,996

17,449

1,592

1,949

0

12,140

575,801

90,467

170,896

837,164

17.6%

7.3%

-0.4%

-1.4%

14.2%

-4.8%

-

31.1%

1772.8%

-1.7%

35.7%

-10.5%

17.4%

-12.4%

1.8%

-7.9%

-20.4%

-2.5%

2.2%

34.2%

15.6%

203.9%

10.0%

18.9%

-4.3%

-7.7%

-100.0%

-6.5%

15.5%

3.6%

36.1%

17.6%
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(Kg) Departure Total

AIRPORTS DOMESTIC INTERNATIONAL TRANSITTOTAL

Arrival Departure Total 2009 * 2008 * Domestic Totalint.% + / -

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Total 2009

Total 2008

% change

 15,775,070 

 17,085,560 

 11,273,367 

 12,624,384 

 393,932 

 120,464 

 -   

 17,861 

 10,309 

 -   

 3,825,054 

 66,244 

 -   

 -   

 1,953,103 

 -   

 775,948 

 545,317 

 1,221,778 

 2,028,510 

 708,272 

 338,928 

 243,888 

 -   

 252,194 

 37,294,494 

 14,547,735 

 17,417,954 

69,260,184

 77,130,751 

-10.2%

 37,773,580 

 3,804,225 

 6,646,319 

 6,772,363 

 26,688 

 64,411 

 -   

 5,788 

 23,283 

 -   

 7,244,532 

 3,617 

 -   

 -   

 661,536 

 -   

 1,322,831 

 1,405,852 

 680,767 

 1,892,863 

 147,339 

 6,781 

 286,134 

 -   

 147,360 

 48,946,124 

 10,036,538 

 9,933,606 

68,916,268

 78,548,600 

-12.3%

 53,548,650 

 20,889,785 

 17,919,686 

 19,396,747 

 420,620 

 184,875 

 -   

 23,649 

 33,592 

 -   

 11,069,586 

 69,861 

 -   

 -   

 2,614,639 

 -   

 2,098,779 

 1,951,169 

 1,902,545 

 3,921,373 

 855,611 

 345,709 

 530,022 

 -   

 399,554 

 86,240,618 

 24,584,273 

 27,351,560 

138,176,452

155,679,351

-11.2%

 252,992,489 

 40,990,724 

 997,517 

 664,986 

 149,170 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 54,777 

 4,051,622 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 942,213 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 298,238,782 

 1,939,730 

 664,986 

300,843,497

 348,687,778 

-13.7%

584,558,967

137,775,171

25,079,184

20,830,387

571,771

184,875

0

23,649

33,592

127,436

18,535,712

69,861

0

0

4,165,312

0

2,098,779

1,951,169

1,902,982

3,921,373

855,611

345,709

530,022

0

402,459

 741,881,035 

 33,294,444 

 28,788,542 

803,964,021

932,439,889

-13.8%

 649,076,855 

 192,936,282 

 34,532,328 

 19,165,542 

 589,088 

 181,327 

 -   

 23,842 

 41,193 

 178,618 

 18,472,811 

 70,079 

 -   

 -   

 4,566,226 

 -   

 3,054,589 

 1,262,197 

 1,978,424 

 4,146,405 

 735,380 

 262,161 

 474,513 

 -   

692,029

 861,570,095 

 43,415,340 

 27,454,454 

932,439,889

 278,017,828 

 69,249,201 

 2,143,218 

 554,597 

 1,981 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 72,659 

 3,414,504 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 225,775 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 350,756,173 

 2,368,993 

 554,597 

353,679,763

 412,962,038 

-14.4%

-9.9%

-28.6%

-27.4%

8.7%

-2.9%

2.0%

-

-0.8%

-18.5%

-28.7%

0.3%

-0.3%

-

-

-8.8%

-

-31.3%

54.6%

-3.8%

-5.4%

16.3%

31.9%

11.7%

-

-41.8%

-13.9%

-23.3%

4.9%

-13.8%

 531,010,317 

 110,239,925 

 3,140,735 

 1,219,583 

 151,151 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 127,436 

 7,466,126 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 1,167,987 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 648,994,955 

 4,308,722 

 1,219,583 

654,523,260

761,649,816

-14.1%

0

0

2,818,139

195,559

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

382,686

0

0

0

437

0

0

0

0

0

2,905

 -   

 3,200,825 

 198,901 

 3,399,726 

 1,091,323 

211.5%

0

6,645,462

1,200,624

18,498

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

 6,645,462 

 1,200,624 

 18,498 

 7,864,584 

 14,019,399 

-43.9%

0

 6,645,462 

 4,018,763 

 214,057 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 382,686 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 437 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,905 

 6,645,462 

 4,401,449 

 217,399 

 11,264,310 

 15,110,722 

-25.5%

Arrival

*  Including transit cargo



CARGO MOVEMENTS 2009
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CARGO MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

90,000 -

80,000 -

70,000 -

60,000 -

50,000 -

40,000 -

30,000 -

20,000 -

10,000 -

0 -

45
,5

91

43
,4

40

51
,1

66

50
,0

74

52
,4

63

54
,6

18

59
,3

12

59
,4

90

58
,4

17

65
,1

24

61
,3

20

61
,3

73

11
,3

21

11
,5

21

12
,4

26

10
,8

43

10
,6

70

10
,5

61

12
,5

26

11
,7

28

11
,3

41

12
,5

66

12
,6

97

13
,3

77

56,912
54,961

63,592
60,916

63,133
65,179

71,838 71,217
69,758

77,690

74,017 74,750

(metric tonnes)



CARGO MOVEMENTS (2000 - 2009)

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD / 345

 

2000(Metric tonnes) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 % + / -

AIRPORTS

CARGO MOVEME TS  2000 - 2 09)

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Johor Bahru

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular  Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Grand Total

% change 

510,594

171,787

27,347

24,200

403

6,014

343

359

160

95

86

15,893

109

0

2

2,597

353

2,527

3,781

1,167

4,200

1,874

0

217

34

1,000

705,846

36,639

32,658

775,143

17.8%

440,864

176,317

24,887

22,897

213

4,157

407

361

186

54

48

14,445

121

0

0

2,946

389

2,562

3,935

1,196

4,096

2,006

0

173

3.658

1,046

637,173

34,723

31,414

703,310

-9.3%

527,124

202,044

28,112

24,835

210

3,849

404

388

151

30

49

12,261

96

0

0

3,176

469

2,665

3,612

1,176

3,903

1,916

18

249

4

818

746,607

38,037

32,915

817,559

16.2%

586,195

197,567

25,638

26,278

287

3,697

315

498

160

17

214

14,358

64

0

0

2,733

400

3,713

2,701

940

3,881

1,701

4

226

2

847

803,372

35,187

33,876

872,436

6.7%

651,747

212,369

27,191

26,073

325

0

235

735

124

67

602

18,670

64

0

0

2,653

390

4,053

2,968

1,375

4,721

1,567

102

179

2

862

884,937

37,257

34,878

957,072

9.7%

653,654

221,971

25,473

28,407

449

0

168

437

94

118

370

46,082

75

0

0

3,077

334

4,531

3,885

2,110

5,392

1,377

459

289

1

540

923,419

37,301

38,575

999,295

4.4%

672,888

225,952

28,356

29,716

487

0

210

357

70

111

146

71,953

109

0

0

3,207

170

5,475

3,030

2,205

4,080

1,040

240

379

1

403

972,283

40,238

38,062

1,050,584

5.1%

644,100

208,582

35,638

23,818

524

0

163

10

47

55

219

63,382

103

0

0

3,985

0

6,224

2,134

2,252

3,564

892

191

440

0

845

917,186

47,982

32,001

997,168

-5.1%

649,077

192,936

34,532

19,166

589

0

181

0

24

41

179

18,473

70

0

0

4,566

0

3,055

1,262

1,978

4,146

735

262

475

0

692

861,570

43,415

27,454

932,440

-6.5%

584,559

137,775

25,079

20,830

572

0

185

0

24

34

127

18,536

70

0

0

4,165

0

2,099

1,951

1,903

3,921

856

346

530

0

402

741,881

33,294

28,789

803,964

-13.8%

-9.9%

-28.6%

-27.4%

8.7%

-2.9%

-

2.0%

-

-0.8%

-18.5%

-28.7%

0.3%

-0.3%

-

-

-8.8%

-

-31.3%

54.6%

-3.8%

-5.4%

16.3%

31.9%

11.7%

-

-41.8%

-13.9%

-23.3%

4.9%

-13.8%
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CARGO MOVEMENTS (2000 - 2009)

CARGO MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS  (2000 - 2009)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

1,400,000 -

1,200,000 -

1,000,000 -

800,000 -

600,000 -

400,000 -

200,000 -

0 -

775,143

703,310

817,559

872,436

957,072
999,295 1,050,584 997,168

932,440

803,964

(metric tonnes)
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CARGO MOVEMENTS 2009 AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

70,000 -

60,000 -

50,000 -

40,000 -

30,000 -

20,000 -

10,000 -

0 -

4,
13

1

3,
74

4

4,
26

6

3,
80

7

3,
85

9

4,
35

8

5,
52

2

5,
31

8

4,
23

6

4,
87

7

4,
64

1

4,
79

0

35
,0

72

34
,3

44

41
,0

49

39
,4

62

41
,7

59

44
,3

73

47
,4

12

48
,2

50

47
,8

49

52
,6

56

49
,6

07

49
,1

77

39,203 38,089

45,315
43,269

45,619
48,731

52,935 53,567 52,084

57,533
54,248 53,967

(metric tonnes)
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INTERNATIONAL CARGO MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
T     CT  T  TE T  P

 

2009 2008

SOUTH EAST ASIA

Banda Aceh 

Bandar Seri Begawan

Bandung

Bangkok

Batam

Cebu

Chiang Mai

Clark Field

Denpasar Bali

Hanoi

Ho Chi Minh City

Jakarta

Manado

Manila

Mataram

Medan

Padang

Palembang

Pekan Baru

Phnom Penh 

Phuket

Siem Reap

Singapore

Solo City

Subic Bay

Surabaya

Ujung Pandang

Utapao

Vientiane

Yangon

Yogyakarta

Total

896

105,985

0

8,533,635

0

66,116

0

468,938

1,379,061

593,825

1,632,657

12,002,966

5,976

2,712,543

98

1,522,208

33,173

12,533

6,248

608,568

10,373

7,632

14,802,759

126,597

527,454

1,013,491

129,032

0

3,319

334,139

175,716

46,815,938

0

86,068

0

11,405,431

0

112,692

0

424,244

1,315,335

573,247

2,191,481

9,831,968

0

2,633,798

0

1,688,443

0

0

0

873,433

106,564

2,684

17,961,229

0

8,818,709

643,093

0

22,054

0

184,356

67,741

58,942,570

2009 2008

1,382

1,161,785

157

7,983,475

501

89,742

1,359

966,141

547,469

756,244

1,741,876

8,381,827

0

3,702,137

5,460

679,734

20,470

480

3,729

824,707

28,028

7,122

15,697,025

70

190,573

640,467

0

0

14,325

664,410

6,971

44,117,666

0

1,275,942

0

12,774,146

0

152,650

0

1,169,702

452,025

802,795

2,398,245

11,373,699

0

3,862,040

6,923

302,487

0

0

0

743,695

27,692

14,344

20,830,825

0

2,575,544

596,371

0

1,804

0

618,673

8,520

59,988,122

2009 2008

2,278

1,267,770

157

16,517,110

501

155,858

1,359

1,435,079

1,926,530

1,350,069

3,374,533

20,384,793

5,976

6,414,680

5,558

2,201,942

53,643

13,013

9,977

1,433,275

38,401

14,754

30,499,784

126,667

718,027

1,653,958

129,032

0

17,644

998,549

182,687

90,933,604

%+/-

-

-6.9%

-

-31.7%

-

-41.3%

-

-10.0%

9.0%

-1.9%

-26.5%

-3.9%

-

-1.2%

-19.7%

10.6%

-

-

-

-11.4%

-71.4%

-13.4%

-21.4%

-

-93.7%

33.4%

-

-100.0%

-

24.3%

139.6%

-23.5%

0

1,362,010

0

24,179,577

0

265,342

0

1,593,946

1,767,360

1,376,042

4,589,726

21,205,667

0

6,495,838

6,923

1,990,930

0

0

0

1,617,128

134,256

17,028

38,792,054

0

11,394,253

1,239,464

0

23,858

0

803,029

76,261

118,930,692

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)
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2009 2008

NORTH EAST ASIA

Beijing

Chengdu

Fuzhou

Guangzhou

Guilin

Haikou

Hangzhou

Hong Kong

Kaoshiung

Kunming

Macau

Nagoya

Nanning

Osaka

Seoul

Shanghai Pu Dong

Shenzhen

Taipei

Tianjin

Tokyo

Xiamen

Total

SOUTHWEST PACIFIC

Adelaide

Auckland

Avalon

Brisbane

Christmas Island

Gold Coast

Melbourne

Perth

Port Moresby

Sydney

Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

4,427,370

82,991

116,864

14,011,370

291

39,233

2,255,232

26,842,659

353,693

403,302

950,701

0

191,445

3,854,446

18,299,249

20,217,274

1,958,376

13,760,572

672,801

7,678,253

1,897,286

118,013,408

1,494,450

2,043,489

185,413

1,100,263

0

96,226

7,884,226

1,996,259

18,921

3,897,377

18,716,624

2,983,136

93,776

117,814

5,308,133

0

0

4,505

28,217,483

411,118

1,004,403

146,557

3,821

77,924

3,913,084

21,872,922

20,727,062

718,758

19,753,604

0

10,287,657

1,796,932

117,434,184

1,275,538

2,040,877

375,493

1,575,986

0

18,855

8,099,497

1,546,328

1,222

3,788,573

18,722,369

2,575,124

25,353

16,862

4,824,586

4,554

9,350

74,452

22,892,889

133,436

56,400

32,496

0

0

4,774,076

15,020,189

14,310,445

88,947

12,926,120

64,563

10,861,448

1,179,129

89,870,419

1,366,798

2,179,739

0

962,312

0

1,497,144

12,231,882

3,977,113

83,140

13,103,521

35,401,649

3,424,506

69,710

97,431

2,378,242

0

0

33,251

25,746,426

139,492

410,912

53,214

12,882

1

5,703,807

15,326,375

14,117,300

220,664

18,385,540

0

14,076,586

1,419,873

101,616,212

2,016,329

2,609,279

208,614

1,262,649

42,602

192,045

12,137,587

4,261,224

6,295

15,796,901

38,533,525

7,002,494

108,344

133,726

18,835,956

4,845

48,583

2,329,684

49,735,548

487,129

459,702

983,197

0

191,445

8,628,522

33,319,438

34,527,719

2,047,323

26,686,692

737,364

18,539,701

3,076,415

207,883,827

2,861,248

4,223,228

185,413

2,062,575

0

1,593,370

20,116,108

5,973,372

102,061

17,000,898

54,118,273

9.3%

-33.7%

-37.9%

145.1%

-

-

6070.4%

-7.8%

-11.5%

-67.5%

392.2%

-100.0%

145.7%

-10.3%

-10.4%

-0.9%

117.9%

-30.0%

-

-23.9%

-4.4%

-5.1%

-13.1%

-9.2%

-68.3%

-27.3%

-100.0%

655.5%

-0.6%

2.9%

1257.7%

-13.2%

-5.5%

6,407,642

163,486

215,245

7,686,375

0

0

37,756

53,963,909

550,610

1,415,315

199,771

16,703

77,925

9,616,891

37,199,297

34,844,362

939,422

38,139,144

0

24,364,243

3,216,805

219,054,901

3,291,867

4,650,156

584,107

2,838,635

42,602

210,900

20,237,084

5,807,552

7,517

19,585,474

57,255,894
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

SOUTH ASIA

Bangalore

Chennai

Colombo

Delhi

Dhaka

Hyderabad

Islamabad

Karachi

Kathmandu

Male

Mumbai

Peshawar

Tiruchirapally

Total

CENTRAL ASIA

Tashkent

Total

WEST ASIA

Abu Dhabi

Bahrain

Beirut

Cairo

Dammam

Doha

Dubai

Jeddah

Kuwait

Madinah

Riyadh

Sanaa

Sharjah

Tehran Imam Khomeini

Tehran Merabad

Total

657,738

3,951,263

1,231,496

4,037,642

5,964,136

663,951

0

1,368,457

221,964

376,962

3,236,110

0

116,733

21,826,452

83,795

83,795

838,097

201,695

83,750

118,578

12,322

2,145,652

2,870,377

972,749

106,197

0

70,282

32,174

95,325

110,564

0

7,657,762

1,255,121

5,697,138

2,137,543

3,105,632

6,731,492

872,742

0

1,724,007

323,521

696,420

3,353,927

0

0

25,897,543

58,162

58,162

433,768

180,281

47,780

83,388

2,569

981,200

2,274,694

1,504,196

53,941

988

44,917

19,950

0

98,130

20,505

5,746,307

1,456,015

4,668,254

1,981,714

4,474,921

4,461,557

666,725

101,113

1,366,501

4,802

1,681,377

3,459,849

1,138

122

24,324,088

414,019

414,019

2,901,690

1,961,080

737,544

181,529

5,119

3,856,065

11,022,903

2,472,302

579,120

86,334

139,983

115,660

103,598

1,077,709

0

25,240,636

2,580,494

6,799,837

2,310,361

4,187,344

6,638,208

820,468

0

1,889,056

3,490

1,678,758

3,074,120

854

0

29,982,990

799,794

799,794

3,165,523

1,760,343

547,351

158,852

43,826

2,243,023

10,035,850

2,303,680

610,844

26,171

234,510

168,710

0

939,698

233,761

22,472,142

2,113,753

8,619,517

3,213,210

8,512,563

10,425,693

1,330,676

101,113

2,734,958

226,766

2,058,339

6,695,959

1,138

116,855

46,150,540

497,814

497,814

3,739,787

2,162,775

821,294

300,107

17,441

6,001,717

13,893,280

3,445,051

685,317

86,334

210,265

147,834

198,923

1,188,273

0

32,898,398

-44.9%

-31.0%

-27.8%

16.7%

-22.0%

-21.4%

-

-24.3%

-30.7%

-13.3%

4.2%

33.3%

-

-17.4%

-42.0%

-42.0%

3.9%

11.4%

38.0%

23.9%

-62.4%

86.1%

12.9%

-9.5%

3.1%

217.9%

-24.8%

-21.6%

-

14.5%

-100.0%

16.6%

3,835,615

12,496,975

4,447,904

7,292,976

13,369,700

1,693,210

0

3,613,063

327,011

2,375,178

6,428,047

854

0

55,880,533

857,956

857,956

3,599,291

1,940,624

595,131

242,240

46,395

3,224,223

12,310,544

3,807,876

664,785

27,159

279,427

188,660

0

1,037,828

254,266

28,218,449
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

EUROPE

Amsterdam

Basel

Frankfurt

Istanbul

London Heathrow

London Stansted 

Luxembourg

Milan

Moscow

Paris

Rome

Stockholm

Valencia

Zurich

Total

NORTH AMERICA

Anchorage 

Los Angeles

New York

Riverside March

Total

SOUTH AMERICA

Buenos Aires

Total

AFRICA

Cape Town

Djibouti

Harare

Johannesburg

Mauritius

Total

Grand Total

8,943,149

1,519,805

11,951,943

1,178,956

4,017,307

869,599

2,061,883

3,276,197

0

2,555,760

2,124,196

417,720

0

0

38,916,515

0

421,241

82,231

0

503,472

114,629

114,629

89,379

0

0

198,991

55,524

343,894

252,992,489

13,368,053

20,691

15,633,695

1,489,415

4,920,489

17,919

2,347,734

5,057,216

0

2,958,678

3,123,607

804,760

0

95,535

49,837,792

0

705,954

287,606

1,045,081

2,038,641

236,679

236,679

115,327

0

0

154,748

69,273

339,348

279,253,595

19,915,982

81,788

13,660,446

1,167,445

7,920,290

1,153,734

5,142,599

1,307,364

0

3,687,324

1,708,785

818,357

0

0

56,564,114

0

754,925

83,599

0

838,524

398,149

398,149

139,695

0

16,617

431,747

260,505

848,564

278,017,828

20,484,433

0

12,445,763

1,132,998

7,010,580

0

6,189,101

1,318,763

1,524

3,964,642

2,019,928

1,317,034

98,872

53,800

56,037,438

33,129

1,316,116

130,920

442,772

1,922,937

407,111

407,111

286,958

1,800

0

433,664

282,967

1,005,389

312,765,660

28,859,131

1,601,593

25,612,389

2,346,401

11,937,597

2,023,333

7,204,482

4,583,561

0

6,243,084

3,832,981

1,236,077

0

0

95,480,629

0

1,176,166

165,830

0

1,341,996

512,778

512,778

229,074

0

16,617

630,738

316,029

1,192,458

531,010,317

-14.8%

7640.5%

-8.8%

-10.5%

0.1%

11191.6%

-15.6%

-28.1%

-100.0%

-9.8%

-25.5%

-41.7%

-

-100.0%

-9.8%

-100.0%

-41.8%

-60.4%

-100.0%

-66.1%

-20.4%

-20.4%

-43.1%

-100.0%

-

7.2%

-10.3%

-11.3%

-10.3%

33,852,486

20,691

28,079,458

2,622,413

11,931,069

17,919

8,536,835

6,375,979

1,524

6,923,320

5,143,535

2,121,794

98,872

149,335

105,875,230

33,129

2,022,070

418,526

1,487,853

3,961,578

643,790

643,790

402,285

1,800

0

588,412

352,240

1,344,737

592,019,255
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KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT CARGO MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL
MOVEMENTS : 
531,010 METRIC 

TONNES

Africa

South America

10.2%

39.1%0.3%

17.1%

0.1%

0.1%

18.0%
6.2%

0.2%

8.7%

Central Asia

North America

Southwest Pacific

Europe

North East Asia

South East Asia

South Asia

Middle East
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AIRLINES WITH MORE THAN 1% INTERNATIONAL MARKET SHARE AT KLIA

 

Malaysia Airlines

Korean Air

Cathay Pacific Airways

Singapore Airlines

China Airlines

Thai Airways International

AirAsia X

KLM-Royal Dutch Airlines

Federal Express

Japan Airlines International

Emirates

326,915

26,581

22,208

21,491

17,359

12,240

10,759

 10,618 

10,106

8,699

 8,264 

61.6%

5.0%

4.2%

4.0%

3.3%

2.3%

2.0%

2.0%

1.9%

1.6%

1.6%

AIRLINES CARGO MOVEMENTS (MT) MARKET SHARE % 

3 HIGHEST GROWTH INTERNATIONAL PERFORMANCE* AT KLIA

 

AirAsia X

Qatar Airways

Gulf Air

10,759

6,205

2,048

3690.0%

78.9%

36.5%

AIRLINES CARGO MOVEMENTS (MT) % CHANGE OVER 2008

Note: *1,000 metric tonnes and above
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Middle East

Europe

North East Asia

South East Asia 41.1%

0.3%

2.6%

56.1%

South East Asia 4.0%

96.0% North East Asia

PENANG INTERNATIONAL CARGO MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

116,885
metric tonnes

KUCHING INTERNATIONAL CARGO MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

1,238
metric tonnes
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75.1% North East Asia

South East Asia 24.9%

KOTA KINABALU INTERNATIONAL CARGO MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS : 

4,341
metric tonnes
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(Kg) Departure Total

AIRPORTS DOMESTIC INTERNATIONAL TRANSITTOTAL

Arrival Departure Total 2009 * 2008 * Domestic Totalint.% + / -

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

Mulu

Limbang

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Total 2009

Total 2008

% change

 311,197 

 4,715 

 846,852 

 334,764 

 47,643 

 166,034 

 -   

 2,747 

 13,579 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 312,127 

 189,606 

 212,383 

 233,924 

 304,955 

 1,753,455 

 248,145 

 -   

 19,602 

 -   

 5,720 

 545,915 

 1,794,892 

 2,666,641 

5,007,448

 6,455,340 

-22.4%

 1,459,049 

 756 

 734,876 

 452,676 

 25,659 

 155,765 

 -   

 2,281 

 41,596 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 47,828 

 22,801 

 41,243 

 7,925 

 76,821 

 417,249 

 601,206 

 -   

 26,302 

 1,348 

 1,685,106 

 854,673 

 1,575,602 

4,115,381

 6,516,110 

-36.8%

 1,770,246 

 5,471 

 1,581,728 

 787,440 

 73,302 

 321,799 

 -   

 5,028 

 55,175 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 359,955 

 212,407 

 253,626 

 241,849 

 381,776 

 2,170,704 

 849,351 

 -   

 45,904 

 -   

 7,068 

 2,231,021 

 2,649,565 

 4,242,243 

9,122,829

 12,971,450 

-29.7%

 7,797,235 

 930 

 8,606 

 6,035 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 7,798,165 

 8,606 

 6,035 

7,812,806

 7,769,234 

0.6%

17,060,823

6,891

1,744,192

820,962

73,311

321,799

0

5,028

55,175

0

0

0

0

0

359,955

212,407

253,626

241,849

381,819

2,170,704

849,351

0

45,904

0

7,068

 17,523,027 

 2,812,029 

 4,275,808 

24,610,864

 26,098,033

-5.7%

 18,417,840 

 397 

 3,148,620 

 998,565 

 82,503 

 236,400 

 -   

 8,132 

 1,738 

 -   

 -   

 1 

 -   

 -   

 398,574 

 193,101 

 233,083 

 280,657 

 338,945 

 1,665,004 

 -   

 -   

 84,396 

 -   

 10,077 

 18,747,011 

 4,254,035 

 3,096,987 

26,098,033

 7,493,342 

 490 

 10,610 

 201 

 9 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 7,493,841 

 10,610 

 201 

7,504,652

 5,356,355 

40.1%

-7.4%

1635.8%

-44.6%

-17.8%

-11.1%

36.1%

-

-38.2%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-9.7%

10.0%

8.8%

-13.8%

12.6%

30.4%

-

-

-

-

-29.9%

-6.5%

-33.9%

38.1%

-5.7%

 15,290,577 

 1,420 

 19,216 

 6,236 

 9 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 15,292,006 

 19,216 

 6,236 

15,317,458

 13,125,589 

16.7%

0

0

111,206

27,286

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

43

0

0

0

0

0

0

 -   

 111,206 

 27,329 

138,535

 994 

13837.1%

0

0

32,042

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

 -   

 32,042 

 -   

32,042

 -   

-

0

0

143,248

27,286

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

43

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

143,248

27,329

170,577

 994 

17060.7%

Arrival

* Including transit mail
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Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

4,000 -

3,500 -

3,000 -

2,500 -

2,000 -

1,500 -

1,000 -

500 -

0 -

79
3

67
4

77
1

77
9

85
56

98
3

96
8

75
2

89
8

63
3

53
2

62
2

1,
07

5

1,
06

3

1,
16

4

1,
12

2

1,
17

6

1,
24

3

1,
33

4

1,
41

9

1,
35

0

1,
40

8

1,
32

9

1,
66

6

1,869
1,737

1,935 1,901
2,032

2,226
2,301

2,172 2,248

2,041
1,861

2,288

(metric tonnes)
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MAIL MOVEMENTS (2000 - 2009)
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2000(Metric tonnes) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 % + / -

AIRPORTS

     

KLIA

Penang

Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Langkawi

Johor Bahru

Kota Bharu

Ipoh

Kuala Terengganu

Alor Setar

Melaka

Subang

Kuantan

Tioman

Pangkor

Labuan

Lahad Datu

Sandakan

Tawau

Bintulu

Miri

Sibu

STOL Sabah

STOL Sarawak

Peninsular Malaysia

Sabah

Sarawak

Grand Total

% change

4,618

63

4,795

4,575

37

4

237

13

119

1

9

7,642

6

0

0

251

224

493

510

171

1,287

763

0

0

12,749

6,274

6,797

25,819

23.7%

4,947

32

3,019

5,503

22

0

285

0

112

0

0

7,120

6

0

0

269

199

514

606

168

1,441

527

0

0

12,524

4,607

7,638

24,768

-4.1%

4,858

1

5,214

5,181

25

0

287

0

136

0

0

7,142

0

0

0

288

201

360

510

151

1,118

543

0

0

12,449

6,573

6,993

26,015

5.0%

3,787

992

5,737

5,131

42

0

305

0

164

0

0

7,860

9

0

0

307

155

216

453

122

1,283

598

0

0

13,160

6,868

7,133

27,161

4.4%

3,621

1,563

5,940

5,344

44

-

384

0

174

0

0

8,003

12

0

0

276

165

202

431

151

1,255

909

0.011

32

13,801

7,013

7,691

28,505

4.9%

2,999

9

5,032

5,086

46

-

226

0

132

0

0

7,006

2

0

0

257

154

52

264

134

1,633

1,089

0.047

90

10,421

5,759

8,032

24,212

-15.1%

4,558

2

3,787

3,467

58

-

171

0

10

0

0

1,656

0

0

0

291

212

90

102

240

1,439

698

0.06

106

6,455

4,481

5,950

16,886

-30.3%

8,794

1.4

4,044

3,137

58

-

175

0

4

0

0

0

0

0

0

334

157

9

27

83

1,806

59

0

6

9,033

4,572

5,090

18,695

10.7%

18,418

0.4

3,149

999

83

-

236

0

8

2

0

0

0

0

0

399

193

233

281

339

1,665

0

0

94

18,747

4,254

3,097

26,098

39.6%

17,061

7

1,744

821

73

-

322

0

5

55

0

0

0

0

0

360

212

254

242

382

2,171

849

0

53

17,523

2,812

4,276

24,611

-5.7%

-7.4%

1635.8%

-44.6%

-17.8%

-11.1%

-

36.1%

-

-38.2%

3074.6%

-

-

-100.0%

-

-

-9.7%

10.0%

8.8%

-13.8%

12.6%

30.4%

-

-

-43.9%

-6.5%

-33.9%

38.1%

-5.7%
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MAIL MOVEMENTS AT MAHB AIRPORTS (2000-2009)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

35,000 -

30,000 -

25,000 -

20,000 -

15,000 -

10,000 -

5,000 -

0 -

25,819
24,768

26,015
27,161

28,505

24,212

16,886

18,695

26,098

24,611

(metric tonnes)
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MAIL MOVEMENTS 2009 AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Domestic International Total

12
9

10
0

14
0

12
5

17
1

24
5

23
5

13
7

15
4

14
2

87 10
5

1,
07

3

1,
06

2

1,
16

1

1,
11

7

1,
17

4

1,
23

7

1,
32

9

1,
41

3

1,
34

3

1,
40

1

1,
32

1

1,
65

9

1,202 1,162

(metric tonnes)

1,301 1,242
1,345

1,482
1,563 1,549 1,497 1,543 1,408

1,765
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

SOUTH EAST ASIA

Bandar Seri Begawan

Bangkok

Clark Field

Denpasar Bali

Hanoi

Ho Chi Minh City

Jakarta

Manila

Medan

Phnom Penh

Phuket

Singapore

Surabaya

Utapao

Yangon

Total

NORTH EAST ASIA

Beijing

Christmas Island

Fuzhou

Guangzhou

Hong Kong

Kaohsiung

Kunming

Macau

Osaka

Seoul

Shanghai Pu Dong

Shenzhen

Taipei

Tokyo

Xiamen

Total

4,462

352,069

1,765,576

156

24

2,936

472,665

29

5

34

500

659,004

50

463

160

3,258,133

6,594

0

224

561,188

333,843

0

0

37,238

0

9,295

402,603

0

490,623

299,476

0

2,141,084

5,187

3,105,530

42

245

16

2,847

400,596

42

2,880

84

295

708,418

0

2,296

602

4,578,028

27,646

0

0

242,886

443,851

0

0

414

0

6,535

211,687

0

426,508

289,389

0

1,648,916

72,995

1,285,471

51,444

0

9,186

27,586

265,775

51,444

26,420

106,083

688

86,667

0

10,287

31,279

2,124,086

61,154

865

23

55,739

200,404

2,784

30

329

8,683

45,310

8,033

0

51,568

191,004

18

625,944

69,757

1,310,395

31,715

0

1,386

17,197

217,083

31,715

32,462

62,910

274

78,121

0

0

6,224

1,967,621

58,537

0

19

56,821

196,531

158

1

1

6,645

34,165

10,377

0

44,470

162,830

0

570,555

77,457

3,051,047

51,473

156

9,210

30,522

738,440

51,473

26,425

106,117

1,188

745,671

50

10,790

31,439

5,382,219

67,748

865

247

616,927

534,247

2,784

30

329

17,978

447,913

45,271

0

542,191

490,480

18

2,767,028

3.4%

2.7%

-30.9%

-36.3%

556.9%

52.3%

19.6%

62.1%

-25.2%

68.5%

108.8%

-5.2%

-

368.2%

368.2%

-17.8%

-21.4%

-

1200.0%

105.8%

-16.6%

1662.0%

2900.0%

32800.0%

36.4%

82.2%

319.5%

-

15.1%

8.5%

-

24.7%

74,944

4,415,925

31,757

245

1,402

20,044

517,679

31,787

35,342

62,994

569

786,539

0

2,296

6,620

6,545,649

86,183

0

19

299,707

640,382

158

1

1

13,180

245,852

10,791

0

470,978

452,219

0

2,219,471
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

SOUTHWEST PACIFIC

Auckland

Brisbane

Melbourne

Perth

Sydney

Total

SOUTH ASIA

Chennai

Colombo

Delhi

Dhaka

Islamabad

Karachi

Male

Mumbai

Total

MIDDLE EAST

Abu Dhabi

Bahrain

Beirut

Cairo

Dammam

Doha

Dubai

Jeddah

Kuwait

Riyadh

Sanaa

Tehran

Total

2,940

0

2,062

13,979

538

19,519

18,696

38,215

0

10,101

0

170

115

4,073

71,370

2,786

3,738

0

1,090

103

147,456

22,161

2,959

9,685

1,703

315

1,273

193,269

1,926

0

0

4,906

20,794

27,626

40,866

13,270

1

6,400

0

60

0

1,630

62,227

32

18,362

0

4,461

61

20,596

3,432

3,432

2,937

1,794

683

4,702

58,666

287,628

10,567

1,101,928

54,865

816,545

2,271,533

9,122

37,479

25,250

20,081

18

29,075

5,368

47,213

173,606

1,556

0

176

0

0

82

26,449

26,449

518

0

82

572

65,137

187,340

3,082

582,170

30,347

663,811

1,466,750

11,320

34,836

14,058

6,599

0

966

3,023

16,101

86,903

3

383

99

0

0

117

26,468

18,379

111

383

117

367

45,951

290,568

10,567

817,083

68,844

817,083

2,291,052

27,818

75,694

25,250

30,182

18

29,245

5,483

51,286

244,976

4,342

3,738

176

1,090

103

147,538

57,903

3,738

147,538

103

4,342

1,845

258,406

53.5%

95.3%

19.4%

53.5%

19.4%

53.3%

-46.7%

57.3%

79.6%

132.2%

-

2750.4%

81.4%

189.2%

64.3%

12305.7%

87.9%

77.8%

-75.6%

68.9%

612.3%

29.2%

87.9%

612.3%

68.9%

12305.7%

-63.6%

147.0%

189,266

3,082

35,253

189,266

684,605

1,494,376

52,186

48,106

14,059

12,999

0

1,026

3,023

17,731

149,130

35

1,989

99

4,461

61

20,713

44,830

1,989

20,713

61

35

5,069

104,617

INTERNATIONAL MAIL MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 %+/-

ARRIVAL DEPARTURE TOTAL

(Kg)

CENTRAL ASIA

Tashkent

Total

EUROPE

Amsterdam

Frankfurt

Istanbul

London

Luxembourg

Paris

Rome

Stockholm

Zurich

Total

NORTH AMERICA

Los Angeles

New York

Total

SOUTH AMERICA

Buenos Aires

Total

AFRICA

Cape Town

Johannesburg

Mauritius

Total

Grand Total

440

440

546,520

17,109

0

1,478,832

0

2,034

0

1,660

0

2,046,155

34,606

32,088

66,694

334

334

0

6

231

237

7,797,235

73

73

408,724

14,584

0

934,466

0

308

0

0

0

1,358,082

18,891

0

18,891

97

97

0

6

312

318

7,752,924

0

0

80,495

20,440

804

2,021,308

4,167

77,911

804

2,332

0

2,207,663

23,551

135

23,686

394

394

0

1,289

4

1,293

7,493,342

0

0

58,970

16,666

117

1,042,207

0

26,016

117

24

780

1,145,022

49,292

16

49,308

9,674

9,674

13

1,086

11

1,110

5,342,894

440

440

627,015

37,549

804

3,500,140

4,167

79,945

4,167

206

0

4,253,818

58,157

32,223

90,380

728

728

0

1,295

235

1,530

15,290,577

502.7%

502.7%

34.1%

20.2%

587.2%

77.1%

-

203.7%

587.2%

16533.3%

-100.0%

69.9%

-14.7%

201293.8%

32.5%

-92.5%

-92.5%

-

18.6%

-27.2%

7.1%

16.8%

73

73

467,694

31,250

117

1,976,673

0

26,324

0

242

780

2,503,104

68,183

16

68,199

9,771

9,771

13

1,092

323

1,428

13,095,818



364 / ANNUAL REPORT 2009

America

0.01% Africa

1.7%

0.003%

18.1%

35.2%

0.005%
0.6%

North East Asia Middle East

1.6% South Asia

15.0% Southwest Pacific

South East Asia

Central Asia

27.8% Europe

South America

KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT MAIL MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS 2009

 INTERNATIONAL 
MOVEMENTS: 

15,291 
METRIC 
TONNES

INTERNATIONAL MAIL MOVEMENTS BY SECTORS AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT



MOVEMENTS AT MAHB STOLports IN SABAH & SARAWAK 2009/2008
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AIRCRAFT

MOVEMENTSSTOLports
% CHG PASSENGERS % CHG CARGO & MAIL

(KG)
% CHG

SARAWAK REGION

Bakalalan

Bario

Lawas

Long Banga

Long Lellang

Long Akah

Long Seridan

Marudi

Mukah

Belaga

Long Semado

Kapit

Total

SABAH REGION

  Kudat

  Long Pasia

  Semporna

Total

GRAND TOTAL

388

1,606

3,194

228

224

256

208

3,104

2,932

-

-

-

12,140

-

-

-

-

12,140

19.8%

-6.5%

-7.1%

7.5%

-37.4%

-17.9%

-2.8%

-12.1%

12.4%

-

-

-

-4.5%

-

-

-

-

-7.9%

5,350

15,698

48,744

2,673

2,111

1,250

1,870

35,999

34,979

-

-

-

148,674

-

-

-

-

-7.9%

32.7%

0.6%

6.6%

3.6%

-12.3%

-24.1%

11.0%

-16.8%

21.1%

-

-

-

2.0%

-

-

-

-

-0.6%

-

258,364

-

-

-

-

18,549

132,614

-

-

-

-

409,527

-

-

-

-

409,527

-

-25.8%

-100.0%

-

-

-

-13.0%

-20.9%

-

-

-

-

-41.7%

-

-

-

-

-41.7%



AIRLINES OPERATING AT KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 2009 (DECEMBER)
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  Weekly flight Weekly flight
  frequency frequency

1 Air Astana 1
2 Air Bagan 1
3 Air China 5
4 Air India Express 7
5 Air Mauritius 2
6 Air Niugini 1
7 Air Zimbabwe 2
8 AirAsia 425 int/455 dom
9 AirAsia X 52
10 Biman Bangladesh Airlines 3
11 Cargolux Airlines International ( cargo ) 2
12 Cathay Pacific Airways 21
13 Cebu Pacific Air  7
14 China Airlines 7+3C
15 China Eastern Airlines 7
16 China Southern Airlines 7
17 Egyptair  4
18 Emirates  14
19 Etihad Airways 6
20 EVA Airways  6
21 Federal Express (cargo) 11
22 Garuda Indonesia  21
23 GMG Airlines  7
24 Gulf Air 7
25 Indian Airlines 7
26 Indonesia AirAsia 76
27 Iran Air 4
28 Japan Airlines International 14+1C
29 Jet Airways India 7

30 Jetstar Asia 19
31 KLM-Royal Dutch Airlines 7
32 Korean Air 7+5C
33 Kuwait Airways  3
34 Lion Air 1
35 Lufthansa German Airlines  4
36 Malaysia Airlines 421 int+19C/399 dom
37 Merpati Nusantara Airlines 7
38 Myanmar Airways International 4
39 Nepal Airlines Corporation 4
40 Neptune Air (cargo ) 1
41 Pakistan International Airlines 2
42 Qatar Airways 8
43 Royal Brunei Airlines 7
44 Saudi Arabian Airlines  3
45 Shenzhen Airlines 9
46 SilkAir 30
47 Singapore Airlines 24
48 SriLankan Airlines 10
49 Thai AirAsia 21
50 Thai Airways International 18
51 Tiger Airways  23
52 Transmile Air (cargo) 7
53 United Airways Bangladesh 1
54 United Parcel Services (cargo) 5
55 Uzbekistan Airways 2
56 Vietnam Airlines 7
57 Xiamen Airlines 4
58 Yemenia Yemen Airways 2



DEFINITIONS       

1. FLIGHT, INTERNATIONAL 
 A flight operated with one or both terminals in the territory  
 of a State, other than the State in which the airline is   
 registered. The term State includes all territories subject to  
 the sovereignty, protection or mandate of such State.

2. FLIGHT, DOMESTIC 
 A flight operated between points within the domestic
 boundaries of a State by an airline registered in that State.   
 A flight between a State and territories belonging to it,   
 as well as a flight between two such territories, should   
 be classified as domestic. This applies even though the   
 flight may cross international waters or over the territory   
 subject to the sovereignty, suzerainty, protection or   
 mandate of such State.

3.  COMMERCIAL AIR TRANSPORT OPERATION 
 An aircraft operation involving the transport of passengers,  
 baggage, cargo or mail for remuneration or hire.

4.  AIR SERVICES, SCHEDULED 
 Air services provided by flights scheduled and performed
 for remuneration according to a published time table, or so  
 regular or frequent as to constitute a recognisably   
 systematic series which are open for use by public
 including empty flights related thereto and preliminary  
 revenue flights on planned new air services.

5. NON-SCHEDULED FLIGHT 
 Commercial flights not listed in the time table of an airline
 including General Aviation aircraft carrying passenger or
 cargo for remuneration or hire.

6. PASSENGER
 Any person, except members of the crew, carried or to be   
 carried in an aircraft with the consent of the carrier.

7. TRANSFER PASSENGER (CARGO, MAIL) 
 A passenger making a direct connection between two  
 flights. i.e. using different aircraft and flight number,  
 operated by the same or another airline. Synonymous  
 with connecting passenger.

8.  TRANSIT PASSENGER (CARGO, MAIL) 
 A passenger arriving and departing on one and the  
 same aircraft.

9. CARGO 
 Anything carried or to be carried in an aircraft, except  
 mail, or baggage carried under a passenger ticket  
 and baggage check, but includes baggage moving  
 under an airway bill or shipment record.

10. MAIL, SERVICE 
 Dispatches of correspondence and other objects
 tendered by and intended for delivery to postal
 administration.
 Goods carried under the terms of an international   
   Postal Convention.

11. DEPARTURE 
 The boarding of an aircraft for the purpose of
 commencing a flight, except by such crew or   
 passengers as have embarked on a previous stage of  
 the same through-flight.

12. ARRIVAL 
 The leaving of an aircraft after a landing except by  
 crew or passenger continuing to the next stage of the  
 same through-flight.  

13. STOLPORT 
 An airport designed to serve short take-off and   
 landing (STOL) aircraft.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 31 MARCH 2010
A. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS (MALAYSIAN & FOREIGN)

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Share Capital
Authorised Share Capital : RM2,000,000,001/-
Issued and Fully Paid-Up Capital : RM 1,100,000,001/-
Class of Equity Securities : 1,100,000,000 Ordinary Shares of RM1/- each; and 1 Special Rights Redeemable 
   Preference Share of RM 1/-
Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share
   The Special Share has no voting right other than that referred to in Note 26 of the 
   Financial Statements.

 

SIZE OF HOLDINGS Foreign

NO. OF HOLDERS NO. OF HOLDINGS PERCENTAGE

Malaysian Foreign Malaysian Foreign

1  - 99

100 - 1,000

1,001 - 10,000

10,001 - 100,000

100,001 - 54,999,999 (*)

55,000,000 & above (**)

Total

* Less than 5% of Issued Holdings
** 5% and above of Issued Holdings

Remark

27

6,777

4,320

405

116

2

11,647

1

25

44

46

48

0

164

693

6,718,775

15,292,413

12,147,300

216,066,368

746,942,600

997,168,149

0.00

0.61

1.39

1.10

19.64

67.90

90.65

0.00

0.00

0.02

0.19

9.14

0.00

9.35

66

21,000

226,300

2,082,512

100,501,973

0

102,831,851

Malaysian

 
NO. OF HOLDERS NO. OF HOLDINGS PERCENTAGE

Grand Total 11,811 1,100,000,000 100.00

Note(s):

The above information is based on records as provided by Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd and number 
of holders reflected is in reference to CDS account numbers.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (CONTD.)

B. LIST OF TOP 30 SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS AS AT 31 MARCH 2010
(Without aggregating securities from different securities accounts belonging to the same person)

NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS  NO OF HOLDINGS PERCENTAGE

 60.00

 7.90

 3.76

 
 2.67

 
 1.88

 
 1.66

 
 1.58

 
 1.17

 
 0.53

 
 0.48

 
 0.47

 0.46

 
 0.45

 0.45

 0.45

 
 0.45

 0.41

  0.41

 0.40

 
 0.40

 
 0.40

 
 0.37

 0.37

 0.34

1. Khazanah Nasional Berhad 

2. Employees Provident Fund Board

3. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
 (Exempt AN For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (BERMUDA))

4. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera)

5. Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
 (Mayban Trustees Berhad For Public Regular Savings Fund (N14011940100))

6. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
 (Nomura Asset Mgmt Malaysia For Employees Provident Fund)

7. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
 (Exempt AN For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (Resident USA-2))

8. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Amanah Saham Wawasan 2020)

9. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
 (SSBT Fund S71Z For First Eagle Overseas Variable Fund)

10. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
 (Exempt AN For Prudential Fund Management Berhad)

11. BHR Enterprise Sdn Bhd 

12. Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
 (Avenue Invest Berhad For Kumpulan Wang Amanah Pencen (E00170-220136))

13. Setiausaha Kerajaan Pulau Pinang 

14. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 

15. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
 (SG Nantes For Socgen International Sicav)

16. Tabung Amanah Warisan Negeri Johor 

17. Chief Minister, State Of Sabah 

18. State Financial Secretary Sarawak

19. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Public Growth Fund)

20. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Public Sector Select Fund)

21. Mayban Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
 (Kumpulan Wang Amanah Pencen For Kerajaan Negeri Negeri Sembilan)

22. Kerajaan Negeri Pahang 

23. State Secretary Kedah Incorporated

24. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (AS 1Malaysia)

 660,000,000

 86,942,600

 41,402,600

 
 29,398,400

 
 20,688,300

 
 18,243,900

 
 17,352,500

 
 12,899,900

 
 5,795,580

 
 5,270,600

 
 5,151,600 

 5,020,900

 
 5,000,000

 4,990,453

 4,968,110

 
 4,900,000

 4,500,000

  4,500,000

  4,447,300 

 
 4,442,100

 
 4,400,000

 
 4,100,000

 4,100,000

 3,753,600
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (CONTD.)

NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS  NO OF HOLDINGS PERCENTAGE

25. SBB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
 (Employees Provident Fund Board)

26. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Amanah Saham Malaysia)

27. Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
 (Pheim Asset Management Sdn Bhd For Employees Provident Fund)

28. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
 (ING Insurance Berhad (INV-IL PAR))

29. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
 (Public Equity Fund)

30. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
 (Exempt AN For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (Norges BK Lend))

 3,643,000

 
 3,250,000

 
 3,247,000

 
 3,203,000

 
 3,202,000

 
 3,021,300

 0.33

 
 0.30 

 
 0.30

 
 0.29

 
 0.29

 
 0.27

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

C.  LIST OF SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS OF SPECIAL RIGHTS REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARE AS AT 
 31 MARCH 2010
1. The Minister of Finance (Incorporated)

D. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 MARCH 2010 (as shown in the register of substantial shareholders)

E. DIRECTOR’S SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 31 MARCH 2010 (as shown in the register of director’s shareholding)

NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS DIRECT INDIRECT PERCENTAGE
NO. OF SHARES HELD

Khazanah Nasional Berhad 660,000,000 - 60.00

Employees Provident Fund Board 86,942,600 30,677,300 10.69

NAME OF DIRECTORS  DIRECT INDIRECT PERCENTAGE
NO. OF SHARES HELD

Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Osman @ Othman - - -

Tan Sri Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid - - -

Dato’ Long See Wool - - -

Dyg Sadiah binti Abg Bohan - - -

Datuk Alias bin Haji Ahmad - - -

Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman - - -

Jeremy bin Nasrulhaq - - -

Izlan bin Izhab - - -

Hajah Jamilah binti Dato’ Haji Hashim - - -

Mohd Nadziruddin bin Mohd Basri - - -
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SHARE REGISTRAR
Securities Services (Holdings) Sdn. Bhd.
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 603-2084 9000
Fax : 603-2094 9940 / 2095 0295

LISTING 
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in Malaysia.

MALAYSIAN TAXES ON DIVIDENDS
Malaysia practices an imputation system in the distribution of the dividends whereby the income tax paid by a company is 
imputed to dividends distributed to shareholders.

Malaysian income tax is deducted or deemed to have been deducted at corporate tax rate, which is currently at 25% from 
dividends paid by a company residing in Malaysia.

The income tax deducted or deemed to have been deducted from dividends in accounted for by the income tax of the 
company. There is no further tax or withholding tax on the payment of dividends to all shareholders.

ANNUAL REPORT
The Annual Report is available to the public who are not shareholders of the Company, by writing to:

The Company Secretary
Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang 
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8777 7011 
Fax : 603-8777 7512

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS INFORMATION



Register Owner Description and Tenure Land Area Built-up Area Net Book Value
and Location Existing Use   (sqm) at 31 Dec 2009
      (RM 0’000)
LEASED PROPERTIES
Malaysia Airports KLIA A total right of 22,620 acres
(Sepang) Sdn. Bhd.  occupation of 50
Federal Land Commissioner*  years (Expiry date
Location:  of 4 May 2048)
District of Sepang, Selangor
Malaysia

Malaysia Airports Sultan Abdul Aziz A total right of 1,122 acres
Holdings Bhd. Shah Airport occupation of 60
Federal Land Commissioner**  years (Expiry date of
Location:  31 December 2067)
District of Petaling, Selangor  
Malaysia

LANDED PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE GROUP
Malaysia Airports 48 units of Freehold - 3,791 2,523
(Niaga) Sdn. Bhd. apartments
Location:
Desa Cempaka, Bandar Baru Nilai
Mukim Nilai, District of Seremban
Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia

Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. 4 units of Freehold - 342 826
Location: apartments
Genting Permai Park & Resort
District of Bentong, Pahang
Malaysia

Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. 10 units of Freehold - 744 958
Teluk Dalam, Pulau Pangkor apartments
District of Manjung, Perak
Malaysia
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Register Owner Description and Tenure Land Area Built-up Area Net Book Value
and Location Existing Use   (sqm) at 31 Dec 2009
      (RM 0’000)
Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. 32 Units of Leasehold 99 years - 3,175 - 
Location: apartments (Expiry date of
CL 205357688  31 December 2089)
Sierra Estates Condominium
Jalan Ranca-Ranca
Federal Territory of Labuan
Malaysia

Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. Land (Residental) Leasehold 99 years 1.10 acres  275
Location:  (Expiry date of
CL 205359593  31 December 2090)
Kg. Nagalang
Federal Territory of Labuan
Malaysia

Malaysia Airports Sdn. Bhd. Land (Agriculture) Leasehold 99 years 1.22 acres  227
Location:  (Expiry date of
CL 205317951  31 December 2077)
Kg. Nagalang
Federal Territory of Labuan
Malaysia

Note:
* Pursuant to the KLIA Land Lease Agreement dated 18 October 1999 entered into between Malaysia Airports (Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. and  the Federal Land  
 Commissioner, Malaysia Airports ( Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. has been granted the right of use of the KLIA land for a period of 50 years.    
 
 However, following a restructuring exercise for MAHB, the Land Lease Agreement was replaced by a new Land Lease Agreement  dated 12 February  
 2009.  Malaysia Airports ( Sepang) Sdn. Bhd. has been granted the right of use of the KLIA land for a period of 25 years.    
 
** Pursuant to the Land Lease Agreement dated 26 October 2007 entered into between Malaysia Airports Holdings Bhd and the Federal Land  
 Commissioner, Malaysia Airports has been granted a lease of land of Sultan Abdul Aziz Shah (SAAS) Airport for a period of 60 years.



GROUP CORPORATE DIRECTORY

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD 
(487092-W)
Registered/Business Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS SDN BHD 
(230646-U)
Registered/Business Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS (SEPANG) SDN BHD 
(320480-D)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
3rd & 4th Floor, Airport Management Centre
Kuala Lumpur International Airport
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 2000/603-8777 8888
Fax : 603-8926 5510/603-8926 5209

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS (NIAGA) SDN BHD 
(281310-V)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
3rd Floor, Airport Management Centre
Kuala Lumpur International Airport
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 8600
Fax : 603-8787 3747

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS CONSULTANCY 
SERVICES SDN BHD
(formerly known as Malaysia Airports 
Management & Technical Services Sdn Bhd)
(375245-X)
Registered/Business Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512
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MALAYSIA AIRPORTS (PROPERTIES) SDN BHD 
(484656-H)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
Block C, Ground Floor, Short Term Car Park
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 8401
Fax : 603-8776 8181

K.L. AIRPORT HOTEL SDN BHD 
(330863-D)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
Pan Pacific Kuala Lumpur International Airport
Kuala Lumpur International Airport 
Jalan CTA 4B, 64000 KLIA 
Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8787 3333
Fax : 603-8787 5555

MAB AGRICULTURE-HORTICULTURE SDN BHD 
(467902-D)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
4th Floor, Airport Management Centre
Kuala Lumpur International Airport
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 019-2824 362
Fax : 019-2163 025

MALAYSIA INTERNATIONAL 
AEROSPACE CENTRE SDN BHD
(438244-H)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
Unit M8 & M9, Skypark Terminal
Sultan Abdul Aziz Shah Airport
47200 Subang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-7846 3870   
Fax : 603-7846 3300     



GROUP CORPORATE DIRECTORY

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS TECHNOLOGIES SDN BHD
(512262-H)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
3rd Floor, Airport Management Centre
Kuala Lumpur International Airport
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 8341
Fax : 603-8786 8680

MALAYSIA AIRPORTS MSC SDN BHD
(formerly known as KLIA.Com Sdn Bhd)
(516854-V)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
3rd Floor, Airport Management Centre
Kuala Lumpur International Airport
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 8341
Fax : 603-8786 8680  

URUSAN TEKNOLOGI WAWASAN SDN BHD
(459878-D)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
1st Floor, Civil Engineering Building 
Engineering Complex 
Kuala Lumpur International Airport 
64000 Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 7002 
Fax : 603-8787 2455

AIRPORT AUTOMOTIVE WORKSHOP SDN BHD
(808167-P)
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512

Business Address: 
1st Floor, Civil Engineering Building 
Engineering Complex 
Kuala Lumpur International Airport 
64000 Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel : 603-8776 7002 
Fax : 603-8787 2455

ASIA PACIFIC AUCTION CENTRE SDN BHD
(488190-H)
(Ceased Business and Operations on 31 December 2008) 
Registered Address: 
Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Tel : 603-8777 7000
Fax : 603-8777 7778/603-8777 7512
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AIRPORTS IN MALAYSIA

KL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
64000 KLIA Sepang
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel  : 603-8777 8888
Fax : 603-8926 5510

PENANG INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
11900 Bayan Lepas
Pulau Pinang, Malaysia
Tel : 604-643 4411
Fax : 604-643 5339

LANGKAWI INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
07100 Padang Mat Sirat, Langkawi
Kedah Darul Aman, Malaysia
Tel : 604-955 1311
Fax : 604-955 1314

SULTAN ABDUL AZIZ SHAH AIRPORT
47200 Subang
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel : 603-7845 3245
Fax : 604-7846 3679

SULTAN AZLAN SHAH AIRPORT
31350 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan
Malaysia
Tel : 605-318 8202
Fax : 605-312 2295

SULTAN ABDUL HALIM AIRPORT
06200 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman, Malaysia
Tel : 604-714 2994
Fax : 604-714 5345

SULTAN ISMAIL PETRA AIRPORT
16100 Kota Bharu
Kelantan Darul Naim, Malaysia
Tel : 609-773 7400
Fax : 609-773 2852

SULTAN MAHMUD AIRPORT
21300 Kuala Terengganu
Terengganu Darul Iman, Malaysia
Tel : 609-667 3666
Fax : 609-662 6670

SULTAN AHMAD SHAH AIRPORT
26070 Kuantan
Pahang Darul Makmur, Malaysia
Tel : 609-513 2123/2100
Fax : 609-538 4017

MELAKA INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
75350 Melaka, Malaysia
Tel : 606-317 5860
Fax : 606-317 5214

KOTA KINABALU INTERNATIONAL 
AIRPORT
Beg Berkunci No. 134
Aras 5, Bangunan Terminal
88740 Kota Kinabalu
Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 6088-325 555
Fax : 6088-219 081

LABUAN AIRPORT
Jalan Tun Mustafa, Peti Surat 80569
87015 W.P. Labuan Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 6087-416 007/415 015
Fax : 6087-410 129

SANDAKAN AIRPORT
P.O. Box 1719
90719 Sandakan, Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 6089-667 782/667 786
Fax : 6089-667 778

LAHAD DATU AIRPORT
P.O. Box 213
91108 Lahad Datu
Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 6089-881 033
Fax : 6089-881 618

TAWAU AIRPORT
P.O. Box 60132
91011 Tawau, Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 6089-950 777
Fax : 6089-950 781

KUCHING INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
Peti Surat 1070
93722 Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 6082-454 242
Fax : 6082-458 587

SIBU AIRPORT
Peti Surat 645
96000 Sibu, Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 6084-307 770
Fax : 6084-307 709

BINTULU AIRPORT
97000 Bintulu, Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 6086-339 163/333 844
Fax : 6086-337 011

MIRI AIRPORT
Peti Surat 851
97008 Miri, Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 6085-615 204/205
Fax : 6085-614 537

LIMBANG AIRPORT
98700 Limbang
Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 085-212 090
Fax : 085-214 979
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Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad (487092-W)

Incorporated In Malaysia 
       
 No. of Shares Held:

I/We       NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.                 

of
                   
being a Member(s) of MALAYSIA AIRPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD, hereby appoint

        NRIC. No./Passport No.
                
of 
    
or failing him/her      NRIC. No./Passport No.                  

of
             

or failing him/her the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Eleventh Annual General Meeting of the Company 
to be held at Gateway Ballroom, Level 1, Pan Pacific Kuala Lumpur International Airport, Kuala Lumpur International Airport, Jalan CTA 4B, 64000 KLIA, 
Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Thursday, 27 May 2010 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the space provided below how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain at his/her 
discretion.

FULL NAME IN CAPITAL LETTERS

FULL NAME IN CAPITAL LETTERS

FULL NAME IN CAPITAL LETTERS

FULL ADDRESS

FULL ADDRESS

FULL ADDRESS

Receiving of the Audited Financial Statements and Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2009.

Declaration and approval for the payment of a final dividend of 14.9 sen less income tax of 25% 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. 

Approval of the increase of Directors’ Fees from 1 June 2010 onwards. 

Re-election of Tan Sri Datuk Dr. Aris bin Othman as Director.

Re-election of Datuk Siti Maslamah binti Osman as Director.

Re-election of Hajah Jamilah binti Dato’ Hj. Hashim as Director.

Re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst & Young as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

Authority under Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 for Directors to issue shares. 

Resolution 1

Resolution 2

Resolution 3

Resolution 4

Resolution 5

Resolution 6

Resolution 7

Resolution 8

Resolution 9

For  Against

As witness my/our hands this  day of  2010
             
                    Signature of Member/Common Seal

PROXY FORM



Notes :

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his   

 stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in printing or writing under the hand of the appointer or his duly constituted attorney,  

 or if such appointer is a corporation, under its common seal or the hand and seal of its attorney. 

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Malaysia Airports Corporate   

 Office, Persiaran Korporat KLIA, 64000 KLIA, Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time set for   

 holding the Meeting or at any adjournment thereof. 

4. Shareholders’ attention is hereby drawn to the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, which 

 allows a member of the Company which is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) 

 Act, 1991, to appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company   

 standing to the credit of the said securities account.  

The Company Secretary
Malaysia Airports Holdings Berhad (487092-W)

Malaysia Airports Corporate Office
Persiaran Korporat KLIA
64000 KLIA
Sepang
Selangor Darul Ehsan

STAMP




